

City Research Online

City, University of London Institutional Repository

Citation: Ring, Melanie (2017). Relational memory processes in adults with autism spectrum disorder. (Unpublished Doctoral thesis, City, University of London)

This is the accepted version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/17002/

Link to published version:

Copyright: City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

Reuse: Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

Relational Memory Processes in Adults with Autism

Spectrum Disorder

Melanie Ring

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of Doctor of Philosophy at City,

University of London

Autism Research Group Department of Psychology City, University of London

September 2016



City, University of London Northampton Square London EC1V 0HB United Kingdom

T +44 (0)20 7040 5060

THE FOLLOWING PARTS OF THIS THESIS HAVE BEEN REDACTED FOR COPYRIGHT REASONS:

Ring, M., Gaigg, S. B. & Bowler, D. M. (2015). Object-location memory in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, 8(5), pp. 609-619. doi: <u>10.1002/aur.1478</u>

A pre-print copy of this article can be viewed on CRO at: <u>http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/12829/</u>

Ring, M., Gaigg, S. B. & Bowler, D. M. (2016). Relational Memory Processes in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder.*Autism Research*, 9(1), pp. 97-106. doi: <u>10.1002/aur.1493</u>

A pre-print copy of this article can be viewed on CRO at: <u>http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/11813/</u>

Contents

List of Table	s8		
List of Figures14			
Acknowledge	Acknowledgements		
Declaration			
Funding			
Abstract			
List of Abbre	eviations		
1 Chapter	1: Introduction		
1.1 Autisr	m Spectrum Disorder		
1.1.1 W	What defines ASD?		
1.1.2 C	ritical discussion of DSM-5 criteria33		
1.2 Cogni	tive theories of ASD		
1.2.1 T	heory of Mind Deficit		
1.2.2 E	xecutive Dysfunction		
1.2.3 C	Complex Information Processing Deficit		
1.2.4 W	Veak Central Coherence		
1.2.5 Ir	ncreased Perceptual Discrimination41		
1.2.6 E	nhanced Perceptual Functioning		
1.2.7 A	typical Attention		
1.3 Memo			
1.3.1 N	1emory systems		
1.3.2 N	1emory processes		
1.4 Memo	bry in ASD54		
1.4.1 E	mpirical findings on memory in ASD54		
1.4.1.1	Memory with the self in the centre		
1.4.1.2	Episodic versus semantic memory in ASD		
1.4.1.3	Factors influencing episodic memory in ASD		
1.4.1.4	Memory for relations between items and among items and their context71		
1.4.2 N	Iemory theories in ASD76		
1.4.2.1	Amnesia parallel, hippocampal patients and the relational binding account76		
1.4.2.2	Complexity account and findings from frontal lobe patients79		
1.4.2.3	Ageing analogy - a combination of the frontal lobes and the hippocampus81		

1.4.2.4 The parietal lobes or a combination of the frontal lobes, the hippocampus and the parietal lobes	.82
1.4.2.5 Relation between memory findings and general cognitive theories in ASD	.84
1.5 Aims of the thesis	.86
2 Chapter 2: Recognition memory	.90
2.1 Experiment 1: Remember/Know recognition memory	.90
2.1.1 Introduction	.90
2.1.1.1 Theoretical background	90
2.1.1.2 Predictions	.98
2.1.2 Methods	.00
2.1.2.1 Participants1	.00
2.1.2.1.1 Behavioural data1	.04
2.1.2.1.2 Pupillometry data1	.06
2.1.2.2 Materials	08
2.1.2.3 Procedure	.11
2.1.2.3.1 Remember/Know recognition test1	.11
2.1.2.3.2 Pupillometry1	.13
2.1.3 Results	.14
2.1.3.1 Accuracy behavioural test1	.14
2.1.3.1.1 Corrected recognition1	.14
2.1.3.1.2 False Alarms1	18
2.1.3.1.3 Sensitivity, response bias and goodness of fit of signal detection model 1	.19
2.1.3.1.4 Episodic memory in R justifications1	.22
2.1.3.1.5 Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age	.24
2.1.3.2 Pupillometry measures	.26
2.1.3.2.1 Baseline pupil size1	.26
2.1.3.2.2 Pupil Old/New effect at retrieval1	.26
2.1.3.2.3 Pupil Old/New effect at retrieval - behavioural accuracy1	.28
2.1.3.2.4 Pupil effects at encoding - behavioural accuracy	.30
2.1.3.3 Correlations among behavioural memory and pupil size data1	31
2.1.4 Discussion	.33
3 Chapter 3: Relational memory1	.43
3.1 Experiment 2: Object-location memory1	.43
3.1.1 Introduction	.43

3.1.	1.1	The	eoretical background	143
3.1.	1.2	Pre	dictions	154
3.1.2	N	Aetho	ods	155
3.1.	2.1	Par	ticipants	155
3	.1.2.	1.1	Behavioural data	155
3	.1.2.	1.2	Eye-movement data	158
3.1.	2.2	Ma	terials	160
3	.1.2.	2.1	Object-location task	160
3	.1.2.	2.2	Object and Location recognition and source memory	161
3.1.	2.3	Pro	cedure	161
3	.1.2.	3.1	Object-location task	161
3	.1.2.	3.2	Object and Location recognition and source memory tests	165
3	.1.2.	3.3	Eye movements	166
3.1.3	F	Resul	ts	168
3.1.	3.1	Obj	ject-location task	168
3	.1.3.	1.1	Accuracy	168
3	.1.3.	1.2	Response times	172
3	.1.3.	1.3	Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age	173
3.1.	3.2	Obj	ject and Location recognition and source memory tests	175
3.1.	3.3	Cor	rrelations among behavioural tasks	177
3.1.	3.4	Eye	e movements during the object-location task	177
3	.1.3.	4.1	Encoding	177
3	.1.3.	4.2	Retrieval	
3.1.	3.5	Co	rrelations among behavioural and eye-movement data	
3	.1.3.	5.1	Eye movements at encoding	
3	.1.3.	5.2	Eye movements at retrieval	
3.1.4	Γ	Discu	ssion	187
3.2	Exp	perin	nent 3: Relational memory for location, temporal order and set	197
3.2.1	I	ntrod	luction	197
3.2.	1.1	The	eoretical background	197
3.2.	1.2	Pre	dictions	201
3.2.2	N	Aetho	ods	202
3.2.	2.1	Par	ticipants	

3.2.2.2	Materials	
3.2.2.3	Procedure	
3.2.3 R	esults	
3.2.3.1	Accuracy	
3.2.3.	1.1 Corrected recognition	
3.2.3.	1.2 False Alarms	
3.2.3.	1.3 Sensitivity and response bias	
3.2.3.2	Correlations among tasks	
3.2.3.3	Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age	
3.2.4 D	Piscussion	
4 Chapt	er 4: Spatial navigation	
4.1 Exp	eriment 4: Spatial navigation	
4.1.1 T	heoretical background	
4.1.2 P	redictions	
4.1.3 N	1ethods	
4.1.3.1	Participants	
4.1.3.	1.1 Behavioural data	
4.1.3.	1.2 Eye-movement data	
4.1.3.2	Materials	
4.1.3.3	Procedure	
4.1.3.4	Scoring	
4.1.3.4	4.1 Behavioural data	
4.1.3.4	4.2 Eye-movement data	
4.1.4 R	esults	
4.1.4.1	Behavioural data	
4.1.4.	1.1 Accuracy	
4.1.4.	1.2 Allocentric vs. egocentric switch	
4.1.4.	1.3 Strategy	
4.1.4.2	Executive Functions	
4.1.4.3	Free recall and cued recall	
4.1.4.4	Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age	
4.1.4.5	Eye-movement data	
4.1.4.	5.1 Encoding	

4.1.4.5.2 Retrieval
4.1.4.6 Correlations among behavioural and eye-movement data
4.1.4.6.1 Eye movements at encoding
4.1.4.6.2 Eye movements at retrieval
4.1.5 Discussion
5 Chapter 5: Structural learning
5.1 Experiment 5: Structural learning
5.1.1 Theoretical background
5.1.2 Predictions
5.1.3 Methods273
5.1.3.1 Participants
5.1.3.2 Materials
5.1.3.3 Procedure
5.1.4 Results
5.1.4.1 Accuracy
5.1.4.1.1 Simple Discrimination
5.1.4.1.2 Experimental tasks
5.1.4.2 Response time
5.1.4.2.1 Simple Discrimination
5.1.4.2.2 Experimental tasks
5.1.5 Discussion
6 Chapter 6: Discussion
6.1 Summary of empirical findings
6.2 Conclusions
6.2.1 Conclusions for memory findings in ASD
6.2.2 Conclusions for memory theories in ASD
6.2.3 Conclusions for cognitive theories in ASD
6.2.4 Conclusions for ASD
6.3 Future research
6.4 Concluding remarks
List of References
Appendices
Appendix 1: Table of materials used in Experiment 1, criteria for materials, instructions for Type A and Type B for the R/K test

Appendix 2: Table of materials used in Experiment 2	417
Appendix 3: Tables of materials and reinforcement contingencies used in Experiment	5420

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Studies using the R/K recognition procedure comparing ASD and TD
participants60
Table 2.1 Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in Experiment
1
Table 2.2 Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals in Experiment 1 for whom
pupillometry data were available107
Table 2.3 Luminance in cd/m^2 for sets of meaningless shape images and meaningful pictures
used in Experiment 1110
Table 2.4 Means and Standard Deviations for Hits, False Alarms (FAs), and Corrected
recognition rates (Hits minus FAs) for recognition (total), Remember (R), and Know (K)
responses for words, non-words, pictures, and shapes for ASD and TD groups in Experiment
1116

 Table 3.1 Overview of studies directly comparing explicit and implicit memory in ASD and

 TD individuals.
 145

Table 3.13 Means and Standard Deviations for A' (sensitivity) and B" (response bias) for recognition responses for the four tasks for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 3......212

List of Figures

Figure 2.2 Procedures for study (top) and test phases (bottom) of Experiment 1.....113

Figure 3.1 Examples of study phase (top) and test phase (bottom).....164

Figure 4.4 Strategy use in different direction (allocentric) trials that distinguished between associative cue, beacon, and configuration strategies for TD (left) and ASD (right) groups across the six blocks of Experiment 4. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM......246

Figure 5.6 Accuracy as percentage correct for studied and probe trials in Block 5 for Biconditional Discrimination for ASD and TD individuals in Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.....287

Figure 5.8 Response times in ms for the five blocks of Simple Discrimination, averaged across Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning, for ASD and TD participants of Experiment 5. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM......289

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I want to give my warmest thanks to my supervisors Prof. Dermot Bowler and Dr. Sebastian Gaigg, who always believed in me and made all this possible. I would like to thank them for their ongoing support and encouragement and for making this PhD experience a really stimulating one. I could not have imagined other supervisors.

I gratefully acknowledge my colleagues and friends at the Autism Research Group and at City, University of London, who were my surrogate family for the time I was in London, and who made this time so enjoyable.

I am very grateful to all the participants for giving their time to take part in the research presented in this thesis, and for all the interesting conversations I had with them. I learned a lot from you!

I would like to thank Dr. Jan Wiener for inviting me to visit Bournemouth University to establish collaboration, and I would like to thank him and Dr. Olivier de Condappa for sharing their spatial navigation paradigm and for helpful discussions. I am grateful to Dr. Alex Konkel for helpful discussions, and Prof. Kessels for sharing the materials used in the object-location memory study.

My sincerest thanks go to the funding bodies listed below for their support, which enabled me to attend great scientific meetings, workshops, and conferences. Especially, I would like to thank City, University of London for funding my studies and for providing all the necessary resources to make this PhD experience possible.

Last but not least, I want to give a special thanks to my family for their love, encouragement and support for everything I did. I am grateful to my grandparents for all their wisdom, and I would like to thank my friend André for believing in me from the first day and for helping me over the difficult times away from home.

Thanks you, all.

Declaration

I, Melanie Ring, hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been taken from other sources, it has been indicated appropriately. The material presented in the thesis has not been submitted in fulfilment of the award of any other degree or qualification.

I grant powers of discretion to the University Librarian to allow this thesis to be copied in whole or in part without further reference to me. This permission covers only single copies made for study purposes, subject to normal conditions of acknowledgement.

Funding

The research presented in this thesis was supported by a PhD scholarship from City, University of London. In addition, I received funding from various organisations to present the work reported in the thesis at conferences and to attend summer schools and workshops. I was supported from the Neurodevelopmental Seminar Series to attend the seminar at the Institute of Education in London, UK, from City Future Funds to attend the European Summer School on Eye Movements ESSEM 2013 in Bonn, Germany, from the City Graduate School Conference Attendance Fund to present at The European Conference on Developmental Psychology ECDP 2013 in Lausanne, Switzerland, from Neuroelectrics to attend the ERP Bootcamp and tCS workshop 2013 in Birmingham, UK, from the Experimental Psychology Society Grindley Grant to attend the International Meeting for Autism Research IMFAR 2014 in Atlanta, USA, and from the International Society for Autism Research INSAR to attend IMFAR 2015 in Salt Lake City, USA and IMFAR 2016 in Baltimore, USA. The attendance at IMFAR 2015 and IMFAR 2016 was also supported by my German employer Autismuszentrum Chemnitz e.V.

Abstract

Research on memory in Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) points to difficulties in memory for personal experiences (episodic memory - EM). In particular, difficulties were found for the processing of relations between units of material leaving memory for single items mostly intact. The aim of this thesis was to examine EM in ASD further by investigating the influence of meaning, type of material, and relations, and by assessing the influence of complexity, executive functions, and attention on memory, learning, and spatial navigation in ASD. In addition to memory behaviour, eye movements were measured. It was found that the EM impairment in ASD adults with average intellectual abilities persisted across a range of materials and types of relations, and that item memory was also affected when using tests of similar complexity to relational memory tests. Eye movements indicated attentional differences in ASD that may have had an impact on the observed difficulties, and they indicated that memory difficulties went beyond explicit deliberate retrieval of information also affecting implicit memory and, therefore, suggesting that also encoding and postencoding processes may work differently in ASD. Spatial navigation was particularly affected by executive function and item memory difficulties in ASD, and structural learning may be the fundamental mechanism that underlies the cognitive difficulties observed in ASD. Future research should concern the development and application of measures for less verbal and/or intellectually able ASD individuals and the investigation of how the studied processes are affected by ageing in the ASD population. In addition, training and support strategies should be developed to investigate whether memory difficulties in ASD are caused by a processing bias or a deficit and to attempt to alleviate them. Finally, the investigation of memory encoding and consolidation is needed to test whether these processes operate differently in ASD and, if so, how they could be improved.

List of Abbreviations

ADHD	Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder
ADI-R	Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised
ADOS	Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule
AE	Egocentric switch
ANCOVA	Analysis of Covariance
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ABM	Autobiographical Memory
AQ	Autism-Spectrum Quotient
ASD	Autism Spectrum Disorder
AtoM	Attention to Memory
BD	Block Design
BPVS	British Picture Vocabulary Scale
CA	Chronological Age
CANTAB	Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery
cd/m ²	candela/square meter
CI	Confidence Interval
CMS	Children's Memory Scale
CR	Correct Rejection
CTT	Color Trails Test
CTT2	Color Trails Test Trial 2
CVLT	California Verbal Learning Test
DD	Developmental Delay
df	degrees of freedom
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5

DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV
DSM-IV-TR	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV - text revision
E	Exclude
EA	Allocentric switch
EEG	Electroencephalogram
EF	Executive Function
EFT	Episodic Future Thinking
EM	Episodic Memory
EPF	Enhanced Perceptual Functioning
ERP	Event-Related Potential
f	female
F	Familiarity
FA	False Alarm
FIQ	Full-scale Intelligence Quotient
fMRI	functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
GGC	Greenhouse Geisser Correction
H-FA	Hit rate minus False Alarm rate
Hits	Hit rate
Hz	Hertz
Ι	Include
IED	Intradimensional/Extradimensional shift task
ID	Intellectually Disabled
IQ	Intelligence Quotient
JR	Remember Justifications
К	Know

K-BIT	Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test
LIPS	Leiter International Performance Scale
LTM	Long-Term Memory
m	male
М	Mean
MA	Mental Age
MTL	Medial Temporal Lobe
${\eta_p}^2$	partial Eta-Squared
Ν	Number
NIH	National Institute of Health
NVA	Nonverbal Ability
OA	Older Adults
OCD	Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder
PDD-NOS	Pervasive Developmental Disorder Not Otherwise Specified
PDP	Process-Dissociation Procedure
PFC	Prefrontal Cortex
PIQ	Performance Intelligence Quotient
PM	Procedural Memory
PPVT-III	Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test Third version
PRI	Perceptual Reasoning Index
PRS	Perceptual Representation Memory
R	Remember
Rec	Recollection
R/K	Remember/Know
ROI	Region of Interest

S	seconds
SD	Standard Deviation
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SLI	Specific Language Impairment
SM	Semantic Memory
SPCD	Social (Pragmatic) Communication Disorder
STM	Short-Term Memory
TD	Typically Developing
TD OA	Typically Developing Older Adults
ТоМ	Theory of Mind
TSH	Task Support Hypothesis
VA	Verbal Ability
VCI	Verbal Comprehension Index
VIQ	Verbal Intelligence Quotient
WAIS	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale
WAIS-III ^{UK}	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third UK version
WAIS-IV ^{UK}	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Fourth UK version
WASI	Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence
WCC	Weak Central Coherence
WCST	Wisconsin Card Sorting Test
WISC-III	Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Third version
WM	Working Memory
WMS	Wechsler Memory Scale
X^2	Chi-Squared

1 Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Autism Spectrum Disorder

1.1.1 What defines ASD?

Until 2013, autism was considered to be one among many pervasive developmental disorders diagnosed according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV text revision (DSM-IV-TR, American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Whereas difficulties in the three areas of social interaction, communication, and stereotyped behaviours, interests and activities (so called autism triad, Wing & Gould, 1979) were defining for autistic disorder and Asperger Syndrome, pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS) and childhood disintegrative disorder were characterised by difficulties in one or two of these areas respectively. Difficulties in communication, for example, inflexible usage of language or odd pronunciation, were not defined as limited to social situations, and this criterion could have been fulfilled by a delay or failure in language development (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Difficulties in social interaction included a lack of relationships to peers and a disturbance in social and emotional reciprocity in contact with others (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Stereotyped behaviours involved an insistence on sameness and the maintenance of rituals and dysfunctional habits (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). Asperger Syndrome did not have a language delay (American Psychiatric Association, 2000), and it was viewed as a milder form of autism (Ritvo, Ritvo, Gutherie & Ritvo, 2008). DSM-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) now treats the term Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) as one disorder of neuronal and mental development, recognising the relevance of a shared underlying neurobiology (Kupfer & Regier, 2011). All individuals that clearly fulfilled the criteria of one of the above named diagnoses would nowadays be given the diagnosis of an ASD. ASD is defined by the two behavioural criteria of stereotypic routine-like behaviours, interests, and activities and difficulties in interaction

and communication with others (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). These criteria range in severity with the result that the disorder covers the whole range of language and intellectual abilities. This is why it is often called a spectrum of conditions.

A complete diagnostic assessment should include, next to a clinical assessment of behavioural features, a consideration of the developmental history of the individual, as reported by the parent (Falkmer, Anderson, Falkmer & Horlin, 2013; Mahjouri & Lord, 2012) or another close relative (Van Niekerk et al., 2011), as well as cognitive and language testing (Volkmar, Cook, Pomeroy, Realmuto & Tanguay, 1999). A reliable diagnosis is possible from the second year of life (Moore & Goodson, 2003), where the first signs of the disorder often are an abnormal language development and/or an unusual interest in objects rather than other people or situations involving other people (Howlin & Asgharian, 1999). Parent reports suggest that abnormalities may be present below the age of 1 year (Constanzo et al., 2015), but in practice a firm diagnosis is obtained only years later (Howlin & Asgharian, 1999). To account for the possibility that individuals show difficulties in social interaction and communication without the presence of stereotypic behaviours, either at present or in the past (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), a new diagnosis - Social (Pragmatic) Communication Disorder (SPCD) - was coined. Further, a diagnosis of Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) would now be given to an individual in addition to a diagnosis of ASD, if the individual fulfils criteria for both disorders (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Recent estimates show a 4:1 male to female ratio for ASD (Rivet & Matson, 2011), but it is unclear if the disorder is really more common in males, or if females are underdiagnosed because they are more social by nature and, therefore, seem less affected (Hiller, Young & Weber, 2014). Prevalence rates for all pervasive developmental disorders have risen in comparison to previous estimates from 0.19 % (Fombonne, 1999), over 0.3 - 0.6 % (Fombonne, 2003), to recent estimates of 1.13 - 1.16 % (UK: Baird, 2006; US: Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2008 principal investigators, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). The new estimates may reflect a real increase in the occurrence of the disorder, or they may be the result of a revision of diagnostic criteria, better recognition through increased awareness and knowledge about the disorder (Wing & Potter, 2002), differences in the use of diagnostic instruments and available services (Mahjouri & Lord, 2012), or misdiagnosis, and changes in cultural perceptions of 'abnormality' (Matson & Kozlowski, 2011). Prevalence rates may also be affected by dropout rates in the studies and changes in the rates at which individuals self-refer to diagnostic services (Bölte, Herbrecht & Poustka, 2007). Prevalence rates are as high as 2.6 - 2.7 %, if whole populations rather than high-risk samples are screened, as recent studies from South Korea (Kim et al., 2011) and Norway (Posserud, Lundervold & Gillberg, 2006) suggest.

Language and intellectual impairments are important features of the disorder. About half of individuals with ASD present language impairments (Loucas et al., 2008) and more than half have intellectual abilities below the mean (estimates range from 24 % - Idring et al., 2015; 55 % - Baird et al., 2006; 59 % - Kim et al., 2011; to 68 % - Yeargin-Allsopp et al., 2003). For those without marked intellectual disability, differences in the use of language or in its understanding are likely (Tager-Flusberg & Joseph, 2003). Therefore, a large proportion of individuals with ASD are under-researched because of their limited language and/or intellectual abilities.

The cause of ASD is still unknown. The high heritability found in twin studies (Ronald & Hoekstra, 2011) led researchers to suspect a genetic cause, but apart from a few rare cases, where individual genetic factors were identified, when ASD co-occurred with another disorder that has a genetic cause, like fragile X (Belmonte & Bourgeron, 2006), many

different genetic factors have been reported to be involved in the development of ASD (Waterhouse, 2013). A large number of non-specific environmental factors have also been implicated in the development of ASD, including advanced maternal (Shelton, Tancredi & Hertz-Picciotto, 2010) and paternal age (Durkin et al., 2008; Hultman, Sandin, Levine, Lichtenstein & Reichenberg, 2011), the mother taking valproate during pregnancy (Christensen et al., 2013; Hallmayer et al., 2011), and others (see Mandy & Lai, 2016 for further details). Finally, gene-environment interactions may also play a role in the emergence of ASD, in that a specific gene alternation makes the individual more vulnerable for environmental risk factors (Chaste & Leboyer, 2012).

Individuals with ASD have been found affected by a higher percentage of mental and physical health conditions (70 % have one more, 41 % two or three additional conditions - Simonoff et al., 2008) in comparison to typically developing (TD) individuals. In adults with ASD, rates were highest for anxiety, depression, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD), and schizophrenia (Croen et al., 2015), as well as seizures, epilepsy, and sleep problems (Levy, Mandell & Schultz, 2009; Tuchman & Rapin, 2002). In a longitudinal study, only about 30 % of ASD individuals were successfully and permanently integrated into employment (including supported and voluntary work; Howlin, Goode, Hutton & Rutter, 2004). However, about 77 % of persons with ASD were not living independently, and they continued having difficulty in establishing relationships throughout life (Howlin et al., 2004).

1.1.2 Critical discussion of DSM-5 criteria

Difficulties in distinguishing between the different DSM-IV diagnoses for pervasive developmental disorders, clinically (Lord et al., 2011; Mahjouri & Lord, 2012; Wing, Gould & Gillberg, 2011), and high prevalence rates of PDD-NOS (Mahjouri & Lord, 2012), led to the suggestion that at least some individuals may have been misdiagnosed (Buitelaar, van der Gaag, Klin & Volkmar, 1999; S. D. Mayes, Black & Tierney, 2013; S. D. Mayes et al., 2014;

I. C. Smith, Reichow & Volkmar, 2015). The unification of these subcategories under the single umbrella of ASD in DSM-5 presented better construct validity (i.e., an instrument measures what it is supposed to measure - De la Marche, Noens, Boets, Kuppens & Steyaert, 2015; Harstad et al., 2015; Mandy, Charman & Skuse, 2012), as well as increased specificity (i.e., reducing the number of individuals receiving the diagnosis even though they are not autistic) of ASD diagnostic criteria. However, there are also reports of a decreased sensitivity (i.e., reducing the number of people that should have received a diagnosis because they are autistic but do not receive one) for individuals with "milder" forms of ASD (Young & Rodi, 2014), higher Intelligence Quotients (IQs; McPartland, Reichow & Volkmar, 2012), and older age (Wilson et al., 2013), which were avoided by an adjustment of diagnostic instruments (Kent et al., 2013).

Despite reports that ASD individuals, using DSM-5 criteria, seemed more severely affected by stereotypic (Beighley et al., 2014), as well as socially inappropriate behaviours (Beighley & Matson, 2014), ADHD symptoms (Konst, Matson, Goldin & Rieske, 2014), tantrums, avoidant behaviours, anxiety, and eating or sleeping problems (L. W. Williams, Matson, Beighley, Rieske & Adams, 2014), DSM-IV and DSM-5 research samples have been found to be 93 % comparable in terms of clinical presentation (Mazefsky, McPartland, Gastgeb & Minshew, 2013), when using a combination of Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS; Lord et al., 1989) and Autism Diagnostic Interview-Revised (ADI-R; Rutter, Le Couteur & Lord, 2002) to establish a diagnosis. Finally, SPCD has been shown to be a separate disorder, empirically, in that affected individuals did not show any repetitive behaviours (Gibson, Adams, Lockton & Green, 2013), and they presented fewer social difficulties compared to ASD individuals (Whitehouse, Watt, Line & Bishop, 2009), but more social difficulties compared to individuals with Specific Language Impairment (SLI; Gibson et al., 2013).
Following the definition of ASD according to DSM-5, this thesis will generally refer to individuals with ASD, summarising all previous subcategories, including Asperger syndrome, autism, and PDD-NOS. Having established a general understanding of what is nowadays referred to as ASD, its prevalence, causes, and how new diagnostic criteria might stand in relation to previous ones, the thesis will now move on to discuss cognitive accounts of the condition.

1.2 Cognitive theories of ASD

1.2.1 Theory of Mind Deficit

The term Theory of Mind (ToM) was coined by Premack and Woodruff (1978). People possess a ToM if they can infer mental states, such as knowing, believing, feeling, or thinking, to themselves and others. It is called a theory because one cannot directly see mental states, but one can make predictions about them and test these (Gopnik & Wellman, 1992; Perner, 1991; but see Carpendale & Lewis, 2004; Gallese & Goldman, 1998; Hobson, 1991; Leudar & Costall, 2009 for further discussion of the mechanisms underlying our understanding of mental states). Researchers began to study ToM in ASD because social impairments had been identified as the key behavioural feature of the condition (Wing & Gould, 1979), and being social implies understanding other minds. The first formal assessment of ToM in ASD was done by Baron-Cohen, Leslie and Frith (1985), who adapted a false belief paradigm by Wimmer and Perner (1983), who had found that typical children developed false belief understanding around the age of 4 years. False belief is defined as the understanding that others can hold beliefs that are wrong. The task used is, nowadays, widely referred to as the Sally-Anne task. Baron-Cohen et al. (1985) found that the majority of their TD and Down syndrome children passed the test, whereas most ASD children failed it, even though they had higher intellectual abilities than the control groups. The finding has since

been replicated various times with different paradigms as well as different groups of participants of various ages and IQ levels. It was concluded, that individuals with ASD have problems with ToM. However, only marginal associations have been found between these problems and the social difficulties ASD individuals face (Tager-Flusberg, 2003), suggesting that ToM difficulties constitute only part of the cognitive difficulties underlying core clinical features of ASD. In fact, other areas of cognition sometimes difficult for ASD individuals, such as memory and executive functions (EFs), as well as language, and the ability to process complex stories that include abstract mental state words (Tager-Flusberg, 2007), seem relevant factors in solving ToM tasks, and Pellicano (2010) found that EFs and local processing are predictors of later ToM performance. Frith and Frith (2003) found that ASD, as opposed to TD individuals, approached ToM tests as a general (complex) problem rather than one that needed social insight, and Bowler, Briskman, Gurvidi and Fornells-Ambrojo (2005) found high correlations between performance on a mechanical analogue of a false belief task without mental states and performance on the Sally-Anne task. Complexity in the Bowler et al. (2005) paradigm was defined as a series of conditional rules or relations that needed to be formed (Halford, 1992), and difficulty with the use of these is not specific to mental states but is rather a feature of general cognition. Another criticism of the account is, that a ToM deficit has been found not to be specific to ASD, as it was also found in other disorders (for a review see Korkmaz, 2011), such as schizophrenia (see Brüne, 2005 for review), ADHD (Saeedi, Noorazar, Bafandeh, Taheri & Farhang, 2014), or deaf children of hearing parents (Schick, De Villiers, De Villiers & Hoffmeister, 2007)¹, and sometimes even TD individuals showed ToM difficulties (Ozonoff, Pennington & Rogers, 1991). Considering that ToM difficulties only become apparent around the age of 4 years, when the majority of

¹ A delay in ToM development in this study was only found for deaf children of hearing parents. As opposed to these, deaf children of deaf parents performed similarly to TD children. This striking result gives some more indication that language seems to be a crucial factor in success on ToM tasks.

TD children is passing false belief tests (Korkmaz, 2011), and keeping in mind that ASD can reliably be diagnosed from around 2 years of age (Moore & Goodson, 2003), ToM difficulties cannot be the cause for social-communication impairments that start emerging much earlier (Boucher, 2012). The theory's greatest restriction may be its focus on social and communicative behaviours, which are part of the diagnostic criteria, but which do not explain difficulties that persons with ASD show in other "non-social" areas of behaviour, such as restricted and repetitive behaviours or emotion-processing (Hobson, 1993). Neither does the ToM deficit theory capture the strengths in some areas of cognition that are characteristic of individuals with ASD (Frith & Happé, 1994). To meet these criticisms other accounts were developed.

1.2.2 Executive Dysfunction

Another area, where ASD individuals have been found to show difficulties, is *Executive Function* (EF). EFs are problem-solving skills or functions that support actions to achieve distant goals, which include "planning, impulse control, inhibition of prepotent but irrelevant responses, set maintenance, organised search, and flexibility of thought and action" (Ozonoff et al., 1991, p. 1083). Pennington and Ozonoff (1996) also included "interference control, [...], integration across space and time, [...], and working memory" (p. 55) in their definition of EFs. The aim of the account was to explain some of the behaviours of ASD individuals that the ToM account does not explain and to find a difficulty that is common to all individuals with ASD. While some individuals with ASD passed ToM tasks (e.g., Baron-Cohen et al., 1985; Bowler, 1992; Ozonoff et al., 1991), Ozonoff et al. (1991) found that almost all participants in their study (96 %) were impaired in specific measures of EFs. Difficulties in EFs in ASD have been shown in the areas of mental flexibility, i.e., the ability to react flexibly to changes in the test, for example, using the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST; Rumsey, 1985; Rumsey & Hamburger, 1988; 1990), as well as planning and

inhibition of a prepotent response (Hill, 2004a). There are, however, some issues with the measurement of EFs. Russell, Jarrold and Hood (1999) argued that on some tasks children with ASD show EF deficits because the rules seem arbitrary to them. For example, on the WCST, where participants are asked to sort cards according to an unknown rule, which they are supposed to infer from feedback following their sorting decisions, there is no obvious reason why the rules according to which cards should be sorted, should change at a certain point. In addition, tasks, such as the WCST, tackle many different EFs (e.g., inhibition, working memory, etc.), making it difficult to ascertain exactly where problems lie (Hill, 2004a). Therefore, systematic investigations are needed to find the specific processes that are difficult for ASD individuals. Further, the executive dysfunction view does not account for all difficulties ASD individuals show, such as in the area of cognition (Frith & Happé, 1994), or in the core diagnostic areas, as EFs do not explain any significant variance in social interaction or repetitive behaviours in ASD in empirical investigations (Joseph & Tager-Flusberg, 2004). In addition, difficulties in EFs are not found in all ASD samples (e.g., Minshew, Goldstein, Muenz & Payton, 1992 using the WCST), and EF difficulties are also not specific to ASD, as they were also found to be evident in other disorders, such as frontal lobe damage (Alvarez & Emory, 2006), schizophrenia (Orellana & Slachevsky, 2013), ADHD (Willcutt, Doyle, Nigg, Faraone & Pennington, 2005), Parkinson's disease (Dirnberger & Jahanshahi, 2013), and groups such as typical Older Adults (OA; Hedden & Gabrieli, 2004). In general, although EF tests are supposed to measure frontal lobe functions, they are usually complex tasks, and individuals can fail on these tasks because of a disturbance in a number of different processes that do not need to have anything to do with frontal lobe functions (Pennington & Ozonoff, 1996), especially when control measures are lacking that are similar in complexity but are not supposed to tap EFs. The issue of complexity is, therefore, discussed in the next section.

1.2.3 Complex Information Processing Deficit

The theory of a deficit in Complex Information Processing arose as a critique of the two previously discussed cognitive models (ToM, EF), arguing that they only look at one potential area of deficit in ASD (D. L. Williams, Minshew & Goldstein, 2015). In a thorough assessment of language and memory in the same ASD sample (Minshew et al., 1992; Rumsey & Hamburger, 1988), the authors found mixed results in that ASD participants performed well on tests measuring more automatic processes, such as reading a text or spelling words without necessarily understanding the meaning, but they did worse than TD participants on tests that necessitated comprehension, interpretation, and inference of information, as in reading a text so one can answer questions about the text (Minshew, Goldstein, Taylor & Siegel, 1994; Minshew, Goldstein & Siegel, 1995). The second kind of task was defined as more complex and the idea was put forward that ASD individuals show difficulties in processing complex information (Minshew & Goldstein, 1998; Minshew et al., 1994). In this context, complexity was defined in various ways, including a large number of units to be processed, the requirement for this information to be organised in some way or, at a neural level, by the involvement of interactions between distant areas in the brain (D. L. Williams et al., 2015). These various definitions make it difficult to disprove the account. There is a danger of circularity in concluding that ASD individuals show difficulties with complex tasks, and when they cannot solve a task, one concludes that the task is complex without clearly operationalising or defining complexity. In addition, the reported deficits in complex tasks in ASD were at least partly explained by the tests' high demands on working memory (Minshew et al., 1995) and, therefore, by the above described deficit in EFs in ASD.

The following three theories try to explain cognitive functioning in ASD by focussing on processes where ASD individuals were found to be superior.

1.2.4 Weak Central Coherence

Frith and Happé (1994) devised the theory of Weak Central Coherence (WCC) in ASD in an attempt to account for non-social behaviours that are not explained by deficits in ToM, as well as to explain the performance of individuals, who pass ToM tasks (such as in Baron-Cohen et al., 1985; Bowler, 1992; Ozonoff et al., 1991). Frith (1989) described central coherence as a processing style of TD individuals that draws together various pieces of information to present them as a whole with an overall meaning. A deficit in this processing style in ASD was inferred on the basis that ASD individuals tend to focus on details. Because of criticism and contradictory findings, Happé (1999) revised the theory to say that WCC is a preference for a processing style rather than a deficit in ASD cognition. Support for the WCC theory was found in superior performance in ASD compared to TD on tasks like the embedded figures test (e.g., Shah & Frith, 1983), where participants are asked to find a hidden figure in a larger design, or the block design subtest of the Wechsler Intelligence test (e.g., Shah & Frith, 1993)², where participants are asked to build a design from a template with plastic cubes, as well as in difficulties in ASD in tasks that necessitate one to process information in context, for instance, to disambiguate the meaning of a word in a sentence based on the overall meaning of the sentence (e.g., Frith & Snowling, 1983). Later research, however, showed that ASD participants respond to global information, for example, when they are instructed to do so (Koldewyn, Jiang, Weigelt & Kanwisher, 2013; L. Wang, Mottron, Peng, Berthiaume & Dawson, 2007). Similarly, the same ASD participants, who showed a local bias in one task, presented coexisting intact global performance in another task (Hadad & Ziv, 2015; Plaisted, Swettenham & Rees, 1999; Rondan & Deruelle, 2007). Also, WCC is not specific to ASD (Mottron, Dawson, Soulières, Hubert & Burack, 2006), as

² A recent meta-analysis of visuo-spatial performance in ASD, however, showed that based on previous evidence only performance on the block design test is superior in ASD (Muth, Hönekopp & Falter, 2014).

there have been demonstrations of a local bias in other disorders, such as Williams Syndrome (M. A. Porter & Coltheart, 2010).

1.2.5 Increased Perceptual Discrimination

The Increased Perceptual Discrimination theory originated in the finding of poor transfer from a training situation to a new context in ASD participants (e.g., Swettenham, 1996), and the idea that ASD individuals process novel elements of a new situation or context well (Plaisted, O'Riordan & Baron-Cohen, 1998a). Thereby, they tend not to look for elements that are in common between training and a new context, leading to Reduced Generalisation (Plaisted et al., 1998a). According to this theory, ASD participants perform poorly if the training and transfer contexts share only few elements and the transfer context includes many new features. This is because persons with ASD prefer to process the new elements rather than the old ones. Such processing gives ASD individuals an advantage at discrimination tasks, for example, tasks asking participants to distinguish between different letters of the same colour or the same letters in different colours (Plaisted, O'Riordan & Baron-Cohen, 1998b), but gives them a disadvantage on tasks asking for shared features to be processed, such as the formation of prototypes for a face (Gastgeb, Rump, Best, Minshew & Strauss, 2009) or the categorisation of objects (Gastgeb & Strauss, 2012). Plaisted et al. (1998a) tested the theory with a perceptual learning task using highly similar images. ASD participants performed similarly well in discriminating images they had been trained on from novel images, whereas TD individuals benefitted from training and discriminated the images they were familiar with to a significantly better extent. A direct comparison of the two groups showed lower performance of ASD individuals on previously trained images but higher discrimination on novel images compared to TD participants. This finding led the authors to conclude that ASD individuals seemed to focus on the novel elements in all stimulus displays, and that they seemed to treat all problems as novel. This superior discrimination

performance was argued to underlie ASD individuals' outstanding performance on visual search (Kemner, van Ewijk, van Engeland & Hooge, 2008; O'Riordan & Plaisted, 2001), and embedded figures tasks (Plaisted, 2001), where ASD participants focus on non-shared features of stimuli in a search array or between target and background image. Increased discrimination was also found for the auditory domain, where ASD participants showed superior performance on discrimination of tone sequences. However, no between-group difference was found for the sense of touch (O'Riordan & Passetti, 2006). An alternative explanation for reduced generalisation was offered by Bott, Brock, Brockdorff, Boucher and Lamberts (2006), who suggested that ASD individuals use fewer attributes to judge the similarity of images. Ploog (2010) criticised the Perceptual Discrimination theory, by arguing that over-selectivity (i.e., elements are processed separately rather than as members of different categories), which lies at the basis of this theory, has been found in other disorders and is, therefore, not specific to ASD. Finally, Mottron et al. (2006) added that discrimination, which is at the centre of this theory, is only one process among many that they think are working differently in ASD. As an alternative, Mottron et al. (2006) developed Enhanced Perceptual Functioning (EPF) theory (Mottron & Burack, 2001; Mottron et al., 2006), which will now be discussed.

1.2.6 Enhanced Perceptual Functioning

EPF started off as a critique of the WCC account (Frith & Happé, 1994), and it was based on demonstrations that persons with ASD did not generally show a deficit in global processing (Mottron, Burack, Iarocci, Belleville & Enns, 2003; Mottron, Burack, Stauder & Robaey, 1999; Mottron, Peretz & Ménard, 2000; Ozonoff, Strayer, McMahon & Filloux, 1994). The central proposition of EPF is that an intact early developed low-level process, like the perception of physical properties of objects, such as colour, shape or size, takes over an impaired one, for instance, the perception of faces or emotions, and through experience over

time leads to an enhanced performance beyond the capabilities of TD individuals in a certain area of processing (Mottron & Burack, 2001). Deficits occur when these over-developed lowlevel processes, such as perceiving an object, interfere with higher-level processes, such as remembering an object, or when the preoccupation with perception, for example, looking at spinning objects instead of exploring the environment, hinders the development of other behaviours, such as pretend play (Mottron & Burack, 2001). This account offered an alternative to aspects of the Executive Dysfunction account in explaining problems in response inhibition, not with reference to an executive process, but with reference to ASD individuals' lower perceptual threshold that leads them to react to stimuli that TD individuals may not perceive. A criticism of the EPF account is that the authors, especially in the later version of the theory (Mottron et al., 2006), named too many possible mechanisms, which made the account harder to test and disprove. The use of savant skills³ in the theory may explain the disproportionate prevalence of savant skills in the ASD population, but it may cut a bit short in explaining phenomena common to all autistic individuals, as research has found that a strength in one cognitive area in ASD did not always come with a corresponding weakness in another area and vice versa (Plaisted Grant & Davis, 2009). Further, recent meta-analyses found clear visuo-spatial superiorities for autistic individuals only in some tasks but not others (Muth et al., 2014), and they suggested neither a global deficit, nor a local superiority in ASD, but rather that ASD individuals were just slower at grasping the general meaning of information in context (Van der Hallen, Evers, Brewaeys, van den Noortgate & Wagemans, 2015). A possible reason is that ASD participants attend to information differently compared to TD individuals and this idea will be discussed in what follows.

³ Savant syndrome defines an exceptional ability in an individual with a developmental disability that is in contrast to its general cognitive abilities (Treffert, 2014). Savant skills have been reported in about 10 % of autistic individuals (e.g., Bölte & Poustka, 2004; Rimland, 1978), the number goes up to about 30 % if exceptional cognitive abilities like superior performance on the block design task are included (Howlin, Goode, Hutton & Rutter, 2009).

1.2.7 Atypical Attention

Allen and Courchesne (2001) suggested Attention Dysfunction to be responsible for the cognitive profile observed in ASD, as attention is the prerequisite for a lot of higher-order cognitive processes. In the case of *Selective Attention*, the authors argued that depending on the volume of the parietal lobe individuals with ASD are either be over- or under-selective (see also Townsend & Courchesne, 1994). Over-selectivity in this case means having a small attentional focus, which is an advantage in visual search tasks, where the focus needs to be on targets and the search needs to be shielded from distracters (e.g., Wainwright & Bryson, 1996). Regarding Sustained Attention, the authors referred to a study by Garretson, Fein and Waterhouse (1990) showing that rather than task complexity, motivation had an effect on attention. Wainwright and Bryson (1996) argued that difficulties in maintaining continuous attention in ASD only appear when social reward is used, because of abnormalities in limbic structures that process reward differently compared to TD individuals (Weinberger, 1993). In terms of Spatial Attention, ASD participants have shown difficulties to disengage attention (so called "sticky attention" - Allen & Courchesne, 2001), which was found to be related to the volume of the parietal lobe (Townsend, Courchesne & Egaas, 1996). In addition, rapid orienting to detect a briefly lasting stimulus or to discriminate was harder for ASD individuals with smaller cerebellar volumes, suggesting a role of the cerebellum in response preparation. Another difficulty in attention in ASD was found in Shifting Attention under time pressure, which is another function that may be supported by the preparatory actions of the cerebellum. Without this preparation, attention shifts are slowed and occur with more errors. Allen and Courchesne (2001) suggested that the difficulty demonstrated by the shifting attention task may be part of a more general problem in providing and adjusting cognitive resources quickly and accurately. Minshew and Goldstein (1998) criticised the literature on attention in ASD in arguing that the results were affected by the demands on working memory and EFs of the tasks. As these are areas of difficulty in ASD as well, tasks need to be used that tease apart difficulties in different areas.

To conclude, all of the above-presented theories have stimulated a great deal of research and have shaped our current understanding of ASD. The theories were all significantly supported by neurological findings, suggesting that they each are important in their own right in covering aspects of ASD (Schroeder, Desrocher, Bebko & Cappadocia, 2010). Some are domain-specific (like ToM), and others are more domain-general (like WCC or EF). Some are focussed on higher-level cognitive domains (like ToM), some on lower-level ones (like EPF), and some are both (like WCC). But because ASD is complex and heterogeneous, none of the theories has been able to explain all its features. The question remains if it is possible to define one domain of functioning in which disturbances can explain all core features of ASD or if it is, as Happé, Ronald and Plomin (2006) have argued, time to give up on this idea and rather try to find separate theories to explain the triad of symptoms⁴ in ASD.

A domain of functioning that was originally considered to be important in explaining the characteristics of ASD is memory, and it is now attracting new interest given that the theories described above have not developed explanations of ASD that encompass all or even most of its clinical features. A characteristic memory profile in ASD is now regarded as an important feature of the ASD phenotype. The study of memory in ASD makes sense, when one considers that memory is a domain-general process and, therefore, can account for difficulties in a wide range of domains. It includes both high- and low-level processes, because of distinctions of different memory systems and processes, it can be explored at several levels, enabling a fine-grained, theory-driven analysis, and it is central to almost everything people

⁴ At the time of the article, ASD was still defined by difficulties in the three areas of functioning of social interaction, social communication, and restricted and repetitive behaviours. Later with the DMS-5, the two areas of social interaction and communication were pooled into one criterion (see Section 1.1.1).

do. Apart from the obvious function of remembering the past, which is already important for the simplest tasks in everyday life, memory is also important for a whole range of other functions, such as planning for the future or imagining possible scenarios, which requires the re-configuration of elements of past experiences to derive possible non-experienced events that may happen in the future or that are fictitious. Memory depends on and contributes to a whole range of other psychological functions that have been discussed in detail earlier (see Section 1.2), such as EFs or attention. It is involved in complex reasoning, which is a process that stands at the core of deficits in ASD, such as ToM, and it might also help to explain the development of repetitive behaviours as the formation of habits. Finally, as the brain bases of typical memory are becoming better and better understood, it is possible to infer from memory atypicalities in ASD to underlying mechanisms and brain bases. In what follows, the thesis will start off with defining memory and will continue with memory findings and theories in ASD.

1.3 Memory

To look at memory as one unified system would be too simplistic. Different memory systems are supported by different underlying mechanisms and brain structures and this complexity has the advantage of enabling a fine-grained analysis of what might be working similarly or differently in ASD as opposed to TD individuals. Psychologists have taken a number of different perspectives on memory. One of the first models was the *multi-store memory model* (Atkinson & Shiffrin, 1968), which proposed a distinction between sensory, short-term, and long-term memory as separate stores that are ordered in a linear fashion. Information is fed into the system through the senses, when attended to in sensory memory, the information is passed on to short-term memory, and through rehearsal reaches long-term memory, where it is saved for an unlimited amount of time, or until it is retrieved again. If information is not

attended to or rehearsed, it becomes permanently lost. Research soon found that this model is too simplistic. Several separate stores for short-term (Baddeley, 2000), and long-term memory (Schacter & Tulving, 1994), have been proposed since and in addition to rehearsal, consolidation (Craik, Routh & Broadbent, 1983) and retrieval have been found to play a role in remembering (Roediger & Butler, 2011). Moreover, memory has been found not to be a unidirectional process, because retrieval was found to be important not only for remembering but also for forgetting (M. C. Anderson, Bjork & Bjork, 1994). In the context of such findings, two approaches emerged for conceptualising memory. Some theorists argued that memory is best understood in terms of distinct "systems", whereas others preferred thinking about memory in terms of distinct "processes". Although these approaches are not necessarily inconsistent with one another, the distinction between processes and systems has stimulated considerable debate.

The systems approach refers to the structure of memory, i.e., different (neural) substrates underlie different systems of (long-term) memory (Foster & Jelicic, 1999), that stand in interaction with each other to enable the "utilization of acquired and retained knowledge" (Schacter & Tulving, 1994, p. 1). A memory system is, thereby, defined by the information that is processed, the brain mechanisms that support it, and the way it operates in relation to other systems (Schacter & Tulving, 1994; Tulving, 1984). It is possible, that different memory systems either work independently, in cooperation or even in competition (Squire & Dede, 2015). In addition, a given task may be solved by a number of different memory systems but some systems would be less optimal than others leading to lower task performance. The *processes approach* refers to the function of memory, i.e., the kind of operations that needs to be performed in any given memory test (Foster & Jelicic, 1999). This approach sees memory as a unitary process in which operations required by a particular test

work along a continuum crossing the borders of different memory systems. Both approaches will be described in more detail in the following two sections.

1.3.1 Memory systems

Schacter and Tulving (1994) distinguished five memory systems: "procedural memory, perceptual representation memory, semantic memory, working memory, and episodic memory" (p. 26). There are several ways to classify these and other systems of memory. One distinction is that between short-term memory (STM) and long-term memory (LTM). While working memory (WM) and the perceptual representation memory (PRS) are considered to be forms of STM⁵, procedural memory (PM), semantic memory (SM), and episodic memory long-term memory (LTM) processes. While PM PRS (EM)are and are automatic/unconscious (non-declarative), WM, SM, and EM are open to consciousness and are, therefore, categorised as declarative memory, i.e., it is possible to declare their contents (Squire, 1994). Squire and Dede (2015) considered classical conditioning and non-associative learning as two other forms of non-declarative memory.

PM describes knowledge about learned skills that is expressed when skills need to be performed (Squire & Dede, 2015). It is seen as a behavioural rather than a cognitive system (Schacter & Tulving, 1994). Mochizuki-Kawai (2008) distinguished between motor, perceptual, and cognitive procedures, each being supported by different brain regions. Squire and Dede (2015), additionally, saw habit as a form of procedural memory possibly because of its rigid and repetitive nature.

The PRS deals with the perceptual properties of objects and words, such as their visible structure but not their meaning. It belongs to the non-declarative memory system and

⁵ Baddeley (2012) distinguished short-term memory from working memory based on their respective functions. While short-term memory concerns the storage of information over short periods of time, working memory, in addition, is concerned with its manipulation.

operates at a rather automatic level (Schacter, 1994). Schacter (1994), in a review, found support for three PRS subsystems - a visual-word form system concerning the shape of words without their semantics, the structure-description system concerning the structure of objects, and the auditory word-form system concerning being able to write a spoken word without understanding its meaning.

A multi-component WM model replaced the old view of a unitary system for shortterm memory (Baddeley, 2000; Baddeley & Hitch, 1974). It is limited in capacity, and is divided into an attentional unit (central executive) and a storage unit (episodic buffer; Baddeley, 2000; Baddeley & Hitch, 1974). In addition, there are separate units for the temporary storage of language-related (phonological loop), visual and spatial material (visuospatial sketchpad) and, possibly, for movement and touch (Baddeley, 2012). The storage systems, thereby, communicate with LTM (Baddeley, 2012).

Tulving (2002) distinguished between SM and EM as forms of LTM. SM is our store for facts and knowledge about the world, which is separated from the personal experiences in which we acquire them (Tulving, 1972). Naming a word when seeing its fragments or a brief image of it, being presented with its definition, or doing a lexical decision task are all considered as tests of SM (Tulving, 1972). In contrast, EM is defined as the storage for personal experiences. It does not only include the event but also its relation to the self (autonoetic consciousness) and context information, such as where and when the event happened. EM develops as the latest of all memory systems, and Tulving (2002) argued that it is unique to humans. It involves *mental time travel*, in which an individual re-experiences a past event again at a later time. The related capacity to imagine the self at a future point of time is called *Episodic Future Thinking* (EFT). Free recall tests that require participants to retrieve information without any aid are considered to be prototypical tests of EM (Roediger, Buckner & McDermott, 1999). According to Tulving (2002), SM and EM are related systems because EM develops out of SM. In addition, EM is highly dependent on SM in that SM stores the definitions of concepts that need to be accessed in order to relate them to the self and to a place and a time in EM (Binder & Desai, 2011). In this context, it is worth noting that the different theories about memory systems do not all distinguish between different types of declarative memory. For example, Binder and Desai (2011) included EM in their definition of SM. Other authors do not agree with the idea of memory systems and rather argue for memory processes (see Foster & Jelicic, 1999; Tulving, 2002), some of which will now be discussed.

1.3.2 Memory processes

The operations afforded by a specific memory test are often presented in the form of dichotomous principles. Among the first of these principles was the *levels of processing approach* (Craik & Lockhart, 1972), which postulates a difference between shallow (processing of perceptual features of study materials) and deep processing (processing of meaning). The deeper something is processed, the stronger and longer durable is its memory trace. Although considerable evidence supported this distinction (Lockhart & Craik, 1990), several nuances in the literature (e.g., Baddeley, 1978; K. Klein & Saltz, 1976; Morris, Bransford & Franks, 1977) led to revisions and extensions of this theory. For example, Bransford, Franks, Morris and Stein (1979) postulated the *transfer-appropriate processing approach* stating that it is not only the level at which information is processed that determines memory strength but also the overlap in the conditions that prevail at encoding and retrieval, whereby shallow processing produces more durable memory traces than deeper processing under some circumstances (Roediger et al., 1999).

Another distinction is that between *automatic* and *effortful* processes (Hasher & Zacks, 1979). Cognitive processes like attention are limited in capacity (Hasher & Zacks, 1979). Automatic processes operate with minimal attention and, therefore, do not reduce this

capacity. They work despite other cognitive processes, without intention, and their task is to prevent an overload of the system. Effortful processes are guided by intention, and they use up capacity, for instance, when individuals use specific mnemonic techniques for remembering something. Capacity is also decreased by factors such as old age, whereby only effortful but not automatic processes should be affected (Hasher & Zacks, 1979).

Another principle distinguishes between *perceptual* (data-driven) and *conceptual* processes (e.g., Roediger, Weldon & Challis, 1989). Priming tests probe perceptual processes, because they ask participants to focus on perceptual features of the studied materials, whereas conceptual tests necessitate that meaning is processed. Explicit and implicit memory tests are ordered along this distinction. Explicit tests are conceptual tests, because the processed material is available to conscious/active retrieval. Implicit memory is tested with perceptual tests, and as a consequence the information is not open to conscious awareness. However, not all explicit tests are conceptual (e.g., shallow level encoding tasks involve perceptual processing in an explicit task), and not all implicit tests are perceptual (e.g., priming tests of word associations; see Roediger et al., 1999). Buchner and Wippich (2000) argued that a distinction between implicit and explicit memory tests is often just a coincidence of a difference in reliability of tests with explicit memory tests proving more reliable, although this does not necessarily have to be the case. The perceptual-conceptual distinction also underlies the *dual-process theory of recognition memory* with *familiarity* being a perceptual and *recollection* a conceptual process (Mandler, 2008). The two processes recollection and familiarity are thought to underlie recognition memory judgements (Yonelinas, 2002). Research indicates that Yes/No paradigms are supported more by recollection, whereas forced-choice paradigms seem to benefit more from familiarity and older individuals, who experience a decrease in recollection, therefore, perform worse on Yes/No as opposed to forced-choice paradigms (Bastin & van der Linden, 2003). The *Remember/Know* (R/K) procedure is widely used to investigate the processes of familiarity and recollection, and it is seen as an empirical dissociation of the distinction between EM and SM with Remember (R) as retrieval from EM and Know (K) as retrieval from SM (Tulving, 1985). R and K involve different states of conscious awareness. R is the process of recollection in a state of *autonoetic* conscious awareness, i.e., including a sense of self in the remembered event. R responses also include details of when, where, or how something was experienced in addition to the remembered information itself. In contrast, K is a feeling of familiarity in the absence of recollection of such contextual information in a state of *noetic* conscious awareness.⁶ It is, however, worth noting that although recollection/familiarity and R/K are similar constructs, they should not be used interchangeably. They are overlapping but they do not map onto each other exactly. When used in the right way, the R/K procedure teases apart memories that largely reflect recollection and others that are largely based on familiarity (Wixted & Mickes, 2010). However, recollection and familiarity are always both involved in R and in K judgements (Wais, Mickes & Wixted, 2008), as has been demonstrated by above chance memory for source information after K judgements in a R/K test. As opposed to the dual-process models, the signal-detection theory argues that the R/K paradigm does not test two processes but rather one process with different levels of strength and, therefore, increasing confidence (Banks, 1970; Dunn, 2004; Mandler, 2008; Wixted & Mickes, 2010), and when considered as two processes R reflects high confidence recollection and familiarity, and K indicates low confidence recollection and familiarity (Wixted, 2007). However, more recent research has shown that K responses are also made with high confidence, and R responses are also based on low confidence, and that R and K should rather both be seen as continuous processes (Ingram, Mickes & Wixted, 2012). In addition, when directly comparing confidence ratings and R/K responses, functionally distinct

⁶ It is worth noting that this definition of Know is a bit different from the original definition of SM as a store of general world knowledge (Mandler, 2008).

processes were found (e.g., Parkin & Walter, 1992). Further, research also showed distinct neurological bases for the two processes of R and K (Migo, Mayes & Montaldi, 2012), and a review of behavioural results, such as differing effects of variables like age, divided attention, and modality of the study materials on R and K (Yonelinas, 2002), the availability of context memory only for R responses (Gardiner, Ramponi & Richardson-Klavehn, 1998; Perfect, Mayes, Downes & van Eijk, 1996), and an increase of K responses for a loss of detail memory (Dudukovic & Knowlton, 2006), suggested that the data are represented best by a model of two processes (Brainerd, Gomes & Moran, 2014).

A final important processing distinction is that between *item* and *relational memory* with item memory concerning the memory for single units of material with one meaning, such as single words or pictures (Cohen, Poldrack & Eichenbaum, 1997), and relational memory representing the memory for context information or relations among single items (Davachi, 2006). Whereas item processing refers to the processing of information that distinguishes items from one another, relational processing focusses on the relations among single items (Guynn, Einstein & Hunt, 1992). The roles of relations among study materials and relational and item-specific encoding instructions have been studied extensively in the TD population. For example, when Hunt and Einstein (1981) tested their participants' memory for previously studied word lists, they found that words from related lists, i.e., lists that contained words from the same categories, were better remembered than unrelated words, i.e., lists that contained words from different categories. In addition, item-specific encoding instructions, i.e., rating words for their pleasantness at study, were more beneficial for recalling words from related lists, whereas relational encoding instructions, i.e., sorting words according to their category, improved recall for words from unrelated lists. In another study using pictorial material, Chalfonte and Johnson (1996) asked their participants to study line-drawings presented in different colours and locations in the cells of a grid. At test,

participants recognised individual items, i.e., images, colours, and locations better than their combinations, such as image-colour or image-location. These studies highlight that EM and recollection, i.e., remembering the context of an item presentation, are inherently relational, whereas SM and familiarity used for remembering the items can benefit from item as well as relational information. Thereby, it has yet to be established if item processing without relational processing or the other way around is at all possible (Davachi, 2006).

In conclusion, both system and process theories have stimulated an enormous number of empirical investigations. Critics (e.g., Roediger et al., 1999), however, have argued that both approaches lack clear definitions of what a system or process should be and seem at times to be too simplistic. Moscovitch (1994) suggested a combination of both approaches, which would be more complex and harder to test but would represent reality better. Whether one agrees with these distinctions or not, they provide a useful heuristic to enable a fine-grained analysis of memory in ASD with the advantage of being able to interpret the findings within a theoretical framework. Having set the theoretical frame of research on memory more generally, the thesis now continues with the presentation of empirical findings and the characterisation of memory in ASD.

1.4 Memory in ASD

1.4.1 Empirical findings on memory in ASD

Research investigating memory with reference to the self in ASD points to specific difficulties with EM. After considering studies with regards to self-monitoring, metamemory, Autobiographical Memory (ABM; memory for past experiences of the self), and EFT (imagining the self in the future), direct comparisons of EM and SM in ASD will follow. Factors influencing EM in ASD will be highlighted, which will be followed by a presentation of studies on memory for relations between items, and relations among items and their context.

1.4.1.1 Memory with the self in the centre

Studies testing memory for actions indicate a self-monitoring deficit in ASD. Persons with ASD have shown difficulty distinguishing which actions they had performed themselves out of a choice of actions (e.g., saying or thinking a word - Hala, Rasmussen & Henderson, 2005), and whether they themselves or another person carried out an act, such as laying out cards (Russell & Jarrold, 1999), naming pictures (Lind & Bowler, 2009), or performing first aid actions (Maras, Memon, Lambrechts & Bowler, 2013). In addition, ASD participants correctly remembered fewer actions they had performed themselves (Bigham, Boucher, Mayes & Anns, 2010; Russell & Jarrold, 1999 - Exp. 1 & 2; Zalla et al., 2010). By contrast, ASD individuals performed well when encouraged to comment on the task (D. M. Williams & Happé, 2009), or when asked to perform an action with two objects in real life (Hill & Russell, 2002), both of which may have prompted participants' memory. The last study, however, may have been compromised by a ceiling effect. Further, no difficulties in ASD were reported for tasks with fewer social demands, for example, when participants were asked to indicate which square out of a number of squares on the screen they controlled with the computer mouse (Grainger, Williams & Lind, 2014; D. M. Williams & Happé, 2009), suggesting typical levels of agency in the ASD group. Overall, these data suggest that difficulties become apparent when tasks are more demanding, for example, because of the social demands of the tasks, such as taking turns with another person as an advanced social action would lead to difficulties in ASD individuals (e.g., Lind & Bowler, 2009). In conclusion, having difficulties distinguishing between oneself and another person as the executor of an action indicates a self-monitoring deficit in ASD. Another factor that may play a role in these difficulties is meta-memory - the awareness of ones' own memories – which will be considered next.

Wojcik, Moulin and Souchay (2013) found indications of compromised meta-memory for EM in ASD. The authors asked children to judge how likely it was that they would later remember the second word of a pair after they had studied a list of word pairs. ASD, as opposed to TD, children underestimated their later memory, as they remembered similar numbers of items that they had previously indicated they would or would not remember, whereas TD children remembered more items they previously indicated as likely that they would remember them as opposed to items that they had rated as unlikely that they would remember them. The authors suspected difficulties relating the cue word to contextual information in ASD, and a lack of contextual details may have made ASD individuals unsure about their judgements. A marginally lower Verbal IQ (VIQ) in the ASD group, however, asks to interpret the results with caution.

After having established that ASD individuals find it difficult to distinguish between themselves and others as the executor of an action and to reflect about their memories, the question arises how well they remember personal experiences from the past (ABM). The answer is that ASD participants more often experienced problems in reporting ABMs (Crane, Pring, Jukes & Goddard, 2012; Chaput et al., 2013; Goddard, Dritschel, Robinson, & Howlin, 2014b), they needed more prompts to produce memories (Goddard et al., 2014b), took longer for their reports when timed (Crane, Goddard & Pring, 2011; Crane et al., 2012; Goddard, Howlin, Dritschel & Patel, 2007), their reports were less accurate when checked against parent reports (Bruck, London, Landa & Goodman, 2007), and they were more factual (Chaput et al., 2013). Persons with ASD also extracted less meaning from past events for the future (Crane, Goddard & Pring, 2010), they reported fewer specific memories (Bruck et al., 2007; Crane et al., 2010; 2011; 2012; Goddard et al., 2014b; Goddard, Dritschel & Howlin, 2014a; Goddard et al., 2007), with fewer EM details (Adler, Nadler, Eviatar & Shamay-Tsoory, 2010; Crane & Goddard, 2008; Goddard et al., 2014b; S. B. Klein, Chan, & Loftus, 1999; Kristen, Rossmann & Sodian, 2014; Maister, Simons & Plaisted-Grant, 2013; Tanweer, Rathbone & Souchay, 2010), and they stated more general gist-like memories (Crane et al., 2011; 2012; Goddard et al., 2014b; Maister et al., 2013) compared to TD participants. Both groups, however, reported similar numbers of SM details (Adler et al., 2010; S. B. Klein et al., 1999; Kristen et al., 2014). Finally, unlike TD individuals, ASD participants did not show better ABM for more recent times (Bon et al., 2013; Crane & Goddard, 2008; Goddard et al., 2014a), and they sometimes reported fewer remote memories (Goddard et al., 2014a & b). A recent study suggested that poor EFs may play a role in reduced ABM in ASD because only ASD children with poor set shifting abilities reported fewer episodic details, whereas ASD children with good set shifting abilities performed similarly to TD children (Maister et al., 2013). EFs may also play a role when ASD participants show reduced semantic ABM (Goddard et al., 2014b). Not only did ASD children included in this study show reduced set shifting compared to TD individuals, set shifting abilities were also found to be a significant predictor for the number of semantic ABMs, suggesting that ABM difficulties may at least in part be corollary of executive dysfunction rather than memory problems per se. Finally, it is worth noting that in some of the studies presented above groups were not matched in terms of age (e.g., Goddard et al., 2007) or IQ (e.g., Adler et al., 2010; Bon et al., 2013; Bruck et al., 2007) and results should, therefore, be interpreted with caution. In conclusion, studies on ABM show that ASD individuals find it difficult to remember information about their personal past. The question arises if imagining the self in a future point of time (EFT) may also be difficult for them.

Indeed, studies investigating EFT found imagined future events to be less specific in ASD (Lind, Bowler & Raber, 2014a). ASD participants reported fewer episodic details (Terrett et al., 2013). In addition, descriptions of ASD children were judged as less likely by their parents (Lind et al., 2014a) compared to events reported by TD children that were judged by their own parents. Further, ASD participants judged the quality of their imagined future events as lower compared to TD participants. They reported a lower sense of presence, lower salience of the reports, and more fragmentation (Lind, Williams, Bowler & Peel, 2014b). Hanson and Atance (2014) reported difficulties in ASD with EFT involving the imaginary preparation of future trips. However, groups were not matched on IQ and age in this study and, therefore, results should be interpreted with caution. One study found no between-group differences in EFT when participants were asked to complete sentences regarding future events (Crane, Lind & Bowler, 2013), which may have been an easier task for the ASD individuals because of the support the sentence parts provided than producing thoughts based on a cue word in an interview situation involving another person (Lind et al., 2014a; Terrett et al., 2013). The studies considered so far point to specific difficulties in ASD with EM - the memory for personal experiences. Only few of the discussed studies also examined SM. Therefore, systematic comparisons of EM and SM in ASD will be discussed next.

1.4.1.2 Episodic versus semantic memory in ASD

EM and SM were both found to depend upon the Medial Temporal Lobe (MTL) of the brain, which is a structure including the hippocampus, perirhinal, parahippocampal, and entorhinal brain regions (Eichenbaum, Yonelinas & Ranganath, 2007). Whereas the perirhinal cortex was found particularly responsible for SM, the hippocampus was found especially involved in EM (Eichenbaum et al., 2007). The Prefrontal Cortex (PFC) is also thought to play a role in EM (Tulving, 1989). The R/K recognition memory procedure has been used frequently to

assess EM and SM with R measuring EM and K responses indicating SM. Because it is one of the procedures used in the empirical studies of this thesis, it is useful to examine previous studies that have used this procedure in ASD in some detail. An overview of R/K studies in ASD is presented in Table 1.1, and they will be described in what follows.

Table 1.1

Studies using the R/K recognition procedure comparing ASD and TD participants.

Participant characteristics		acteristics	Materials and		Res	ults	Cohen's d	
	ASD	TD	procedures		ASD	TD		
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)		
Bowler	, Gardiner &	Grice (2000a)						
Ν	16 (13 m)	15 (14 m)						
age	30.9 (6.3)	31.1 (5.6)	- words	H-FA ^c overall	0.47 (0.15)	0.48 (0.16)	H-FA ^c overall	0.06
VIQ ^a	93 (16.6)	97 (14.4)	- high- & low-frequency	H-FA ^c R	0.30 (0.18)	0.40 (0.14)	H-FA ^c R	0.62
PIQ ^b	89 (14.1)	90 (11.8)	- R/K procedure	H-FA ^c K	0.17 (0.15)	0.08 (0.08)	H-FA ^c K	0.75
Bowler	& Ring (in pr	reparation)						
Ν	30 (23 m)	28 (21 m)						
age	42.9 (11.9)	43.3 (14.1)	- words	H-FA ^c overall	0.45 (0.25)	0.62 (0.24)	H-FA ^c overall	0.69
VIQ ^a	111 (17.0)	114 (14.8)	- high- & low-frequency	H-FA ^c R	0.29 (0.25)	0.47 (0.28)	H-FA ^c R	0.68
PIQ ^b	107 (18.4)	109 (12.7)	- R/K procedure	H-FA ^c K	0.16 (0.18)	0.15 (0.16)	H-FA ^c K	0.06
Massan	nd (2011) PhD	thesis - Exp. 2	2					
Ν	23 (17 m)	22 (17 m)						
age	37.4 (12.8)	42.2 (11.6)	- words	H-FA ^c overall	0.57 (0.31)	0.66 (0.24)	H-FA ^c overall	0.33
VIQ ^a	107 (13)	110 (16)	- high- & low-frequency	H-FA ^c R	0.37 (0.27)	0.55 (0.23)	H-FA ^c R	0.70
PIQ ^b	106 (17)	106 (18)	- R/K procedure	H-FA ^c K	0.21 (0.22)	0.11 (0.12)	H-FA ^c K	0.55

Participant characteristics		Materials and		Results		Cohen's d		
	ASD	TD	procedures		ASD	TD		
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)		
Massan	nd (2011) PhD	thesis - Exp. 4	1					
Ν	12 (9 m)	12 (11 m)						
age	40.0 (11.4)	40.1 (11.1)	- kaleidoscope images	H-FA ^c overall	0.44 (0.21)	0.60 (0.21)	H-FA ^c overall	0.76
VIQ ^a	110 (14)	112 (19)	- R/K/New procedure	H-FA ^c R	0.26 (0.26)	0.51 (0.19)	H-FA ^c R	1.10
PIQ ^b	112 (16)	105 (18)		H-FA ^c K	0.18 (0.13)	0.09 (0.07)	H-FA ^c K	0.86
			- R justifications	\mathbf{JR}^{d}	0.35 (0.09)	0.57 (0.05)	\mathbf{JR}^{d}	3.02
Tanwee	er, Rathbone	& Souchay (20	010)					
Ν	11 (9 m)	15 (4 m)						
age	34.1 (11.1)	32.7 (9.5)	 autobiographical memories 	overall	0.66 (0.09)	0.74 (0.03)	overall	1.19
VIQ ^a	110 (11.3)	109 (11.0)	- three lifetime periods	R	0.45 (0.10)	0.60 (0.05)	R	1.90
PIQ ^b	113 (10.4)	109 (10.1)	- R/K/Guess procedure	K	0.21 (0.05)	0.13 (0.04)	K	1.77
			- R justifications	JR ^d	0.35 (0.09)	0.57 (0.05)	$\mathbf{JR}^{\mathbf{d}}$	3.02
Manipu	ulations							
Bowler	, Gardiner &	Gaigg (2007) -	Exp. 1					
Ν	18 (14 m)	18 (15 m)						
age	33 (10.7)	34 (8.7)	- words	H-FA ^c ov full A ^e	0.57 (0.19)	0.64 (0.21)	H-FA ^c ov full A ^e	0.35
VIQ ^a	102 (16.9)	102 (15.0)	- full vs divided attention	H-FA ^c R full A ^e	0.39 (0.21)	0.51 (0.22)	H-FA ^c R full A ^e	0.56
PIQ ^b	94 (18.6)	101 (12.9)	- R/K procedure	H-FA ^c K full A ^e	0.16 (0.11)	0.09 (0.11)	H-FA ^c K full A ^e	0.64
				H-FA ^c ov div A ^f	0.23 (0.12)	0.32 (0.18)	H-FA ^c ov div A ^f	0.59
				H-FA ^c R div A ^f	0.11 (0.08)	0.20 (0.18)	H-FA ^c R div A ^f	0.65
				H-FA ^c K div A ^f	0.09 (0.09)	0.07 (0.11)	H-FA ^c K div A ^f	0.20

Participant characteristics		Materials and		Results		Cohen's d		
	ASD	TD	procedures		ASD	TD		
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)		
Bowler	et al. (2007) ·	- Exp. 2						
Ν	24 (18 m)	24 (17 m)						
age	33 (11.5)	33 (10.4)	- words	H-FA ^c ov visual	0.26 (0.14)	0.23 (0.17)	H-FA ^c ov visual	0.19
VIQ ^a	103 (14.3)	103 (12.7)	- perceptual instruction	H-FA ^c R visual	0.08 (0.09)	0.11 (0.10)	H-FA ^c R visual	0.32
PIQ ^b	103 (18.8)	104 (13.1)	- verbal vs visual	H-FA ^c K visual	0.18 (0.13)	0.12 (0.14)	H-FA ^c K visual	0.44
			presentation	H-FA ^c ov verbal	0.17 (0.15)	0.20 (0.13)	H-FA ^c ov verbal	0.21
			- R/K procedure	H-FA ^c R verbal	0.09 (0.06)	0.09 (0.09)	H-FA ^c R verbal	0
				H-FA ^c K verbal	0.07 (0.13)	0.11 (0.09)	H-FA ^c K verbal	0.36
Bowler	et al. (2007) -	Exp. 3						
Ν	16	16						
age	35 (10.5)	35 (8.8)	- words	H-FA ^c ov once	0.54 (0.19)	0.51 (0.23)	H-FA ^c ov once	0.14
VIQ ^a	100 (13.0)	102 (12.1)	- lexical decision task	H-FA ^c R once	0.32 (0.22)	0.32 (0.25)	H-FA ^c R once	0
PIQ ^b	99 (16.0)	101 (10.4)	- repeated presentation	H-FA ^c K once	0.22 (0.18)	0.19 (0.14)	H-FA ^c K once	0.19
			- R/K procedure	H-FA ^c ov thrice	0.73 (0.19)	0.79 (0.13)	H-FA ^c ov thrice	0.37
				H-FA ^c R thrice	0.48 (0.25)	0.55 (0.14)	H-FA ^c R thrice	0.35
				H-FA ^c K thrice	0.25 (0.22)	0.25 (0.11)	H-FA ^c K thrice	0
Souchay	y, Wojcik, W	illiams, Crathe	rn & Clarke (2013) - Exp. 1	t				
Ν	19 (16 m)	19 (14 m)						
age	13.2 (2.7)	14.2 (2.4)	- pictures & verbal labels	Hits-FA overall	0.64 (0.14)	0.62 (0.15)	Hits-FA overall	0.17
VIQ ^a	115 (16.5)	123 (12.6)	- colour, gender of	Hits R	0.11 (0.13)	0.23 (0.19)	Hits R	0.74
PIQ ^b	109 (14.9)	108 (13.9)	speaker	Hits K	0.89 (0.13)	0.77 (0.19)	Hits K	0.70
			- R/K/New procedure with words					

Par	rticipant char	acteristics	Materials and		Res	sults	Cohen's d	
	ASD	TD	procedures		ASD	TD		
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)		
Soucha	y et al. (2013)	- Exp. 2						
Ν	19 (16 m)	19 (14 m)						
	see Exp. 1	see Exp. 1						
age	13.2 (2.7)	14.2 (2.4)	- words	Hits-FA overall	0.55 (0.23)	0.58 (0.18)	Hits-FA overall	0.10
VIQ ^a	115 (16.5)	123 (12.6)	- R/K/New procedure	Hits R	0.10 (0.15)	0.13 (0.20)	Hits R	0.17
PIQ ^b	109 (14.9)	108 (13.9)	- temporal order in list	Hits K	0.90 (0.15)	0.87 (0.20)	Hits K	0.17
Soucha	y et al. (2013)	- Exp. 3						
Ν	19 (16 m)	19 (14 m)						
	see Exp. 1	see Exp. 1						
age	13.2 (2.7)	14.2 (2.4)	- four words in	Hits-FA overall	0.44 (0.26)	0.58 (0.17)	Hits-FA overall	0.66
VIQ ^a	115 (16.5)	123 (12.6)	quadrants of a box	Hits R	0.12 (0.25)	0.12 (0.15)	Hits R	0
PIQ ^b	109 (14.9)	108 (13.9)	- R/K/New procedure	Hits K	0.88 (0.25)	0.88 (0.15)	Hits K	0.01
Memor	y illusions							
Bowler	, Gardiner, G	rice & Saavala	ainen (2000b)					
Ν	10	10						
age	28.5 (8.6)	26.1 (9.0)	-words	H-FA ^c ov old	0.68 (0.21)	0.79 (0.15)	H-FA ^c ov old	0.60
VIQ ^a	89 (9.7)	93 (15.4)	-old, new unrelated,	H-FA ^c R old	0.51 (0.24)	0.72 (0.16)	H-FA ^c R old	1.03
PIQ ^b	83 (8.9)	89 (18.1)	new related words at test	H-FA ^c K old	0.17 (0.15)	0.07 (0.09)	H-FA ^c K old	0.81
			-R/K procedure	H-FA ^c ov new rel	0.28 (0.20)	0.46 (0.26)	H-FA ^c ov new rel	0.78
				H-FA ^c R new rel	0.26 (0.19)	0.43 (0.25)	H-FA ^c R new rel	0.77
				H-FA ^c K new rel	0.01 (0.03)	0.03 (0.05)	H-FA ^c K new rel	0.49

Par	Participant characteristics		Materials and		Res	sults	Cohen's d	
	ASD	TD	procedures		ASD	TD		
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)		
Massan	nd (2011) PhD	thesis - Exp. 3	3					
Ν	14 (12 m)	16 (14 m)						
age	40.2 (14.4)	36.3 (12.3)	-words	H-FA ^c ov old	0.59 (0.18)	0.65 (0.16)	H-FA ^c ov old	0.35
VIQ ^a	115 (11)	112 (17)	-R/K procedure	H-FA ^c R old	0.42 (0.22)	0.47 (0.18)	H-FA ^c R old	0.25
PIQ ^b	112 (14)	112 (16)		H-FA ^c K old	0.17 (0.09)	0.18 (0.15)	H-FA ^c K old	0.08
				H-FA ^c ov new rel	0.22 (0.12)	0.21 (0.13)	H-FA ^c ov new rel	0.08
				H-FA ^c R new rel	0.12 (0.10)	0.10 (0.09)	H-FA ^c R new rel	0.21
				H-FA ^c K new rel	0.10 (0.10)	0.10 (0.08)	H-FA ^c K new rel	0
Meyer,	Gardiner & I	Bowler (2014)						
Ň	16	16						
	(12 m)	(10 m)						
age	36.5 (11.7)	37.7 (13.9)	-words under directed	H-FA ^c ov TBL ^g	0.60 (0.27)	0.77 (0.16)	H-FA ^c ov TBL ^g	0.77
VIQ ^a	105 (14.6)	105 (14.1)	forgetting instructions	H-FA ^c R TBL ^g	0.41 (0.31)	0.56 (0.22)	H-FA ^c R TBL ^g	0.56
PIQ ^b	103 (18.8)	106 (12.5)	-R/K procedure	H-FA ^c K TBL ^g	0.20 (0.16)	0.21 (0.16)	H-FA K TBL ^g	0.06
			-	H-FA ^c ov TBF ^h	0.43 (0.24)	0.44 (0.23)	H-FA ^c ov TBF ^h	0.04
				H-FA ^c R TBF ^h	0.22 (0.18)	0.18 (0.14)	H-FA ^c R TBF ^h	0.26
				H-FA ^c K TBF ^h	0.21 (0.13)	0.26 (0.16)	H-FA ^c K TBF ^h	0.35

Participant characteristics		Materials and		Res	ults	Cohen's d			
	ASD	TD	procedures		ASD	TD			
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)			
Relatio	nal								
Gaigg,	Bowler, Ecke	r, Calvo-Meri	ino & Murphy (2015)						
Ν	13 (12 m)	12 (11 m)							
age	35.6 (10.3)	35.5 (10.5)	-word triads	H-FA ^c overall	0.27 (0.15)	0.28 (0.10)	H-FA ^c overall	0.11	
VIQ ^a	106 (12.4)	113 (15.2)	-R/K/Guess procedure	H-FA ^c R	0.26 (0.15)	0.45 (0.17)	H-FA ^c R	1.19	
PIQ ^b	107 (17.6)	108 (13.8)		H-FA ^c K	0.26 (0.15)	0.22 (0.05)	H-FA ^c K	0.36	
				H-FA ^c Guess	0.28 (0.15)	0.17 (0.07)	H-FA ^c Guess	0.94	
Note. ^a	Note. ^a VIQ - Verbal IQ. ^b PIQ - Performance IQ. ^c H-FA - corrected recognition rates - Hit rates (H) minus False Alarm (FA) rates. ^d JR -								

Remember justifications. ^efull A - full attention. ^fdiv A - divided attention. ^gTBL - to be learned. ^hTBF - to be forgotten. Effect sizes in bold represent between-group differences in R responses, where TD participants performed significantly higher than ASD participants. Effect sizes in italics represent between-group differences in K responses with significantly higher performance in the ASD compared to the TD group.

Findings generally indicate reduced EM but intact SM in ASD. Using the R/K procedure, ASD individuals have shown reduced R rates compared to TD participants for words (Bowler, Gardiner & Gaigg, 2007 Exp. 1; Bowler, Gardiner & Grice, 2000a; Bowler, Gardiner, Grice & Saavalainen, 2000b; Bowler & Ring, in preparation; Massand, 2011 Exp. 2; Meyer, Gardiner & Bowler, 2014), word triplets (Gaigg, Bowler, Ecker, Calvo-Merino & Murphy, 2015), pictures (Souchay, Wojcik, Williams, Crathern & Clarke, 2013 Exp. 1), nonnameable kaleidoscope images (Massand, 2011 Exp. 4), and ABMs (Tanweer et al., 2010). Sometimes reduced R rates were compensated by increased K (Bowler et al., 2000a; Massand, 2011 Exp. 2; Tanweer et al., 2010) or Guess rates (Gaigg et al., 2015) in ASD. When looking at the effect of instructions, between-group differences were found for perceptual encoding instructions in that they reduced K responses only in ASD individuals. The authors argued that TD individuals may have been able to overcome potential difficulties by other strategies that may have not been available to ASD individuals (Bowler et al., 2007 Exp. 2). Similarly, instructions to remember materials rather than to forget them in a directed forgetting paradigm had differential effects on ASD and TD groups. Whereas ASD participants remembered fewer words they were asked to remember compared to TD participants, both groups reported a similar number of words they were asked to forget. The authors interpreted this observation as resulting from less effective encoding strategies in ASD (Meyer et al., 2014). When testing the effect of various manipulations on rates of R and K, ASD and TD groups were similarly affected by divided attention (Bowler et al., 2007 Exp. 1), repeated presentations (Bowler et al., 2007 Exp. 3), the position of a phoneme change in a word (Bowler et al., 2007 Exp. 3), forgetting instructions in a directed forgetting paradigm (Meyer et al., 2014), as well as intentional encoding instructions (Souchay et al., 2013 Exp. 1). These results, and studies inspecting justifications for R responses finding no significant differences between groups (Bowler et al., 2000b; Souchay et al., 2013 Exp. 1), indicate a similar quality of R and K responses in ASD and TD participants. Whereas most studies have shown overall levels of corrected recognition rates that were not significantly different between the two groups, the effect sizes for the between-group differences were medium to large (e.g., Bowler et al., 2000b; Massand, 2011 Exp. 2 & 4), suggesting that sample sizes might have been too small to detect more subtle differences between groups. Two studies have found reduced overall recognition memory for the ASD group (Bowler & Ring, in preparation; Tanweer et al., 2010). Bowler and Ring (in preparation) had tested a large sample ($N_{ASD} = 30$, $N_{TD} = 28$) compared to other studies and, therefore, had more statistical power to detect smaller differences between groups. Moreover, Tanweer et al. (2010) had used ABMs as materials, which might have been particularly difficult for ASD individuals, given the evidence set out in the previous section (1.4.1.1). Three studies did not find any differences between groups in R rates using words (Massand, 2011 Exp. 3; Souchay et al., 2013 Exp. 2 & 3). The lack of a between-group difference in R responses in Souchay et al. (2013 Exp. 2 & 3) may have been caused by the fact that the same participants took part in all three experiments within the same testing session creating order effects. Specifically, low R rates in both groups as well as a considerable drop in TD individuals' R responses in experiments two and three suggested that group differences may have been masked by participants' inattention or exhaustion in later experiments. Similar R rates in both groups in Massand (2011 Exp. 3) may have been caused by a reduced performance of the TD group and/or an increased performance of the ASD group, especially for false targets in comparison to other studies of this kind (e.g., Bowler et al., 2000b), masking a between-group difference.

Three studies have investigated brain responses related to R/K judgements. When inspecting Event-related Potentials (ERPs), which are responses in the Electroencephalogram (EEG) that are measured after an event of interest, such as a stimulus presentation on-screen, researchers repeatedly found no between-group differences relating to R but differences in

time windows and topographical distribution relating to K responses (Massand, 2011 Exp. 2 & 4), which may have resulted from increased Guess rates within K responses in the ASD group (Massand, 2011 Exp. 2). Differential regional brain activation for ASD and TD participants was also found when using functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) during a R/K/Guess procedure (Gaigg et al., 2015). Whereas ASD individuals showed no difference in activation between R and K, signal changes in the middle and inferior frontal gyrus were larger for R compared to K for the TD group. These studies suggest that reduced EM in ASD may be caused by a different neural activity underlying SM.

Overall the studies considered in this chapter point to specific behavioural difficulties with EM in ASD, leaving SM mostly intact. Therefore, EM will be considered in greater detail in the next two sections.

1.4.1.3 Factors influencing episodic memory in ASD

EM difficulties in ASD are likely related to three factors that have frequently been supported in memory research in ASD, which are the reduced use of organisational strategies, the diminished spontaneous use of material-inherent relatedness, and the benefit from task support, each of which will be considered in more detail below.

Reduced organisation of study materials in ASD has been found in terms of lower semantic clustering as well as random free recall reports. ASD participants clustered words less into their categories in free recall tests (Bowler, Gaigg & Gardiner, 2010; Gaigg, Gardiner & Bowler, 2008; Minshew & Goldstein, 1993), and their clustering reached a plateau, while TD individuals' clustering increased further (Sumiyoshi, Kawakubo, Suga, Sumiyoshi & Kasai, 2011). In addition, ASD individuals' oral and written free recall outputs were more idiosyncratic than TD individuals' recalls (Bowler, Gaigg & Gardiner, 2008a), and whilst the subjective organisation of TD participants' memories both increased and became more similar over the 16 trials of the task in which the same words were presented repeatedly, ASD individuals' recalls, although increasing over trials, did not become more similar. ASD individuals' recall of an unrelated word list was also reported as significantly more re-organised (Maister & Plaisted-Grant, 2011). In terms of the typical serial position curve with primacy (remembering more items from the beginning of a list) and recency effects (remembering more items from the end of a list), ASD individuals showed a decreased primacy but an increased recency effect in the free recall of pictures (Renner, Klinger & Klinger, 2000). In addition, while TD individuals' primacy effect improved in the free recall of words over a series of trials, ASD participants showed a typical primacy effect only in Trial 1, which then reached a plateau over the next few trials (Bowler, Limoges & Mottron, 2009), indicating a different organisation of study materials in ASD participants for repeated presentations of the same word list.

In addition to a different organisation of the study materials, individuals with ASD do not spontaneously use the semantic or syntactic structure of materials to aid their recall. While Intellectually Disabled (ID; Hermelin & O'Connor, 1967) as well as TD children (Ramondo & Milech, 1984) benefitted from the syntactic structure of sentences, ASD children showed similar recall for sentences as for random word strings. Similarly, ASD participants performed worse on semantically (Boucher & Warrington, 1976; Bowler, Matthews & Gardiner, 1997; Bowler, Gaigg & Gardiner, 2008b; Lopez & Leekam, 2003; Maister et al., 2013; Minshew & Goldstein, 2001; Minshew, Goldstein & Siegel, 1997; Tager-Flusberg, 1991) and phonologically related (B. J. Smith, Gardiner & Bowler, 2007) as well as hierarchically organised word lists (Bowler, Gaigg & Gardiner, 2009), but they performed like TD individuals in the free recall of lists of unrelated words. Less use of semantic relatedness of materials in ASD was also reflected in the recall of fewer categories especially for categories with fewer items (Bowler et al., 2009; Gaigg et al., 2008; Maister et al., 2013), as well as lower free recall of details in a story (O'Shea, Fein, Cillessen, Klin & Schultz, 2005). ASD participants also benefitted less from training in the use of relations among words (B. J. Smith et al., 2007).

The studies just described point to difficulties in spontaneously using information that is inherent in the study materials to support retrieval (particularly free recall) in ASD. Difficulties in memory in ASD become less pronounced when additional support is provided at test. This observation led Bowler et al. (1997) to develop the Task Support Hypothesis (TSH) for ASD to describe the phenomenon whereby ASD individuals seem to show particular difficulties with free recall tasks, so called unsupported tests, because they do not provide cues or guidance to help recall, but almost intact performance on cued recall or recognition tests, so called supported tests, that either give a choice of possible answers or cues to the correct answer. Research supporting the TSH found lower free recall of lists of single words (Bowler et al., 1997), word pairs (Bowler et al., 2008b), story details (O'Shea et al., 2005), the gender of the voice or the location on the screen a word (Bowler, Gaigg & Gardiner, 2015; Bowler, Gardiner & Berthollier, 2004) or a dot (Bowler, Poirier, Martin & Gaigg, 2016) was presented in at study. Between-group differences, however, disappeared when using cued recall (Bowler et al., 1997; Bowler et al., 2016) and (four-possibility) recognition test procedures (Bowler et al., 2004; 2008b; 2015; Cooper et al., 2015; O'Shea et al., 2005). In a free recall test, but not following questions, ASD individuals falsely attributed more actions that they had performed themselves to the experimenter (Maras et al., 2013). ASD participants also better distinguished between actions performed by themselves compared to those performed by another person, when they and the other person were holding a different coloured block while reading out a word (Farrant, Blades & Boucher, 1998; Hala et al., 2005). Finally, semantic clustering was also found to improve when a cued rather than a free recall test was used (Phelan, Filliter & Johnson, 2011). Research showed that support at encoding is also beneficial for ASD memory. Without support, ASD compared
to TD individuals remembered fewer categories (Gaigg et al., 2008). However, when participants were instructed to sort words into their different categories at encoding (relational encoding) ASD and TD individuals performed without difference. Similarly, B. J. Smith et al. (2007) found significantly lower free recall of word lists in ASD compared to TD participants, but when training groups in mnemonic strategies, recall increased slightly in ASD individuals.

These findings overall indicate that support at retrieval as well as encoding is beneficial for ASD memory. Another open question in ASD research relates to the processes of encoding and retrieval, and whether memory difficulties are caused by problems in memory retrieval, or if an encoding deficit has a knock-on effect on retrieval, or if both are problematic. A recent study claimed that problems at the stage of encoding in ASD, at least in part, led to later difficulties at retrieval (Gaigg et al., 2015). That is because ASD participants showed particular difficulties in R retrieval and only R retrieval was sensitive to the relational nature of the to-be-remembered triplets (i.e., varying degrees of semantic relatedness). In addition, the authors found similar brain activation for R and K rates in ASD as opposed to increased encoding activation for R compared to K in TD individuals.

The results described in this section point to specific difficulties in relational processing in ASD (Bowler, Gaigg & Lind, 2011) and, therefore, memory for relations between items and among items and their context in ASD will be considered next.

1.4.1.4 Memory for relations between items and among items and their context

Item and relational memory have been reported to have distinct neural substrates within the MTL with the perirhinal cortex processing item information, the parahippocampal cortex processing context information and the signal of the hippocampus being related to relational binding of individual items and their context (Davachi, 2006; L. R. Howard, Kumaran,

Ólafsdóttir & Spiers, 2011). Recent research suggested an additional involvement of the PFC as well as the parietal cortex in item as well as relational memory (Ackerman & Courtney, 2012).

Memory for relational material can be distinguished into memory for different types of relations. There are relations between items or among items and their context. In addition, Halford (1992) described different types of relations in his *taxonomy of cognitive development*, that increase in complexity starting with the processing of individual items as *unary relations*, the processing of pairs of items called *binary relations*, and the processing of the relations among more than two items starting with *ternary relations* - the processing of relations among triplets of items. Keeping this taxonomy in mind, the thesis will start with considering memory for pairs of items, followed by memory for items and their context.

When participants were asked to associate pairs of items (paired associate learning) and their memory was tested with a cued recall test, most studies found no differences between groups using unrelated (Ambery, Russell, Perry, Morris & Murphy, 2006; Boucher & Warrington, 1976; Brown, Aczel, Jiménez, Kaufman & Plaisted Grant, 2010; Minshew et al., 1997; Salmond et al., 2005; D. L. Williams, Goldstein & Minshew, 2005), as well as related word pairs (Gardiner, Bowler & Grice, 2003), unrelated picture pairs (Morton-Evans & Hensley, 1978), and sound-symbol pairs (D. L. Williams, Goldstein & Minshew, 2006). Two studies reported differences in verbal as well as visual paired associate learning when groups were not matched on IQ (Brown et al., 2010; Salmanian, Tehrani-Doost, Ghanbari-Motlagh & Shahrivar, 2012). Since paired associate learning was found to be related to IQ (Estes & Huizinga, 1974; Uttl, Graf & Richter, 2002), results of these studies need to be interpreted with caution. Most of the studies referred to above have used standardised tasks, such as the *Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery* (CANTAB; Salmanian et al., 2012), the *Wechsler Memory Scale* (WMS; e.g., Ambery et al., 2006; D. L. Williams et

al., 2005), or the Children's Memory Scale (CMS; e.g., Salmond et al., 2005), where participants are generally presented with eight pairs of items. It is possible that these tasks are too easy to capture any slight difficulties that ASD individuals might show, which was suggested by the finding of a ceiling effect in the WMS (Uttl et al., 2002). Another reason for null-effects may have been the small sample sizes of some of the studies (e.g., Boucher & Warrington, 1976, N = 12 in each group; Gardiner et al., 2003, N = 10 in each group; Morton-Evans & Hensley, 1978, N = 5 in each group) causing statistical power to be too low to detect differences between groups, which was supported by the finding of difficulties when large samples were used (e.g., Minshew & Goldstein, 2001, $N_{ASD} = 52$, $N_{TD} = 40$). Between-group differences were found to be of more subtle nature as higher False Alarm (FA) rates in ASD participants for a test of word pairs (Gardiner et al., 2003) showed. Difficulties in paired associate learning in ASD were also found when unusual combinations were tested, such as related picture-sound pairs (Morton-Evans & Hensley, 1978), or face-house pairs (Gaigg, Rogers & Bowler, 2012), or when more taxing tasks were used such as hidden-link tasks (Gaigg et al., 2012). In such a task, autistic adults were tested with two lists of face-house pairings (Gaigg et al., 2012). In the second list, the houses from List 1 were re-paired with new faces, and at the final test participants were presented with the two faces from each list without the houses, intermixed with other unpaired faces, and participants were asked to pick the two related faces. Only half of the ASD participants reached criterion during list learning and the ASD group overall performed much worse than TD individuals on the final test. In a second experiment, that did not contain a social component, participants were tested with the same procedure but with unrelated object pairs. At test, participants were presented with the two objects that were linked because of an earlier presentation with a third object, intermixed with other unrelated objects. The third object was not presented. Again, ASD participants showed slower learning and lower performance on the final test compared to TD individuals.

Gaigg et al. (2012) interpreted this finding as showing poorer flexibility in combining and recombining elements in EM in ASD.

When looking at memory for the context of item presentation, ASD individuals showed difficulties in remembering the locations for words or pictures on the computer screen (Bowler, Gaigg & Gardiner, 2014; Bowler et al., 2004; Cooper et al., 2015; Semino, Ring, Bowler & Gaigg, in preparation), the gender of the voice that spoke a word at study (Bowler et al., 2004), the face of a person, as well as the folder they were holding, in a video telling a story (O'Shea et al., 2005), the colours images were presented in at study (Massand & Bowler, 2015), and the temporal order of the presentation of words (Bennetto, Pennington & Rogers, 1996; Poirier, Martin, Gaigg & Bowler, 2011), pictures (Bennetto et al., 1996), digits (Poirier et al., 2011), everyday objects (Bigham et al., 2010; Ni Chuileann & Quigley, 2013), locations of dots in a grid (Bowler et al., 2016), and famous characters in history (Gaigg, Bowler & Gardiner, 2014). More intrusion errors on the second list of the California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT) were reported for ASD individuals, indicating difficulties to remember which list a word was previously presented in (Bennetto et al., 1996; Minshew & Goldstein, 1993). In some studies, between-group differences for context memory may have been masked by order effects (Souchay et al., 2013), small sample sizes (Maister & Plaisted-Grant, 2011, N = 15 in each group), or ceiling effects (Gras-Vincendon, Mottron, Salamé, Bursztejn & Danion, 2007), and results should, therefore, be interpreted with caution. In addition, no difficulties were found in simpler tasks such as remembering a background for an item (Lind et al., 2014a). It is possible that participants mentally merged item and background into a single image in this study. Regarding temporal order memory, inconsistent results may have occurred because groups were matched on VIQ, and digit span as a test of temporal order memory is part of VIQ. Matching on VIQ may, therefore, have obscured the effects researchers were interested in (e.g., Bowler et al., 2015; Gras-Vincendon et al., 2007;

Maister & Plaisted-Grant, 2011; Souchay et al., 2013). An alternative was presented by Bowler et al. (2016) and Poirier et al. (2011), who matched their groups on a VIQ estimate that did not include digit span.

In some cases, difficulties in remembering the context may have also led to difficulties remembering the items. Only six studies have directly compared item and relational memory within the same task in ASD previously. Five of these studies found similar difficulties in ASD on item and relational tests, when participants were asked to remember line-drawings and their colours (Massand, 2011, Exp. 5), locations for dots in a grid and the temporal order of their presentation (Bowler et al., 2016), pictures of daily objects (Cooper et al., 2015; Semino et al., in preparation) or words (Bowler et al., 2004) and their screen locations. By contrast, Bowler et al. (2014) found intact item memory for pictures, colours, and locations, but difficulties remembering the combinations, i.e., items in colours or items in locations. In this study images were presented in a grid, which may have served as support for ASD participants' memory. In addition, one could argue that scenes, like the ones used in Cooper et al. (2015), were much more complex than single items in a grid and, therefore, inconsistencies in the findings may have been related to varying degrees of task complexity. This idea was supported by Bowler et al. (2016), who found that when presenting participants with dots in their locations in a grid, difficulties remembering the temporal order of their presentation at study disappeared, showing the support the grid provided for retrieval of order memory in ASD.

In conclusion, relating items to one another seems to be somewhat easier for ASD individuals than relating items to their context. Relating items can be difficult for persons with ASD when more taxing tasks are used, or difficulties become apparent when larger samples are tested. Difficulties in context memory in ASD generalise across various types of

context, and item memory can be difficult as well, when tested with tasks of similar complexity as relational tasks.

After having established the specific memory profile of ASD individuals in the reduced use of organisational strategies and material-inherent relatedness, the benefit from task support as well as specific difficulties in remembering subjective as well as objective context information for items, the thesis will now present theories that have been developed in an attempt to explain the memory profile in ASD.

1.4.2 Memory theories in ASD

1.4.2.1 Amnesia parallel, hippocampal patients and the relational binding account

Boucher and Warrington (1976) established the *amnesia parallel* of autism. Amnesia, resulting from damage to the temporal lobe, is characterised by a selective memory impairment affecting the creation of new long-term memories and/or the retrieval of older memories. Similarly to ASD individuals, amnesics were found impaired in free recall (Warrington & Weiskrantz, 1970, 1974), ABM (Dall'Ora, Sala & Spinnler, 1989) and EFT (Cole, Morrison, Barak, Pauly-Takacs & Conway, 2015). In contrast to ASD, amnesics have also shown general impairments in paired associate learning (Baddeley & Warrington, 1970), recollection and familiarity (Berry, Kessels, Wester & Shanks, 2014; Lombardi et al., 2016), as well as difficulties with priming (Berry et al., 2014; Ostergaard, 1999). These findings indicate that memory impairments in amnesia are much more pronounced than those found in ASD. A reason might be that brain damage in amnesia extends beyond the hippocampus.

brain, have been reported repeatedly⁷ in ASD (e.g., Aylward et al., 1999; Bauman & Kemper, 2005; Nicolson et al., 2006; Maier et al., 2015; Schumann et al., 2004), and DeLong (1992) has hypothesised about the role of the hippocampus in the more general difficulties seen in ASD, such as rigid and repetitive behaviours (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), difficulties in the development (Loucas et al., 2008; Tager-Flusberg & Joseph, 2003) and use of language (e.g., Eales, 1993; Norbury & Bishop, 2002; Rapin & Dunn, 2003), and a lack of creativity (e.g., Boucher, 2007; Constable, Ring, Gaigg & Bowler, under revised review; Craig & Baron-Cohen, 1999). In addition, ASD is characterised by difficulties in social interactions, which are not central in amnesia. Most importantly, ASD is present from birth onwards, whereas amnesia is most often acquired later in life after the development of the brain is complete. Therefore, a better condition for comparison would be developmental amnesia, where brain lesions to the temporal lobe, frequently limited to the hippocampus, occur within the first few years of life (Vargha-Khadem et al., 2003). Because of the rarity of the condition, most studies are case reports. These indicated some similarities to ASD in the form of impaired EM but intact SM in developmental amnesia (Rosenbaum et al., 2011). However, studies also showed differences from ASD in developmental amnesia in terms of intact EFT (D'Angelo, Kacollja, Rabin, Rosenbaum & Ryan, 2015), intact relational memory (Hurley, Maguire & Vargha-Khadem, 2011), and transfer effects when taught (D'Angelo et al., 2015), indicating that some functions normally controlled by the hippocampus may be taken over by other brain regions in the course of development. It remains, however, unclear, if intact performance of individuals with developmental amnesia on these tasks occurs because of a restriction of the damage to the hippocampus (Adlam, Malloy, Mishkin & Vargha-Khadem, 2009), or because an early brain damage might have been compensated by

⁷ Studies are inconsistent as to whether the hippocampus is enlarged (Schumann et al., 2004) or smaller (Aylward et al., 1999) relative to TD individuals. Some studies found no between-group differences (Piven, Bailey, Ranson & Arndt, 1998).

continuing brain development. The second possibility raises the question why similar coping mechanisms do not seem to happen in ASD or if they do why they are not as efficient.

Another account that sees the hippocampus as the base of difficulties in memory in ASD is the *relational binding account* (Bowler et al., 2011), which proposes that individuals with ASD show intact item memory, i.e., memory for single words or pictures, but they show difficulties with relational binding, i.e., difficulties establishing a link between different items or among items and their context, such as place, time, or colour. The capacity of relational binding enables flexible retrieval of the event as well as its parts, and it is dependent on the hippocampus (Opitz, 2010). Following the account, item memory in ASD should be intact because it depends on brain regions outside the hippocampus, such as the perirhinal or entorhinal cortex, which are not suspected to work differently in ASD (Bowler et al., 2011). A question that still needs to be resolved is whether ASD individuals show an impairment in relational processing (B. J. Smith et al., 2007), or whether they just present a preference for item-specific processing and are, in principle, able to use relational processing but do not do so spontaneously (Gaigg et al., 2008).

To explain why some tasks involving relational processing may be more difficult for ASD individuals than others, Bowler et al. (2011) refered to Halford's (1992) *taxonomy of cognitive development* (see Section 1.4.1.4). Halford (1992) described cognitive development in stages of increasing complexity - *unary relations* describe the processing of individual items, followed by *binary relations*, the processing of pairs of items, followed by higher order relations such as *ternary relations*, the processing of relations among triplets of items. Bowler et al. (2011) argued that the concept of ternary relations may also be able to explain difficulties in other cognitive processes, outside the domain of memory, such as why individuals with ASD show difficulties with joint attention, which requires them to see the relations among themselves, another person, and an object. Even lower performance on tasks

of ToM such as the Sally-Anne task, described epreviously, can be explained as a difficulty in the processing of ternary relations (Bowler et al., 2005; Section 1.2.1).

Some inconsistencies in the findings as well as a lack of an overlap between findings in ASD and developmental amnesia, only involving the hippocampus as a responsible brain region, however, leave room for speculation about additional brain regions involved in ASD, which will be discussed in the next sections.

1.4.2.2 Complexity account and findings from frontal lobe patients

Another way to look at findings on memory in ASD is that of the *Complexity Account*, which was first described by Minshew et al. (1994), identifying ASD as a disorder of complex information processing, and which is described in detail previously (Section 1.2.3). The danger of post-hoc defining a task as complex because ASD individuals perform badly on it, led Bowler et al. (2011) suggest to use Halford's (1992) taxonomy of the complexity of relational processing as a way of operationalising complexity in a task (see Section 1.4.1.4). The complexity account draws on a parallel to patients with frontal lobe pathology, who, similarly to ASD individuals (see Section 1.2.2; Hill, 2004a & b), have been found to show difficulties in EFs (e.g., Alvarez & Emory, 2006). The frontal lobes are thought to be involved in complex information processing, because of their role in integrating information from all primary sensory cortices to strategically guide goal-directed actions (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007). Anatomically, larger frontal cortices (Carper & Courchesne, 2005) as well as poor connections between distal brain regions (Courchesne & Pierce, 2005) have been reported for ASD individuals, supporting the idea that the frontal lobes may play a role in the differences observed in ASD.

In terms of memory, parallels in the reduced use of meaning and organisational strategies to support recall in ASD (Minshew & Goldstein, 2001) and in patients with frontal lobe lesions (Gershberg & Shimamura, 1995; Mangels, 1997; Stuss & Alexander, 2005) have

been reported. Further similarities were found in difficulties with EFT (Berryhill, Picasso, Arnold, Drowos & Olson, 2010), intact item memory and simultaneously difficulties associating information about time and place to items (Janowsky, Shimamura & Squire, 1989), difficulties remembering the temporal order of events (Shimamura, Janowsky & Squire, 1990), and more difficulties with unsupported compared to supported tests (Baldo & Shimamura, 2002) in patients with frontal lobe lesions. ABM problems in frontal lobe patients have been reported as a less prominent feature (Berryhill et al., 2010), in that they were only found in individuals that had additional difficulties in EFs (Sala, Laiacona, Spinnler & Trivelli, 1993). This finding parallels a recent study in ASD, where only the individuals with difficulties in EFs showed particularly reduced ABM (Maister et al., 2013). Another parallel to ASD was found in difficulties in more complex paired associative learning tasks testing flexibility in re-combining previously studied items in frontal lobe patients (Shimamura, Jurica, Mangels, Gershberg & Knight, 1995; see Gaigg et al., 2012 for results in ASD). In contrast to ASD participants, next to difficulties in unsupported free recall tests, patients with frontal lobe pathology also showed reduced cued recall and recognition memory (Wheeler, Stuss & Tulving, 1995). In addition, patients with frontal lesions have been shown to benefit from semantic relatedness of study materials (Kopelman & Stanhope, 1998), which is unlike ASD individuals (see Section 1.4.1.3). Finally, a direct test of the influence of frontal lobe functions on memory in ASD, utilising a test that had previously been successful in demonstrating EM impairments in frontal lobe patients, showed only few similarities (Bowler et al., 2010). In this task, participants were asked to study two lists of words from the same categories until they reached a criterion. There was either no support at study and/or at test, or support was provided in form of category labels at encoding and/or retrieval. The only similarity with Gershberg and Shimamura's (1995) frontal lobe patients was found in reduced clustering in the output of the ASD participants (Bowler et al., 2010).

The reported similarities and differences in memory in ASD and frontal lobe patients suggest that the frontal lobes are part of the story but that other brain regions should be considered in addition.

1.4.2.3 Ageing analogy - a combination of the frontal lobes and the hippocampus

A combination of both previously presented accounts is the *ageing analogy*, first proposed by Bowler (2007), noting that memory in ASD is similar to that of TD OA. TD OA first experience a decrement in the PFC, leading to a decrease in EFs, which is later on followed by volume changes in the hippocampus leading to problems with memory (Hedden & Gabrieli, 2004). This and the finding of an activation of the MTL and the frontal lobe during memory encoding (Buckner, Kelley & Petersen, 1999) and retrieval (Simons & Spiers, 2003), pointed to the role of both brain regions and their alternated connectivity (Hedden & Gabrieli, 2004) in memory in TD OA.

Behaviourally similar to ASD, TD OA have shown decreased performance on unsupported free recall compared to supported recognition test procedures (Craik & Anderson, 1999). Similar to the relational binding account in ASD (Bowler et al., 2011), an associative deficit hypothesis for TD OA suggests that older age is associated with particular difficulties in forming associations between units of experience in memory (Naveh-Benjamin, 2000), such as remembering locations of items (Chalfonte & Johnson, 1996; Kessels, te Boekhorst & Postma, 2005b), their colours (Chalfonte & Johnson, 1996), or the temporal order of their presentation (Rotblatt et al., 2015), leaving memory for single items relatively intact (Dumas & Hartman, 2003). Also similar to ASD, TD OA have shown reduced ABM (Levine, Svoboda, Hay, Winocur & Moscovitch, 2002), EFT (Cole, Morrison & Conway, 2013), as well as difficulties in memory monitoring (McDonough & Gallo, 2013), leaving implicit memory intact (J. H. Howard, Dennis, Howard, Yankovich & Vaidya, 2004). Finally, lower clustering in TD OA compared to younger adults on a free recall test of words may have been related to reduced age-related cognitive flexibility (Taconnat et al., 2009), whereby EFs would have been a mediator of the effects of older age on EM (Troyer, Graves & Cullum, 1994). In this context, Troyer et al. (1994) found that age did not predict recall performance anymore when the influence of EFs was partialled out. Put in other words this means that TD OA with good EFs would not differ from younger adults in their recall. As mentioned above, similar findings have been reported for ASD (Maister et al., 2013). These results suggested the importance of EFs for retrieving the relevant information out of a disorganised memory trace. In ASD individuals with executive dysfunction, poor EFs would not make up for a relational binding deficit in memory and, therefore, these individuals would show memory impairments. Further support for the notion that the hippocampus and the PFC are working together differently in memory in ASD in some way comes from a recent study showing activation in both brain regions following successful encoding in memory (Gaigg et al., 2015).

1.4.2.4 The parietal lobes or a combination of the frontal lobes, the hippocampus and the parietal lobes

Boucher and Mayes (2012) recently offered a possible alternative of a neural substrate of memory impairments in ASD – the parietal lobes. This view makes sense when considering parietal lobe abnormalities reported in ASD (Courchesne, Press & Yeung-Courchesne, 1993), and the importance of the parietal lobes for EM (Ally, Simons, McKeever, Peers & Budson, 2008; Cabeza, Ciaramelli, Olson & Moscovitch, 2008; Simons et al., 2008; Simons, Peers, Mazuz, Berryhill & Olson, 2010). Behaviourally, findings of intact memory for pairs of items (Berryhill, Drowos & Olson, 2009) were recently challenged by reports of impairments for more complex forms of associative learning in parietal patients (Ben-Zvi, Soroker & Levy, 2015), which parallel recent demonstrations in ASD (Gaigg et al., 2012). Similarly, memory

difficulties have been found to decrease with increasing task support in parietal patients (Adlam et al., 2009), and the parietal lobes have been shown to be involved in R judgements in R/K tasks (Wagner, Shannon, Kahn & Buckner, 2005), which have been reported to be reduced in both ASD (see Section 1.4.1.2) and parietal patients (Drowos, Berryhill, André & Olson, 2010). ABM and EFT were also found affected in parietal patients (Berryhill et al., 2010). Further, the parietal lobes, next to the PFC and the hippocampus, form part of a default network for ABM, EFT, and perspective taking (Buckner, Andrews-Hanna & Schacter, 2008), and they were found responsible for other functions that have been found to be impaired in ASD, such as motor planning (Fogassi & Luppino, 2005; Gowen & Hamilton, 2013), and imitation (Iacoboni et al., 1999; J. H. G. Williams, Whiten & Singh, 2004). Maister et al. (2013) recently hypothesised about an involvement of frontal, hippocampal, and parietal regions as the neural underpinnings of memory impairments in ASD. This idea was supported by findings of the involvement of all three brain regions in EM (Shimamura, 2014). As presented in Section 1.2.7, the parietal lobes were also found to play an important role in attention, with some attentional functions working differently in ASD (Section 1.2.7). How attention may be related to EM will be presented in Section 1.4.2.5.2.

Two final possibilities that would be supported by the great variation between individuals with ASD are that different neural substrates may be involved in different individuals with ASD (Boucher & Mayes, 2012), or that different brain regions are implicated to different extents across individuals.

1.4.2.5 Relation between memory findings and general cognitive theories in ASD

1.4.2.5.1 ToM deficit account

Perner, Kloo and Gornik (2007) argued that ToM ability (see Section 1.2.1 for ToM in ASD) is necessary for EM, i.e., to re-experience a past event. The authors referred to Tulving's (1985) definition of EM as remembering the past in the sense of reliving it, including mental time travel. This form of reliving the past is distinguished from knowledge about past events that has been acquired without directly having experienced the event, for example, because somebody else talked about the event. Experimentally, this distinction between Remembering and Knowing is measured using the R/K recognition memory paradigm (as discussed previously in Sections 1.3.2, 1.4.1.2). Perner et al. (2007) argued that in order to recognise an event as old, one needs to understand that one has a memory of the event because one experienced it previously. The memory is the representation of a previous experience and one understands the source for this memory. To do this, ToM is needed as a way of introspection. In relation to source monitoring this means, the more vivid details a representation of an event includes, the more likely it is judged as previously experienced rather than if one just knows the facts about the event. This is especially relevant for free recall tests, which provide no clues to the experience. Perner et al. (2007) emphasised, however, that ToM and EM develop in parallel and influence each other. Individuals with impairments in ToM would be expected to show difficulties in recollection and source monitoring because they would not be able to distinguish between events that they themselves have experienced, or that they were told about.

1.4.2.5.2 Atypical Attention account

Cabeza et al. (2008) presented an *Attention to Memory model* (AtoM) postulating two ways in which attention (see Section 1.2.7 for attention in ASD) plays a role in EM. In this model, the authors distinguished between *direct* and *indirect retrieval*, similarly to Moscovitch's (1992) distinction between *associative/automatic* and *strategic retrieval*. Cabeza et al. (2008) hypothesised that direct retrieval is controlled by the ventral parietal cortex and mediated by the MTL. This process needs little attention and works rather automatically in that attention is directly captured by information (bottom-up processing). Indirect retrieval, in contrast, is controlled by the dorsal parietal cortex, and it is mediated by the PFC. It is a strategic and effortful process that demands attention, and it is driven by the goal of the person trying to remember (top-down processing). Attention is not essential but it enhances memory efficiency. Individuals with a lesion in the ventral parietal cortex would be expected to show subtle difficulties in EM in free recall, but not when cues are provided at test, in recollection, but not when context is assessed by questions, and possibly in the simultaneous retrieval of several details.

The next accounts and their predictions concern less the system itself but rather the way information enters the system.

1.4.2.5.3 Weak Central Coherence and Atypical Perceptual Processing accounts

EPF (see Section 1.2.6) leads to a bias for processing low-level perceptual features with less processing of high-level features (Mottron & Burack, 2001). One example is a bias in favour of processing item information that leads to less processing of global information, i.e., the context (local versus global information according to the WCC – see Section 1.2.4). Difficulties with remembering context information and intact item memory are features that are also predicted by the relational binding account. Thereby, the question remains whether

enhanced item processing is a bias and ASD individuals are able to use relational processing if they choose to or are instructed to do so (which is what the EPF account - Mottron & Burack, 2001 and the later version of the WCC account - Happé, 1999 argue), or whether relational processing is defect in ASD and enhanced item processing is rather a compensatory mechanism (which is what the earlier version of the WCC account argues - Frith & Happé, 1994). In relation to that, Maister et al. (2013) argued that the PFC may be needed as a compensatory mechanism to inhibit or supress item processing so that relational processing can happen in ASD.

1.4.2.5.4 Increased Perceptual Discrimination account

Similarly to the WCC account, the Increased Perceptual Discrimination account (see Section 1.2.5) predicts better processing of individual features (e.g., Plaisted et al., 1998a), for example items. Maister et al. (2013) suggested that the PFC may be needed as a compensatory mechanism to specify additional retrieval cues or to engage in strategic search for the relevant information.

1.5 Aims of the thesis

After having established that persons with ASD show particular behavioural features in terms of difficulties in social interactions and routine-like behaviours, the literature review also showed that there are a number of cognitive theories trying to explain ASD in terms of differences in cognitive functions such as ToM, EFs, perception, processing styles, attention, and memory that individuals with the disorder show. None of the cognitive accounts has been successful in explaining all the features of the disorder. However, it is now established that ASD individuals present a characteristic profile in memory. Specifically, from the literature review it becomes clear that they have particular difficulties with relational processing. Because of the relevance of memory for daily life and because of the potential power of the relational binding account in explaining ASD, the aim of the thesis was to put this particular account to the test. Only few tasks have so far, specifically, tested relational memory in ASD. Therefore, tasks were used that, specifically, probe relational processing and systematically compare relational memory to item memory within the same task. Another aim of the thesis was to try to find measures that would, in principle, be suitable for a wider population of individuals on the autistic spectrum, including those with limited language and/or intellectual abilities, who often get left out in research. Another group of participants that is scarcely researched are older ASD participants. Because of the importance of the effects of age on cognitive functions for care provisions and support programmes, it was of interest to run preliminary analyses of the effects of age on memory across the mid-adulthood-lifespan in cross-sectional designs to investigate if ASD and TD groups would differ. To achieve these aims this thesis includes five studies each testing large groups of adults with ASD and TD with broad age-ranges in the adulthood lifespan and IQs in the average range.

Experiment 1 served as a connection and extension to previous literature on recognition memory in ASD. Following Tulving (2002), recognition memory judgements are based on contributions of autonoetic and noetic consciousness. These contributions have been measured empirically by employing the R/K recognition memory procedure. Studies using this paradigm in ASD have consistently found reduced R but intact K responses (see Section 1.4.1.2) indicating particular difficulties in EM but intact SM. Previous studies, however, have mainly used verbal materials and, as ASD is related to particular difficulties in acquiring and developing language (Howlin & Asgharian, 1999; Loucas et al., 2008; Tager-Flusberg & Joseph, 2003), results may not be generalisable across different materials such as pictorial materials or ones that are hard to verbalise/name. Therefore, Experiment 1 tested the generalisability of previous results on R/K recognition by using meaningful and meaningless verbal and visual materials in a standard R/K recognition procedure. This study also aimed to

determine why groups differ in their R judgements, and what criteria they base their recognition decisions on by calculating sensitivity and response bias measures and by asking participants to justify their R responses. Finally, the underlying neural processes were of interest. Pupillary responses are a summed index of brain activity during a certain task. TD participants characteristically show larger pupils in response to previously presented as opposed to new items (pupil Old/New effect; Goldinger & Papesh, 2012) indicating that recollection is more cognitively demanding for them. Experiment 1 aimed to test whether the pupil Old/New effect would also be found for ASD individuals. An atypical pupil Old/New effect would imply altered neural processing in this group.

Following Experiment 1, which showed similar difficulties in EM for different materials and indicated difficulties in establishing relations in terms of R responses and R justifications, Experiment 2 aimed to directly test relational memory in ASD. In contrast to Experiment 1, where participants could choose which context from the study phase they wanted to remember and report for a R justification (subjective context memory), in Experiment 2 participants were directly asked to remember locations for objects in rooms (objective context memory). Experiment 2 also aimed to unify the memory distinctions of item/relational and implicit/explicit memory (previously presented in Section 1.3.2) to establish whether the difficulty in ASD is one of explicit retrieval or general relational processing extending to implicit memory and, therefore, to memory encoding, which is an open question in the ASD literature (see Section 1.4.1.3). To do this, an Inclusion/Exclusion paradigm was used (Jacoby, 1991, 1998) and fixations to the objects' previously presented old and new locations were measured.

While Experiment 2 demonstrated particular difficulties in remembering objectlocations, the aim of Experiment 3 was to compare memory using the same experimental paradigm for single images (items), memory for location, temporal order, and memory for study set (relations among subsets of items). Two previous studies suggested similar difficulties in ASD for different types of relations (Bowler et al., 2004, 2014). Studies directly comparing item and relational memory in ASD are inconsistent. Therefore, a paradigm was used with similar relational processing requirements for all four tasks. In addition, because ASD individuals present difficulties in developing language (Howlin & Asgharian, 1999; Loucas et al., 2008; Tager-Flusberg & Joseph, 2003), abstract shape images were used to control for the influence of language as well as for differences in previous experiences with the test materials.

Having established that different types of relational memory as well as item memory are difficult for persons with ASD, another area that is known to be associated with relational memory and that is supported by hippocampal function - spatial navigation - was assessed in Experiment 4. Item memory and relational processing are important factors for successful spatial navigation (Bohbot, Iaria & Pertrides, 2004; Youngstrom & Strowbridge, 2012). Previous studies on the topic show inconsistent results (see Table 4.1 in Section 4.1.1). One possible reason for these earlier inconsistencies is that poor EFs or attention differences are involved in the relational processing difficulties in ASD. Therefore, these processes were examined by measuring cognitive flexibility and by tracking eye movements.

Following Experiment 4, which showed spatial navigation difficulties related to relational processing but also EF and attention differences, the aim of the final study of this thesis was to test the hypothesis of atypical hippocampal functioning as a potential cause of difficulties in relational processing in ASD. This study employed a structural learning task from the non-human animal learning literature (Aggleton, Poirier, Aggleton, Vann & Pearce, 2009; Aggleton, Sanderson & Pearce, 2007; Sanderson, Pearce, Kyd & Aggleton, 2006), which has been shown to be sensitive to hippocampal damage in animal lesion studies. This study was particularly important for the conclusion and discussion sections of this thesis.

2 Chapter 2: Recognition memory

2.1 Experiment 1: Remember/Know recognition memory

2.1.1 Introduction

2.1.1.1 Theoretical background

Recognition memory judgements are supported by EM as well as SM (Tulving, 2002). While EM is our memory for personally experienced events including information about time and place, SM is a memory for timeless facts (Tulving, 2002). To measure their contributions to recognition memory empirically, the R/K procedure has been developed (Tulving, 1985). While R (EM) describes the process of recollection of information together with contextual details such as when, where, and how it was learned, K (SM) by contrast, describes a feeling of familiarity - a participant knows that an item was previously encountered but cannot report any contextual details. Several studies in ASD have utilised this procedure to measure the extent to which EM and SM are intact in ASD, and if recognition memory judgements are based on similar criteria and affected by similar factors as is the case in TD individuals. As presented in Section 1.4.1.2 and Table 1.1 previously, ASD individuals characteristically present a reduction in R responses (nine out of 13 studies in Table 1.1) that sometimes gets compensated by higher K responses (three studies) or Guess rates (one study) in comparison to TD participants. In two studies lower R responses in ASD had a knock-on effect on overall corrected recognition rates and medium to large effect sizes for between-group differences in at least three other studies suggested that between-group differences may have remained undetected because of a lack of statistical power, highlighting the need for investigations with larger samples. The well-replicated overall reduction in R responses in ASD may be related to a difficulty to distinguish between previously studied and new materials, as higher FA

rates (e.g., Gardiner et al., 2003), lower memory strength/sensitivity, and more lenient response criteria in the ASD compared to the TD group (Bowler et al., 1998, 2000) show.

Qualitatively, R and K responses seem to be comparable between groups in that manipulations that differentially affect remembering and knowing do so to the same extent in TD and ASD participants (Bowler et al., 2007). Moreover, previous studies inspecting justifications for reporting R and K experiences found that they are similar for both groups. Specifically, Bowler et al. (2000a & b) presented examples of justifications for R and K responses, with the note that these did not differ between groups. Souchay et al. (2013) asked their participants to justify R responses with source information that had been provided at study, for example, the colour of a picture or the gender of the person who spoke a word at study, and coded R justifications accordingly. Finally, Tanweer et al. (2010) asked participants for event details to justify R responses and calculated proportions of R responses that were followed by a justification without necessarily inspecting their quality. It is clear from these findings that none of these previous studies has inspected the quality of R justifications that participants provide spontaneously.

It is important to note, that the majority of R/K studies in ASD has utilised verbal materials (12 out of 15 in Table 1.1), one has used pictures, one, ABMs, and one, non-meaningful kaleidoscope images. No systematic investigations comparing R and K responses have been carried out that compare across these types of materials directly in ASD. There are, however, a number of reasons to suggest that the use of visual materials would be advantageous for ASD individuals when testing recognition memory. It is likely, that language develops atypically in most individuals with ASD with a large proportion of individuals showing delays or severe difficulties in language development (Baird et al., 2006; Bennett et al., 2008; Boucher, 2012; Loucas et al., 2008; Tager-Flusberg & Joseph, 2003). In addition, research showed that inner speech use in ASD is particularly related to verbal

ability (Lindstone, Fernyhough, Meins & Whitehouse, 2009; D. M. Williams & Jarrold, 2010), and while intact inner speech use in ASD was found for visual short-term memory (D. M. Williams, Bowler & Jarrold, 2012; D. M. Williams, Happé & Jarrold, 2008), ASD participants did not use inner speech on planning tasks (Wallace, Silvers, Martin & Kenworthy, 2009; D. M. Williams et al., 2012). Further, when remembering the temporal order of presentation of visuo-spatial material, Bowler et al. (2016) found that VIQ was related only to the performance of the ASD group. Both studies again indicate differences in how memory strengths and weaknesses manifest for different materials in ASD. Language atypicalities together with superior perceptual skills may give ASD participants an advantage if pictures were used as materials (Mottron & Burack, 2001; Mottron et al., 2006). This suggestion is supported by the picture superiority effect (Shepard, 1967) found in typical individuals, describing better memory for pictures over words. Finally, expected differences between verbal and visual materials are also supported by ERP studies in ASD (Massand, 2011). While ASD adults showed diminished ERP Old/New effects for words, they showed an enhanced ERP Old/New effect for visual stimuli, suggesting better processing of visual materials and supporting the prediction that memory for picture stimuli may be less impaired in ASD (Massand, 2011).

Another important reoccurring factor in ASD research is a difficulty in using meaning inherent in the study materials in ASD (see Section 1.4.1.3). ASD individuals have been reported not to use information inherent in the study materials to support their recall through organisation (e.g., categorical, semantic, or syntactic information; Gaigg et al., 2008; Frith, 1970a & b; Fyffe & Prior, 1978; Minshew et al., 1992; Tager-Flusberg, 1991), or to cluster information semantically the way TD individuals do (Bowler et al., 2008a; Hermelin & O'Connor, 1967; Minshew & Goldstein, 1993). Following these studies, one would predict better performance for meaningful compared to meaningless materials for TD individuals, but

similar performance across materials for ASD participants. On the other hand, one study that directly investigated the influence of meaning on memory for visual material in ASD showed that the worst memory performance was for meaningless shapes (Ameli, Courchesne, Lincoln, Kaufman & Grillon, 1988), suggesting superior performance for meaningful compared to meaningless materials also in ASD. Together, these studies point to the need for more systematic investigations directly examining the role of meaning for verbal and visual memory.

In TD participants, differential effects of picture superiority (Dewhurst & Conway, 1994; Rajaram, 1996) and meaning (Rajaram, 1998) were found for R and K responses, where pictures as opposed to words and more meaningful compared to less meaningful materials led to an increase in R responses, leaving K responses unaffected. No such studies have been done in ASD previously, however, studies investigating the influence of the division of attention, perceptual instructions, mode of presentation, and number of presentations, suggest that ASD participants make qualitatively similar R/K judgements compared to TD individuals (Bowler et al, 2007). Also in TD individuals, the detrimental effects of age on R recognition have repeatedly been reported (e.g., Mäntylä, 1993; McCabe, Roediger, McDaniel & Balota, 2009). Age does, however, not affect K recognition in TD participants. No such studies exist in ASD so far.

The current study was also motivated by the lack of studies on recollection and familiarity in ASD individuals with minimal language and/or intellectual impairments. Regarding recollection, Bigham et al. (2010) reported lower memory for the temporal order of the presentation of 16 everyday items in 29 ASD adolescents with intellectual impairments (two boys, $M_{age} = 14$ years, $M_{BPVS} = 76$) compared to 23 younger TD children, matched on verbal and non-verbal intellectual ability (five boys, $M_{age} = 8$ years, $M_{BPVS} = 80$), and 24 ID adolescents, matched on age and verbal and non-verbal intellectual ability (seven boys, $M_{age} = 8$

14 years, $M_{\rm BPVS} = 77$). While both comparison groups performed similarly, it was unclear whether weak familiarity may have contributed to the observed recollection difficulties in ASD as familiarity was not tested in this study. Ni Chuileann and Quigley (2013), similarly, found reduced temporal order judgements for the presentation of everyday objects in 30 minimally verbal ASD children (22 boys, $M_{age} = 10$ years, $M_{BPVS} = 61$) compared to 27 children with Developmental Delay (DD), matched on age, verbal, and non-verbal intellectual ability (16 boys, $M_{age} = 10$ years, $M_{BPVS} = 64$), and 33 younger TD children, matched on non-verbal intellectual ability (19 boys, $M_{age} = 6$ years, $M_{BPVS} = 71$). Half the ASD group were at chance on this task, and persons with ASD performed significantly lower than the two comparison groups overall. The ASD children also showed lower familiarity for abstract shape images in a four forced-choice test, while the TD children performed at ceiling, suggesting familiarity and recollection as areas of difficulty in ASD individuals with lower verbal and intellectual abilities. The focus on temporal order memory in the two studies just reviewed indicates the need for studies testing other memory types such as spatial memory. In addition, these studies are not necessarily comparable to the studies reviewed above using R/K paradigms, where participants choose the context information they want to remember. Both studies show the difficulties associated with carrying out research with minimally verbal ASD individuals with intellectual difficulties. These individuals are underresearched because it proves very difficult to find suitable well-controlled paradigms to test them. As participants they often fail to understand the complex and difficult task instructions that are used in most of the paradigms employed in research on adults with ASD, who have relatively typical language and intellectual skills, and as a consequence little is known about a population that is most in need of investigations that would help to develop suitable interventions and training programmes. Suitable paradigms would need to avoid ceiling and floor effects in the ASD as well as in the comparison groups. One way to do this would be to

use measures that do not require a verbal response, such as measurements of the pupil size (pupillometry).

Traditionally, pupil dilation is seen as an indicator of cognitive load, for example, in working memory (e.g., Piquado, Isaacowitz & Wingfield, 2010) or visual search tasks (G. Porter, Troscianko & Gilchrist, 2007), where greater pupil dilation indicates higher cognitive load and an overload is demonstrated by a decrease in pupil size, possibly resulting from task disengagement. Physiologically, when the pupil dilates, the parasympathic nervous system gets inhibited by norepinephrine, controlled by the locus coeruleus (Goldinger & Papesh, 2012). Memory encoding is influenced by the release of norepinephrine and the subsequent effects on memory can be measured through pupil dynamics (Hoffing & Seitz, 2015). Pupillometry is non-invasive and pupil responses are a reflex that exists from birth and that operates independently of conscious awareness (Gomes, Montaldi & Mayes, 2015; Heaver & Hutton, 2011; Laeng, Sirois & Gredebäck, 2012), making it a good measure of memory. Similarly to ERPs, pupil responses have a good temporal sensitivity (Hartmann & Fischer, 2014), but in contrast to ERPs, they are relatively easy and cheap to record (Laeng et al., 2012), which would be an advantage if they turn out to be a clinically useful measure. In addition, small correlations between pupil dilation and ERPs indicate that the two measures assess different underlying processes (Steinhauer & Hakerem, 1992). Because of these advantages, pupillometry seems a good measure to test a wide range of individuals including less verbal ones.

Previous research on pupil size in ASD is sparse. In ASD children, larger pupils were found at baseline (C. J. Anderson & Colombo, 2009; Blaser, Eglington, Carter & Kaldy, 2014; but see Nuske, Vivanti & Dissanayake, 2014a), indicating an increased activity of the autonomic nervous system. Two other studies found a reduced pupillary response to fearful unfamiliar faces in ASD compared to TD children (Nuske, Vivanti & Dissanayake, 2014b; Nuske, Vivanti, Hudry & Dissanayake, 2014c). No pupil size studies in ASD adults and no studies investigating pupil size in relation to memory in ASD exist, although pupil size measurements have proven a useful indicator for memory processes in TD individuals. A well-established finding is the pupil Old/New effect, where the pupil dilates more for items previously studied compared to new items. This effect is typically measured using a paradigm similar to a behavioural Old/New paradigm. Participants are presented with material to study and at test they are presented with old and new material. Instead of, or in addition to, being asked directly to distinguish between old and new items, participants' phasic pupil response to each stimulus is measured (Goldinger & Papesh, 2012). A series of studies indicated the pupil Old/New effect to be influenced by memory strength (Otero, Weekes & Hutton, 2011; Papesh, Goldinger & Hout, 2012), emotion (Võ et al., 2008), and the degree to which encoding and retrieval conditions matched (Papesh et al., 2012). It was found to be universal across different materials (Otero et al., 2011), and pupil size at encoding and retrieval distinguished between later correctly and falsely remembered materials (Montefinese, Ambrosini, Fairfield & Mammarella, 2013; Otero et al., 2011; Papesh et al., 2012). Investigations in amnesia compared to control participants showed the opposite effect, i.e., larger pupils were found for new compared to previously studied items in amnesics, representing a novelty response (Laeng et al., 2007) and indicating the potential of pupil size measurements to reveal memory abnormalities.

Previous studies using physiological measures have significantly enhanced knowledge about memory in ASD by showing differential neurophysiological activation underlying EM and SM in ASD compared to TD (Gaigg et al., 2015; Massand & Bowler, 2015; Massand, Bowler, Mottron, Hosein & Jemel, 2013). Measuring ERP responses, TD individuals showed an early mid-frontal Old/New effect (300-500ms) representing SM, which was missing in ASD individuals. A more focussed parietal Old/New effect (400-800ms) together with a diminished late-onset right-frontal Old/New effect in ASD seem to support findings of reduced EM and R in ASD (Massand et al., 2013). Massand and Bowler (2015) replicated the absence of an early Old/New effect in ASD relating to SM. In addition, they found nonspecific activation in ASD during several time windows for SM instead of the late-onset Old/New effect found in the TD group.

Based on the literature reviewed above, the aims of the current chapter were the following. First, it was of interest to systematically compare EM and SM in ASD and TD adults by using the R/K recognition paradigm. It was aimed to test if previous results of reduced R and intact K responses can be replicated in this study and whether they can be generalised across different verbal and visual and meaningful and meaningless materials. Second, it was of relevance to inspect on what criteria participants base their recognition judgements and whether they may differ between groups. Third, it was aimed to investigate the potential effects of age on R and K judgements in both groups. Finally, it was of interest to test the pupil Old/New effect to see if results can be replicated with a second less verbal measure that also tests the underlying physiology of memory.

Based on these aims, a classic R/K recognition memory procedure was used, asking participants to study sets of verbal and visual meaningful and meaningless items. Their memory was tested presenting them with previously studied and new items asking them to, first, make an Old/New and, then, a R/K decision for items indicated as old. Participants were asked to justify their R responses and pupil size was measured in response to old and new items.

First, corrected recognition rates (Hit rates minus FAs) were examined. If ASD participants have particular difficulties with EM but not SM, they will show reduced R but similar K responses across all materials compared to TD participants. If persons with ASD show a picture superiority effect similar to TD participants, both groups' corrected

97

recognition rates will be higher for visual compared to verbal materials. If ASD participants show particular difficulties to use meaning inherent in the materials, then their corrected recognition rates for meaningful materials will be particularly lower compared to TD individuals. To follow the second aim, FA rates, sensitivity, response bias, and verbal R justifications were examined. If persons with ASD have difficulties distinguishing between previously studied old and unfamiliar new materials, they will show higher FAs and lower sensitivity rates compared to TD individuals. In addition, they will show more lenient response criteria, i.e., a higher bias to say yes to all items as opposed to TD participants. In addition, if ASD individuals struggle to use relational memory, their R responses will be based on specific episodic experiences associated with the encoding episode, whereas TD participants' R justifications will also be related to other episodic experiences outside the immediate study context. Regarding the third aim, if ASD participants' memory is similarly affected by age as TD participants' memory, both groups will show a similar difference in R recognition related to age but no age-difference in K recognition. Regarding the pupil Old/New effect, if ASD participants show difficulties to distinguish old and new items, these difficulties will also be apparent in pupil size. Unlike TD participants showing the typical pupil Old/New effect with larger pupils for previously studied compared to new items, persons with ASD will not show this effect indicating a different physiology underlying recognition memory in ASD. Finally, if the pupil Old/New effect measures a real memory phenomenon, pupil size data will correlate with behavioural memory data.

2.1.1.2 Predictions

Based on the evidence presented above, it was expected that both groups would show the typical R/K effect with more R compared to K responses for all materials and ASD individuals giving fewer R responses compared to TD individuals. In addition, both groups were expected to show the picture superiority effect with higher accuracy for pictures

compared to words. Both groups were expected to perform better on meaningful compared to meaningless materials with the TD group outperforming the ASD group particularly on meaningful material. It was predicted, that picture superiority and meaning would primarily influence R judgements and that these interactions would be similar for both groups. Lower overall recognition rates were expected for ASD compared to TD participants, because the large sample tested provided sufficient statistical power. It was also predicted that ASD participants would show difficulties in distinguishing between old and new items apparent through more lenient response criteria in terms of higher FA rates, higher response bias, and lower sensitivity, and that they would justify their R responses primarily based on information from the immediate study episode.

Next to similar effects of age on memory as in TD OA (*parallel development* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012), stronger (*double jeopardy* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012) or weaker effects of age on cognitive functions in older ASD individuals (*safeguard hypothesis* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Lever & Geurts, 2016) were possible, all with significant implications for care provisions. In addition, the ageing analogy (Bowler, 2007) would predict similar performance of younger ASD individuals compared to TD OA.

Regarding pupillometry, it was expected that TD participants would show the typical pupil Old/New effect with larger pupils for studied compared to new items for all materials, replicating previous literature. Based on the literature, a typical pupil Old/New effect in ASD would implicate similar and intact underlying mechanisms for recognition memory judgements as in TD individuals, whereas a reduction of this effect in ASD would indicate abnormalities in the mechanisms underlying memory difficulties observed in ASD. Based on ERP Old/New studies in ASD, it was expected that the pupil Old/New effect would either be diminished or enhanced in ASD as compared to TD individuals.

2.1.2 Methods

2.1.2.1 Participants

This section concerns some general comments about participant matching, recruitment, participant characteristics, and comorbid disorders in ASD participants that apply to all experiments presented in this thesis.

The comparison between ASD and typical development was of interest in this thesis in order to inform about the ways in which the two groups differ. To do this effectively, the two groups needed to be matched. As there is no perfect matching strategy, the best choice of a matching criterion or variable depends on the questions that need to be answered (Burack, Iarocci, Flanagan & Bowler, 2004). The dilemma in matching on intellectual ability or, in more general, any ability in ASD is that ASD individuals show profiles of particular strengths and difficulties in various areas. Matching on strengths would overestimate their performance in another area. Similarly, matching on a weakness would underestimate performance in other areas (Burack et al., 2004). A compromise is, therefore, to match on a combined score that includes areas, where individuals perform well, and those, where they do not perform so well. Since the area of interest in this thesis was memory, and since it was found that memory is significantly related to intellectual ability (Alexander & Smales, 1997), a combined score of strengths and weaknesses in intellectual ability would be Full-scale IQ (FIQ; Burack et al., 2004). However, two individuals with the same or similar FIQs do not necessarily show the same profile in terms of VIQ and Performance IQ (PIQ). Non-verbal/performance skills have often been found to be superior compared to verbal ability in ASD (e.g., Happé, 1994; Joseph, Tager-Flusberg, & Lord 2002; but see Siegel, Minshew & Goldstein, 1996). Therefore, for the studies presented in this thesis, FIQ as well as VIQ and PIQ were chosen as matching variables, and TD and ASD participants were individually matched with a

difference of less than 10 IQ points in each variable. IQ was measured using the third or fourth edition of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK}; The Psychological Corporation, 2000; 2008). Like the WAIS-III^{UK}, the WAIS-IV^{UK} determines an FIQ value. The equivalents of VIQ and PIQ in WAIS-III^{UK} are called Verbal Comprehension (VCI) and Perceptual Reasoning Index (PRI) in WAIS-IV^{UK}. Matching on either WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK} scores seemed unproblematic, since FIQs, VIQ and VCI, and PIQ and PRI of the two test versions were found to be highly correlated (r = 0.94, r =0.91, r = 0.84; Wechsler, 2008). In general, the WAIS is a widely-used, valid and reliable standardised measure (K. C. H. Parker, Hanson & Hunsley, 1988), even for clinical samples (Zhu, Tulsky, Price & Chen, 2001), and presents stable measurements across a wide agerange (Bowden, Weiss, Holdnack & Lloyd, 2006). Another important variable to consider when matching participants is age. As we age, our brain changes and these changes affect cognitive processes (Johnson & Munakata, 2005; Luna, Garver, Urban, Lazar & Sweeney, 2004), such as memory (Park et al., 1996). Therefore, in this thesis groups were matched on chronological age (CA) with a difference of at maximum +/- 2 years of age. In addition, gender differences have been reported for cognitive functions in general (Weiss, Kemmler, Deisenhammer, Fleischhacker & Delazer, 2003), and for memory, in particular, with an advantage in verbal tasks for women and in spatial tasks for men (Andreano & Cahill, 2009). Further, ASD is 4 times more common in men than in women (Rivet & Matson, 2011). Therefore, the numbers of men and women in the ASD and TD samples of this thesis were equated, with the majority of participants being male.

Samples sizes were selected based on previous research and power calculations using G*Power (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang & Buchner, 2007). Participants were mainly recruited through a database of individuals with whom the Autism Research Group at City, University of London is in regular contact. In addition, participants got in contact through word of

mouth or flyers. ASD individuals were also recruited through support groups and advertisements with the National Autistic Society. TD individuals were also recruited through advertisements in newspapers. All participants were native English speakers. TD individuals were only included if they did not report taking psychotropic medication or having a personal or family history of a psychological or neurodevelopmental disorder. Participants were chosen to be adults of intelligence within the average range (100 +/- 2 Standard Deviations - SD). In addition, groups spanned a large age-range across the mid-adult lifespan (20-65 years of age) to aim for a wide generalisability of the findings and to run preliminary analyses of the effects of age on memory in cross-sectional designs. All participants were reimbursed for their time according to standard university fees and their travel expenses were paid. All studies were approved by the ethics committee of the Psychology Department of City, University of London and the procedures used in the studies adhere to the guidelines set out by the British Psychological Society.

All ASD individuals included in the studies had received a clinical diagnosis according to DSM-IV-TR criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 2000), which was confirmed by a review of their diagnostic documents. As a means of sample description, all participants filled in the Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ; Baron-Cohen, Wheelwright, Skinner, Martin, & Clubley, 2001)⁸ - a self-report instrument that measures the degree of autistic traits within an individual. The authors of the instrument proposed a continuum that ranges from ASD to "normal" and the questionnaire identifies where on the continuum an individual is located. Within this thesis, the AQ was used to characterise the ASD samples in terms of autistic traits to enable a comparison with ASD populations used in other studies, and to define an exclusion criterion for TD individuals, who were only included if their AQ total score was below the suggested cut-off of 26 (Woodbury-Smith, Robinson, Wheelwright

⁸ This was the case for all participants in all experiments except for one ASD individual in Experiment 2 and one ASD individual in Experiment 5, who did not have time to fill in this measure.

& Baron-Cohen, 2005). Although the AQ has been found to be reasonably reliable in its measurement (Stewart & Austin, 2009), factor structures were not replicated (e.g., Kloosterman, Keefer, Kelley, Summerfeldt & Parker, 2011). In addition, the AQ did not distinguish well between (milder forms of) ASD and other mental health conditions (Ketelaars et al., 2008), and ASD individuals may underestimate the level or number of their autistic traits (Johnson, Filliter & Murphy, 2009). Although the AQ has been validated in its use for the measurement of autism-like traits through studies showing behavioural overlap in the performance of ASD participants and individuals with high scores on the AQ (e.g., Grinter et al., 2009; Von dem Hagen et al., 2011; Wyer, Martin, Pickup & Macrae, 2012), Gregory and Plaisted-Grant (2016) cautioned against the use of the AQ as a proxy for ASD because even if the AQ measures autism-like traits, this does not mean that it necessarily measures autism and, therefore, similar results, for example, in visual search tasks in ASD and high-AQ populations may have different reasons. Despite its short-comings the AQ seems to be a useful tool for the screening of a TD population and to enable a comparison between different ASD samples. Also for the purpose of ASD sample description in terms of clinical features and their severity, where time permitted, ASD participants were asked to complete the ADOS (Lord et al., 1989) - a semi-structured behavioural observation instrument. It was administered by researchers (including the author of this thesis) trained to research reliability standards on this instrument. ASD participants with scores just below the total cut-off of seven on the ADOS were, nevertheless, included in the sample since all individuals had received a clinical diagnosis of an ASD previously.

Comorbid medical as well as mental health conditions are 3 - 4 times more common in ASD compared to TD individuals. In a recent study, ASD adults were most commonly affected by anxiety, depression, OCD, and schizophrenia (Croen et al., 2015). They also reported more often seizures, epilepsy and sleep problems (Levy et al., 2009; Tuchman & Rapin, 2002). In addition, medication use is very common in ASD, as recent reports show. In a longitudinal study, 60 % of ASD adults over 20 years of age were taking psychotropic and 50 % non-psychotropic medication. Over a 4-year period, however, these numbers increased to 70 % psychotropic and 60 % non-psychotropic medication, with antidepressants and antipsychotics being the most common medication (Esbensen, Greenberg, Seltzer & Aman, 2009). Inclusion of ASD individuals with comorbidities and medication use in research samples are likely to increase the heterogeneity of the samples and, therefore, the variation in the results. However, not including them would lead to a smaller and less representative sample, and the results would be less generalisable to the rest of the ASD population. Therefore, ASD individuals with comorbid disorders and medication were included in the samples of this thesis and a record of their disorders and medication was taken.

2.1.2.1.1 Behavioural data

Power calculation using G*Power (Faul et al., 2007) to determine the sample size needed to detect the predicted between-group difference in R responses showed that 32 participants in each group were needed to detect an effect of the size of Cohen's $d = 0.75^9$ with a power of 0.90. Thirty-two ASD adults (27 men, $M_{age} = 43.50$ years, age range: 27-65 years) were individually matched on VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, as measured by the WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK} (The Psychological Corporation, 2000; 2008) to 32 TD adults (25 men, $M_{age} = 43.80$ years, age range: 22-65 years). Groups were closely matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.41$, p = .52, and CA, and ASD participants scored significantly higher on the AQ (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; see Table 2.1). Time permitted to assess 24 persons with ASD with the ADOS (Lord et al., 1989). Five of these scored just below the cut-off of seven for the total score on

 $^{^{9}}$ The effect size was estimated by averaging the effect sizes reported in the R/K studies presented in Table 1.1, excluding the experiments in Bowler et al., 2007, as the purpose of these studies was to test the influence of manipulations on R and K responses in ASD and TD individuals rather than to detect a potential difference between groups in R responses.

this instrument, but they were retained in all analyses because they all had a confirmed clinical diagnosis established by suitably qualified clinicians.

Table 2.1

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in Experiment 1.

	ASD (27m, 5f)		TD (25m, 7f)		Cohen's			
Measure	M	SD	М	SD	t(df)	р	d	CI
Age (years)	43.50	12.2	43.80	12.4	0.10 (62)	.92	0.03	-0.47, 0.51
VIQ/VCI ^a	111	15.7	112	14.3	0.37 (62)	.72	0.09	-0.40, 0.58
PIQ/PRI ^b	105	15.0	105	13.8	0.12 (62)	.90	0.03	-0.46, 0.52
FIQ ^c	110	14.7	109	13.6	0.12 (60)	.91	0.03	-0.47, 0.53
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	35.63	6.47	15.09	6.50	12.66 (62)	.00	3.16	2.40, 3.86
ADOS-C ^e	2.79 (0-6)	1.5						
ADOS-RSI ^f	5.79 (1-13)	2.8						
ADOS-Total ^g	8.58 (5-17)	3.4						
ADOS-Im ^h	1.26 (0-2)	0.6						
ADOS-SB ⁱ	1.29 (0-5)	1.4						

Note. ^aVIQ - Verbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or VCI - Verbal Comprehension Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^bPIQ - Performance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or PRI - Perceptual Reasoning Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK}), available for 31 TD and 31 ASD individuals. ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^eADOS - Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

ASD participants with comorbidities and/or medication use were included in the sample to increase the generalisability of the findings, as ASD is characterised by high rates of comorbidities and medication use (Croen et al., 2015; Esbensen et al., 2009). In the current sample, 44 % of ASD participants reported comorbidities and/or psychotropic medication use. Depression (43 %), anxiety disorder (14 %), ADHD (14 %), and dyslexia (14 %) were most common. In addition, OCD (7 %) and schizophrenia (7 %) were reported, and 57 % of ASD participants took antidepressants, and 21 % reported taking antipsychotic medication. ASD individuals with and without comorbidities and medication use did not differ significantly in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.03$, p = .85, CA, VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 0.91$, $p_{min} > .36$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.33$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.39, 1.02). In addition, use left the results reported below unaffected.

2.1.2.1.2 Pupillometry data

Of the 64 participants tested, pupillometry data were not available for five ASD (four men, $M_{age} = 49.91$ years, age range: 32-65, $M_{VIQ/VCI} = 113$, $M_{PIQ/PRI} = 101$, $M_{FIQ} = 108$) and two TD individuals (two men, $M_{age} = 41.10$ years, age range: 36-46, $M_{VIQ/VCI} = 96$, $M_{PIQ/PRI} = 94$, $M_{FIQ} = 95$), who did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, $X^2_{max} = 0.60$, $p_{min} = .44$, CA, VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.71$, $p_{min} > .09$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 1.25$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.25, 2.67). The final sample for the pupillometry analyses, therefore, consisted of 27 ASD (23 men, $M_{age} = 42.31$ years, age range: 27-64 years) and 30 TD adults (23 men, $M_{age} = 43.98$ years, age range: 22-65 years), matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.66$, p = .42, CA, VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ (see Table 2.2).
Table 2.2

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals in Experiment 1 for whom pupillometry data were available.

	ASD (23m, 4f)		TD (23m, 7f)		Cohen's			s
Measure	М	SD	М	SD	t(df)	р	d	CI
Age (years)	42.31	11.5	43.98	12.7	0.52 (55)	.61	0.14	-0.38, 0.66
VIQ/VCI ^a	110	15.0	113	14.0	0.72 (55)	.47	0.19	-0.33, 0.71
PIQ/PRI ^b	106	15.3	106	13.8	0.12 (55)	.91	0.03	-0.49, 0.55
FIQ ^c	110	14.8	110	13.5	0.09 (53)	.93	0.02	-0.51, 0.55
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	36.07	6.0	14.97	6.7	12.53 (55)	.00	3.32	2.48, 4.07
Baseline pupil	3.21	0.57	3.17	0.45	0.34 (55)	.74	0.09	-0.43, 0.61
ADOS-C ^e	2.52 (0-5)	1.4						
ADOS-RSI ^f	5.76 (1-13)	2.9						
ADOS-Total ^g	8.29 (5-17)	3.4						
ADOS-Im ^h	1.15 (0-2)	0.6						
ADOS-SB ⁱ	1.14 (0-5)	1.4						

Note. ^aVIQ - Verbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or VCI - Verbal Comprehension Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^bPIQ - Performance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or PRI - Perceptual Reasoning Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK}) was available for 26 ASD and 29 TD individuals. ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^eADOS - Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

Five ASD (four men, $M_{age} = 45.73$ years, age range: 33-59, $M_{VIQ/VCI} = 112$, $M_{PIQ/PRI} = 102$, $M_{FIQ} = 108$) and eight TD participants (seven men, $M_{age} = 41.60$ years, age range: 26-56, $M_{VIQ/VCI} = 116$, $M_{PIQ/PRI} = 111$, $M_{FIQ} = 114$), who did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, $X^2_{max} = 0.72$, $p_{min} = .40$, CA, VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.22$, $p_{min} > .23$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.51$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.33, 1.31), did not make behavioural mistakes, therefore, excluding them from further pupil analyses dividing data according to behavioural accuracy. The remaining 22 ASD (19 men, $M_{age} = 41.53$ years, age range: 27-64 years) and 22 TD (16 men, $M_{age} = 44.85$ years, age range: 22-65 years) adults were still matched on gender, $X^2 = 1.26$, p = .26, CA, VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 0.88$, $p_{min} > .38$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.27$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.33, 0.85).

2.1.2.2 Materials

Table A1.1 in Appendix 1 gives an overview of all words, pictures, shapes, and non-words used in this study (see Figure 2.1 for examples). Four lists of 10 pictures and their verbal labels each were selected from Snodgrass and Vanderwart (1980), to allow for each item to be presented equally often as a word or a picture and as a to-be-remembered target or a lure item. Presentation order was counterbalanced across participants, and there were no significant differences between the four final lists in letter number, word frequency, name agreement, image agreement, familiarity ratings, and complexity ratings (see Table A1.2 in Appendix 1). To select *shape* stimuli, 120 images from Haenschel et al. (2007) were presented for 3 s each on a grey background in the centre of a laptop screen to 30 City, University of London undergraduate students (10 men, $M_{age} = 34.47$, $SD_{age} = 12.04$), with the request to indicate how difficult they found it to come up with a name for each shape on a 10-point scale (0 - very easy to 10 - very difficult). A second pilot study involving five ASD and 10 TD individuals indicated that the 20 shapes that had been rated as the most difficult to name ($M_{difficulty}$ range = 6.90-8.13) were too difficult to remember under the conditions of the

main experiment, whereas the shapes that had been rated as the easiest to name ($M_{difficulty}$ range = 3.23-5.33) yielded memory performance well above chance. To avoid floor effects, the 20 easiest to name shapes were selected for two lists of 10 items each for counterbalanced presentation across participants. The 20 two and three syllable *non-words* from Gathercole, Willis, Emslie and Baddeley (1991) formed two lists of 10 items for counterbalanced test presentation, with the exception that the words 'bannow' and 'glistering' were replaced by 'honder' and 'natem' because using google search the former turned out to be the name of a place in Ireland and a meaningful word.

To avoid pupil size estimation bias resulting from eye movements (Brisson et al., 2013), the above described materials and fixation crosses were presented in the centre of the screen and images were large enough to recognise but small enough to see them without the need for eye movements. Shape images measured 3 cm x 3 cm, pictures had the size of 5 cm x 4 cm, and words and non-words were about 6 cm long and 2 cm high. Avoiding systematic changes in pupil size because of the pupil light reflex all materials were presented on the same grey background and images were black and white to ensure similar luminance¹⁰ within and across conditions. Old (studied) and new (unstudied) sets of materials were counterbalanced across participants to control for any systematic differences in luminance between sets. In addition, the items were presented in blocks of the same material type, i.e., shapes, pictures, words, and non-words were taken across the whole image using a Konica Monolta LS-100 luminance meter. Although meaningful pictures (M = 159.28 cd/m², SD = 11.65) were significantly brighter, t(43.10) = 22.16, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 4.30, 95 % CI(3.36, 5.24), than meaningless shapes (M = 117.36 cd/m², SD = 1.92), the different sets of

¹⁰ Pupil size is measured best when the eyes look straight on the screen. If the eyes move, the pupil appears distorted on the camera of the eye-tracker leading to an over- or underestimation of the real pupil size. Luminance needs to be kept constant because the pupil gets smaller when luminance is higher.

shapes, t(18) = 0.15, p = .89, Cohen's d = 0.06, 95 % CI(-0.81, 0.94), and pictures, F(3,36) = 1.32, p = .28, $\eta^2 = .10$, were well matched in terms of luminance (see Table 2.3).

Table 2.3

Luminance in cd/m^2 for sets of meaningless shape images and meaningful pictures used in Experiment 1.

	Set A	Set B	Set C	Set D
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Shapes	117.29 (1.81)	117.42 (2.12)	-	-
Pictures	164.71 (11.87)	156.41 (8.27)	155.62 (8.54)	160.37 (15.74)



Figure 2.1. Examples of materials used in Experiment 1, from top to bottom - words, non-words, pictures, and shapes.

2.1.2.3 Procedure

Like in the other studies reported in this thesis, Experiment 1 used a recognition memory paradigm that offered task support in terms of providing some cue to the to-be-remembered information at test.

2.1.2.3.1 Remember/Know recognition test

Using the R/K procedure, a participant is asked to judge the kind of memory they have for items that they clearly identify as studied previously. For R responses, the participant needs to remember clearly the context or time of studying the item, i.e., any information about the actual study episode, in addition to the item. For K responses, a participant indicates that they simply know that the item was presented without remembering any additional contextual information - the item feels familiar to them. Special about this procedure is that it assumes recollection and familiarity as mutually exclusive processes, whereas all other models of recognition memory assume that they are independent. As opposed to other procedures, participants are asked for subjective reports to indicate a R or K response and, therefore, they are not restricted in the information that they remember (Yonelinas, 2002). Research investigating the influence of instructions and terminology on the R/K procedure found that using neutral terminology such as Type A and Type B memory instead of Remember and Know led to more accurate results, in that FA rates for R responses were reduced (McCabe & Geraci, 2009). In addition, using a R/K judgement after an Old/New judgement as a two-step procedure rather than combining both judgements in a R/K/New procedure as a single-step, also produced more accurate results (Eldridge, Sarfatti & Knowlton, 2002). In the R/K/New procedure participants did not reliably distinguish between old and new items, leading to increased FA rates for K responses (Eldridge et al., 2002). Therefore, a Guess category can be helpful to increase accuracy (Eldridge et al., 2002).

In the study phase of the current experiment, participants were asked to memorise four blocks of 10 words, pictures, shapes or non-words. Blocks were presented in counterbalanced order across participants using a Latin Square, with a matched pair of participants (one ASD and one TD individual with similar IQs) receiving identical presentation orders of the materials. Individual item presentation lasted 2 s and was followed by a 1 s blank, which was presented in the same grey as the background for the materials. Right after study, participants saw four blocks with 20 items each sorted by material type, half of which had been studied previously. The order of block presentation was the same as at study to ensure the same length of time between study and test for all materials. Following a fixation cross presentation for 0.25 s (baseline), each item was presented for 1.75 s at test, after which the R/K procedure followed. The procedure was presented in two steps. First, participants were asked to indicate which items they had seen previously by pressing the appropriate key on the keyboard (Old/New judgement). For items indicated as old, a R/K judgement followed, which was presented in the form of Type A versus Type B memory. Participants were asked to respond with Type A (R response), if they could remember clearly information about the actual study episode, for example, the context or the time of studying the item in addition to the item. A Type B memory (K response) was that they simply knew the item had been presented without remembering any additional contextual information (for the exact R/K instructions given to participants see Appendix 1 Section A1.3). Before the test, participants had been given examples of R and K responses, and at test they were asked to justify their responses verbally. Verbal responses were tape-recorded for further analyses. Figure 2.2 illustrates the procedure of the task.



Figure 2.2. Procedures for study (top) and test phases (bottom) of Experiment 1.

2.1.2.3.2 Pupillometry

After a standard five-point calibration procedure, pupil diameter was recorded throughout the task with a Tobii TX300 eye-tracker with a sampling rate of 120 Hz. Customised Matlab routines were used to remove artefacts, linearly interpolate blinks, and to extract the data. For linear interpolation, the five samples before a blink and the five samples after a blink were averaged and linearly interpolated so that missing values were incremented ending up with a straight line connecting values before and after the blink. Applying a low-pass Butterworth filter with a cut-off frequency of 1 Hz, high-frequency noise in the data (e.g., caused by partial blinks) was removed. The data for each eye were interpolated and filtered before averaging them across the two eyes. A pupil size ratio was then calculated (Heaver & Hutton, 2011) to control for natural pupil size fluctuation and differences in pupil size between participants at baseline. For this, the maximum pupil size during item presentation (i.e., the task-evoked pupillary reflex) was divided by the maximum pupil size at baseline. Ignoring data for the first test trial to reduce noise in the data following the change from study to test,

the data were averaged across trials separately for each material type and separately for studied (old) and unstudied (new) items. To investigate potential pupil size differences for correctly and incorrectly remembered items, encoding and retrieval pupil size data were split up according to behavioural accuracy. To avoid a loss of data, correct and incorrect data were collapsed across the different materials, because not all participants made mistakes for all materials. To enable a detailed analysis of correct and incorrect responses to old and new items for retrieval, the pupil size data were sorted according to the four response types from signal detection theory, i.e., Hits, FAs, Misses, and Correct Rejections (CR).

2.1.3 Results

The behavioural raw data were scored in terms of Hits (percentage of yes responses to studied items), FAs (percentage of yes responses to lure items), and corrected recognition rates (Hits minus FAs). Results were analysed using Chi-Squared tests, bivariate correlation and linear regression analyses, independent samples t-tests, and repeated measures ANOVAs. Greenhouse Geisser correction (GGC) was applied, when the Sphericity assumption was violated, and Bonferroni corrected post hoc tests were used to further investigate significant differences between conditions. The level of significance was set to .05 and Cohen's d and partial Eta-Squared are reported as effect size measures.

2.1.3.1 Accuracy behavioural test

2.1.3.1.1 Corrected recognition

The data, presented in Table 2.4 and Figure 2.3, were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (R/K [Remember, Know]) x 2 (Modality [verbal, visual]) x 2 (Meaning [meaningful, meaningless]) repeated measures ANOVA. This showed significant main effects of *Group*, F(1,62) = 17.10, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.03, 95 % CI(0.50, 1.54), with higher corrected

recognition rates for TD compared to ASD participants, R/K, F(1,62) = 120.63, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 2.35, 95 % CI(1.88, 2.78), with higher corrected recognition for R compared to K responses, *Modality*, F(1,62) = 5.04, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.35, 95 % CI(0.00, 0.70), with higher corrected recognition for visual compared to verbal materials, and *Meaning*, F(1,62) =20.06, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.61, 95 % CI(0.26, 0.96), with higher corrected recognition for meaningful compared to meaningless materials. A two-way Group x R/K interaction (see Figure 2.3 left), F(1,62) = 13.68, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .18$, confirmed higher corrected R recognition in the TD compared to the ASD group, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.14, 95 % CI(0.60, 1.66). No between-group difference was found in corrected K recognition, p = .21, Cohen's d = 0.31, 95 % CI(-0.18, 0.80). A significant Modality x Meaning interaction (see Figure 2.3 right), F(1,62) = 35.84, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .37$, demonstrated higher corrected recognition for meaningful pictures compared to meaningless shapes, p < .0001, Cohen's d =1.12, 95 % CI(0.74, 1.48), with no effect of meaning on memory for words vs. non-words, p = .24, Cohen's d = 0.18, 95 % CI(-0.17, 0.53). A Modality x R/K interaction, F(1,62) = 5.27, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .08$, showed higher corrected R responses for visual compared to verbal materials, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.36, 95 % CI(0.01, 0.71), and no difference between these materials for corrected K responses, p = .66, Cohen's d = 0.05, 95 % CI(0-0.29, 0.40). Finally, a significant three-way interaction of *Modality x Meaning x R/K*, F(1,62) = 4.55, $p < 10^{-10}$.05, $\eta_p^2 = .07$, further qualified the interactions between these factors. Specifically, the effect of meaning on recognition performance was evident in corrected R responses in that meaningless non-words were slightly better recognised than meaningful words, p = .08, Cohen's d = 0.26, 95 % CI(-0.09, 0.61), whereas meaningful pictures were better recognised than meaningless shapes, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.65, 95 % CI(0.29, 1.00). Corrected K responses did not differ for verbal materials, p = .51, Cohen's d = 0.11, 95 % CI(-0.24, 0.45), but they were higher for meaningful pictures compared to meaningless shapes, p < .0001,

Cohen's d = 0.62, 95 % CI(0.26, 0.97). The absence of any additional interactions involving the Group factor, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.03$, $p_{\text{min}} > .31$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .02$, indicated that the attenuated levels of R but not K responses in the ASD group were persistent across meaningful and meaningless verbal and visual materials.

Table 2.4

Means and Standard Deviations for Hits, False Alarms (FAs), and Corrected recognition rates (Hits minus FAs) for recognition (total), Remember (R), and Know (K) responses for words, non-words, pictures and shapes for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1.

	ASD			TD			Total		
	Total	R	K	Total	R	K	Total	R	K
	M	M	M	M	M	M	M	M	М
	(<i>SD</i>)	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)	(<i>SD</i>)	(SD)
Hits									
Words	0.56	0.37	0.20	0.74	0.57	0.18	0.65	0.47	0.19
	(0.28)	(0.25)	(0.17)	(0.22)	(0.28)	(0.20)	(0.26)	(0.28)	(0.18)
Non-words	0.64	0.43	0.21	0.77	0.65	0.12	0.71	0.54	0.17
	(0.26)	(0.26)	(0.20)	(0.23)	(0.24)	(0.14)	(0.25)	(0.27)	(0.18)
Pictures	0.82	0.56	0.26	0.91	0.75	0.15	0.86	0.66	0.21
	(0.18)	(0.27)	(0.23)	(0.16)	(0.24)	(0.19)	(0.17)	(0.27)	(0.22)
Shapes	0.58	0.43	0.15	0.71	0.63	0.08	0.65	0.53	0.12
	(0.26)	(0.30)	(0.15)	(0.24)	(0.24)	(0.09)	(0.26)	(0.28)	(0.13)

	ASD			TD			Total		
	Total	R	K	Total	R	K	Total	R	K
	M	M	M	M	M	M	M	M	M
	(SD)	(<i>SD</i>)							
False Alarms									
Words	0.12	0.05	0.07	0.08	0.04	0.04	0.10	0.05	0.05
	(0.15)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.06)	(0.13)	(0.09)	(0.08)
Non-words	0.14	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.03	0.03	0.11	0.05	0.05
	(0.18)	(0.11)	(0.10)	(0.12)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.16)	(0.10)	(0.09)
Pictures	0.07	0.02	0.04	0.06	0.03	0.03	0.07	0.03	0.04
	(0.10)	(0.04)	(0.07)	(0.11)	(0.07)	(0.05)	(0.10)	(0.06)	(0.06)
Shapes	0.18	0.09	0.08	0.11	0.08	0.03	0.14	0.08	0.06
	(0.18)	(0.12)	(0.12)	(0.15)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.17)	(0.11)	(0.11)

Corrected recognition (Hits - False Alarms)

Words	0.45	0.32	0.13	0.66	0.53	0.13	0.55	0.42	0.13
	(0.28)	(0.23)	(0.21)	(0.27)	(0.30)	(0.19)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.20)
Non-words	0.50	0.37	0.14	0.70	0.61	0.09	0.60	0.49	0.11
	(0.27)	(0.25)	(0.22)	(0.25)	(0.27)	(0.13)	(0.28)	(0.29)	(0.18)
Pictures	0.75	0.53	0.22	0.84	0.72	0.13	0.80	0.63	0.17
	(0.22)	(0.28)	(0.24)	(0.23)	(0.27)	(0.19)	(0.23)	(0.28)	(0.22)
Shapes	0.41	0.34	0.07	0.60	0.55	0.05	0.50	0.45	0.06
	(0.33)	(0.32)	(0.16)	(0.26)	(0.24)	(0.12)	(0.31)	(0.30)	(0.14)



Figure 2.3. Displaying interactions for corrected recognition (Hits minus False Alarms) in Experiment 1. Left: Group x R/K interaction - Remember and Know collapsed across modalities and meaningfulness for ASD and TD groups. Right: Modality x Meaning interaction - rates for verbal and visual materials sorted according to meaningfulness collapsed across the two groups. The data are presented as mean <u>+</u> SEM.

2.1.3.1.2 False Alarms

To examine whether the attenuated levels of R responses in the ASD group were the result of a more lenient response criterion, FAs (see Table 2.4) were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (R/K [Remember, Know]) x 2 (Modality [verbal, visual]) x 2 (Meaning [meaningful, meaningless]) repeated measures ANOVA. This revealed a marginal main effect of *Group*, F(1,62) = 3.65, p = .06, Cohen's d = 0.48, 95 % CI(-0.02, 0.97), with higher FAs for the ASD compared to the TD group, as well as a significant main effect of *Meaning*, F(1,62) = 6.51, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.36, 95 % CI(0.01, 0.71), with higher FAs for meaningless compared to meaningful materials. A significant *Modality x Meaning* interaction, F(1,62) = 5.76, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, showed higher FAs for meaningless shapes compared to meaningful pictures, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.55, 95 % CI(0.19, 0.90), but no effect of meaning on verbal materials, p = .77, Cohen's d = -0.04, 95 % CI(-0.39, 0.30). No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 2.23$, $p_{\text{min}} > .14$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .04$, including a Group x R/K interaction.

2.1.3.1.3 Sensitivity, response bias and goodness of fit of signal detection model

Slightly higher FAs for ASD individuals indicate difficulties in distinguishing old from new items. Therefore, potential differences between groups in response criteria were investigated further by calculating measures of sensitivity and response bias (Gaetano, Lancaster & Tindle, 2015) for the data presented in Table 2.4. Separate measures for sensitivity and response bias are needed as they are confounded in other measures such as Hits, FAs, and corrected recognition rates (Stanislaw & Todorov, 1999), and between-group differences may be caused by potential differences in sensitivity, response bias or both. A popular measure for sensitivity is d', which is, however, unaffected by response bias only if the d' assumptions are fulfilled, which cannot be tested in yes-no tasks (Stanislaw & Todorov, 1999). Therefore, the measure for sensitivity used here was A' (Pollack & Norman, 1964), as it is nonparametric and unaffected by response bias (Stanislaw & Todorov, 1999). A' values range from 0 (the participant confused response categories), through 0.5 (the participant did not distinguish between old and new items), to 1 (the participant distinguished perfectly between old and new unstudied items; Stanislaw & Todorov, 1999). Response bias was estimated by the nonparametric measure B" (Grier, 1971), which shows values ranging from -1 (a bias to say yes to all items), through 0 (indicating no response bias), to 1 (a bias to say no to all items; Stanislaw & Todorov, 1999). A' and B" were calculated for overall recognition and R rates using Hits and FAs to inspect the goodness of fit of the signal detection model to the data (see Bowler et al., 2000b; Gardiner & Gregg, 1997). A good fit is indicated by similar A' values derived from recognition as well as R data (Gardiner & Gregg, 1997), indicating that R and K respresent a unitary memory trace with stronger (R) and weaker (K) memories. A' has,

however, previously been reported as being higher for recognition compared to R responses, using the R/K recognition procedure, supporting a model postulating R and K as two separate processes (Gardiner & Gregg, 1997).

A' data (Table 2.5) were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Modality [verbal, visual]) x 2 (Meaning [meaningful, meaningless]) x 2 (Recognition/R [recognition, Remember]) repeated measures ANOVA, which showed significant main effects of Group, F(1,62) = 17.01, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.03, 95 % CI(0.50, 1.54), with higher A' rates for the TD compared to the ASD group, and *Meaning*, F(1,62) = 10.32, p < .01, Cohen's d =0.46, 95 % CI(0.11, 0.81), with higher A' rates for meaningful compared to meaningless materials. There was also a significant *Modality x Meaning* interaction, F(1,62) = 21.23, p < 100.0001, $\eta_p^2 = .26$, with higher A' rates for meaningful pictures compared to meaningful words, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.76, 95 % CI(0.39, 1.11), and slightly higher A' rates for meaningless non-words compared to meaningless shapes, p = .079, Cohen's d = 0.30, 95 % CI(-0.05, 0.65). A marginally significant Modality x Meaning x Recognition/R interaction, F(1,62) = 3.95, p = .05, $\eta_p^2 = .06$, showed higher A' rates for meaningful pictures compared to meaningless shapes for both recognition and R rates, both p < .0001, Cohen's $d_{\min} = 0.65$, 95 % CI(0.29, 1.00). No significant differences were found in A' rates for meaningful words as opposed to meaningless non-words in recognition and R rates, $p_{\min} > .18$, Cohen's $d_{\max} =$ 0.21, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.14, 0.55). Most importantly, there was also a significant main effect of *RecognitionR*, F(1,62) = 23.86, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.43, 95 % CI(0.08, 0.78), with higher A' rates for recognition compared to R, indicating that the model did not fit the data well. No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 2.58$, $p_{\text{min}} > .11$, $\eta_p^2 = .05$.

Table 2.5

Means and Standard Deviations for A' (sensitivity) and B" (response bias) for recognition and R responses for words, non-words, pictures, and shapes for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1.

	ASD		T	D	Total		
	Rec	R	Rec	R	Rec	R	
	M (SD)						
A'							
Words	0.81 (0.16)	0.78 (0.13)	0.89 (0.10)	0.86 (0.10)	0.85 (0.14)	0.82 (0.12)	
Non-words	0.84 (0.12)	0.78 (0.15)	0.91 (0.10)	0.88 (0.12)	0.87 (0.12)	0.83 (0.14)	
Pictures	0.93 (0.08)	0.86 (0.11)	0.95 (0.11)	0.92 (0.10)	0.94 (0.10)	0.89 (0.11)	
Shapes	0.78 (0.18)	0.74 (0.21)	0.87 (0.14)	0.86 (0.13)	0.82 (0.17)	0.80 (0.18)	
В"							
Words	0.37 (0.45)	0.49 (0.36)	0.34 (0.34)	0.58 (0.25)	0.36 (0.40)	0.53 (0.31)	
Non-words	0.28 (0.46)	0.47 (0.34)	0.33 (0.46)	0.55 (0.37)	0.31 (0.46)	0.51 (0.35)	
Pictures	0.24 (0.43)	0.59 (0.26)	0.06 (0.41)	0.43 (0.39)	0.15 (0.42)	0.51 (0.34)	
Shapes	0.24 (0.37)	0.37 (0.36)	0.31 (0.45)	0.48 (0.33)	0.28 (0.41)	0.43 (0.35)	

A 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Modality [verbal, visual]) x 2 (Meaning [meaningful, meaningless]) x 2 (Recognition/R [recognition, Remember]) repeated measures ANOVA of B" data (Table 2.5) showed a significant main effect of *Modality*, F(1,62) = 4.72, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.32, 95 % CI(-0.03, 0.67), with higher B" rates for verbal compared to visual materials, as well as a significant *Group* x *Meaning* interaction, F(1,62) = 4.09, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .06$, with a trend for higher B" rates for meaningless compared to meaningful materials for the TD group, but meaningful compared to meaningless materials for the ASD group, both n.s., $p_{max} = .21$, Cohen's $d_{min} = 0.25$, 95 % CI(-0.24, 0.74). Again the main effect of

Recognition/R was significant, F(1,62) = 59.36, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.92, 95 % CI(0.55, 1.27), showing higher B" rates for R compared to recognition. The effect was further qualified by a significant *Meaning x Recognition/R* interaction, F(1,62) = 5.73, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, which showed a trend for higher B" rates for meaningful compared to meaningless R rates, p = .14, Cohen's d = 0.21, 95 % CI(-0.14, 0.56), which was not evident in recognition rates, p = .40, Cohen's d = 0.12, 95 % CI(-0.23, 0.47). Finally, a significant *Modality x Meaning x Recognition/R*, F(1,62) = 7.34, p < .01, $\eta_p^2 = .11$, indicated higher B" rates for meaningful words compared to meaningful pictures for recognition rates, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.50, 95 % CI(0.15, 0.85), but not R rates, p = .63, Cohen's d = 0.07, 95 % CI(-0.27, 0.42). No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 2.47$, $p_{min} > .12$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .04$.

2.1.3.1.4 Episodic memory in R justifications

Participants' justifications for R responses were tape-recorded, transcribed and classified according to the kind of statements that were produced. All participants provided detailed justifications for all R responses, and it was of interest to inspect the quality of R justifications. One logical way of coding was to inspect the number of associations participants formed with information from the immediate study episode and information relating to general knowledge or personal experiences that had not directly been part of the study. Therefore, statements were categorised into two groups - things that happened *within* the actual study episode (item characteristics, e.g., "I remember this because it was just one sock.", or study episode, e.g., "I pictured the word in my head."), and information from *outside* the study episode that the participant had related to the actual items (semantic knowledge, e.g., "I remembered the apple because it is a fruit.", or personal experiences, e.g., "I had a sandwich for lunch."). A second independent rater, who was blind to the predictions and groups, and who had been trained on these criteria, scored the transcripts of eight randomly selected participants (four from each group). The strength of the inter-rater

agreement between the scorings of the author of this thesis and the second rater, calculated with Cohen's kappa, was very good, $\kappa = .827$, p < .0001, showing that the aforementioned scheme can be coded reliably.

The data (see Figure 2.4) were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Type of EM statements [inside, outside]) repeated measures ANOVA. The analysis showed significant main effects of *Group*, F(1,62) = 16.76, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.02, 95 % CI(0.49, 1.53), with a higher number of EM statements for the TD compared to the ASD group, and *Type of EM statements*, F(1,62) = 8.97, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.62, 95 % CI(0.26, 0.97), with more statements referring to information from outside compared to within the study episode. A significant *Group x Type of EM statements* interaction, F(1,62) = 4.50, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .07$, showed more EM statements from outside the study episode for the TD (M = 16.50, SD = 8.06) compared to the ASD group (M = 9.63, SD = 6.96), p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.91, 95 % CI(0.39, 1.42), but a similar number of EM statements from inside the study episode for both groups ($M_{TD} = 9.38$, $SD_{TD} = 5.88$; $M_{ASD} = 8.41$, $SD_{ASD} = 5.90$), p = .51, Cohen's d = 0.16, 95 % CI(-0.33, 0.65).



Figure 2.4. Number of EM statements referring to information from within (inside) and from outside the study episode, reported as justifications for Remember responses in ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

2.1.3.1.5 Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age First, bivariate correlations were run (see Table 2.6), which showed no significant correlations between R or K responses and age.

Table 2.6

Bivariate correlations between corrected recognition for Remember and Know responses and age for the participants in Experiment 1.

	Remember	Know
age	05	.21

Note. *significant at p < .05. **significant at $p \leq .01$.

It was, however, possible that the correlation coefficients were affected by a third variable that may have influenced the relationship between R responses and age (Bewick, Cheek & Ball, 2003), and this variable may have been group, in that age may have had a different

effect on memory in the two groups. Therefore, second, multiple linear regression analyses were performed, including Age and a Group x Age interaction term, to predict behavioural memory performance. The Group x Age interaction term explained 23.1 % of the total variance, $R^2 = .23$, F(1,62) = 18.57, p = .00, and it significantly predicted corrected R recognition, $\beta = -.48$, 95 % CI(-0.01, 0.00), p < .0001. Visual inspection of Figure 2.5 and the regression coefficients showed that age was a better predictor of R responses in the TD as opposed to the ASD group. Neither Age nor a Group x Age interaction term explained any variance in corrected K recognition.



Figure 2.5. The relationship between age and corrected recognition in Remember responses in Experiment 1, showing a stronger age-related difference in Remember responses in TD compared to ASD participants.

2.1.3.2 **Pupillometry measures**

2.1.3.2.1 Baseline pupil size

Since there were no previous investigations of baseline pupil size in adults with ASD, it was first established whether findings of the current study were in line with the baseline pupil size data in ASD children presented above. No significant between-group differences in baseline pupil size were found in the current study (see Table 2.2).

2.1.3.2.2 Pupil Old/New effect at retrieval

An Old/New comparison can only be undertaken for the retrieval phase of this experiment, because all items presented at study (encoding) were new to the participants and only at test (retrieval), previously presented (Old) items were intermixed with previously unseen (New) items. The data presented in Table 2.7 and Figure 2.6 were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Modality [verbal, visual]) x 2 (Meaning [meaningful, meaningless]) x 2 (Set [Old, New]) repeated measures ANOVA. Significant main effects of *Modality*, F(1,55) = 6.79, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.22, 95 % CI(-0.15, 0.59), *Meaning*, F(1,55) = 11.94, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.28, 95 % CI(-0.09, 0.65), and *Set*, F(1,55) = 10.53, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.22, 95 % CI(-0.15, 0.59), showed larger pupils for verbal compared to visual materials, for meaningful compared to meaningless materials, and for old compared to new items. A significant *Group x Set* interaction, F(1,55) = 5.12, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, indicated larger pupils for old compared to new items for the TD group, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.38, 95 % CI(-0.14, 0.88), but similar pupil sizes for old and new items for the ASD group, p = .50, Cohen's d = 0.07, 95 % CI(-0.47, 0.60). No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 2.65$, $p_{min} > .10$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .05$.

Table 2.7

Means and Standard Deviations for maximum pupil dilation ratio (pupil size during task/pupil size during baseline) for Old (studied) and New (unstudied) words, non-words, pictures, and shapes for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1.

	ASD		T	D	Total		
	Old	New	Old	New	Old	New	
	M (SD)						
Words	1.06 (0.10)	1.05 (0.08)	1.07 (0.11)	1.06 (0.13)	1.07 (0.10)	1.05 (0.11)	
Non-words	1.04 (0.06)	1.03 (0.10)	1.04 (0.06)	1.02 (0.05)	1.04 (0.06)	1.03 (0.08)	
Pictures	1.03 (0.05)	1.03 (0.07)	1.07 (0.09)	1.03 (0.08)	1.05 (0.08)	1.03 (0.07)	
Shapes	1.03 (0.04)	1.03 (0.06)	1.04 (0.06)	1.01 (0.05)	1.03 (0.05)	1.02 (0.06)	



Figure 2.6. Group x Set interaction displaying the maximum pupil dilation ratio (pupil size during task/pupil size during baseline) for Old (studied) and New (unstudied) items collapsed across modalities and meaningfulness for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

2.1.3.2.3 Pupil Old/New effect at retrieval - behavioural accuracy

2.1.3.2.3.1 Correct responses

To investigate whether the pupil Old/New effect was related to the memory findings presented above, pupil size data were sorted according to behavioural response accuracy. Because not all participants had made mistakes for all materials, the data were collapsed across materials and were analysed separately for correct and incorrect responses for old and new items. Correct responses for old (Hits) and new (CR) items (see Figure 2.7) were compared with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Answer type [Hit, CR]) repeated measures ANOVA. A significant main effect of *Answer type*, F(1,55) = 10.42, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.29, 95 % CI(-0.08, 0.66), showed larger pupils for Hits (old items) compared to CRs (new items), and a marginal *Group x Answer type* interaction, F(1,55) = 3.96, p = .05, $\eta_p^2 = .07$, indicated that this was only the case for the TD group ($M_{\text{Hit}} = 1.06$, $SD_{\text{Hit}} = 0.08$; $M_{\text{CR}} = 1.03$, $SD_{\text{CR}} = 0.07$), p = .40, Cohen's d = 0.11, 95 % CI(-0.42, 0.64). There was no main effect of *Group*, F(1,55) = 0.28, p = .60, Cohen's d = 0.14, 95 % CI(-0.38, 0.66).



Figure 2.7. Maximum pupil dilation ratio (pupil size during task/pupil size during baseline) for Hits (correctly identified old items) and Correct Rejections (correctly rejected new items) collapsed across the materials for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

2.1.3.2.3.2 Incorrect responses

A 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Answer type [Miss, FA]) repeated measures ANOVA comparing incorrect responses for old (Misses) and new items (FAs; see Figure 2.8) showed no significant main effects or interactions, $F_{\text{max}} < 0.44$, $p_{\text{min}} > .51$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .02$.



Figure 2.8. Maximum pupil dilation ratio (pupil size during task/pupil size during baseline) for Misses (incorrectly rejected old items) and False Alarms (incorrectly accepted new items) collapsed across materials for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

2.1.3.2.4 Pupil effects at encoding - behavioural accuracy

Since it is possible that between-group differences for later correctly and incorrectly remembered items may have already existed at study, it was of interest to set pupil size at encoding in relation to later response accuracy. Avoiding a loss of data resulting from ceiling performance, the data were collapsed across materials (see Figure 2.9) and were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Accuracy [Correct, Incorrect]) repeated measures ANOVA, which showed no significant main effects or interactions, $F_{max} < 1.35$, $p_{min} > .25$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .03$.



Figure 2.9. Maximum pupil dilation ratio (pupil size during task/pupil size during baseline) for encoding data collapsed across materials and split up by later correct and incorrect behavioural responses for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 1. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

2.1.3.3 Correlations among behavioural memory and pupil size data

To confirm that the pupil Old/New effect at retrieval reflects a memory phenomenon, pupil data were set in relation to behavioural memory data. Bivariate correlations were run between a difference score of pupil size to old and new items and corrected recognition accuracy collapsed across all four material types (Table 2.8). There were no significant correlations between the two variables. Visual inspection of the data, however, showed that there were two outliers (one ASD, one TD individual) in the pupil size data, who showed a strongly negative pupil Old/New ratio, which was contrary to predictions and unlike the difference scores in all other participants. In both cases, the pupil Old/New ratio was more than 3 SDs below the group mean. It is possible that in these two individuals there may still have been some noise in the data or that their pupil Old/New effect may have just been unusual. Excluding these two individuals did not change the results of the analyses reported above, but

it led to a strongly significantly positive correlation between behavioural memory accuracy and the pupil Old/New difference (see Table 2.8), especially for ASD individuals, suggesting that the larger the pupil response to old as opposed to new items was at retrieval, the higher were participants' corrected recognition scores (see Figure 2.10), confirming that the pupil Old/New effect reflects a real memory phenomenon.

Table 2.8

Bivariate correlations between behavioural corrected recognition accuracy and a difference score of pupil size in response to previously studied (Old) and unstudied (New) items in Experiment 1.

	Pupil Old/New	Pupil Old/New ^a	Pupil Old/New _{TD}	Pupil Old/New _{ASD}		
Corrected						
recognition	.16	.36**	.02	.52**		
Note. ^a Pupil s	size Old/New diffe	erence after the ex	clusion of one ASD	and one TD outlier.		
*significant at $p < .05$. **significant at $p \le .01$.						



Figure 2.10. Association between corrected recognition rates and the maximum pupil dilation ratio (pupil size during task/pupil size during baseline) between old and new items. The correlation illustrates that larger pupils in response to old vs. new items was related higher corrected recognition rates in the behavioural response.

2.1.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to compare, systematically, R and K responses for different materials in adults with and without ASD, manipulating the factors of modality and meaning, and to examine the criteria, which both groups base their recognition decisions on. Pupillometry was used, in addition to behavioural memory measures, to see if results would be replicated with measures acting outside conscious awareness and to investigate whether it would be possible to devise measures that would, in principle, be suitable for the study of memory in minimally verbal and/or preverbal individuals with ASD. Finally, preliminary analyses were run to investigate the effect of age on recognition memory in both groups.

Using the R/K recognition memory procedure, participants were asked to indicate which of 20 words, pictures, non-words, and shapes (half of which had been presented at

study) they had seen previously, and to specify whether or not they remembered any contextual details about previously studied items. For the behavioural results, it was predicted that both groups would produce more R compared to K responses, but that R rates would be attenuated for ASD compared to TD participants. It was also predicted that ASD adults would show lower overall corrected recognition, that both groups would remember pictures better than words, and that they would perform better on meaningful as opposed to meaningless stimuli. Interactions between modality, meaning, and R/K were predicted to be similar for both groups. It was predicted that ASD individuals would show higher FA rates, lower sensitivity, and higher response bias, and that their verbal R justifications would be restricted to information from the study episode. Most of these predictions were confirmed, and results will be discussed in the next few paragraphs, which will be followed by a discussion of the pupillometry findings.

As predicted, both groups showed significantly higher R compared to K rates, and R rates were lower for ASD compared to TD individuals, confirming previous findings of reduced episodic and intact semantic memory in ASD (see Section 1.4.1.2 and Bowler et al., 2000a & b; 2007; Bowler & Ring, in preparation; Massand, 2011; Mayer et al., 2014; Souchay et al., 2013; Tanweer et al., 2010; Gaigg et al., 2015). This conclusion was further supported by higher A' rates for recognition compared to R responses for both groups, which support dual-process models of recognition memory (Gardiner & Gregg, 1997; see Section 1.3.2 and the information presented earlier in this chapter). Also in line with predictions, ASD participants showed lower overall corrected recognition compared to the TD group (Bowler et al., 2004; Bowler & Ring, in preparation; Souchay et al., 2013; Tanweer et al., 2010). The Group x R/K interaction showed that this overall reduction in corrected recognition in ASD resulted from a selective impairment in R responses, leaving K responses in ASD intact. These data suggest particular difficulties with the retrieval of relational

information in ASD (Bowler et al., 2011), since R responses require remembering the items as well as the context of their presentation. Looking at justifications for R responses, ASD adults struggled, in particular, with relating study material to contextual information from outside the immediate context of the experiment, while they showed less difficulty in relating study materials to contextual details from within the study episode. This finding may, potentially, help to clarify why R deficits in ASD have not been replicated consistently across all studies. For example, in some studies ASD individuals may have formed more relations with details from outside the immediate study episode, or TD individuals may have related more items to the immediate study context. A possible follow-up study of the current finding of lower relations between items and context from outside the experiment in ASD would be to compare ASD and TD groups by using the R/K recognition procedure, specifically, manipulating the extent to which participants need to relate the study material to extra- or intra-experimental details to clarify whether and to what extent a R deficit in ASD exists if both groups are asked to justify their R responses with contextual details from within the study episode. Previous inconsistent results may have also been caused by insufficient sample sizes, not detecting smaller differences between groups in R responses and corrected recognition rates. This idea is supported by medium to large effect sizes for between-group differences in previous R/K investigations in ASD (e.g., Bowler et al., 2000b; Massand, 2011). Differences between findings may also be related to the task instructions. Whereas participants were instructed to say 'no' when they were unsure if they had studied an item in the current study, in other studies participants may have confused unstudied with familiar materials, leading to increased K judgements. This interpretation is in line with higher Guess (Gaigg et al., 2015) or K rates for ASD compared to TD individuals in previous R/K studies (Bowler et al., 2000a; 2007), and between-group differences in ERP data for K responses that reflected increased Guess rates within K responses in the ASD group (Massand, 2011).

Difficulties in distinguishing old and new items in ASD in the current study were also evident in terms of somewhat higher FA rates, as well as lower sensitivity. This finding is in line with research on memory illusions, where ASD individuals have reported seeing more lure words that were orthographically related to the studied words compared to the TD group, especially when words were emotionally arousing (Gaigg & Bowler, 2009). More intrusion errors have also been reported in the free recall of words in ASD individuals (e.g., Bowler et al., 2000b; 2008a; Tager-Flusberg, 1991). Taken together, these results suggest some level of confabulation in ASD, which may be related to a problem with metacognition in terms of response monitoring. Difficulties in this area in ASD have been reported previously (Grainger et al., 2014; Wilkinson, Best, Minshew & Strauss, 2010; Wojcik et al., 2013).

Regarding the behavioural manipulations, both groups remembered visual materials better than verbal materials, confirming the *picture superiority effect* (Shepard, 1967). This was especially true for meaningful materials. A picture superiority may also explain previous inconsistent results, for example, lower rates of illusory memory in ASD, when participants were asked to memorise geometric shapes (Hillier, Campbell, Keillor, Philllips & Beversdorf, 2007). These results also indicate that pictorial materials are easier to remember for persons with ASD.

In line with predictions, both groups remembered meaningful materials better than meaningless materials, indicating that both groups found it easier to use meaning inherent in the study materials rather than to establish meaning for the materials themselves. Against predictions, but in line with Ameli et al. (1988), and like TD individuals, ASD individuals showed particular difficulties remembering meaningless materials, demonstrating an advantage for meaningful materials also in ASD in the current study. R justifications in the current study gave a hint that difficulties in R in ASD were not generally related to the use of meaning inherent in the study materials, but that they were related, specifically, to establishing links to information from outside the actual study episode. This finding confirms previous ideas that ASD individuals save every episode separately, leading to reduced generalisation of individual experiences and reduced transfer of information across situations in ASD (see Sections 1.2.5, 1.4.2.5.4; Plaisted et al., 1998a; Swettenham, 1996). Overall, the behavioural memory data indicate that R difficulties in ASD are not specific to aspects of language in that they expand to visual and non-meaningful materials, and that they are of a more general nature, hinting at problems with relational processing in ASD (Bowler et al., 2011).

Considering the exploratory investigation of the influence of age on corrected recognition, in line with predictions, no effect of age on K responses was found for either group. However, age had a differential effect on R responses in the two groups, in that a stronger age-related memory difference was found for TD as opposed to ASD individuals. This finding is in line with the *safeguard hypothesis* (Geurts & Vissers, 2012), and a recent study reporting reduced effects of age on visual memory in large ASD compared to TD samples (Lever & Geurts, 2016). It is important to note, however, that ASD individuals were at a lower performance level in younger years as compared to TD individuals, therefore, supporting the ageing analogy of autistic memory (Bowler, 2007).

Regarding the pupillometry data, it was expected that TD individuals would show the pupil Old/New effect with larger pupils for previously studied compared to unstudied items, and that the ASD data would be characterised by an increase or a reduction of this effect. Before looking at this effect, it was of interest to establish whether increased baseline pupil sizes found for ASD children (C. J. Anderson & Colombo, 2009; Blaser et al., 2014) were also apparent in the adult data. This was not the case. Baseline pupil sizes were similar in both adult groups in the current study, finding no support for an increased activity of the autonomic nervous system in ASD adults. It is possible that ASD children show a difference

in baseline pupil size that disappears in later ages. However, inconsistencies in the findings may also be related to "real" variability between different groups of participants. The latter idea is supported by inconsistencies in findings using other indicators of the functionality of the autonomic nervous system in ASD (for a review see Nuske et al., 2014a). Differences in findings between studies may also be caused by different materials used, or by movement artefacts, affecting pupil size measurements that are better controlled in some studies as opposed to others (Nuske et al., 2014a). An advantage of the current study is the large sample size, which took care of some variability in the data. However, more research is needed to clarify if the findings will be replicated.

Predictions regarding the pupil Old/New effect were confirmed. TD individuals showed larger pupils for old compared to new items for all materials and for correct responses, which is in line with a growing body of literature (Gomes et al., 2015; Heaver & Hutton, 2011; Montefinese et al., 2013; Otero et al., 2011; Papesh et al., 2012; Võ et al., 2008). In contrast, ASD individuals showed similar pupil sizes for old and new items, suggesting that, physiologically, ASD individuals did not distinguish between old and new items. This finding fits with the behavioural memory data, showing higher FAs and lower sensitivity. Correlations between the pupil Old/New effect and behavioural memory accuracy suggest that the pupil Old/New effect reflects a real memory phenomenon, and they highlight the potential for its use in broader ASD populations with more limited verbal and/or intellectual abilities. It is important to note that the significant difference in luminance between meaningful pictures and meaningless shape stimuli may have confounded the data. However, since verbal materials were well-matched in terms of luminance and other criteria, such as numbers of letters and syllables, materials were presented in blocks of the same material type, and since the data were analysed ignoring the first item in every block, it seems unlikely that these luminance differences affected the main finding of the pupil Old/New

difference. Because of the lack of previous findings on pupil size relating to memory in ASD, and in other psychological disorders, the current findings leave considerable room for speculation.

In line with ERP studies that found a difference in memory-specific neurophysiological activation between ASD and TD groups, as well as an absence of prominent ERP Old/New effects known from the TD literature for ASD individuals (Massand et al., 2013; Massand & Bowler, 2015), the current findings suggest a different underlying physiology for recognition memory in ASD. Massand et al. (2013) concluded from their findings that episodic and semantic memory in ASD may be driven neurologically by a single system rather than two different systems as in TD individuals. In line with findings of reduced pupilliary responsiveness to emotion in ASD (Nuske et al., 2014b & c), the current findings suggest that differences in emotion and memory are signs of a more domain general difference in ASD.

In a more general context, the lack of a pupil Old/New effect in ASD can be interpreted in various ways. First, it may have been caused by a lack of interest in the materials as pupillometry has been shown to be an indicator of interest in pictures, food, taste, and music (Sirois & Brisson, 2014). In addition, anecdotal evidence suggested that autistic people's memory is guided by interest and what they are not interested in, they do not remember. This is, however, highly speculative as research to demonstrate this remains to be carried out. It seems also a rather unlikely explanation given that ASD participants, behaviourally, recognised the studied materials in the current study well above chance. Since changes in pupil size have also been suggested to be an indicator of cognitive effort (Van Gerven, Paas, Van Merriënboer & Schmidt, 2004) – recollection is more cognitively demanding, a lack of a difference in pupil size between old and new items may indicate that identifying an old item as old and a new item as new was similarly effortful or effortless for

individuals with ASD. Pupil size is also seen as an indicator of memory strength, in that stronger memories were related to higher peaks in pupil size (Papesh et al., 2012). Therefore, another possibility is that a reduced pupil size for old items in ASD indicates weaker memories. This idea is supported by slightly higher FAs and lower sensitivity in ASD in the current study, as well as findings from other studies, such as higher K rates in R/K recognition tests (Bowler et al., 2000a; 2007), more intrusion errors in free recall tests (e.g., Bennetto et al., 1996; Bowler et al., 2000b; 2008a; Minshew & Goldstein, 1993; Kamio & Toichi, 2007), and sometimes more memory illusions for ASD compared to matched TD participants (e.g., Gaigg & Bowler, 2009), indicating difficulties to distinguish studied from lure items in ASD. Physiologically, pupil responses are controlled by the locus coeruleus, which is related to the hippocampus via noradrenergic transmissions and it, therefore, either inhibits or enhances hippocampal functions (Amaral & Sinnamon, 1977), having an important role for long-term memory consolidation and retrieval shortly after study (Sara, 2009). Finally, a lack of a difference in pupil size between old and new items may also be an indicator of an information overload, apparent through a "levelling" of the pupil size, leading to task disengagement. Pupil size levelling becomes apparent in the current study, when inspecting Figure 2.6. Unlike amnesic patients showing an increased pupil size for new compared to old items (Laeng et al., 2007), ASD individuals in the current study showed a decreased pupil size for old items, which was similar to the size for new items. This reduction of a pupil response has been observed previously in working memory tasks with higher processing load in patients with schizophrenia (Granholm, Morris, Sarkin, Asarnow & Jeste, 1997), as well as TD OA (Van Gerven et al., 2004), which further supports the ageing analogy of autistic people's memory (Bowler, 2007). A possible pathway for the lack of a pupil size Old/New difference in ASD would be that task disengagement following overload would lead to poorer encoding, ultimately producing weaker memories and, thereby, making it harder for ASD participants to distinguish between old and new items at test. Task disengagement would be caused by lower norepinephrine concentrations (Hoffing & Seitz, 2015), having downstream effects, such as poor organisation of the study materials (Southwick et al., 2011). Next to the locus coeruleus releasing norepinephrine (Goldinger & Papesh, 2012), another brain region to investigate further in ASD would be the perirhinal cortex underlying the pupil novelty response described above, observed in amnesic patients (Laeng et al., 2007). A lack of such a novelty preference in the ASD individuals in the current study may indicate that the perirhinal cortex works differently in this group.

Drawing together, the current study showed that the pupil Old/New effect at retrieval is a useful measure for the study of the underlying physiology in memory in ASD. The common pupil Old/New effect for TD individuals was replicated and differential pupil sizes for meaningful and meaningless materials for both groups replicated behavioural effects of the manipulations and indicated that meaningful results were established with this new technique. In addition, these findings extended previous research on the pupil Old/New effect, suggesting that verbal and meaningful materials may be more distinct and, therefore, easier to remember, even without conscious awareness. Most importantly, correlations between behavioural memory and pupil size data indicated that the pupil Old/New effect reflects a real memory phenomenon. Following this demonstration of the usefulness of this measure, future research should adapt a pupil size paradigm for less verbal ASD individuals. In a more general context, the absence of a pupil Old/New effect may be a potential candidate for a biomarker for ASD in that a clearly atypical pupil Old/New effect was found that was universal for different types of materials. A biomarker would in this case be defined as an objectively measurable indicator of a pathogenic process (NIH Biomarker Definitions Working Group, 2001). Further demonstrations of this effect in other ASD populations with various cognitive and/or intellectual abilities are needed, to establish if the absence of a pupil Old/New effect in ASD can really function as a biomarker. In addition, future research should compare, systematically, pupil responses for individuals with different disorders, such as ASD and schizophrenia or amnesia, to find out if the absence of a pupil Old/New effect can be established as something specific and unique to ASD. Cross-disorder research to establish the full variation of processes such as cognition is one of the aims of the Research Domain Criteria debate (Cuthbert & Insel, 2013).

In conclusion, the behavioural memory data broadly replicate previous research by showing that the EM impairment in ASD is universal across different materials, and that ASD individuals demonstrate clear difficulties in remembering contextual information and, therefore, relational binding. With a R/K paradigm a special type of EM and context is tested, i.e., memory for subjective context, because the participant can choose which context information to remember. The question arises whether remembering a specific type of context such as locations for objects on a computer screen is also difficult for ASD individuals. What follows on from this is the need for systematic investigations of different forms of relational memory in ASD to see which one is most difficult and to increase generalisability of the findings by using other more rarely used materials rather than verbal materials. These investigations of relational memory will be presented in the next chapter in Experiments 2 and 3.
3 Chapter **3**: Relational memory

3.1 Experiment 2: Object-location memory

3.1.1 Introduction

3.1.1.1 Theoretical background

Previous research (see Section 1.4.1) and Experiment 1 have shown particular difficulties in EM in ASD. EM can be distinguished into *item* memory – the memory for single units of material with one meaning (Cohen et al., 1997) - and relational memory - the memory for context information or relations among these items (Davachi, 2006) – previously presented in Section 1.3.2. Mostly, previous research has demonstrated intact item memory in ASD. Item memory difficulties become apparent in ASD in tasks specifically probing relational processing such as in Experiment 1, where reduced memory for context information (R responses) led to a decrease in item memory. Reduced memory performance in ASD can also occur, when it is helpful to organise materials in a certain way, or when it is beneficial to use meaning to relate these materials (Section 1.4.1.3). In line with this idea, ASD participants' task performance typically benefits from support to organise or retrieve materials (see Section 1.4.1.3). In relational memory, such as memory for locations (Bowler et al., 2014; 2004; Cooper et al., 2015; Semino et al., in preparation), colours (Massand & Bowler, 2015), or the temporal order of item presentation (Bennetto et al., 1996; Bigham et al., 2010; Bowler et al., 2016; Ni Chuileann & Quigley, 2013; Gaigg et al., 2014; Poirier et al., 2011; see Section 1.4.1.4), difficulties in ASD memory are particularly apparent. This is important because relational memory tasks represent the complex nature of situations in daily life better and, therefore, present a more realistic test of everyday functioning.

Another characteristic of ASD memory is a difficulty in explicit memory along with intact implicit memory. As mentioned in Section 1.3.2, *explicit* memory saves information that can be retrieved actively/consciously (Tulving, 2002), and it is typically tested with direct memory tests that ask participants to answer a question about the study episode (e.g., "Have you seen this item previously?"). By contrast, *implicit* memory refers to information that underlies behaviour, but that is not necessarily available for deliberate retrieval (Tulving, 2002). It is tested with indirect tests (e.g., word stem completion tasks, where participants are asked to complete the item with the first thing that comes to mind). An overview of the four previous studies that systematically compared explicit and implicit memory in ASD is presented in Table 3.1. The studies will be described briefly in what follows.

Table 3.1

Overview of studies directly comparing explicit and implicit memory in ASD and TD individuals.

Р	articipant char	acteristics	Materials		Res	Cohen's	
	ASD	TD			ASD	TD	d
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)	
Bowle	r, Matthews &	Gardiner (1997	7)				
Ν	16 (10 m)	16 (8 m)	two word lists, same/different categories				
age	31.20 (11.0)	33.30 (11.4)	Free recall - nr words recalled	unrelated	5.06 (2.18)	5.56 (1.37)	0.27
VIQ ^a	99 (16.7)	96 (13.2)		related	6.13 (1.98)	8.06 (1.06)	1.22
PIQ ^b	86 (19.2)	96 (10.3)	80 words (40 studied), generate vs. read Word stem completion ^c Cued recall test - word stems as cues ^c				
Gardiner, Bowler & Grice (2003) - Exp N 16 (13 m) 14 (13 m) 8		Grice (2003) - E 14 (13 m)	Exp. 1 80 words (40 studied), generate vs. read				
age	31.60 (8.9)	31.30 (7.1)	Word fragment completion	Hits-FAs	0.25 (0.19)	0.23 (0.14)	0.15
VIQ ^a	90 (16.8)	93 (13.4)	Cued recall test - word fragments as cues	Hits-FAs	0.35 (0.25)	0.41 (0.21)	0.25
PIQ ^b	86 (18.0)	86 (11.0)					
Gardi	ner, Bowler & (Grice (2003) - E	Exp. 2				
Ν	10 (10 m)	10 (10 m)	Word pairs, readability vs. relatedness				
age	28.30 (5.3)	29.10 (4.6)	Cue completion	Hits-FAs	0.15 (0.12)	0.09 (0.12)	0.44
VIQ ^a PIQ ^b	96 (17.4) 85 (13.6)	945 (12.9) 88 (17.1)	Cued recall test - first word as cue	Hits-FAs	0.23 (0.14)	0.33 (0.20)	0.57

Participant characteristics			Materials	Res	Cohen's		
	ASD	TD			ASD	TD	d
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)	
Renn	er, Klinger & Kl	inger (2000)					
Ν	14 (11 m)	14 (8 m)	126 black & white images, image naming				
age	10.17 (2.3)	9.33 (2.0)	42 images presented at threshold - image	% old vs.	0.59 (0.30)	0.60 (0.20)	0.04
			identification	new			
VIQ	a 101 (10.8)	109 (7.2)	42 images presented individually -	Hits-FAs	0.95 (0.07)	0.94 (0.07)	0.14
PIQ	98 (12.7)	111 (10.3)	Yes/No recognition test				
			Free recall test	% recalled	0.22 (0.10)	0.23 (0.11)	0.10

Note. ^aVerbal IQ (WAIS or K-BIT). ^bPerformance IQ (WAIS or K-BIT). ^cThe results were presented only in a graph in Bowler et al. (1997).

Bowler et al. (1997) reported intact cued recall (explicit memory) and word stem completion performance (implicit memory) in ASD, but they found lower free recall (explicit memory) for related word lists in ASD compared to TD adults. In two experiments, using the same materials as Bowler et al. (1997), Gardiner et al. (2003), similarly, found no significant differences between groups on completing word fragments or associated word pairs (implicit memory). However, ASD adults made significantly more FAs on cued recall tests (explicit memory). Increased FA rates may have partly been related to the use of a verbal filler task between study and test phases, which may have confused ASD participants about the study materials. Other between-group differences, however, may have been masked by a lack of statistical power because of the small samples that had been tested, especially in Gardiner et al.'s Experiment 2 (see effect sizes in Table 3.1). Renner et al. (2000) found no significant differences between TD and ASD children on tests of perceptual identification (implicit memory), recognition, or free recall (explicit memory) of black and white line drawings. The interpretation of these results was aggravated by ceiling and floor effects in the recognition and free recall tests, respectively, in both groups. Group differences were, however, obvious when inspecting serial recall curves with primacy and recency effects (higher recall for the beginning and the end items of the list), where ASD children recalled most items from the end of the list, indicating a lack of a primacy effect. Overall, these four behavioural studies suggest intact implicit memory for single words and pictures in children and adults with ASD, but slight difficulties in explicit memory apparent through higher FAs in cued recall tasks, impairments in free recall tasks, and an absence of the typical serial position curve in ASD. Critical is that the tests for explicit and implicit memory neither had the same instructions, nor were they comparable in their processing requirements, i.e., complexity,

which makes it possible that ASD participants may have shown intact implicit memory because the tasks used to measure it were less complex.

To bridge the two distinctions of item/relational and implicit/explicit memory, a paradigm has been developed that was based on the *Process Dissociation Procedure* (PDP; Jacoby, 1991; Jacoby, 1998), measuring explicit and implicit relational memory. In the task, participants were asked to study locations for pictures of objects in pictures of rooms, and they were later either asked to replace the object in its previously studied location ('include' trials), or to pick a new location out of a choice of three, including the objects' old location ('exclude' trials). This task has previously been used in TD OA, who showed a distinction between impaired explicit and intact implicit object-location memory compared to younger TD participants. Based on the ageing analogy of ASD memory (Bowler, 2007) suggesting that memory in (younger) ASD individuals parallels that of TD OA, the use of this paradigm would suggest a similar distinction of intact implicit and impaired explicit relational memory in ASD. According to Postma, Kessels and van Asselen (2008b) object-location memory comprises at least three different processes: the processing of the object, its location, and the binding between object and location. To test the whole object-location memory framework in order to assess where difficulties lie exactly, object and location recognition and an objectlocation binding task would be needed.

Regarding the two distinctions of item/relational and explicit/implicit memory, Cohen et al. (1997) argued that the distinction between explicit and implicit memory is not very useful. Based on their research on amnesia they argued, that such a distinction does not describe all difficulties in memory that amnesics show, and it also does not explain why they show specific difficulties such as no new vocabulary learning, even when tested with implicit memory tests. These authors favoured the distinction between direct and indirect memory tests and suggested considering eye-movement measures as indirect tests of memory. That is because eye-movement measures are of potential use to exclude the influence of expectations on memory, for example, older adults' expectations to perform badly on a memory task, will adversely influence their performance. The use of eye-movement measures may enable a comparison between different age groups to investigate the development of memory across time. Eye-movement measures may also allow researchers to develop paradigms for the use with different species (e.g., rodents, humans, nonhuman primates), or different populations (e.g., individuals with disorders, such as amnesia, schizophrenia, and ASD, including less verbal individuals, such as infants or ID populations). The comparison of different species may help to find out more about underlying brain mechanisms of memory, which then may support developing models to better describe memory difficulties in a particular disorder and better try to explain their origin (see Cohen et al., 1997; Hannula et al., 2010; Karatekin, 2007). Finally, Cohen et al. (1997) argued that it may be possible to answer questions measuring eye movements that may not be answered with other measures. As an example, these authors referred to research investigating whether amnesia is a deficit restricted to conscious recollection, in which case amnesics should perform well on indirect tests of memory, including eye-movement measures, or whether the deficit lies in the formation of arbitrary relations between items, in which case indirect measures should also show a deficit. The latter turned out to be the case. Neither reaction times, nor eye movements distinguished between old unchanged and old manipulated scenes, leaving the researchers to conclude that the deficit in amnesia lies in relational memory (Cohen et al., 1997; Ryan, Althoff, Whitlow & Cohen, 2000). Similar results have later been found for schizophrenia (e.g., L. E. Williams et al., 2010), and a similar argument will be made here for ASD.

Memory is reflected in eye movements in various ways. Memory for previously viewed material was shown through very similar patterns of fixations during encoding and retrieval (e.g., Underwood, Foulsham & Humphrey, 2009). In addition, semantic knowledge was found to influence the viewing of images in which objects were either congruent or incongruent with the general context of the image (e.g., Hollingworth, 2009). At retrieval, it has been found that previous viewing of an image ultimately changed the way in which participants viewed it the second time (Ryan, Hannula & Cohen, 2007), a phenomenon researchers called the eye-movement-based memory effect (Althoff & Cohen, 1999). Previously studied images in a scene were fixated earlier (R. E. Parker, 1978) and for longer at test as opposed to new images (Ryan et al., 2007), and a comparison with trials that only included unstudied images showed that this effect was because of memory rather than caused by instruction and an intention to select a certain image. Finally, relational memory for locations (e.g., Ryan et al., 2000), pairs of items (e.g., Hannula & Ranganath, 2009), and temporal order (e.g., Ryan & Villate, 2009) has been demonstrated by a relational manipulation effect. Regarding location memory, comparisons of eye movements on previously presented scene images with and without detail changes revealed more fixations on manipulated areas in scene images (e.g., Ryan et al., 2000). Most importantly, these effects were evident long before an explicit response was given by participants (Hannula et al., 2007), when no explicit response was requested at all (Hannula et al., 2007), when participants did not distinguish correctly between old and new materials in an explicit test (Cohen et al., 1997), or even when participants were unaware of the relational information their eyes were drawn to (Ryan et al., 2000). Interestingly, in clinical populations that typically show a deficit in explicit relational memory (e.g., amnesia or schizophrenia), this relational manipulation effect has repeatedly been demonstrated to be absent (Hannula et al.,

2007; Ryan et al., 2000; L. E. Williams et al., 2010), indicating a more general difficulty with relational processing beyond explicit memory. Finally, Hannula and Ranganath (2009) reported that the expression of memory in eye movements was, similarly to explicit EM retrieval, related to activity in the hippocampus and PFC, validating the use of eye movements as a measure of memory.

Previous research using eye-movement measurements in ASD is scarce and can mostly be divided up into two strands. The first strand measures eye movements to investigate the underlying neurophysiology that may be different in ASD (Karatekin, 2007 provided an overview of relevant studies). Difficulties in disengaging (Landry & Bryson, 2004) as well as in engaging (Van der Geest, Kemner, Camfferman, Verbaten & van Engeland, 2001) attention have been found through a higher frequency of fast eye movements in ASD as well as both longer (Landry & Bryson, 2004) and shorter (Van der Geest et al., 2001) time needed to look at a stimulus, participants were instructed to look at, suggesting the involvement of the parietal lobes as an underlying neural substrate for eye-movement differences in ASD (Goldberg et al., 2002; Minshew, Luna & Sweeney, 1999; see Sections 1.2.7, 1.4.2.5.2 for details on attention theories in ASD).

The second strand of research is the investigation of eye movements with social stimuli to specify further the social impairments characteristic for ASD (Giuliani & Schenk, 2015). Here, ASD participants have repeatedly been found to fixate for shorter on the eye region of a face in a static image (Dalton et al., 2005; Yi et al., 2014) or a video clip (Klin, Jones, Schultz, Volkmar & Cohen, 2002), and sometimes to fixate for longer on other facial regions, such as the mouth (Klin et al., 2002), or the nose (Yi et al., 2014), indicating a bias in the processing of images. Despite similar total fixation duration on the image as a whole (Hedley, Young & Brewer, 2012), differences in eye-movement patterns at encoding (Snow

et al., 2011) have been found to be related to ASD participants' difficulties in recognising faces (Chawarska & Shic, 2009; Hedley et al., 2012; Snow et al., 2011). Similarly, at retrieval, fixation durations distinguished reliably between previously studied and unstudied images of faces only for TD individuals, again indicating difficulties in recognising previously studied faces in ASD (Hedley et al., 2012).

Other materials than faces have so far only once been utilised to test attention in the context of memory in ASD using eye movements. Loth, Gómez and Happé (2011) asked participants to read stories and then to look at scenes with objects that were relevant, irrelevant, or neutral in the context of the stories. When tested for their memory for objects seen in the pictures, ASD participants recalled fewer story-relevant objects than TD participants and eye-movement data pointed to reduced attention to story-relevant information in ASD during the initial period of scene viewing, suggesting that differences in the allocation of attention during encoding play a role in subsequent retrieval difficulties.

Following the literature reviewed above, the aims of the current study were the following. First, to bridge the distinctions between item/relational and implicit/explicit memory and to follow up on critical points regarding previous literature, it was aimed to systematically compare implicit and explicit relational memory within the same paradigm relying on the same relational processing requirements. Second, to examine the whole object-location memory framework, it was aimed to test memory for objects and locations, in addition to testing memory for object-locations, to see whether difficulties in item memory exist and contribute to relational memory difficulties. Third, the potential effects of age on explicit and implicit relational memory in both groups were of interest. Following previous results on the differences in attention allocation at encoding, it was aimed to assess fixations on the scenes presented at encoding to test for potential between-group differences. To assess

whether results on explicit and implicit relational memory can be replicated and extended with a second less verbal/unconscious measure, fixations at retrieval were examined.

Based on these aims, an object-location memory task based on the PDP (Jacoby, 1991, 1998) was used asking participants to study pictures of objects in locations in pictures of rooms on the computer screen. At test, participants were asked to replace the object in its studied location for the include condition or to choose a new location out of a choice of three locations in the exclude condition. Using the proportion of times participants chose the previously studied location for both, include and exclude, conditions, indices for explicit and implicit memory were calculated with the Jacoby formulae (Jacoby, 1991, 1998). In addition, participants were tested for their memory for the items, i.e., single objects or locations, using Yes/No and source memory tests, asking participants whether they remembered having studied an object or a location and to name locations for the studied objects and objects for the studied locations. Fixations on the object, the scene, and the location were measured at encoding. At retrieval, fixations on the previously studied and new locations were assessed.

First, proportions of target relocations, i.e., proportions of times participants chose the old/studied location for the include and the exclude condition were examined. If ASD participants have difficulties in relational memory, they will show lower target relocations for the include and higher target relocations for the exclude condition compared to TD participants. Second, to analyse these results in more detail, estimates of explicit and implicit relational memory for object-locations were analysed. If ASD participants show particular difficulties in explicit memory, they will show a reduced explicit memory score but a similar implicit memory score compared to TD individuals. Following the second aim to assess item memory in both groups, corrected recognition rates and source scores for objects and locations were examined. If ASD participants have intact item memory, there will be no

153

between-group differences in object and location memory. If persons with ASD benefit from task support, no between-group differences will be found for source scores of object and location memory tests. Regarding the third aim, if ASD participants' memory is similarly affected by age as TD participants' memory, both groups will show a similar difference in explicit relational memory related to age but no age-difference in implicit memory. Following Aim 4, fixation durations on the scene, the object, and the location presented at encoding were assessed. If ASD individuals show difficulties with relational processing, these will be apparent already at encoding in reduced fixations on the scene image compared to TD participants. Regarding the final aim, fixation durations on the locations presented at retrieval were examined. If persons with ASD show difficulties with relational processing, they will show a reduced eye-movement-based memory effect in reduced fixation durations on previously studied locations compared to TD participants. Therefore, relational memory difficulties will also be present for implicit memory, demonstrating particular difficulties in relational memory rather than explicit retrieval in ASD. Finally, if fixation durations at retrieval reflect a real memory phenomenon, eye-movement data will correlate with behavioural memory data.

3.1.1.2 Predictions

It was expected that ASD adults would show a similar distinction between impaired explicit and intact implicit memory for object-locations as that found in TD OA (see Kessels et al., 2005b). This would be related to lower proportions of target relocations for the include and higher for the exclude condition compared to TD individuals. Item memory and source scores for single objects and locations were expected to be intact in ASD. Based on Kessels et al. (2005b), no effect of age on implicit relational memory was expected. Based on Experiment 1, it was expected that age would have a more pronounced effect on explicit relational memory in TD as opposed to ASD participants (*safeguard hypothesis* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Lever & Geurts, 2016).

Regarding the eye-movement data, based on the literature on face (reviewed in Section 3.1.1.1) and object processing (Loth et al., 2011), reduced attention to the scene image presented at encoding was expected. At retrieval, ASD individuals were expected to show a reduction of the eye-movement-based memory effect found in TD participants (Althoff & Cohen, 1999; Ryan, et al., 2007) with reduced fixation durations on previously studied locations. Therefore, relational memory difficulties would also be present for implicit memory (as demonstrated in Cohen et al., 1997; Ryan et al., 2000; L. E. Williams et al., 2010 for patient populations).

3.1.2 Methods

3.1.2.1 Participants

3.1.2.1.1 Behavioural data

Previous studies of this kind, which have all detected a between-group difference in explicit but not implicit relational memory (Hampstead, Stringer, Stilla, Amaraneni & Sathian, 2011; Kessels, Feijen & Postma, 2005a; Kessels et al., 2005b; Postma, Antonides, Wester & Kessels, 2008a), have included 25 participants per group on average. In addition, power calculation using G*Power (Faul et al., 2007) showed that 16 participants in each group would be needed to find the predicted between-group difference in explicit relational memory with an effect size of Cohen's d = 1.19 and a power of 0.90 (Kessels et al., 2005a; R. P. C. Kessels - personal communication, September 2, 2016). After the exclusion of three TD participants (two men, $M_{age} = 54.72$ years, age range: 51-62, $M_{VIQ} = 100$, $M_{PIQ} = 99$, $M_{FIQ} =$ 100), who did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, $X^2 =$ 0.07, p = .79, CA, VIQ, PIQ, or FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.73$, $p_{min} > .09$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 1.07$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.21, 2.26), and whose testing sessions had either been disrupted by loud building noise, who had reported getting confused by the task instructions, or who had performed the task at chance level, the final sample included 23 TD (17 men, $M_{age} = 40.87$ years, age range: 20-61) and 25 ASD adults (20 men, $M_{age} = 42.13$ years, age range: 25-69), all performing above chance on the task. Groups were closely matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.25$, p = .62, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, as measured by the WAIS-III^{UK} (The Psychological Corporation, 2000; see Table 3.2). ASD compared to TD participants had significantly higher scores on the AQ (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001). Twenty-two ASD individuals were assessed with the ADOS (Lord et al., 1989). Three of these had total scores just below the cut-off score of seven, but they were nevertheless included in the sample since they all had received a formal clinical diagnosis of an ASD before testing. Similarly to Experiment 1, ASD participants reporting comorbidities and psychotropic medication use were included in the sample (see Section 2.1.2.1). In the current study, 28 % of ASD participants had reported comorbidities and/or psychotropic medication use. Dyslexia (29 %), depression (14 %), anxiety disorder (14 %) and ADHD (14 %) were most common. In addition, 57 % of ASD participants took antidepressants, and 14 % took antipsychotic medication. ASD individuals with and without comorbidities and medication use did not differ significantly in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.45$, p = .50, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.34$, $p_{min} > .19$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.59$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.31, 1.47). In addition, analysing the data without ASD individuals that reported comorbidities and/or medication use left the results reported below unaffected.

Table 3.2

	ASD (20	TD (1	7m, 6f)	Cohen's			's	
Measure	M	SD	М	SD	<i>t</i> (46)	р	d	CI
Age (years)	42.13	13.2	40.87	13.5	0.33	.75	0.09	-0.47, 0.66
VIQ ^a	108	15.0	114	12.3	1.41	.17	0.41	-0.17, 0.97
PIQ ^b	106	15.6	109	11.0	0.88	.39	0.25	-0.32, 0.82
FIQ ^c	108	15.4	113	12.2	1.23	.22	0.36	-0.22, 0.92
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	32.58	6.2	14.13	5.8	10.59 ^e	.00	3.09	2.20, 3.88
ADOS-C ^f	2.68 (0-6)	1.5						
ADOS-RSI ^g	6.27 (3-12)	2.5						
ADOS-Total ^h	8.95 (5-17)	3.1						
ADOS-Im ⁱ	1.24 (0-2)	0.6						
ADOS-SB ^j	1.27 (0-3)	1.1						

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in Experiment 2.

Note. ^aVerbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^bPerformance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^ehere *t*(45) - all participants, but one ASD individual, had filled in the AQ. ^fADOS - Communication subscale. ^gADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^hADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ⁱADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ^jADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. For ADOS scores, range of scores in brackets.

No implicit memory score was available for six TD (four men, $M_{age} = 35.54$ years, age range: 20-53, $M_{VIQ} = 120$, $M_{PIQ} = 112$, $M_{FIQ} = 118$) and four ASD individuals (three men, $M_{age} = 38.60$ years, age range: 32-50, $M_{VIQ} = 117$, $M_{PIQ} = 118$, $M_{FIQ} = 120$), who performed at ceiling. They did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, X^2_{max} = 0.22, p_{min} = .64, and CA, $t_{max} < 1.14$, $p_{min} > .26$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.55$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.42, 1.46). However, whereas the excluded TD adults had similar VIQs, PIQs, and FIQs, $t_{max} < 1.40$, $p_{min} > .17$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.67$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.31, 1.59), as the rest of the TD sample, the excluded ASD adults had significantly higher VIQs, $t_{VIQ} = 2.60$, $p_{VIQ} = .02$, Cohen's $d_{VIQ} = 0.72$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.39, 1.78), and slightly higher PIQs, $t_{PIQ} = 1.81$, $p_{PIQ} = .08$, Cohen's $d_{PIQ} = 0.99$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.15, 2.06), and FIQs, $t_{FIQ} = 1.76$, $p_{FIQ} = .09$, Cohen's $d_{FIQ} = 0.96$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.17, 2.03), compared to the other ASD participants. The remaining 17 TD (13 men, $M_{age} = 42.76$ years, age range: 23-61) and 21 ASD (17 men, $M_{age} = 42.80$ years, age range: 25-69) participants were still matched in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.11$, p = .74, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.18$, $p_{min} > .24$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.39$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.27, 1.02).

3.1.2.1.2 Eye-movement data

Four (two men, $M_{age} = 40.58$ years, age range: 23-58, $M_{VIQ} = 114$, $M_{PIQ} = 111$, $M_{FIQ} = 114$) out of 23 TD and five (four men, $M_{age} = 46.81$ years, age range: 31-62, $M_{VIQ} = 114$, $M_{PIQ} = 101$, $M_{FIQ} = 109$) out of 25 ASD individuals, who did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, $X^2_{max} = 1.44$, $p_{min} = .23$, CA, VIQ, PIQ, or FIQ, $t_{max} < 0.92$, $p_{min} > .37$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.46$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.55, 1.43), were excluded from the analyses because customised Matlab routines had indicated that more than 20 % of their eyemovement data were invalid, leaving a sample of 19 TD (15 men, $M_{age} = 40.94$ years, age range: 20-61) and 20 ASD adults (16 men, $M_{age} = 40.96$ years, age range: 25-69). Groups were matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.01$, p = .94, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ (see Table 3.3).

Table 3.3

Descriptive	statistics	for	ASD	and	ΤD	participants	for	whom	eye-movement	data	were
available in l	Experimei	nt 2.									

	ASD (16m, 4f		TD (15	TD (15m, 4f)			Cohen's		
Measure	M	SD	M	SD	<i>t</i> (37)	р	d	CI	
Age (years)	40.96	13.1	40.94	13.0	0.01	1	0.00	-0.63, 0.63	
VIQ ^a	107	16.1	114	11.4	1.54	.13	0.49	-0.15, 1.12	
PIQ ^b	107	16.5	109	10.3	0.43	.67	0.14	-0.49, 0.76	
FIQ ^c	107	16.6	112	11.1	1.09	.28	0.35	-0.29, 0.98	
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	32.68	5.4	15.21	5.4	10.02 ^e	.00	3.25	2.23, 4.14	
ADOS-C ^f	2.11 (0-4)	1.2							
ADOS-RSI ^g	5.61 (3-10)	2.0							
ADOS-Total ^h	7.72 (3-12)	2.0							
ADOS-Im ⁱ	1.24 (0-2)	0.7							
ADOS-SB ^j	1.00 (0-3)	1.0							

Note. ^aVerbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^bPerformance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^ehere *t*(36) - all participants, but one ASD individual, had filled in the AQ. ^fADOS - Communication subscale. ^gADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^hADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ⁱADOS -Imagination/Creativity subscale. ^jADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. For ADOS scores, range of scores in brackets.

Eye-movement data were further investigated by splitting them up by later accuracy in the behavioural test. Six TD (four men, $M_{age} = 35.54$ years, age range: 20-53, $M_{VIQ} = 120$, $M_{PIQ} = 112$, $M_{FIQ} = 118$) and three ASD individuals (all men, $M_{age} = 34.91$ years, age range: 32-40,

 $M_{\rm VIQ} = 116$, $M_{\rm PIQ} = 122$, $M_{\rm FIQ} = 121$), who did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, $X^2_{\rm max} = 0.88$, $p_{min} = .35$, CA, VIQ, PIQ, or FIQ, $t_{\rm max} < 1.79$, $p_{\rm min} > .09$, Cohen's $d_{\rm max} < 1.13$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.20, 2.34), did not make mistakes in the behavioural test and, therefore, had to be excluded from the analysis for incorrect trials, leaving a sample of 13 TD (11 men, $M_{\rm age} = 43.43$ years, age range: 26-61) and 17 ASD (13 men, $M_{\rm age} = 42.03$ years, age range: 25-69) individuals. Groups were still matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.31$, p = .58, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{\rm max} < 1.17$, $p_{\rm min} > .25$, Cohen's $d_{\rm max} < 0.42$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.34, 1.12).

3.1.2.2 Materials

3.1.2.2.1 Object-location task

To choose object locations for the main study, 22 (six men) City, University of London undergraduate students, aged 19 to 40 years ($M_{age} = 24.37$), took part in a pilot study. Nine to 12 context-appropriate pictures of objects (e.g., a toothbrush in the bathroom), each, were presented with seven pictures of rooms (e.g., kitchen, bathroom) on a computer screen. Pictures of the rooms filled approximately 80 % of the screen, and objects were presented, one at a time, underneath the room pictures. Participants were asked to click on up to 15 different locations that they considered appropriate for each object (e.g., a toothbrush was put next to the sink, in the cabinet above the sink, or next to the bath, etc., in the bathroom). All selected locations of all participants were then superimposed on the room pictures and a 96-cell grid overlay was used to rank-order all possible object locations in terms of the frequency with which participants had endorsed them as plausible. Three locations were then selected for each object for the experiment proper – a target location, in which the object was to be presented during the learning trials, and two distracter locations for the test trials. The target location was always the location in the middle of the rank order distribution of the pilot study, while avoiding the same location for targets of different objects. One distracter

location was chosen to be ranked as more likely (but not the most likely) and the other as less likely (but not the least likely) than the target location. Objects with an insufficient number of plausible locations were excluded. Finally, adjustments were made to render all locations appropriate (e.g., a watering can was put on top of a table in the picture of the garden, instead of half way on top and half way underneath it). One room with five objects for practice trials and six rooms with eight objects each for experimental trials were selected. An overview of all rooms with their objects is provided in Table A2 in Appendix 2.

3.1.2.2.2 Object and Location recognition and source memory

In addition to the 48 objects from the object-location task, 48 new objects were presented as foil items in the *object recognition* test, making 96 coloured pictures of everyday items.

In addition to the 72 target and distracter locations for the 24 objects that participants had studied during the object-location test, 24 new locations were presented as foils in the *location recognition* test, making 96 locations in total. These 96 locations were formed by 16 locations for each of the seven rooms. Out of the 16 locations, 12 were familiar from the object-location task, i.e., four target (one for each object) and eight distracter locations (two for each object), and four were new locations (one for each object) that were chosen to be more or less likely than the target and distracter locations.

3.1.2.3 Procedure

3.1.2.3.1 Object-location task

Standard measures of memory are often criticised, because of their tendency to overestimate recollection in not taking into account automatic processes or guessing (Jacoby, Toth & Yonelinas, 1993). An alternative, the PDP, was developed by Jacoby (1991, 1998) that aimed at increasing recollection accuracy by setting recollection in relation to "informed guessing"

(so-called more automatic processes, which Yonelinas, 2002 referred to as familiarity). To do this, Jacoby et al. (1993) used *exclude* and *include* instructions and developed formulae to directly calculate the contribution of recollection and familiarity to memory performance. Under the *include* instruction, participants are asked to respond with the material they studied previously (e.g., an originally studied location for an object). A correct response is either the result of recollection (Rec in the formulae) or familiarity (F in the formulae) in case recollection fails.

$$Include = Rec + F * (1 - Rec)$$
(1)

In the *exclude* condition, participants are instructed to complete the question with a new unstudied answer (e.g., a new location for the studied object). Participants are expected to answer with the old material (e.g., the objects' old studied location), if conscious recollection fails and more automatic processes take over.

$$Exclude = F * (1 - Rec)$$
(2)

Recollection results from the difference between the proportions of old material in include and exclude conditions.

$$Rec = Include - Exclude \tag{3}$$

Familiarity is the quotient of exclude and failed recollection.

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{Exclude} / (1 - \mathbf{Rec}) \tag{4}$$

The procedure assumes that recollection and familiarity are independent, which is in line with most other models of recognition memory (Yonelinas, 2002). Recollection has been argued to occur in include and exclude conditions with equal probability, especially when the order of the presentation of the conditions is mixed (Jacoby et al., 1993). The influence of familiarity is thought to be constant in both conditions, which can be checked, empirically, by calculating FA rates (i.e., a participant indicates a new item as old). If these are similar in

both conditions, the influence of familiarity is thought to be equal. For differing levels of FAs for recollection and familiarity, procedures of correction have been developed (Roediger & McDermott, 1994). In contrast to the R/K procedure, the PDP is a more strict measure of recollection in that participants are told what to remember. If they remember something else about the material from the study phase (e.g., the thoughts they had at the time of encoding), this partial recollection is not measured with the procedure (Yonelinas, 2002). Because the original procedure (Jacoby, 1991) does not take correct guesses into account (Buchner, Erdfelder & Vaterrodt-Plunnecke, 1995), Buchner et al. (1995) and Caldwell and Masson (2001) developed means to control for them. The PDP has been used widely to measure explicit and implicit memory (e.g., David & Brown, 2003; Destrebecqz et al., 2005; Postma et al., 2008b; Hampstead et al., 2011), since there are studies suggesting a relation between conceptual implicit memory and familiarity (Wagner, Gabrieli & Verfaellie, 1997; W. C. Wang, Ranganath & Yonelinas, 2014; W. C. Wang & Yonelinas, 2012).

In the current study, the paradigm required participants to recall the locations of objects, by placing them into the previously studied locations (include trials) or in new locations (exclude trials). This procedure allowed the calculation of estimates of explicit and implicit memory (see formulae presented above).

The task was presented on a computer screen using E-Prime software. Following a familiarisation phase of five practice trials, participants were presented with 24 *study* trials in which they were asked to memorise the locations for four object pictures each in six pictures of rooms. In each trial, participants were shown a picture of a room with a red frame, highlighting a target location in the room, and an object picture presented underneath the room image, on the computer screen. Participants were asked to click on the object image (object-click; Phase 1), after which a red frame appeared around it. Next they needed to click

on the location (location-click; Phase 2), after which the object image was presented in this location for 3 s before the next trial started (object in location; Phase 3; see Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1. Examples of study phase (top) and test phase (bottom).

At *test*, which followed right after study, participants were assessed for their memory for the object locations in the rooms. The 24 originally studied objects were intermixed with 24 new objects (four per room) to control for chance performance. This time, three locations were highlighted by red frames in the room images, and participants were instructed, first, to click on the object (object-click; Phase 1), after which a red frame appeared around it, and the instructions – old location or new location – appeared on both sides of the object image.

According to the instructions, participants had to select one of the three locations by clicking on it (location-click; Phase 2), i.e., the previously studied location for old location (the include condition) or one of the two new locations for new location (the exclude condition), after which the object image appeared in the selected location for 3 s (object in location; Phase 3; see Figure 3.1), and the next trial started. Importantly, the instructions placed very similar demands on the participants in terms of retrieval effort.

At study and test, participants were asked to comment on the task by naming the objects, by reading out loud the instructions, and by describing the selected locations briefly, to ensure that they were paying full attention, and that they verbalised the materials to a similar extent. Objects were counterbalanced across the test conditions, i.e., across participants each object was tested under include and exclude conditions an equal number of times. The two sets of 24 items were counterbalanced across participants, so that half of the participants studied items from Set A and saw items from Set B as new items and vice versa for the other half of the participants. The order of trial presentation and test conditions was completely randomised.

3.1.2.3.2 Object and Location recognition and source memory tests Participants' memory for objects and locations presented in the object-location task was tested in separate recognition memory tasks, intermixing previously presented items with new materials to control for chance performance.

In the *object recognition* task, participants were presented with 96 pictures of objects, one at a time on the computer screen, and were asked to indicate whether they had seen an object previously in the object-location task, using a Yes/No procedure. For objects identified as familiar from the previous task, participants were asked to name one of the objects'

locations from the object-location task verbally to test source memory. Participants' verbal responses were audio-recorded for further analysis.

Similarly, for the *location recognition* task participants were presented with 96 images of the rooms with one location each highlighted. Participants were asked to indicate if they had seen the exact location highlighted in the object-location task, using a Yes/No procedure. For a Yes answer, participants were asked to name the object they had studied in this location previously. This source information was audio-recorded for further analysis.

Because of a recording problem during one of the testing sessions, audio-recordings were available for all participants but one ASD individual. Audio-recordings were transcribed and scored in that participants received credit for naming the correct objects or locations. Regarding the locations, participants were allowed to choose from the three locations each object was presented with during the object-location task (one target, two distracters). If there was more than one possible location that fitted the participants' description, they were given credit in the benefit of the doubt (e.g., "Some scales, yes I do remember, and I remember putting them in the middle of the floor in the bathroom."). Similarly, in seldom cases, where two objects (one from the study and one from the test set) had been placed in the same location during the task, credit was given for naming either of the two. This was the case for 16 out of the 144 possible locations (48 objects, three locations each). Groups did not differ in the number of times they named an object from the test rather than the study set, $X^2 = 3.52$, p = .47 ($N_{ASD} = 31$, $M_{ASD} = 1.29$; $N_{TD} = 26$, $M_{TD} = 1.13$).

3.1.2.3.3 Eye movements

There are different types of eye movements. In contrast to saccades, which are very fast eye movements to a point of interest, fixations are periods of relative pause between saccades, in which the eye takes in information at the sharpest point of vision, the fovea. Fixations are

typically defined as having a minimum duration of 100 ms, and they usually last between 200 - 300 ms (Hannula, Ryan, Tranel & Cohen, 2007). During fixations the eyes are, however, not static, but they show small movements (Martinez-Conde, Macknik & Hubel, 2004). Fixations take longer when a task is more difficult and the longer a task lasts, the more often the eye returns to points of interest, instead of analysing every little detail of an image. The area fixated is taken as a measure of what is attended to, and the duration of a fixation is seen as an indicator of how much time an individual needs to process the information that is attended to (Karatekin, 2007). On this basis, researchers distinguish between eye movements directed at the whole display, for example, an image of a scene, and eye movements related to specific regions of interest (ROI), defined by the experimenter, such as eye and mouth regions in a face (Hannula et al., 2010), or objects and locations for these objects in the scene image. The data is typically presented as a proportion of viewing time by dividing the time spent looking on a ROI either by the total time spent looking on the stimulus, or by the total trial duration (Hannula et al., 2010).

In the current study, eye movements were monitored throughout the object-location memory task (but not the item tests) using a Tobii TX300 eye-tracker with a sampling rate of 120 Hz. The measurement started after a standard five-point calibration procedure. After data collection, customised Matlab routines extracted the durations, latencies, and co-ordinates of all fixations lasting a minimum of 100 ms. Regarding *encoding*, total fixation durations were averaged across all trials to derive the average length of time participants spent looking at the scene, the object, and the target location. These data were then further split up by behavioural accuracy, deriving average looking times on scene, object, and target location for trials on which participants subsequently gave correct and incorrect responses at test. For *retrieval*, total fixation durations were averaged across trials to derive average looking times for the

target location and an average for the two distracter locations, separately for include and exclude test conditions and the three phases of the trial (i.e., object-click, location-click and viewing of the object in location; see Figure 3.1). The analysis focussed on Phase 2 (location-click) – the period of active retrieval – lasting from the appearance of the instructions on the screen until the selection of the location by the participant. Preliminary analysis showed that most eye movements happened in this period.

3.1.3 Results

Results were analysed using Chi-Squared tests for nominal data, independent samples t-tests, repeated measures ANOVAs and ANCOVAs, bivariate correlations, and linear regression analyses. GGC was applied in case the Sphericity assumption was violated. The significance level was chosen at .05 for all tests and post hoc tests were calculated for significant differences. Cohen's *d* and partial Eta-Squared are reported as effect size measures.

3.1.3.1 Object-location task

3.1.3.1.1 Accuracy

The proportions of times participants chose the previously studied/target locations were calculated for the include condition, where participants had been asked to click on the old location (in this case a correct answer), and for the exclude condition, where they had been asked to click on a new location (clicking on the old location would in this case have been an incorrect answer). Analysing these proportions for the 24 previously unstudied objects and their locations showed that the target and distracter locations had been chosen equally often, independent of instructions in both groups. In addition, these estimates did not differ significantly from .33, which was the expected percentage of chance target relocations for a choice of three different locations for each object (chance include: M = 0.30, SD = 0.12, t(47)

= 1.52, p = .14; chance exclude: M = 0.31, SD = 0.17, t(47) = 0.93, p = .36). Thus, all remaining analyses focussed exclusively on target relocations for the studied objects.

A 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Instruction [Include, Exclude]) repeated measures ANOVA, analysing proportions of target relocations, showed a marginal main effect of *Group*, F(1,46) = 3.61, p = .06, Cohen's d = 0.55, 95 % CI(-0.04, 1.12), with more old location clicks in the TD compared to the ASD group, and a significant main effect of *Instruction*, F(1,46) = 739.43, p < .001, Cohen's d = 6.28, 95 % CI(5.26, 7.19), with a higher number of old locations chosen in the include compared to the exclude condition. There was also a significant *Group x Instruction* interaction, F(1,46) = 4.50, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, with a higher target relocation rate in the TD (M = 0.89, SD = 0.12) compared to the ASD group (M= 0.79, SD = 0.19) in the include condition, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.64, 95 % CI(0.05, 1.21), but similar proportions of choosing the old location in the two groups for exclude ($M_{TD} =$ 0.04, $SD_{TD} = 0.07$; $M_{ASD} = 0.06$, $SD_{ASD} = 0.08$), p = .36, Cohen's d = 0.26, 95 % CI(-0.31, 0.83), (see Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2. Proportions of old location choices (target relocations) for include (old location) and exclude (new location) conditions for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

The proportions of target relocations for include and exclude conditions were used to calculate estimates of implicit and explicit memory, using the formulae by Jacoby (1991, 1998). The estimate of *Explicit* memory was determined by the difference between Include (I) and Exclude (E) proportions of target relocations.

Explicit Memory =
$$I - E$$
 (5)

Implicit memory corresponded to the quotient of Exclude target relocations and the difference between 1 and the estimate of Explicit memory.

Implicit Memory =
$$E/(1 - Explicit Memory)$$
 (6)

The data are set out in Figure 3.3. An implicit memory score was available for 17 TD and 21 ASD participants, as six TD and four ASD individuals performed perfectly in both conditions. When comparing the numbers of perfectly performing participants, there were no significant differences between groups in include (no mistakes/mistakes - TD: 8/15, ASD:

7/18; $X^2 = 0.26$, p = .61) or exclude conditions (no mistakes/mistakes - TD: 15/8, ASD: 14/11; $X^2 = 0.43$, p = .51). The data for explicit and implicit memory were analysed using separate independent samples t-tests, because the two scores had been calculated from the same values (data from inclusion and exclusion trials) and were, therefore, not independent from one another. Whereas TD (M = 0.85, SD = 0.16) compared to ASD (M = 0.73, SD = 0.23) individuals showed significantly higher *explicit memory*, t(43.20) = 2.15, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.60, 95 % CI(0.02, 1.18), no difference between groups was found for *implicit memory* ($M_{TD} = 0.26$, $SD_{TD} = 0.34$; $M_{ASD} = 0.27$, $SD_{ASD} = 0.36$), t(36) = 0.08, p = .94, Cohen's d = 0.02, 95 % CI(-0.62, 0.66), (see Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3. Estimates for explicit and implicit memory for Experiment 2, calculated from scores for include and exclude conditions according to Jacoby (1991) formulae, with explicit memory displayed for 23 TD and 25 ASD individuals and implicit memory available for 17 TD and 21 ASD individuals. The data are presented as mean <u>+</u> SEM.

To address the criticism that the Jacoby (1991) formulae do not take guess rates into account, the analyses were re-run using the multinomial model (Buchner et al., 1995) to calculate implicit and explicit memory estimates accounting for guesses. The results showed again a clear difference between groups in *explicit*, t(37.93) = 2.20, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.62, 95 % CI(0.03, 1.19), but not *implicit relational memory*, t(36) = 0.28, p = .78, Cohen's d = 0.09, 95 % CI(-0.55, 0.73).

3.1.3.1.2 Response times

Response times were analysed to ensure that eye-movement data were not confounded by systematic differences between groups in the length of encoding and retrieval phases of the task. Because of the way participants interacted with the materials of the task (i.e., naming and clicking on the object and location images), the duration of study as well as test trials was different for every participant. Table 3.4 presents response times for the two groups for encoding as well as retrieval. The duration of encoding did not differ significantly between groups, t(37) = 0.88, p = .39, Cohen's d = 0.28, 95 % CI(-0.29, 0.84). Similarly, a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Instruction [Include, Exclude]) repeated measures ANOVA for retrieval response times in Phase 2 showed no significant main effects or interactions, $F_{max} < 2.59$, $p_{min} > .10$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .07$, confirming that response times did not differ significantly between groups or conditions at retrieval.

Table 3.4

Response times in ms for the total duration of encoding and the duration of the second retrieval phase Location-click, split up by conditions for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2.

	ASD	TD
	M (SD)	M (SD)
Encoding overall	12155.54 (3989.09)	13177.93 (3242.73)
Retrieval Phase 2: Location-click		
Include condition	6982.05 (2443.45)	7658.36 (2797.07)
Exclude condition	6950.89 (2431.95)	8430.45 (2344.24)

3.1.3.1.3 Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age

Finally, because of the well-known effects of advancing age on memory (e.g., Kessels et al., 2005b), and because of the similarity between memory in autism and typical ageing (ageing analogy; Bowler, 2007), the effect of age on explicit and implicit relational memory was investigated, first, by running bivariate correlations. Table 3.5 shows that there were no significant correlations between age and explicit and implicit relational memory.

Table 3.5

Bivariate correlations between explicit and implicit relational memory scores and age for the participants of Experiment 2.

	Explicit	Implicit
age	19	15

Note. * significant at p < .05. ** significant at $p \leq .01$.

It was, however, possible that the correlation coefficients were affected by a third variable that may have influenced the relationship between explicit memory and age (Bewick et al., 2003), and this variable may have been group in that age may have had a different effect on memory in the two groups. Therefore, second, multiple linear regression analyses were performed, including Age and a Group x Age interaction term, to predict behavioural memory performance. The Group x Age interaction term explained 14.1 % of the variance, $R^2 = .14$, F(1,46) = 7.58, p = .008, and it significantly predicted explicit relational memory, $\beta = -.38$, 95 % CI(-0.01, 0.00), p < .01. Visual inspection of Figure 3.4 showed that age was a better predictor of explicit memory in the ASD as opposed to the TD group. Neither Age nor a Group x Age interaction term explained any variance in implicit relational memory.



Figure 3.4. The relationship between age and explicit location memory in Experiment 2 with a stronger age-related difference in explicit memory in ASD compared to TD participants.

3.1.3.2 Object and Location recognition and source memory tests

Corrected recognition rates (Hits minus FAs; outlined in Table 3.6) were calculated separately for *objects* participants had interacted with once, i.e., new objects participants saw at test, and objects they had been presented with twice, i.e., target objects participants saw at study and test. The data were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Repetition [1 interaction vs. 2 interactions]) repeated measures ANOVA. A significant main effect of *Repetition*, F(1,46) = 15.90, p < .001, Cohen's d = 0.69, 95 % CI(0.27, 1.09), showed that objects interacted with twice were remembered better than objects interacted with once. There was no other significant main effect or interaction, $F_{max} < 2.49$, $p_{min} > .12$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .05$. Source scores (see Table 3.6) indicated that both groups remembered similar numbers of locations for objects they had recognised from the previous task, t(38.98) = 0.24, p = .81, Cohen's d = 0.07, 95 % CI(-0.50, 0.64).

Corrected recognition rates for *locations* were split up by the number of times a participant clicked on the locations (i.e., number of interactions). The data, outlined in Table 3.6, were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 3 (Repetition [no interaction, 1 interaction, 2 interactions] repeated measures ANOVA. A significant main effect of *Repetition*, F(1.69,76.11) = 186.16, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .81$, GGC, showed that locations were remembered better with an increasing number of interactions in the object-location task (0 interactions < 1 interaction < 2 interactions), all p < .001, all Cohen's d > 0.74, 95 % CI_{min}(0.33, 1.16). No other main effect or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 0.25$, $p_{min} > .61$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .01$. Source score (see Table 3.6) analysis¹¹ showed that both groups remembered a similar number of objects for locations recognised from the object-location task, t(45) = 0.30, p = .76, Cohen's d = 0.09, 95 % CI(-0.49, 0.66).

¹¹ The direction of results for object and location recognition was the same when only the 17 TD and 21 ASD individuals for whom an implicit memory score in the object-location task was available were included.

Finally, to rule out that the large age-range and, therefore, age-related variability in the data may have obscured possible group differences, all analyses were repeated including age as a covariate. The only difference from the findings just presented was in the results for object recognition. An ANCOVA with age showed no significant main effects of Group or Repetition and no Group x Repetition interaction, $F_{max} < 2.35$, $p_{min} > .13$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .05$, for object recognition. However, a significant *Repetition x Age* interaction, F(1,45) = 7.95, p < .01, $\eta_p^2 = .15$, indicated that the older individuals in the sample were worse at learning objects over repeated presentations. A lack of main effects or interactions with the Group factor suggested that age effects operated similarly in the two groups.

Table 3.6

Corrected recognition rates for object and location recognition tasks, split up by the number of interactions with objects and locations during the object-location memory test, and source memory scores for objects and locations for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2.

	ASD	TD
Measure	M (SD)	M (SD)
Object recognition (23 TD, 25 ASD)		
1 interaction	0.88 (0.18)	0.94 (0.08)
2 interactions	0.97 (0.05)	0.99 (0.02)
Total object source score (23 TD, 24 ASD)	0.81 (0.13)	0.82 (0.08)
Location recognition (23 TD, 24 ASD)		
no interaction	0.21 (0.11)	0.17 (0.11)
1 interaction	0.50 (0.21)	0.50 (0.19)
2 interactions	0.65 (0.18)	0.63 (0.18)
Total location source score (23 TD, 24 ASD)	0.35 (0.08)	0.35 (0.07)

3.1.3.3 Correlations among behavioural tasks

As can be seen in Table 3.7, significant positive correlations were found among explicit relational memory and object and location recognition, and source scores. There were no significant correlations between implicit memory and any of the other measures.

Table 3.7

Bivariate correlations among explicit and implicit relational memory scores for the objectlocation task, corrected object and location recognition rates, and object and location source scores from Experiment 2.

					Object	Location
	Explicit	Implicit	Object	Location	source	source
Explicit	1	.04	.59**	.52**	.52**	.49**
Implicit		1	06	.12	09	11
Object			1	.35*	.49**	.21
Location				1	.34*	.68**
Object source					1	.55**
Location source						1

Note. * significant at p < .05. ** significant at $p \le .01$.

3.1.3.4 Eye movements during the object-location task

3.1.3.4.1 Encoding

3.1.3.4.1.1 Overall

The data, presented in Figure 3.5, were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 3 (ROI [Object, Scene, Location]) repeated measures ANOVA. This showed a significant main effect of *ROI*, F(1.72,63.44) = 80.80, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .69$, GGC, with (marginally) longer average

fixations at the Scene compared to the Location, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.46, 95 % CI(0.95, 1.95), compared to the Object, p = .05, Cohen's d = 0.34, 95 % CI(-0.11, 0.78). There was no main effect of Group or Group x ROI interaction, $F_{\text{max}} < 2.08$, $p_{\text{min}} > .13$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .06$.



Figure 3.5. Average fixation duration in ms on ROIs during encoding of Experiment 2 for ASD and TD groups. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

3.1.3.4.1.2 Eye-movement data sorted according to behavioural accuracy To avoid a loss of eye-movement data because of ceiling effects in the behavioural memory data, separate 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 3 (ROI [Object, Scene, Location]) repeated measures ANOVAs were run for eye-movement data corresponding to correct and incorrect behavioural responses.

3.1.3.4.1.2.1 Data for correct trials

Eye-movement data for behaviourally correct trials are presented in Figure 3.6. Similarly to the analysis of all data (see Section 3.1.3.4.1.1), a significant main effect of *ROI*, F(2,74) = 76.91, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .68$, with longer average fixations at the Scene compared to Object
and Location, $p_{max} < .0001$, Cohen's $d_{min} = 1.46$, 95 % CI_{min}(0.95, 1.94), was found. There was no main effect of Group or Group x ROI interaction, $F_{max} < 1.66$, $p_{min} > .19$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .05$.



Figure 3.6. Average fixation duration in ms on ROIs during encoding for behaviourally correct trials for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

3.1.3.4.1.2.2 Data for incorrect trials

The analysis for incorrect data (presented in Figure 3.7) showed significant main effects of *Group*, F(1,28) = 6.58, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.95, 95 % CI(0.16, 1.68), with shorter average fixations for the ASD compared to the TD group, and *ROI*, F(1.65,46.25) = 27.62, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .50$, GGC, with longer average fixations at the Scene compared to the Location compared to the Object, $p_{max} < .01$, Cohen's $d_{min} = 0.78$, 95 % CI_{min}(0.25, 1.30). A significant *Group x ROI* interaction, F(1.65,46.25) = 4.15, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .13$, GGC, showed that the ASD group fixated on average (marginally) less on the Scene ($M_{ASD} = 4254.85$, $SD_{ASD} = 1252.84$; $M_{TD} = 5694.55$, $SD_{TD} = 2825.49$), p = .05, Cohen's d = 0.74, 95 % CI(-0.02, 1.46), and the

Location ($M_{ASD} = 2592.72$, $SD_{ASD} = 836.36$; $M_{TD} = 4248.14$, $SD_{TD} = 1085.09$), p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.85, 95 % CI(0.95, 2.66), compared to the TD group.



Figure 3.7. Average fixation duration in ms on ROIs during encoding for behaviourally incorrect trials for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

3.1.3.4.2 Retrieval

3.1.3.4.2.1 Overall

To investigate differences in eye movements between the three phases of the test, the data were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 3 (Phase [Object-click, Location-click, Object in Location]) x 2 (Instruction [Include, Exclude]) x 2 (ROI [Target, Distracter]) repeated measures ANOVA, which showed a significant main effect of *Phase*, F(1.19,44.04) = 227.66, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .86$, GGC, with the longest average fixations (in ms) in Location-click (M = 1156.50, SD = 405.77) compared to Object-click (M = 129.56, SD = 93.56) and Object in Location (M = 349.58, SD = 107.18), all p < .001, all Cohen's d > 2.18, 95 %

 $CI_{min}(1.61, 2.72)$. Therefore, all further analyses were run focussing on Location-click, which was also theoretically the phase of most interest as it corresponds to the time period of seeing the instructions and deciding which location to click on.

3.1.3.4.2.2 Retrieval Phase 2 - Location-click

The data, presented in Figure 3.8, were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Instruction [Include, Exclude]) x 2 (ROI [Target, Distracter]) repeated measures ANOVA. This showed significant main effects of *Instruction*, F(1,37) = 37.02, p < .001, Cohen's d = 0.80, 95 % CI(0.34, 1.26) and ROI, F(1,37) = 65.06, p < .001, Cohen's d = 1.07, 95 % CI(0.59, 1.54), with longer fixations during the Include compared to the Exclude conditions, and longer fixations on the Target compared to the Distracter locations. A significant Instruction x ROI interaction, F(1,37) = 144.37, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .80$, showed longer fixations on the Target compared to the Distracter locations for Include trials, and longer fixations for Distracter compared to the Target location for Exclude trials, all p < .001, all Cohen's d > 1.65, 95 % CI_{min}(1.13, 2.16). This interaction was expected given that the correct response during Include trials was the Target location, whereas during Exclude trials it was one of the Distracter locations. Of more interest was the observation of a significant three-way Group x Instruction x ROI interaction, F(1,37) = 6.80, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .16$, with a non-significant trend for shorter fixations on the Target location under the Include instruction for the ASD (M =1883.35, SD = 807.25) compared to the TD group (M = 2398.54, SD = 1037.27), p = .09, Cohen's d = 0.56, 95 % CI(-0.09, 1.18), and significantly shorter fixations on the Distracter location under the Exclude instruction for the ASD (M = 1142.72, SD = 371.07) compared to the TD group (M = 1465.94, SD = 542.77), p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.70, 95 % CI(0.04, 1.33). No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.79$, $p_{\text{min}} > .18$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .05$, including the main effect of Group.



Figure 3.8. Average fixation duration in ms during retrieval Phase 2 (Location-click) for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2, sorted by Instructions (Include - Old location; Exclude - New location) and ROIs. The data are presented as mean <u>+</u> SEM.

3.1.3.4.2.3 Fixations on test trials presenting unstudied objects and their locations

To confirm that the above reported differences between conditions and groups reflect memory phenomena rather than differences caused by instructions, the participants' intention to select a certain image, or mere chance performance, fixations on target and distracter locations on include and exclude trials presenting unstudied objects and their locations (Figure 3.9) were examined using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Instruction [Include, Exclude]) x 2 (ROI [Target, Distracter]) repeated measures ANOVA. This showed a significant main effect of *Instruction*, F(1,37) = 7.09, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.23, 95 % CI(-0.21, 0.68), with longer fixations on Include as opposed to Exclude trials, which may have just reflected participants effort in trying to remember whether they had previously studied a location for this object. No other main effects or interaction were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.37$, $p_{\text{min}} > .24$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .04$.



Figure 3.9. Average fixation duration in ms during retrieval Phase 2 (Location-click) for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2, sorted by Instructions (Include - Old location; Exclude - New location) and ROIs for unstudied trials controlling for chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

3.1.3.5 Correlations among behavioural and eye-movement data

3.1.3.5.1 Eye movements at encoding

To establish the extent to which fixation durations at encoding on Object, Scene, and Location may have contributed to later explicit and implicit memory¹² in the object-location memory task, bivariate correlations were calculated (Table 3.8). Fixation duration on the Scene at encoding was significantly positively related to subsequent implicit memory, in that

¹² Analysing explicit and implicit relational memory for the reduced sample of participants for whom eyemovement data were available, led to the same results as the ones reported above.

the longer the Scene was fixated at encoding, the better later implicit memory was, which was especially the case for the TD group.

Table 3.8

Bivariate correlations between fixation duration at encoding and subsequent explicit and implicit relational memory in Experiment 2.

	Fixation Object			Fix	ation Sce	ene	Fixation Location			
	ASD	ASD TD Total		ASD	TD	Total	ASD	TD	Total	
Explicit	.12	43	04	.28	39	.17	.15	.00	.18	
Implicit	21	.34	.10	.02	.02 .69**		40	.39	.04	

Note. *significant at p < .05. **significant at $p \leq .01$.

3.1.3.5.2 Eye movements at retrieval

To confirm that fixation durations at retrieval reflect a real memory phenomenon, eye movements were set in relation to behavioural data. Figure 3.10 plots the difference in fixation durations between target and distracter locations for the include condition against the proportion of times participants selected the target location as their answer in the include condition (correct behavioural response). The strong correlation between these variables (r = .49; p < .01; $r_{ASD} = .56$; $p_{ASD} < .05$; $r_{TD} = .25$; $p_{TD} = .31$) confirmed that eye-tracking data during retrieval provide valuable insight into memory processes. Further examination of relevant correlations within conditions (see Table 3.9) showed that, under both, include and exclude instructions, the proportion of times participants selected the target location was positively related to the fixation duration on that location. Conversely, fixation durations on distracter locations were negatively associated with the proportion of target location choices, although this was statistically reliable only for the include, but not the exclude condition.

Finally, actively retrieving the correct location was negatively related to fixation duration on the distracter under the include condition, and unconscious memory for the target location was positively related to fixation duration on the target under the exclude condition. Overall these data showed that participants' tendency to choose previously studied object locations was related to how much they attended to such locations, and to how much they averted attention from distracter locations.



Figure 3.10. Association between the proportion of target relocations for the include condition and the difference in fixation durations between the target and distracter locations for include. The correlation illustrates that a greater propensity to look at the target vs. the distracter locations was related to the retrieval of the target location in the overt behavioural response.

Table 3.9

Bivariate correlations among behavioural and eye-movement data at retrieval in Experiment 2.

	Include-Tar ^a	Include-Dis ^b	Exclude-Tar ^c	Exclude-Dis ^d
Include ^e	.32*	43**	02	.17
Exclude ^f	06	.09	.34*	18
Explicit	.29+	39*	14	.21
Implicit	.15	21	.36*	12

Note. ^aDuration of fixation on the target location under the include condition. ^bDuration of fixation on the distracter location under the include condition. ^cDuration of fixation on the target location under the exclude condition. ^dDuration of fixation on the distracter location under the exclude condition. ^dDuration of fixation on the distracter location under the exclude condition. ^eProportion of target relocations under the include condition. ^fProportion of target relocations under the exclude condition. ^fP < .1. *significant at *p* < .05.

Similar results were obtained when investigating correlations among behavioural memory accuracy and eye-movement data separately for the two groups (see Table 3.10).

Table 3.10

Bivariate correlations among behavioural and eye-movement data at retrieval separately for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 2.

	Include-Tar ^a		Includ	le-Dis ^b	Exclud	le-Tar ^c	Exclude-Dis ^d		
	ASD	TD	ASD	TD	ASD	TD	ASD	TD	
Include ^e	.28	.23	53*	.01	04	.17	01	.08	
Exclude ^f	28	.28	01	.26	.23	.54*	55*	.25	
Explicit	.33	.03	42+	14	12	17	.20	08	
Implicit	08	.31	39	.13	.20	.62*	64**	.13	

Note. ^aDuration of fixation on the target location under the include condition. ^bDuration of fixation on the distracter location under the include condition. ^cDuration of fixation on the target location under the exclude condition. ^dDuration of fixation on the distracter location under the exclude condition. ^dDuration of fixation on the distracter location under the exclude condition. ^eProportion of target relocations under the include condition. ^fProportion of target relocation. ⁺*p* < .1. *significant at *p* < .05. **significant at *p* ≤ .01.

3.1.4 Discussion

The aim of the present study was to compare systematically explicit and implicit memory for relational daily life material using an externally validated paradigm, which enabled the assessment of both types of memory within the same task using similar instructions and the same processing requirements. Additional item memory tasks served to assess if item memory difficulties may contribute to relational memory difficulties in ASD. Through the measurement of eye movements it was aimed to bridge the gap between the distinctions of explicit and inplicit and item and relational memory research in ASD, and to find out whether ASD individuals' relational memory difficulties are restricted to explicit retrieval in

direct tests, or whether the difficulties in ASD expand to implicit relational memory and are, therefore, also apparent in indirect tests. Identifying eye movements as a suitable measure of relational memory difficulties in ASD is of more general interest as these may be of potential use in a wider population of ASD individuals. Eye movements were also recorded to investigate the role of attention during encoding and to assess whether processing styles of ASD individuals may be related to memory difficulties. Finally, preliminary analyses were run to investigate the effect of age on explicit and implicit relational memory in both groups.

The task involved participants studying locations for objects in rooms, followed by a test of their memory for the objects' location, and them recognising objects and locations separately. Source memory tests were included examining recall of locations for remembered objects, and objects for remembered locations. It was predicted that, similar to TD OA, ASD individuals would show particular difficulties in explicit but not implicit relational memory in their behavioural responses. In addition, intact item and source memory performance was predicted for ASD individuals on object and location recognition tests, because these were supported tests for material that had been studied intentionally. Further, it was predicted that retrieval eye movements would show relational memory difficulties that would also be apparent in implicit relational memory, and that potential attention and scanning pattern differences between groups at encoding, as measured by eye movements, would contribute to a relational memory impairment in ASD.

The first prediction was supported. When looking at behavioural responses, ASD individuals showed lower explicit *relational* memory for the object locations in the presence of intact implicit relational memory. More specifically, ASD participants showed particular difficulties in placing an object into its previously studied old location, when presented with a choice of three locations. However, no difficulties occurred for choosing a new location for

the object. This finding confirmed previous results showing particular difficulties with explicit memory in ASD (Bowler et al., 1997; Gardiner et al., 2003; Renner et al., 2000), and extended them to relational material. It was also in line with findings in TD OA, showing difficulties with explicit but not implicit relational memory using the same task (Kessels et al., 2005b), supporting the ageing analogy of memory functioning in ASD (Bowler, 2007).

Regarding *item* memory, groups neither differed in object and location recognition, nor did they differ in source memory. These findings were in line with the relational memory account (Bowler et al., 2011), which predicts differences, specifically, for relational material in ASD. Considering the overall recognition memory deficit in ASD from Experiment 1, the current result of intact recognition memory seemed surprising. However, the recognition memory difference found in Experiment 1 resulted, particularly, from difficulties in Remembering in ASD, which relies on retrieving relational information, while Knowing in ASD was intact in Experiment 1. Although recollection and familiarity are both involved in R responses (Wais et al., 2008), these typically reflect responses largely based on recollection (Wixted & Mikes, 2010). Whereas in Yes/No tests, such as the item tests used in the current study, recollection and familiarity contribute similarly to a response, therefore, showing more intact performance in ASD (Yonelinas, 1999). Further, even source memory judgements that typically rely on recollection, are possible solely based on familiarity (Yonelinas, 1999). In addition, in the current study object, location recognition, and source memory were always tested after the object-location memory task, which may have prompted individuals to remember item and source information. This indicates task support, which has previously been reported to enable ASD individuals to perform better in memory tests (e.g., Bowler et al., 1997; 2004; 2008; O'Shea et al., 2005). More task support was provided in that recognition memory tasks (see also Section 1.4.1.3) had been used, and participants had been instructed to study the requested information (locations for the object and objects for the location task - intentional encoding). Both would have improved task performance (Bowler et al., 2004; Souchay et al., 2013). Finally, as opposed to Experiment 1, where participants were instructed to remember any kind of context information, participants had been instructed, specifically, which information to report as source information for the current study, making the task potentially easier for them and increasing task performance for ASD individuals.

Difficulties with relational memory for the ASD group were also reflected in eye movements at *retrieval*, confirming the second prediction and showing that relational memory difficulties in ASD expand to implicit memory. ASD compared to TD participants showed shorter fixations on the locations they had to choose according to the instructions (target for include and distracter for exclude), indicating reduced memory for previously studied object-location relations through a reduced eye-movement-based relational memory effect (Althoff & Cohen, 1999; Ryan et al., 2007). This finding was in line with previous findings of impaired relational memory in ASD (e.g., Bennetto et al., 1996; Bigham et al., 2010; Bowler et al., 2014; Cooper et al., 2015; Gaigg et al., 2014; Poirier et al., 2011), which were now replicated with measures acting outside of conscious awareness. There were a number of observations that increased confidence in the conclusion that the differences between groups in eye movements at retrieval reflect real memory phenomena. Most importantly, there were significant correlations between behavioural data and fixation durations, for example, fixating the target as opposed to the distracter locations was significantly related to choosing the target location behaviourally. In addition, between-group differences in eye movements at retrieval were only found for previously studied items, confirming that the differences were not caused by instruction, intention, or chance. Further, similar response times for encoding and retrieval phases in the two groups and an absence of a between-group difference for overall fixation duration suggest that the differences between conditions were not caused by longer encoding or retrieval in one group or an overall different quantity of eye movements. In addition, despite the differences between groups in the relational memory eye-movement effect, it was possible to find meaningful differences between conditions, in that both groups looked longer at the locations they were asked to choose compared to other locations, indicating that they understood the instructions and remembered the studied material. Therefore, it seems reasonable to argue that the measurement of eye movements is a useful technology for the study of cognitive processes such as memory in ASD. The technique is innovative and can be of great help to develop paradigms to find out more about cognitive functions in under-researched ASD populations, such as ID and/or minimally verbal individuals, who form the majority of individuals with the disorder (Baird et al., 2006). Moreover, using this technology may make it possible to investigate the development of cognitive functions such as memory in very young individuals with ASD.

Regarding *encoding*, the prediction was supported when looking at trials where participants made behavioural mistakes. As well as shorter overall fixation duration in the ASD group, a bias in the processing of specific information was found for ASD individuals in that they looked less at the relevant, i.e., the objects' location, and context information, i.e., the scene, which was in line with the finding from Loth et al. (2011), showing reduced attention to relevant details at encoding. When looking at the relation between fixation duration at encoding and subsequent explicit and implicit relational memory, it was found that implicit memory was positively related to fixation duration on the scene. It is possible that the reduced relational processing of the scene context in ASD may have contributed to impaired implicit relational memory, discovered through eye movements at retrieval.

From a memory point of view, these data added to a growing body of literature suggesting that next to the well-established differences in retrieval in ASD, differences during encoding contribute to the encountered memory difficulties. Differences in encoding in ASD have been reported previously in the context of item vs. relational strategies in behavioural memory tasks (Bowler et al., 2009; 2010; Gaigg et al., 2008; Southwick et al., 2011), and in brain activation during encoding (Gaigg et al., 2015). Alternatively or in addition, it may have been less the case that ASD individuals show difficulties in encoding material, but rather that because of a different attentional focus the information is put into the system in a different way. This interpretation fits with a bias to focus on local (detail) information, leaving the global context less attended to (WCC; Happé & Frith, 2006). Regarding this processing bias it is, however, important to note that ASD individuals have been found to be sensitive to global information despite a preference for details (Koldewyn et al., 2013; L. Wang et al., 2007). Similarly, the same individuals that showed a local bias in one task presented coexisting intact global performance in another task (Hadad & Ziv, 2015; Plaisted et al., 1999; Rondan & Deruelle, 2007). For processing faces it has been found that it was possible to train ASD individuals to use a global processing style in favour of a local style (Chabani & Hommel, 2014). These findings led Plaisted et al. (1999) to conclude that ASD individuals seem to need explicit instructions in order to process information globally. This is an argument that is in line with the task support hypothesis (Bowler et al., 1997), which states that with the provision of task support, for example, specific encoding instructions, ASD individuals are able to show better performance. It, therefore, remains an important task for future research to test whether, providing specific task instructions that change the attentional focus of ASD individuals to guide their attention to the relevant information, their memory difficulties can be overcome or whether memory difficulties remain despite attentional guidance.

The data just reviewed, taken together with correlations among behavioural tasks, enable speculations about underlying brain regions. Correlations among explicit memory tasks may reflect the dependence on similar brain regions, such as the hippocampus for object-location and source memory (Cansino, Maquet, Dolan & Rugg, 2002; Postma et al., 2008b), the PFC for recognition and source memory, and the parietal cortex for recognition and object-location memory (Postma et al., 2008b). The expression of memory in eye movements has been found to be related to activity in the hippocampus and PFC (Hannula & Ranganath, 2009), and attentional processes underlying differences found in eye movements during encoding, were found to be related to functions of the MTL, PFC, as well as the parietal cortex (Cabeza et al., 2008). Even unconscious relational encoding has recently been found to be a function of the hippocampus (Duss et al., 2014). In line with the ageing analogy (Bowler, 2007), abnormalities in fronto-hippocampal functions have been shown in both TD OA (Hedden & Gabrieli, 2004), as well as ASD (Gaigg et al., 2015), which may be involved in their relational memory difficulties. Inspecting behavioural findings, TD OA showed difficulties in both conditions of the object-location memory task (Kessels, et al., 2005b), whereas ASD individuals in the present study struggled with the include condition only. A ceiling effect in the current study may have masked a between-group difference in exclude trials. However, it is also possible that memory difficulties in ASD are less pronounced than those in TD OA (as suggested by Boucher, Mayes & Bigham, 2012; Bowler et al., 2010), which was already suggested by Experiment 1, where age had a slightly stronger effect on TD as opposed to ASD individuals memory. It is also possible, that memory difficulties and the effects of age on memory are more pronounced in ASD than in TD OA and the finding of intact source memory in ASD in the current study may reflect a compensatory mechanism. Since source memory has also been found to depend on frontal lobe functions (Craik, Morris, Morris & Loewen, 1990), ASD individuals may recruit these to overcome difficulties related to hippocampal dysfunction (as already suggested by Maister et al., 2013). This may be possible because (memory) atypicalities in ASD result from an atypical developmental trajectory, where connections between brain regions get formed differently, whereas dysfunction in TD OA and patients with hippocampal damage occur after a period of typical development. In line with the idea of more pronounced memory difficulties in ASD with age was the finding from the exploratory regression analysis in the current study, showing that explicit memory was much more affected by age in ASD as opposed to TD individuals. This observation was in line with the *double jeopardy* hypothesis (Geurts & Vissers, 2012), and the fact that when followed up longitudinally, 25 % of ASD individuals' cognitive functions declined to such an extent that it prevented them from taking part in further research (Howlin, Savage, Moss, Tempier & Rutter, 2014). It contradicted, however, the results form Experiment 1 and another recent study (Lever & Geurts, 2016), showing a reduced effect of age on memory in ASD. There are a few possible explanations. It is possible that slightly different groups of participants were recruited for Experiments 1 and 2, and that the ASD group in the current experiment was, particularly, vulnerable to the effects of age on memory. This interpretation seems, however, unlikely since the ASD groups recruited for both experiments were rather similar in variables, such as IQ, age, gender, AQ, and ADOS. A more likely explanation is that a ceiling effect in the current study in the TD group may have obscured the effects of age on TD individuals' memory performance. The biggest difference between the memory results in Experiment 1 and the current study was the fact that in the current study younger ASD and TD individuals performed similarly, and only the older individuals in both groups differed, whereas in Experiment 1, younger ASD individuals already performed at a much lower level than younger TD individuals. To conclude, more research is needed into the effects of age on memory and other cognitive functions in ASD. Taking the behavioural and eye-movement findings together, they further added to Maister et al. (2013)'s suggestion to consider the involvement of hippocampus, PFC, and parietal cortex in the cognitive and memory difficulties in ASD. Abnormalities in these brain regions may, however, differ from those observed in other disorders.

Some final comments are needed about the methods used in this study. The conclusions of the present study rely heavily on the PDP (Jacoby, 1991), which has attracted some criticism. First, using the PDP in within-subject comparisons would be problematic because participants performing perfectly in include and exclude conditions would lead to an underestimation of the explicit memory component (Buchner et al., 1995), which may be avoided by dropping perfectly performing participants from the analysis. Doing this in the current study, left the results unchanged. Second, Graf and Komatsu (1994) suggested the complexity of the include and exclude instructions may make it difficult for participants to perform them after one another within one test phase. To reduce difficulties, participants in the current study were asked to read out loud the instructions for every trial to ensure that they followed them and were paying attention. Third, Buchner et al. (1995) argued that calculating explicit and implicit memory scores from only a few values would create high standard errors for every participant, masking between-group differences. However, a substantial effect was still found in the current study. Fourth, two other criticisms of the PDP relate to the assumption that implicit and explicit memory are working independently of one another (Curran & Hintzman, 1995), and that the original procedure does not take correct guesses into account (Buchner et al., 1995). To face both criticisms a multinomial model was

devised (Buchner et al., 1995; Caldwell & Masson, 2001), and applying this to the data reported in the current study left the results unchanged.

Finally, the sample size may be regarded as small and the number of analyses performed may have increased the risk of Type I errors. In addition, the interpretation of the behavioural results was hampered by ceiling and floor performance in some individuals. The use of eye-movement measures helped to overcome problems of ceiling and floor effects, and difficulties in implicit relational memory in ASD were found that were not established with behavioural measures. However, further research is needed to replicate the findings of this study.

Overall, the present study extends our understanding of reduced relational memory in ASD by showing that difficulties expand to the area of implicit memory. Differences in relational memory retrieval seem to be accompanied by differences in encoding that are guided by attentional processes biasing ASD individuals' focus away from relevant and context information. Both, Experiments 1 and 2, have highlighted the utility of eye-movement and pupil size measures in studying cognitive processes in ASD. These measures should, therefore, be considered more often when testing cognitive functions in ASD, especially because their use requires minimal verbal instructions, enabling the use in a broader ASD population. A few questions remain unanswered. These will be tackled in the next experiment. It is unclear what role the factors of language and previous experience with daily objects and their locations in participants' homes may have played in the current study. Also uncertain is which other relations are difficult for ASD individuals, and which relation(s) are most difficult. And finally, it is of interest to examine whether item memory remains intact when tested with a task of similar complexity as a relational memory task and if such an investigation resolves the discrepancies between Experiments 1 and 2.

3.2 Experiment 3: Relational memory for location, temporal order and set

3.2.1 Introduction

3.2.1.1 Theoretical background

Regarding the distinction between *item* memory, which concerns memory for single units of material with one meaning (Cohen et al., 1997) and relational memory, which constitutes memory for contextual information, such as time, place, or relations among items (Davachi, 2006; Sections 1.3.2, 3.1.1.1), Experiment 2 found specific difficulties with relational memory and intact item memory in ASD compared to TD individuals. Most previous research reported intact item memory. However, some previous studies also reported difficulties in item memory in ASD as opposed to TD (Bowler et al., 2004, 2016; Cooper et al., 2015; Semino et al., in preparation), for example, when less support was provided at test, or when participants needed to use meaning that was inherent in the study materials (see Section 1.4.1.3). Relational memory has been reported more difficult for ASD as opposed to TD individuals, such as remembering the locations (Bowler et al., 2004, 2014; Cooper et al., 2015; Semino et al., in preparation; Experiment 2), colours (Massand & Bowler, 2015), temporal order (Bennetto et al., 1996; Bigham et al., 2010; Bowler et al., 2016; Gaigg et al., 2014; Ni Chuileann & Quigley, 2013; Poirier et al., 2011), or lists items were presented in at study (Bennetto et al., 1996; Minshew & Goldstein, 1993). Only two previous studies have compared different types of relational memory directly in ASD. Both found similar ASDrelated difficulties for remembering screen-locations or the gender of a speaker presenting words (Bowler et al., 2004), and for colours or locations of line drawings that were presented in a grid on a computer screen (Bowler et al., 2014). The question remains whether remembering other relations, such as the temporal order of presentation, or which items were presented together in a set at study, is similarly difficult as these other relations for ASD participants.

What remains problematic when comparing research on item and relational memory is that item memory tests usually involve the judgement whether a single item was studied previously or is new to the participant, whereas relational memory tests require a judgement if multiple items were studied in a particular configuration or not. Relational compared to item memory tests have, therefore, higher processing requirements because of the number of discrete units of information presented to the participant and the number of relations that need to be formed among these units, which is problematic for a direct comparison between item and relational memory, especially if one considers ASD as a disorder of complex information processing (Minshew & Goldstein, 1998). Inconsistencies in the literature on item memory may, therefore, be related to the factor of relational processing requirements in that some item memory tasks place higher demands on relational processing than others do. To resolve this issue, systematic investigations of item and relational memory are needed using tasks that place similar demands on relational processing.

There are six existing investigations comparing item and relational memory in ASD within the same task. These show inconsistent results. Whereas Bowler et al. (2014) found intact memory for items, i.e., pictures, colours, locations, but difficulties remembering the combinations, i.e., items in colours, items in locations, Massand (2011, Experiment 5) found similar difficulties for remembering line-drawings as well as their colours. Although the main effect of group in Massand (2011) only came close to significance, effect sizes for the group differences in item and relational tasks were similarly large. Similar difficulties in ASD were found for remembering pictures of daily objects (Semino et al., in preparation) or words (Bowler et al., 2004), and their screen locations or the gender of the speaker that presented

words at study (Bowler et al., 2004). Bowler et al. (2016) recently reported similar difficulties in remembering locations for dots in a grid as well as the temporal order of their presentation. Finally, Cooper et al. (2015) found similar difficulties in item and relational memory tests by changing items or locations for an item in a scene. Therefore, most previous studies would suggest similar difficulties in item as well as relational memory in ASD when tasks are used that place similar requirements on relational processing.

However, none of these previous studies has considered the influence of the use of different materials or other factors such as language on memory. As has been shown in Experiment 1, memory for pictorial material is superior over memory for verbal material in ASD, similarly as it is in TD individuals. All of the investigations just described (except Bowler et al., 2016) used either verbal materials or pictures with verbal labels and, as such, were potentially confounded by language abilities (e.g., Baird et al., 2006), and verbal strategies such as the use of sub-vocal and inner speech strategies (D. M. Williams et al., 2012) that have previously been reported to differ between groups. In addition, previous experience with the studied materials may have differed between groups, which would not be the case had novel abstract shape images been used.

In a direct comparison between memory for items and different types of relations (serial order, spatial locations, item-associations) in patients with hippocampal as well as wider MTL lesions (Konkel, Warren, Duff, Tranel & Cohen, 2008), similar difficulties in different types of relational memory were found for patients as opposed to control participants. In addition, while patients with hippocampal lesions performed at chance on the three relational memory tests, they performed above chance on the item memory test, albeit at a significantly lower level than the TD group. Patients with MTL lesions performed at chance on all tasks (Konkel et al., 2008). Following Konkel and Cohen (2009), different types of

relational memory should be similarly difficult since they rely to the same extent on the same brain region, namely the hippocampus.

Having reviewed the relevant literature, the aims for the current study were the following. First, it was aimed to compare different types of relational memory in ASD using the same paradigm. In addition, it was of interest to compare relational memory to memory for items using the same paradigm placing the same demands on relational processing. Through the use of abstract shape images, it was aimed to minimise the influence of language and previous experiences with the study materials on memory in the current study. Third, it was aimed to examine the criteria on which both groups of participants base their recognition memory judgements. Finally, the examination of the effects of age on item and relational memory in ASD and TD individuals was of interest.

Based on these aims, a paradigm was chosen that had been developed, specifically, to examine item as well as different types of relational memory using the same procedure (Konkel et al., 2008). The task required participants to study abstract shape triplets, as well as their relations. Each shape of a triplet was presented in a specific screen location, shapes were presented in a specific order, and three shapes formed a set of shapes. At test, memory for the shapes, the spatial locations, the temporal order, or the sets of shape presentation was tested using separate item and relational tests, either manipulating which items were presented on the screen or the relations among the items, or keeping them the same as at study. Participants were asked to indicate whether the items or the relations were the same as at study or whether they had changed.

To test the aims, corrected recognition rates were examined. If ASD individuals show difficulties with relational memory, they will show reduced memory performance in the relational tasks as opposed to TD individuals. In addition, there will be no significant difference in performance between the different relational memory tasks. If ASD individuals show intact item memory, they will not show reduced performance on the item task. However, if ASD participants struggle, particularly, with the relational processing requirements of the task, also item memory should be reduced compared to TD participants. To follow the third aim, FA rates, sensitivity, and response criteria were examined. If, similarly to Experiment 1, ASD participants show difficulties in distinguishing between old and new materials, they will show higher FAs, lower sensitivity and response criteria compared to TD participants. Finally, regarding the effect of age on memory, if ASD individuals' memory is similarly affected by age as that of TD individuals, persons with ASD will show effects of age on relational but not item memory.

3.2.1.2 Predictions

Based on the evidence outline above, it was predicted that ASD individuals would show particular difficulties with the relational memory tasks. The same predictions would follow from theories suggesting a relation between memory difficulties in ASD and hippocampal pathology (see Section 1.4.2.1), which would suggest that ASD participants would perform similarly to hippocampal lesioned patients (Konkel et al., 2008). Because of the inconsistencies found in Experiments 1 and 2 regarding the effect of age on memory in ASD and TD individuals, and because of the lack of findings on memory in TD OA with a paradigm such as the one used by Konkel et al. (2008), it was of interest to explore the effects of (older) age on item and relational memory in this study. Possible outcomes were stronger (*double jeopardy* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Experiment 2), weaker (*safeguard hypothesis* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Lever & Geurts, 2016; Experiment 1), or similar (*parallel development* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012) age-related memory differences in ASD compared to TD adults in the current study.

3.2.2 Methods

3.2.2.1 Participants

Konkel et al. (2008) tested 10 control participants and seven amnesic patients, four with hippocampal lesions and three with a lesion to the wider MTL. Based on the data for control participants and hippocampal patients provided by A. Konkel (personal communication, August 8, 2016), power calculation using G*Power (Faul et al., 2007) showed that to detect a significant Group x Task interaction with an effect size of f = 0.57 and a statistical power of 0.90, a total sample size of eight participants would be needed. To increase statistical power because ASD samples are often heterogeneous, 18 TD (14 men, $M_{age} = 43.48$ years, age range: 23-61 years) and 18 ASD adults (13 men, $M_{age} = 42.78$ years, age range: 20-62 years) were tested. They were individually matched on VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, as measured by the WAIS-III^{UK} (The Psychological Corporation, 2000). Groups were closely matched on gender, and CA, and ASD individuals had significantly higher scores on the AQ (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; see Table 3.11).

Table 3.11

	ASD (13	m, 5f)	TD (14	4m, 4f)			Cohen's	
Measure	M	SD	M	SD	t(34)	р	d	CI
Age (years)	42.78	11.8	43.48	13.0	0.17	.87	0.06	-0.60, 0.71
VIQ ^a	109	15.8	111	15.6	0.47	.64	0.13	-0.50, 0.81
PIQ ^b	104	20.1	105	18.0	0.06	.95	0.05	-0.63, 0.67
FIQ ^c	108	17.9	109	17.2	0.29	.77	0.06	-0.56, 0.75
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	33.56	7.0	15.28	6.7	7.99	.00	2.66	1.72, 3.49
ADOS-C ^e	2.60 (0-6)	1.6						
ADOS-RSI ^f	6.00 (1-13)	3.3						
ADOS-Total ^g	8.60 (3-17)	4.1						
ADOS-I ^h	1.27 (0-2)	0.8						
ADOS-SB ⁱ	1.2 (0-3)	0.9						

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in Experiment 3.

Note. ^aVerbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^bPerformance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^eADOS - Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. For ADOS scores, range of scores in brackets.

Time permitted to examine 15 ASD participants with the ADOS (Lord et al., 1989). Five of these scored just below the total cut off-score, but were nevertheless included in the sample since they all had received a clinical diagnosis of an ASD before the study. Because comorbidities and medication use were found to be a common feature of the disorder (Croen et al., 2015; Esbensen et al., 2009; Section 2.1.2.1), ASD individuals that reported comorbid

disorders and/or taking psychotropic medication were included in the sample. In the current study, 17 % of ASD participants reported comorbidities and/or psychotropic medication use. Depression (67 %), ADHD (33 %), OCD (33 %), schizophrenia (33 %), and dyslexia (33 %) were most common. In addition, 33 % of ASD participants took antidepressants, and 33 % reported taking antipsychotic medication. ASD individuals with and without comorbidities and medication use did not differ significantly in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.06$, p = .81, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 0.79$, $p_{min} > .44$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.48$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.78, 1.72). Again, analysing the data without ASD individuals that reported comorbidities and/or medication use left the results reported below unaffected.

3.2.2.2 Materials

Materials were 356 (eight for practice task) black abstract shape images, previously used in perception (Haenschel et al., 2007) and memory studies (Experiment 1) in clinical populations, making them suitable materials. They had been generated with a Matlab algorithm to achieve comparable levels of complexity for all shapes. In the current study, they were presented on a grey square measuring 5.3 cm x 5.3 cm on a white screen background on a 20 inch desktop monitor (see Figure 3.11 for examples).







Figure 3.11. Examples of two study trials (top) and manipulated test trials (middle and bottom) for Experiment 3. Figure 3.11a (middle left) shows an item test trial presenting one item from study Trial 2 with two previously unseen items. Figure 3.11b (middle middle) shows a location test trial with images from study Trial 2 with the images top left and bottom middle in swapped locations. Figure 3.11c (middle right) shows an associative test trial presenting two images from study Trial 2 intermixed with one image from Trial 1. Figure

3.11d (bottom) shows an order test trial presenting images from study Trial 2 with the first and the third image in swapped positions in the sequence.

3.2.2.3 Procedure

The paradigm used by Konkel et al. (2008) was adapted with the following changes. First, presentation time was increased and the number of images was reduced because the timings and number of images of the original procedure proved too difficult in a number of pilot studies. Instead of coloured images, black shapes were used because a recent review of vision in ASD (Simmons et al., 2009) indicated difficulties in remembering and discriminating between different colours in ASD compared to TD individuals. Finally, to avoid that ASD individuals would pay attention to irrelevant information and, therefore, would show difficulties in this task, participants were instructed which information to remember in a particular task, i.e., item, location, order, or set information.

The task was presented on a computer screen using E-Prime software, and responses were collected through a keyboard. Participants were given the chance to ask questions, and they were told that the task was quite difficult, and, therefore, they were encouraged to take as many breaks as they needed. Total task duration (in minutes), including breaks, did not differ significantly between ASD (M = 79.39, SD = 47.19, range: 48-213) and TD (M = 66.28, SD = 16.41, range: 48-110) groups, t(34) = 1.11, p = .27, Cohen's d = 0.37. After some practice in the form of an item test with one repeated (the same items as at study) and one manipulated test trial (one studied shape was presented together with two new shapes), participants took part in four tasks consisting of eight (item, location, order task) or 12 (associative task) study-test blocks. In all study blocks, participants saw three unique sets of abstract shape triplets, chosen at random from a master set of 356 stimuli. Each triplet (image set) was presented once, with a presentation time of 4 s for each item, and a 2 s blank screen

following each triplet (see Figure 3.11 top part). The shapes of a triplet were presented in succession in each of three screen-locations: top left, top right, and bottom middle of the screen. The order of screen locations was counterbalanced across the three study triplets, such that each location was once first, second, and third to be occupied by a shape. Right after each study block, three test trials (two for the associative task¹³) followed, presenting items together with a test question, which remained on the screen until participants gave their response (see Figure 3.11 middle and bottom part). Test trials were either *repeated* trials, in which the items and/or relations between the items were the same as at study, or *manipulated* trials, presenting new items or changed relations between familiar items. Overall, participants took part in 12 repeated and 12 manipulated test trials for each task, which were presented in counterbalanced order across all blocks for a particular task. All participants received the item test first, in order to avoid that they would employ relational strategies, learned through the relational tasks, in the item test. The order of the three relational tasks was counterbalanced across participants with each matched pair of participants (one ASD and one TD individual with similar IQs) receiving the same presentation order. Except for the order test, all tests involved the simultaneous presentation of three shapes in the centre of the screen together with a test question. In *item test* trials, participants either saw the same shape triplets as at study (*repeated* trials), or one familiar shape was presented together with two entirely new shapes (*manipulated* trials), and participants were asked if they had seen all three items previously, or if one or two of the shapes seemed new to them (Figure 3.11 middle left). For all relational tests, participants were told that none of the items would be new. In *location test* trials, either three shapes occupied the same locations as at study (repeated trials), or two of the shapes had swapped their locations (manipulated trials), and participants were asked to

¹³ Participants were only presented with two associative test trials (one repeated and one manipulated) in each block to avoid shape repetition. Shapes from two study triplets had been mixed to create one manipulated test trial.

indicate whether all three shapes were presented in the same positions as at study (Figure 3.11 middle middle). For *associative test* trials, participants either saw the three shapes from the same triplet as at study (*repeated* trials), or shapes from two study triplets were mixed (*manipulated* trials), and participants were asked whether they had studied these three shapes together in the same triplet (Figure 3.11 middle right). Finally, for the *order test* a sequence of three shapes, each shown in the centre of the screen, was presented either in the same order as at study (*repeated* trials), or two shapes had swapped their serial position (*manipulated* trials), and participants were asked to indicate whether the order of the shapes was the same as at study (Figure 3.11 bottom).

3.2.3 Results

The data were scored in terms of Hits (percentage of correct yes answers on repeated trials), FAs (percentage of incorrect yes answers on manipulated trials), and corrected recognition rates (Hits minus FAs). Results were analysed using Chi-Squared tests, one sample and independent samples t-tests, repeated measures ANOVAs, bivariate correlations, and linear regression analyses. GGC was used, when the Sphericity assumption was violated. The level of significance was set to .05, and Cohen's *d* and partial Eta-Squared are reported as effect size measures.

3.2.3.1 Accuracy

All data presented in this section were analysed using 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 4 (Task [item, location, order, associative]) repeated measures ANOVAs.

3.2.3.1.1 Corrected recognition

Corrected recognition data (see Figure 3.12; Table 3.12) showed a significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,34) = 12.66, p < .01, Cohen's d = 1.19, 95 % CI(0.45, 1.87), with higher performance for the TD compared to the ASD group. A significant main effect of *Task*, F(3,102) = 9.51, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .22$, indicated higher performance in the *item* compared to *order*, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.54, 95 % CI(0.06, 1.00), and *associative* tasks, p < .001, Cohen's d = 0.95, 95 % CI(0.46, 1.43), and higher performance in the *location* compared to the *associative* task, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.62, 95 % CI(0.14, 1.09). There was no Group x Task interaction, F(3,102) = 0.64, p = .59, $\eta_p^2 = .02$.



Figure 3.12. Corrected recognition scores (Hits minus FAs) for the four tasks of Experiment 3 comparing ASD and TD groups, including effect sizes (Cohen's *d*) for the between-group differences. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

Table 3.12

Means and Standard Deviations for Hits, FAs, and Corrected recognition rates (Hits minus FAs) for the four tasks for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 3.

	ASD	TD	Total
Measure	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Hits	0.51 (0.23)	0.60 (0.21)	0.55 (0.23)
Item task	0.56 (0.27)	0.65 (0.18)	0.60 (0.23)
Location task	0.50 (0.18)	0.58 (0.21)	0.54 (0.20)
Order task	0.49 (0.22)	0.57 (0.27)	0.53 (0.25)
Associative task	0.50 (0.26)	0.58 (0.17)	0.54 (0.22)
FAs	0.36 (0.22)	0.21 (0.19)	0.29 (0.22)
Item task	0.28 (0.23)	0.15 (0.20)	0.22 (0.22)
Location task	0.35 (0.21)	0.14 (0.13)	0.24 (0.20)
Order task	0.39 (0.22)	0.19 (0.16)	0.29 (0.21)
Associative task	0.44 (0.22)	0.34 (0.19)	0.39 (0.21)
Hits-FAs	0.15 (0.23)	0.39 (0.31)	0.27 (0.30)
Item task	0.28 (0.22)	0.50 (0.30)	0.39 (0.28)
Location task	0.15 (0.23)	0.44 (0.25)	0.30 (0.28)
Order task	0.09 (0.26)	0.37 (0.36)	0.23 (0.34)
Associative task	0.06 (0.17)	0.24 (0.28)	0.15 (0.25)

Because of the difficulty level of the tasks, performance was compared against chance. The chance level of 0 for corrected recognition was calculated by subtracting FAs (chance level 0.5) from Hits (chance level 0.5 and 0.5-0.5 = 0). Whereas the TD group performed above chance in all four tasks, all p < .01, the ASD group was at chance in the *order*, t(17) = 1.51, p = .15, and *associative* tasks, t(17) = 1.47, p = .16.

3.2.3.1.2 False Alarms

FA rates (Table 3.12) were analysed to investigate whether the group differences observed were related to differences in response criteria. The analysis showed a significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,34) = 8.46, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.97, 95 % CI(0.26, 1.64), with higher FA rates for the ASD compared to the TD group, and a significant main effect of *Task*, F(2.42,82.29) = 12.20, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .26$, GGC, with higher FA rates in the *associative* compared to all other tasks - *item*, p < .001, Cohen's d = 0.83, 95 % CI(0.34, 1.30), *location*, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.77, 95 % CI(0.28, 1.24), and *order*, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.48, 95 % CI(0.01, 0.94). No Group x Task interaction was found, F(2.42,82.29) = 1.67, p = .19, $\eta_p^2 = .05$, GGC.

3.2.3.1.3 Sensitivity and response bias

Higher FAs for ASD individuals indicate difficulties in distinguishing between old and new items. Therefore, the data were analysed in more detail by calculating measures of response criteria (Gaetano et al., 2015). Similarly to Experiment 1 (Section 2.1.3.1.3), A' (Pollack & Norman, 1964) was calculated as a measure of sensitivity, and B'' (Grier, 1971) was used as a measure of response bias. The data are presented in Table 3.13.

Table 3.13

Means	and	Standard	Deviations	for A	٩'	(sensitivity)	and	В"	(response	bias)	for	recognition
respons	ses fo	or the four	tasks for A	SD ai	na	TD groups	in Ex	per	riment 3.			

Α	SD	Т	D	Total		
А'	B "	A'	B"	А'	В" М (SD)	
M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)		
0.71 (0.14)	0.09 (0.28)	0.82 (0.17)	0.43 (0.43)	0.76 (0.17)	0.26 (0.39)	
0.61 (0.17)	0.06 (0.21)	0.81 (0.12)	0.35 (0.32)	0.71 (0.17)	0.21 (0.30)	
0.58 (0.20)	0.07 (0.27)	0.73 (0.22)	0.27 (0.29)	0.65 (0.22)	0.17 (0.29)	
0.54 (0.15)	-0.01 (0.17)	0.67 (0.20)	0.12 (0.31)	0.60 (0.19)	0.06 (0.25)	
	A' <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>) 0.71 (0.14) 0.61 (0.17) 0.58 (0.20) 0.54 (0.15)	ASD A' B" M(SD) M(SD) 0.71 (0.14) 0.09 (0.28) 0.61 (0.17) 0.06 (0.21) 0.58 (0.20) 0.07 (0.27) 0.54 (0.15) -0.01 (0.17)	ASD T A' B" A' M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) 0.71 (0.14) 0.09 (0.28) 0.82 (0.17) 0.61 (0.17) 0.06 (0.21) 0.81 (0.12) 0.58 (0.20) 0.07 (0.27) 0.73 (0.22) 0.54 (0.15) -0.01 (0.17) 0.67 (0.20)	ASD TD A' B" A' B" M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) 0.71 (0.14) 0.09 (0.28) 0.82 (0.17) 0.43 (0.43) 0.61 (0.17) 0.06 (0.21) 0.81 (0.12) 0.35 (0.32) 0.58 (0.20) 0.07 (0.27) 0.73 (0.22) 0.27 (0.29) 0.54 (0.15) -0.01 (0.17) 0.67 (0.20) 0.12 (0.31)	ASD TD To A' B" A' B" A' M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) 0.71 (0.14) 0.09 (0.28) 0.82 (0.17) 0.43 (0.43) 0.76 (0.17) 0.61 (0.17) 0.06 (0.21) 0.81 (0.12) 0.35 (0.32) 0.71 (0.17) 0.58 (0.20) 0.07 (0.27) 0.73 (0.22) 0.27 (0.29) 0.65 (0.22) 0.54 (0.15) -0.01 (0.17) 0.67 (0.20) 0.12 (0.31) 0.60 (0.19)	

For A' data, a significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,34) = 11.74, p < .01, Cohen's d = 1.14, 95 % CI(0.41, 1.82), with higher A' rates for the TD compared to the ASD group, indicated lower sensitivity and, therefore, more difficulty to distinguish between repeated and manipulated trials for the ASD compared to the TD participants. A significant main effect of *Task*, F(3,102) = 8.64, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .20$, showed higher A' rates for *item* compared to *order*, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.58, 95 % CI(0.10, 1.04), and *associative* tasks, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.94, 95 % CI(0.44, 1.41), and for *location* compared to the *associative* task, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.65, 95 % CI(0.17, 1.12). There was no Group x Task interaction, F(3,102) = 0.55, p = .65, $\eta_p^2 = .02$.

Similarly, for B" data, a significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,34) = 12.50, p < .01, Cohen's d = 1.18, 95 % CI(0.45, 1.86), with higher B" rates for the TD compared to the ASD group, indicated a larger response bias to reject the correct answer for the TD compared to the ASD group. A significant main effect of *Task*, F(3,102) = 4.64, p < .01, $\eta_p^2 = .12$, showed higher B" rates for *item*, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.67, 95 % CI(0.19, 1.14), and *location* tasks, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.59, 95 % CI(0.11, 1.05), compared to the *associative* task. The Group x Task interaction was not significant, F(3,102) = 1.36, p = .26, $\eta_p^2 = .04$.

3.2.3.2 Correlations among tasks

Investigating the relations among tasks showed significant positive correlations between the *item* task and each of the *relational* tasks as well as among all the *relational* tasks (see Table 3.14), indicating that better performance on one task was related to better performance on the other tasks. However, separate analyses for the two groups indicated that these correlations were mainly driven by the TD groups' performance. Despite the smaller sample size, (marginally) significant correlations were found among all *relational* tasks and between the *item* and all *relational* tasks for the TD group. By contrast, there were only two (marginally) significant correlations among relational tasks and no significant correlations between the *item* and the *relational* tasks for the ASD group.

Table 3.14

Bivariate correlations among corrected recognition rates for all four tasks of Experiment 3 for both groups separately and in total.

		ASD			TD			Total	
Task	loc	ord	asso	loc	ord	asso	loc	ord	asso
ord	.44+			.75**			.70**		
asso	.01	.56*		.45+	.48*		.42*	.58**	
item	.14	.20	.13	.68**	.60**	.55*	.57**	.55**	.50**

Note. item = item test. loc = location test. ord = order test. asso = associative test. p < .1. *significant at p < .05. **significant at $p \le .01$.

3.2.3.3 Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age

Bivariate correlations to investigate the effect of age on memory performance (i.e., corrected recognition; see Table 3.15) showed that age was significantly negatively correlated with corrected recognition in the *order* task for both groups in total and for the TD group separately, indicating lower order task performance with increasing age. No other significant correlations were found for any of the other tasks in either group.

Table 3.15

Bivariate correlations between age and corrected recognition scores for all four tasks of Experiment 3 for both groups separately and in total.

		D			TD				Total			
	item	loc	ord	asso	item	loc	ord	asso	item	loc	ord	asso
age	.33	16	07	09	36	22	59*	12	07	15	34*	09
Note	. item	= item	test.	loc =	location	test.	ord = c	order tes	st. asso	o = as	sociative	test.
*sign	ificant	at <i>p</i> < .0	5.									

A regression analysis was then used to investigate how much variance in memory performance was explained by age. Age did not significantly explain variance in corrected recognition for the *item*, $R^2 = .00$, F(1,34) = 0.15, p = .71, *location*, $R^2 = .02$, F(1,34) = 0.76, p = .39, or the *associative* tasks, $R^2 = .01$, F(1,34) = 0.27, p = .61, for both groups in total. By contrast, age significantly explained 11.2 % of the variance, $R^2 = .11$, F(1,34) = 4.31, p = .046, and it significantly predicted corrected recognition rates in the *order* task, $\beta = -.34$, 95 % CI(-0.02, 0.00), p < .05, for both groups in total.
Closer inspection of the data showed that this effect only held for the TD group. Age did not significantly explain any variance in corrected recognition in the *order* task for the ASD group, $R^2 = .01$, F(1,16) = 0.09, p = .77, but it significantly explained 34.6 % of the variance in corrected *order* recognition for the TD group, $R^2 = .35$, F(1,16) = 8.47, p = .01. Age significantly predicted performance in the *order* task for the TD group, $\beta = -.59$, 95 % CI(-0.03, -0.00), p = .01, (see Figure 3.13 for illustration).



Figure 3.13. The relationship between age and corrected recognition rates for the order task of Experiment 3 with age explaining significantly more variance in order memory for TD compared to ASD participants.

Re-running the analysis for both groups in total including Age and a Group x Age interaction term showed that age explained significantly more variance in order memory among TD compared to ASD individuals. Using the forward method, the best model included Age and Group x Age interaction, which significantly explained 22.7 % of the total variance in corrected recognition for the *order* task, $R^2 = .23$, F(2,33) = 4.84, p < .05. Age, $\beta = -.35$, 95 % CI(-0.02, -0.00), p < .05, and Group x Age interaction, $\beta = -.34$, 95 % CI(-0.01, 0.00), p < .05, significantly predicted performance in the order task for both groups in total.

3.2.4 Discussion

The aim of this study was to compare, directly, item with relational memory for temporal order, location, and inter-item associations using tasks that have the same relational processing requirements. Novel abstract shape images were used to control for the influence of language and previous experiences with the materials on memory. Preliminary analyses were run to investigate the effect of age on relational memory in both groups.

In the task, participants studied black shape triplets that were presented in sequential order in three different screen locations. At test, items or relations were either unchanged (as seen at study), or they were manipulated. It was predicted that, in line with the relational binding account (Bowler et al., 2011), ASD individuals would show particular difficulties in the relational memory tasks. The large age-range of the recruited sample allowed the exploratory investigation of the effects of age on relational memory in both groups, which was of interest because of a lack of research in this area, because of the known changes in relational memory processes with age over the typical lifespan (Naveh-Benjamin, 2000), and because even younger adults with ASD have been found to show a similar memory profile to healthy TD OA (see Bowler, 2007).

The first prediction was not supported by the data. Although, ASD compared to TD individuals showed significantly lower performance in the three *relational* memory tasks, replicating and extending earlier reports of difficulties with memory for spatial relations (Bowler et al., 2004; 2014; Cooper et al., 2015; Semino et al., in preparation; Experiment 2),

and serial order in ASD (Bowler et al., 2016; Bennetto et al., 1996; Poirier et al., 2011; Gaigg et al., 2014), persons with ASD also showed difficulties with the *item* memory task. Similarly to Experiment 1, difficulties in ASD were related to distinguishing between old and new items, which became apparent in higher FA rates and lower sensitivity in their responses. Unlike the current finding, difficulties in item memory in ASD had not been found in Experiment 2 of this thesis, and there are some possible explanations for these inconsistencies.

One possibility is that some *item* memory tests inadvertently probe *relational* memory in that participants are encouraged to encode relations between items and their context. This process may then benefit subsequent context memory as well as memory for the items per se. This suggestion is supported by the high positive correlations between performance on *item* and *relational* memory tasks in the TD group in the current study, suggesting that TD individuals may have drawn on relational processing in the item task even though they had not been asked to do so, and the task would have been solvable without. Further support for the idea that relational processing is probed by some item memory tasks comes from Experiment 1 of this thesis, showing that recognition memory was compromised in ASD primarily in terms of Remembering (i.e., retrieving item and context information), but not Knowing, and a recent imaging study in ASD confirmed that Remembering relies much more on relational processing at encoding than Knowing (Gaigg et al., 2015). A lack of significant positive correlations between item and relational memory task performance for ASD individuals in the current study suggested that they did not engage in such spontaneous relational processing, as has been shown previously (e.g., in Gaigg et al., 2008), and did, therefore, not rely on relational information to support item test performance. Future studies should address this possibility by combining the paradigm employed here with a manipulation of encoding instructions that would either foster or interfere with relational encoding. Conditions that interfere with relational processing during encoding should lead to equivalent performance on item tests for ASD and TD participants, whereas conditions that either allow for or encourage relational processing at study, should lead to similar group differences on item tests as observed here.

Another issue relating to inconsistencies found in item memory task performance in ASD concerns the concepts of 'complexity' and 'relational processing', and how these may map on to one another. A strong point of the paradigm developed by Konkel et al. (2008) is that the procedures for the different test conditions are nearly identical and, therefore, are closely matched on complexity, whilst manipulating the need for relational processing. To solve the task, participants need to form at least two binary relations (e.g., between two items or between an item and a location or serial position). Forming three binary or one ternary relation, however, would build more confidence for a correct answer. ASD participants may have difficulties with forming binary (found in Experiment 2) and, particularly, ternary relations (Bowler et al., 2011), which may explain the difficulties observed in the current study. Halford's (1992) taxonomy of cognitive development (see Section 1.4.1.4) with the different types of relations may be a good operationalization of task complexity and may help to unify explanations for the memory profile in ASD that are framed in terms of 'complexity' (Minshew & Goldstein, 1998) with those with reference to the distinction between item and relational memory (Bowler et al., 2011).

A comparison between the different relational memory tasks was complicated by the difficulty level of the tasks for participants. It is not possible to completely rule out that task difficulty may have masked disproportionate difficulties on relational compared to item tasks, or on one relational compared to the other relational tasks. However, effect sizes were large

for the between-group differences on all tasks, and confidence intervals for the effect sizes were overlapping (see Figure 3.12), suggesting that all three tested relations were similarly difficult for ASD individuals. This is in line with previous research finding similar difficulties comparing different relations in ASD (Bowler et al., 2004, 2014), and with Konkel and Cohen (2009) suggesting that all relations rely to the same extent on the same brain region, namely the hippocampus. So if ASD individuals show atypical hippocampal functioning (Section 1.4.2.1), there should not be a difference among memory for different kinds of relations. Comparing the current data to the findings of Konkel et al. (2008) supports ideas about hippocampal rather than wider MTL abnormalities in ASD, since ASD individuals' performance was more similar to that of the hippocampal patients, performing above chance on the item task only. These results are in line with a large body of literature (see Eichenbaum, 2004; Eichenbaum et al., 2007; A. Mayes, Montaldi & Migo, 2007 for reviews), suggesting that the hippocampus is critical for relational but not item-specific memory processes, whereas the wider MTL, including cortical areas surrounding the hippocampus (particularly the parahippocampal and perirhinal cortices), additionally support item memory. It is, however, worth noting that the ASD individuals' performance was better than that of Konkel et al.'s (2008) hippocampal patients, highlighting the need to consider other brain regions in addition to the hippocampus that may be involved in the emergence of memory difficulties in ASD. To this end, it is worth considering the correlations among the performance on the different tasks in more detail. Significant positive correlations among all tasks in the TD group seem to suggest that they recruited domain-general relational strategies flexibly in all conditions, whereas the absence of correlations among task performance in the ASD group suggests that they seemed to tackle each condition differently with less adaptive strategies. One reason may have been difficulties with flexibly using relational processes in

ASD, which may be related to hippocampal dysfunction, since hippocampal damage has been related to inflexible cognition and behaviour (Duff & Brown-Schmidt, 2012; Rubin, Watson, Duff & Cohen, 2014). Another possibility is that this inflexibility in ASD may indicate a difficulty with executive functions (i.e., flexible adaptation to the varying task demands) and, therefore, processes guided by the PFC. This possibility will be tackled in the next experiment.

Considering the exploratory investigation of the influence of age on relational memory, the findings for *order* memory were in line with Bowler's (2007) ageing analogy in that ASD individuals performed similarly to older TD participants in the current sample. Younger TD individuals had an advantage for relational memory processes over ASD individuals. This advantage, however, seemed to decrease as relational processing decreased in the course of typical ageing, resulting in smaller differences between the older groups. Similarly to the findings reported here and in Experiment 1, Lever and Geurts (2016) recently reported reduced age-related differences in visual memory in large ASD compared to TD samples, which also supported the safeguard hypothesis (Geurts & Vissers, 2012). The findings were, however, not in line with the stronger effect of age on ASD memory for location reported in Experiment 2. It is possible, that in Experiment 2 effects of age on memory in the TD group were obscured by a ceiling effect. More research is, therefore, needed to disentangle the effects of age on memory in ASD. More generally, it seems possible that factors underlying memory decline in TD OA may operate at an earlier age in ASD individuals, which may explain relational memory difficulties reported here and elsewhere (see Section 1.4.1), or they may follow a different developmental trajectory altogether. It is debateable why no effects of age were found in location and associative memory in the current study, perhaps these would become apparent with larger samples and more variability in the data.

In conclusion, the present study supports and extends existing findings of relational memory difficulties in ASD to previously untested relations and suggests that age may have less influence on order memory in ASD compared to TD individuals. By showing difficulties in item memory in ASD, the current study questions to what extent and under what circumstances item memory may be intact in ASD, and whether TD and ASD individuals similarly rely on item information when processing relations and vice versa. A further question is whether ASD individuals are able to use relational processing, but prefer not to do so, or whether they use item processing as a compensatory mechanism. A comparison with Konkel et al. (2008) suggests better performance in ASD participants tested here compared to hippocampal patients, questioning a hippocampal theory of autistic memory and asking for the search of additional factors that may hinder or support autistic memory depending on brain regions outside the hippocampus. An example would be EFs that support the search for an appropriate strategy for a task and that are also involved in memory decline in TD OA. Paralleling memory performance in ASD and TD OA prompts further consideration of EFs in researching memory in ASD. This will be done in the next experiment. In addition, following the findings of Experiments 2 and 3 of difficulties with location information in ASD, the next study will address memory for spatial information. Finally, the next experiment will further investigate what role item memory may play in the context of relational memory in ASD, a question that was not answered completely by Experiment 3.

4 Chapter 4: Spatial navigation

4.1 Experiment 4: Spatial navigation

4.1.1 Theoretical background

Spatial navigation is the capacity to navigate in one's environment. Research distinguishes between different types of spatial navigation. Egocentric navigation is the capacity to relate one's personal point of view to the locations of objects in space (Hartley, Trinkler & Burgess, 2004). Using *allocentric navigation*, one relates objects and locations in space to one another to form a view-point independent abstract cognitive map of the environment (Bohbot et al., 2004). Spatial navigation is closely related to the concept of relational memory in that an individual needs to relate objects and locations in the environment in order to successfully navigate to a desired location. The distinction between egocentric and allocentric navigation is useful in that it can help to quantify which type of relational processing ASD individuals struggle with. In addition, this distinction is also dissociable at a neural level with egocentric navigation regulated through the caudate nucleus (Bohbot et al., 2004), whereas allocentric navigation was impaired after MTL (Feigenbaum & Morris, 2004; Goodrich-Hunsaker, Livingstone, Skelton, & Hopkins, 2010) and right hippocampal lesions in humans (Bohbot et al., 2004), offering a test of theories suspecting the hippocampus as an area of difficulty in ASD (Section 1.4.2.1). Similar to other forms of relational memory, allocentric navigation is expected to pose particular difficulties for persons with ASD. Previous studies on spatial navigation in ASD show, however, mixed evidence (see Table 4.1 and below).

Table 4.1

Overview of studies investigating spatial navigation in ASD compared to TD individuals.

Participant characteristics		acteristics	Materials	Measures	Resu	Cohen's	
	ASD	TD			ASD	TD	d
	M (SD)	M (SD)			M (SD)	M (SD)	
Prior	& Hoffmann	(1990)					
Ν	12 (9 m)	12 (9 m)	Milner Maze				
		12 (9 m)					
age	13.75	13.75	Find & remember correct	Errors	180.2 (119.5)	65.9 (29.5)	1.31
	$(10-17)^{a,b}$	$(10-17)^{a,b}$	path through array - bottom			63.2 (40.6)	1.31
		11.33	left to top right				
		$(8-16)^{a,b}$					
PIQ ^c	88	100	Criterion: tree consecutive	Time	19.1 (12.1)	8.9 (1.8)	1.09
	(76-109) ^{a,b}	$(85-112)^{a,b}$	error-free trials			7.8 (2.1)	1.23
		107					
		$(97-120)^{a,b}$					
				N of individuals reaching	1	6	
				criterion		8	
Edgin	& Penningto	on (2005)					
Ν	24 ^d	34 ^d	Morris Water Maze	% time in target quadrant	39 (10.7)	43 (12.5)	0.89
age	11.46	12.04	Find & remember location of				
	(2.3)	(2.5)	hidden target in virtual pool				
BD ^e	12	12					
	(4.3)	(4.1)					
VA ^f	104	109					
	(20.2)	(13.0)					

Participant characteristics		acteristics	Materials	Measures		Resu	ılts	Cohen's
	ASD	TD				ASD	TD	d
	<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)	<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)				<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)	<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)	
Ring, C	Gaigg, Altgas	ssen, Barr &	Bowler (in revision)					
Ν	26 (23 m)	26 (18 m)	Morris Water Maze					
age	38.81	42.12	Find & remember location of	% time in target qua-	А	28.87 (29.74)	34.46 (32.17)	0.18
	(11.8)	(12.1)	hidden target in virtual pool	drant	Е	37.57 (32.79)	36.93 (31.32)	0.02
VIQ ^g	109	111	Egocentric (E) - landmarks					
	(16.6)	(16.3)	moved					
PIQ ^g	108	107	Allocentric (A) - participant					
	(19.6)	(17.6)	moved					
I ind D	Dowlow & Do	han (201 4a)						
Linu, r	20 (16 m)	20(15 m)	Momoryisland					
19	20 (10 III) 8 67	20 (13 III) 8 32	Find target items in 3-D	Time in target quadrant	V	0.91(0.04)	0.89 (0.07)	0.35
age	(1.4)	(0.9)	island environment	Time in target quadrant	v TT	0.91(0.04)	0.85(0.07)	0.35
Turoh	(1.+)	(0.)		T .	н	0.79(0.17)	(0.85(0.08))	0.45
VIQ	104	10/	Visible (V, targets are marked	Time to target	V	66.12 (13.94)	60.24 (7.52)	0.53
	(13.5)	(5.3)	by flags)		Η	87.33 (26.49)	68.15 (10.83)	0.95
PIQ ⁿ	105	110	Hidden trials (H, no flags)	Successful trials	V	0.99 (0.06)	1.00 (0.00)	0.24
	(18.1)	(14.2)			Η	0.86 (0.19)	0.96 (0.09)	0.67
				Velocity	V	7.07 (1.05)	7.51 (0.70)	0.49
					Η	7.60 (1.00)	8.02 (0.68)	0.49
				Path length	V	443.65 (23.32)	438.72 (34.51)	0.17
					Η	634.33 (167.05)	537.28 (79.26)	0.74
				Cumulative distance to	V	30989 (7933)	28349 (4186)	0.42
				target	Η	46373 (20316)	33307 (7673)	0.85

Part	icipant chara	acteristics	Materials	Measures		Res	sults	Cohen's
	ASD	TD				ASD	TD	d
	M (SD)	M (SD)				M (SD)	M(SD)	
Lind, V	Williams, Ra	ber, Peel & I	Bowler (2013)					
Ν	27 (21 m)	28 (21 m)	Memory island					
age	34.64	33.02	Find target items in a 3-D	Time in target qua-	V	0.80 (0.19)	0.81 (0.21)	0.05
	(13.0)	(16.4)	island environment	drant	Η	0.69 (0.21)	0.81 (0.19)	0.60
VIQ ^h	110	113	Visible (V, targets are marked	Time to target	V	88.01 (39.13)	68.85 (28.51)	0.56
	(15.2)	(12.2)	by flags)		Η	105.40 (45.80)	77.11 (29.18)	0.74
PIQ ^h	111	114	Hidden trials (H, no flags)	Successful trials	V	0.84 (0.22)	0.91 (0.25)	0.30
	(16.3)	(12.6)			Η	0.72 (0.24)	0.86 (0.21)	0.62
				Velocity	V	7.16 (1.00)	7.88 (0.68)	0.84
					Η	7.94 (0.67)	8.48 (0.52)	0.90
				Path length	V	580.35 (280.62)	539.48 (257.57)	0.15
					Н	808.62 (342.59)	640.65 (221.61)	0.58
Pellica	no et al. (201	1)						
Ν	20 (18 m)	20 (18 m)	Foraging game					
age	10.64	11.03	Search array to find hidden	% visits to side with	B11	45.50 (16.77)	61.50 (20.91)	0.84
	(1.4)	(2.0)	targets	most targets	Bl2	62.25 (17.43)	63.25 (25.30)	0.05
VA ⁱ	103	106	Two blocks, timed task	Optimality search path	B11	0.63 (0.11)	0.70 (0.07)	0.76
	(16.5)	(13.9)			B12	0.65 (0.12)	0.74 (0.07)	0.92
NVA ^j	36	36	One side of array had	Consistency search	B11	0.79 (0.08)	0.85 (0.08)	0.75
	(8.1)	(5.0)	80 % targets	path	B12	0.80 (0.08)	0.87 (0.08)	0.88
				N of revisits	B11	20.35 (23.68)	12.05 (12.00)	0.44
					B12	27.05 (29.70)	8.35 (8.56)	0.86

Participant characteristics		cteristics	Materials	Measures		Res	ults	Cohen's
	ASD	TD				ASD	TD	d
	M (SD)	M (SD)				M (SD)	<i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)	
Caron,	Mottron, Ra	ainville & Cl	nouinard (2004)					
Ν	16 (15 m)	16 (15 m)	Human-sized maze					
age	17.60	18.90	Five tasks	Route following -	low	1.00 (0.70)	1.10 (0.80)	0.13
	(6.3)	(5.7)		errors	high	1.50 (1.00)	1.60 (1.31)	0.09
VIQ ^{g/}	102	111	Guided route learning &	Route following -	low	39.30 (11.70)	42.70 (8.70)	0.33
k	(21.2)	(10.4)	route execution	time	high	48.60 (15.40)	52.80 (12.20)	0.30
PIQ ^{g/}	112	107	Route retracing end to start	Route retracing -	low	1.60 (1.40)	2.30 (1.60)	0.47
k	(12.9)	(12.1)		errors	high	2.20 (1.30)	2.70 (1.20)	0.40
				Route retracing -	low	45.70 (13.90)	51.40 (10.60)	0.46
				time	high	52.50 (11.60)	60.40 (9.90)	0.73
			Point to start or end (degrees)	Absolute pointing en	rror	26.30 (31.60)	15.30 (19.60)	0.42
			Route recall - cued (sheet	% participants passi	ng test,	73.30 ^b	30.80 ^b	
			with maze pattern)	route drawing (cued	recall)			
			or free (empty sheet)	time route drawing (free	65.10 ^b	97.60 ^b	
				recall)				
			Study map & route	Route execution - er	rors	1.40 (1.40)	0.80 (1.20)	0.46
			execution	Route execution - tin	me	57.70 (40.10)	79.10 (21.90)	0.66

Note. ^aRange. ^bSD not reported. ^dGender distribution not reported. ^eBD - Block design, Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC-III). Performance IQ/nonverbal ability (NVA) - Leiter International Performance Scale (LIPS)^c; Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI)^h; Raven's Standard Progressive Matricesⁱ; Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS)^g; WISC^k. Verbal IQ/Verbal Ability (VA) - Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test (PPVT-III)^f; WASI^h; British Picture Vocabulary Scale (BPVS)ⁱ; WAIS^g; WISC^k. In a test of simple spatial memory, the Milner Maze, that required participants to find and remember the correct path through an array over 15 trials, ASD compared to TD children and adolescents, matched on CA or VMA, needed longer to complete the task, made more errors, and fewer reached criterion (Prior & Hoffman, 1990). However, significant between-group differences in PIQ, and floor effects in both groups, with only one ASD participant and just half the TD sample reaching criterion on the task, compromised the interpretation of the results.

Asking matched groups of ASD and TD children and adolescents to navigate in a virtual pool environment to find a hidden platform in a computer-based version of the Morris Water Maze, Edgin and Pennington (2005) found no significant differences between groups. Between-group differences may have been attenuated by the significantly higher number of women in the TD group, because women have been reported to perform worse at spatial navigation (Astur, Tropp, Sava, Constable & Markus, 2004). In addition, it is possible that ASD participants may have compensated for potential allocentric problems by using intact egocentric processing, which was not addressed in this study because the authors tested their participants only with a place learning condition, i.e., testing simple spatial memory that enabled the use of allocentric as well as egocentric processing (Burgess, 2006). Ring, Gaigg, Altgassen, Barr and Bowler (in revision) improved the design of this earlier study by systematically manipulating task demands on egocentric and allocentric processing within the same task. While in the egocentric condition landmark objects moved around the pool area, the participants moved around the pool area themselves in the allocentric condition. ASD as opposed to matched TD adults spent a significantly shorter percentage of time searching in the target quadrant of the pool area to find the platform only in the allocentric condition, suggesting a specific allocentric navigation deficit in ASD. Slightly more women included in the TD group suggested that the between-group difference may be larger. In addition, more

difficulties would be expected when using a 3-D or real-life navigation environment instead of an aerial view, which may have made the formation of an abstract map easier for participants.

Such a 3-D environment is the island navigation task, where participants were asked to find previously studied target objects that were marked by flags (visible egocentric trials), or that were hidden (i.e., no support in the form of flags marking the positions of the objects was provided, allocentric trials). ASD children (Lind et al., 2014a) and adults (Lind, Williams, Raber, Peel & Bowler, 2013) both showed disproportionate allocentric navigation difficulties compared to matched TD participants. However, the results of these studies may have been confounded by order effects in that egocentric trials were always presented first. In addition, egocentric trials (i.e., the presence of the flag) may have made them easier for ASD individuals (see Section 1.4.1.3). This interpretation seems, however, unlikely since ASD adults, despite showing particular difficulties in allocentric navigation related to the time spent in the target quadrant of the island, performed generally worse (i.e., on egocentric and allocentric trials) on most other measures taken, such as time needed to find the target or velocity (Lind et al., 2013). This study, therefore, suggested a rather general spatial navigation deficit independent of condition.

In the foraging game, a real-life navigation environment, matched groups of ASD and TD children were asked to find hidden targets by searching 16 locations on the floor of an actual room. Pellicano et al. (2011) found that ASD as opposed to TD children needed significantly longer to learn which side of the search area was more rewarding (i.e., included more targets), their search paths were longer, and they did not search all the necessary locations on the way to the target (less optimal search). In addition, ASD children returned more often to a previously searched location and their search strategies were different across

blocks of trials (less systematic search). These data indicated difficulty in finding rules for the task as well as employing the rules to increase task performance. The experiment, however, does not disentangle the contributions of allocentric and egocentric navigation.

In another real life search environment - a human-size maze - adolescents and adults with and without ASD did not differ when asked to perform a studied route (after walking the route or studying a map) from start to end, to retrace the route from end to start, when pointing in the directions of start or end, or when drawing the studied route either on an empty sheet of paper (free recall) or on one that showed a maze pattern (cued recall; Caron, Mottron, Rainville & Chouinard, 2004). The lack of landmarks or cues in the navigation environment, which people have been found to utilise for real life allocentric navigation, made this task a simple spatial memory test. In addition, even though the task assessed spatial navigation in great detail, the lack of data, statistics, and effect size measures presented in the paper make the results elusive.

Finally, Maras, Wimmer, Robinson and Bowler (2014) studied mental imagery in ASD, which has been suggested as an underlying mechanism of forming abstract map representations for allocentric navigation. The authors tested 21 ASD (18 men, $M_{CA} = 40$ years, $M_{VIQ} = 105$, $M_{PIQ} = 101$) and 20 matched TD adults (17 men, $M_{CA} = 44$ years, $M_{VIQ} = 108$, $M_{PIQ} = 105$) on an island task asking participants, after having studied a map of an island, to imagine the distance between objects presented on the map. Both groups took similarly long to perform the task with increasing time needed relative to increasing actual distance between objects. VIQ and verbal WM (derived from the WM index score of the WAIS) were highly correlated with scanning performance in ASD individuals, suggesting that they particularly relied on verbal strategies and capacities to solve this visual task, which is consistent with reported difficulties on spatial short-term (Bowler et al., 2016) and working memory tasks (D. M. Williams, Jarrold, Grainger & Lind, 2014). Generating a mental image

of a previously studied map appears to be intact in ASD, but it remains unclear from this study whether ASD participants would also be able to generate a map of an environment that they navigate.

In summary, previous navigation studies in ASD show difficulties when tasks have high demands on relational processing. Most previous studies did not disentangle the contributions of egocentric and allocentric processing to successful spatial navigation in ASD, nor did they systematically compare conditions. When conditions were compared, often the order of their presentation was not counterbalanced, introducing a potential confound. However, manipulating the presentation order of conditions raises questions to what extent ASD individuals are able to switch between different conditions and how EFs may be needed to do this (Moffat, Kennedy, Rodrigue & Raz, 2007). When looking at strategies used for navigation, one study showed that ASD children were less optimal and less systematic in their search (Pellicano et al., 2011), and another study showed that ASD adults depended on verbal strategies for their task performance (Maras et al., 2014). There are, however, no systematic investigations in ASD assessing their use of navigation strategies, such as egocentric and allocentric processing. In addition, intact item memory is necessary for successful allocentric navigation (Youngstrom & Strowbridge, 2012). However, no previous study in ASD has tested item memory in the context of spatial navigation.

Some of these points have been addressed in the literature on spatial navigation in TD OA. On a task systematically comparing egocentric and allocentric navigation using the same maze learning paradigm and randomising the trial presentation, TD OA have shown particular difficulties in allocentric trials, and these difficulties were related to a reduced use of allocentric navigation strategies (Wiener, de Condappa, Harris & Wolbers, 2013). In addition, two other recent studies found specific age-related deficits in navigating an

230

originally studied route from a different direction (allocentric navigation; Wiener, Kmecova & de Condappa, 2012), and problems in flexibly switching between different navigational strategies especially in switching from egocentric to allocentric trials (Harris, Wiener & Wolbers, 2012) in TD OA.

Based on the literature reviewed, the aims for the current study were the following. First, it was aimed to systematically compare egocentric and allocentric navigation using the same task placing similar relational processing requirements on participants in both conditions. Second, it was of interest to assess which type of navigation strategy (i.e., egocentric or allocentric) both groups of participants use for their task performance in allocentric trials, and how well they can switch between different navigation conditions. Third, it was aimed to measure EFs and item memory for landmarks presented during the spatial navigation task and their role for successful navigation. Forth, it was of interest to investigate the potential effects of age on egocentric and allocentric navigation in both groups. Following the results on the differences in the allocation of attention at encoding in ASD (Sections 3.1.1.1, 3.1.3.4.1), it was aimed to assess attention to landmarks at encoding in the context of spatial navigation through the measurement of eye movements. Finally, attention to landmarks at retrieval was of interest, and it was measured through eye movements.

Following these aims, a task was chosen that systematically compared egocentric and allocentric navigation relying on the same relational processing requirements. In particular, at study, participants were presented with a route through a maze including four four-way intersections. Each intersection was marked with two unique landmarks, which were presented in opposite corners of the intersection. At each intersection, the route either turned left or right. At test, participants were presented with static images of the intersections that were either presented as coming from the same direction as at study (measuring egocentric

navigation) or as coming from a different direction (measuring allocentric navigation) in randomised order. Participants were asked to indicate the direction they needed to travel to follow the original route they had studied at each intersection. Fixation durations and number of fixations on the two landmarks presented at each intersection were measured at encoding and retrieval, and tasks measuring memory for the landmarks after the navigation task, as well as a task measuring EFs were included to assess their role for spatial navigation.

To examine the first aim, accuracy scores for the chosen directions at the intersections were inspected. If ASD participants show particular difficulties in relating object and location information to one another in space to form an abstract map presentation, they will only show difficulties in the allocentric condition of the task. Following the second aim, it was examined which strategy participants used for allocentric trials. If ASD participants show particular difficulties related to allocentric navigation, they will show reduced use of allocentric and increased use of egocentric strategies compared to TD individuals. Aim 3 was assessed by inspecting performance on trials after a switch, i.e., an allocentric trial was presented after an egocentric trial, or vice versa. In addition, set shifting was assessed with a task measuring EFs, and participants were asked for their memory for landmarks. If ASD participants show difficulties in EFs, they will show reduced performance after a switch between trials, in particular, after switching from an egocentric to an allocentric navigation trial. In addition, they will show more perseverative errors on the EF task. If ASD participants show intact item memory, there will be no between-group differences in memory for the landmarks for navigation. Regarding the effect of age on spatial navigation, if ASD individuals' spatial navigation performance is similarly affected by age as that of TD individuals, persons with ASD will show effects of age on allocentric but not egocentric navigation. Following Aim 5, fixation durations and number of fixations on the two landmarks presented at each intersection at encoding were assessed. If ASD individuals show difficulties with relational

processing, these will be apparent already at encoding in shorter and fewer fixations on the two landmarks compared to TD participants. Regarding the final aim, fixation durations and number of fixations on the landmarks presented at the intersections at retrieval were examined. If persons with ASD show difficulties with relational processing, they will show shorter and fewer fixations on the two landmarks of the intersections at retrieval. Finally, if fixation durations and number of fixations at retrieval reflect a real memory phenomenon, eye-movement data will correlate with behavioural navigation data.

4.1.2 Predictions

Based on the ageing analogy (Bowler, 2007), it was predicted that ASD participants would show particular difficulties with allocentric navigation and with switching from egocentric to allocentric trials. It was also expected, that ASD adults would demonstrate a natural bias to adopt egocentric navigation strategies. EFs, item memory, i.e., memory for the landmarks along the route, and attention, as measured through eye movements, were assessed for their role on spatial navigation. It was expected that persons with ASD would show difficulties in EFs but not in item memory compared to TD participants.

Similarly to Experiments 1 - 3, a large sample with a broad age-range was recruited to examine the effect of age on spatial navigation performance in ASD. Allocentric navigation was of particular interest since research on TD OA has shown particular age-related difficulties in allocentric navigation (e.g., Wiener et al., 2013). Possible outcomes were stronger (*double jeopardy* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Experiment 2), weaker (*safeguard hypothesis* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Lever & Geurts, 2016; Experiments 1 and 3), or similar (*parallel development* - Geurts & Vissers, 2012) effects of age on allocentric navigation in ASD and TD adults.

Finally, following the results of Experiment 2, it was expected that the ASD group would attend less to the two landmark animals as the relevant information on the screen during encoding. Between-group differences in attention to the landmarks at test were also expected, reflecting difficulties in relational processing in ASD.

4.1.3 Methods

4.1.3.1 Participants

4.1.3.1.1 Behavioural data

Wiener et al. (2013) included 24 younger and 24 older TD adults. In addition, based on the data for younger and older adults provided by J. M. Wiener (personal communication, September, 1, 2016), power calculation using G*Power (Faul et al., 2007) showed that to detect a significant Group x Condition interaction with an effect size of f = 0.67 and a statistical power of 0.90, a total sample size of 10 participants would be needed. To increase statistical power because of the heterogeneity of ASD samples, 37 ASD (30 men, $M_{age} = 42.61$ years, age range: 26-64 years) and 31 TD adults (25 men, $M_{age} = 40.71$ years, age range: 21-64 years) were matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.00$, p = .96, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, as measured by the WAIS-III^{UK} (The Psychological Corporation, 2000). Groups differed significantly in their AQ scores (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; see Table 4.2). Thirty-two ASD individuals completed the ADOS (Lord et al., 1989), with eight individuals scoring just below the total cut-off score. In all cases the ADOS observations, however, were consistent with difficulties in social-affective behaviours that are considered as the hallmark of ASD, and since all individuals had received a clinical diagnosis before testing, they were included in the study.

Table 4.2

	ASD (30m, '		TD (2	5m, 6f)		Cohen's		
Measure	M	SD	M	SD	<i>t</i> (66)	р	d	CI
Age (years)	42.61	12.5	40.71	13.8	0.60	.55	0.14	-0.33, 0.62
VIQ ^a	111	16.1	115	14.2	0.92	.36	0.22	-0.26, 0.70
PIQ ^b	107	16.2	110	12.8	0.74	.46	0.18	-0.30, 0.66
FIQ ^c	110	16.2	114	13.7	0.87	.39	0.21	-0.27, 0.69
AQ^d	33.51	6.7	13.58	5.6	13.22	.00	3.22	2.47, 3.90
ADOS-C ^f	2.77 (1-6)	1.4						
ADOS-RSI ^g	6.03 (1-13)	2.9						
ADOS-Total ^h	8.63 (3-17)	3.5						
ADOS-Im ⁱ	1.19 (0-2)	0.7						
ADOS-SB ^j	1.38 (0-5)	1.2						

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD participants in Experiment 4.

Note. ^aVerbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^bPerformance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^eADOS - Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score – Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

Similarly to the other studies presented in this thesis, ASD individuals reporting comorbidities and/or use of psychotropic medication (32 % for the current study) remained in the sample (see Section 2.1.2.1). Most common comorbid disorders in the current study were depression (42 %), anxiety disorder (17 %), ADHD (17 %), and dyslexia (17 %). In addition, OCD (8 %) and schizophrenia (8 %) were reported. Further, 42 % of ASD individuals took antidepressants and 8 % used antipsychotic medication. ASD individuals with and without

comorbidities and medication use did not differ significantly in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.06$, p = .81, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.16$, $p_{min} > .25$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.41$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.30, 1.09). Finally, analysing the data without ASD individuals that reported comorbidities and/or medication use left the results reported below unaffected.

4.1.3.1.2 Eye-movement data

Five older, t = 2.50, p = .02, Cohen's d = 1.20, 95 % CI(0.20, 2.16), ASD adults (three men, $M_{age} = 54.74$ years, age range: 27-64, $M_{VIQ} = 110$, $M_{PIQ} = 101$, $M_{FIQ} = 106$), who did not differ significantly from the rest of the sample in terms of gender, $X_{max}^2 = 1.68$, $p_{min} = .20$, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 0.94$, $p_{min} > .35$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.46$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.51, 1.39), and three TD adults (two men, $M_{age} = 32.97$ years, age range: 26-46, $M_{VIQ} = 111$, $M_{PIQ} = 100$, $M_{FIQ} = 107$), who were not significantly different from the remaining TD participants in terms of gender, $X_{max}^2 = 0.42$, $p_{min} = .52$, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 1.37$, $p_{min} > .18$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.84$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.40, 2.01), were excluded from the eye-movement analyses because Tobii software indicated that their eye-movement data validity was below 70 % on more than three experimental blocks. The remaining 32 ASD (27 men, $M_{age} = 40.72$ years, age range: 26-64 years) and 28 TD (23 men, $M_{age} = 41.54$ years, age range: 21-64 years) individuals were still matched on gender, $X^2 = 0.05$, p = .82, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, and they differed significantly in AQ scores (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; see Table 4.3).

Table 4.3

Descriptive	statistics	for	ASD	and	ΤD	participants	for	whom	eye-movement	data	were
available in	Experime	nt 4.									

	ASD (27)	D (27m, 5f) TD (23m, 5f)			Cohen's				
Measure	М	SD	М	SD	t(58)	р	d	CI	
Age (years)	40.72	11.1	41.54	14.0	0.25	.80	0.07	-0.44, 0.57	
VIQ ^a	112	16.5	115	13.8	0.89	.38	0.23	-0.28, 0.74	
PIQ ^b	108	16.1	111	12.6	0.72	.48	0.19	-0.33, 0.69	
FIQ ^c	111	16.4	114	13.5	0.84	.40	0.22	-0.29, 0.72	
AQ ^d	33.13	6.7	13.79	5.2	12.37	.00	3.20	2.40, 3.92	
ADOS-C ^e	2.81 (1-6)	1.4							
ADOS-RSI ^f	5.86 (1-13)	2.9							
ADOS-Total ^g	8.46 (3-17)	3.5							
ADOS-Im ^h	1.22 (0-2)	0.7							
ADOS-SB ⁱ	1.39 (0-5)	1.3							

Note. ^aVerbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^bPerformance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}). ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^eADOS - Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

4.1.3.2 Materials

A virtual environment displaying a tunnel bounded by brown brick walls to the right and left and a grey floor and ceiling, that had been programmed in Vizard 3.0, was adapted from Wiener et al. (2013).



Figure 4.1. Images of the route through the maze used in Experiment 4. *Top left*: Schematic drawing of the route including the two landmark animals for each intersection. *Top middle*: Next to the route (black line), displaying the direction of same direction trials (egocentric), two arrows represent the directions of two different direction trials (allocentric) for the first intersection. *Top right*: Schematic drawing of an empty map used for cued recall tests of route and animals following the navigation test. *Bottom*: Examples of test images from the first intersection. *Bottom left*: Same direction (egocentric) test image; correct answer: turn left. *Bottom middle*: Different direction (allocentric) test trial coming from the right (dashed arrow in image top middle); correct answer: go straight on. *Bottom right*: Different direction (allocentric) test image arrow in top middle image); correct answer: turn right.

In a 38-second video, participants were passively transported along a route through the environment turning either right or left at each of four four-way intersections, each marked with two pictures of animals (e.g., dog, snake, panda), serving as landmarks hanging from the ceiling of the maze in two opposite corners of the intersection (see Figure 4.1 top left for a

schematic drawing of the route). At test, participants were presented with 12 static images of the intersections in random order presenting them as coming from the same (four) or a different direction (eight) as at study. Same and different direction images differed in terms of the positions of the animal landmarks marking the intersections (see Figure 4.1 for examples). Different direction images never presented the intersection as coming from the direction in which the training route continued. Whereas same direction trials were used to measure egocentric navigation, different direction trials tested allocentric navigation.

4.1.3.3 Procedure

In a practice task, participants were presented twice with a video of a virtual route that turned either right or left at each of two four-way intersections at study. At test, they took part in one same and one different direction trial. After receiving corrective feedback and another practice in case of a wrong answer, as well as the chance to ask questions, the test proper started. The experiment was presented in Tobii studio Version 3.1.6, and a Tobii TX300 recorded eye movements during study and test with a sampling rate of 240 Hz. For this purpose, before each study and test phase participants were asked to complete a five-point calibration procedure, thus allowing them to readjust their seating position and to take breaks between blocks. Over the course of six study-test blocks, participants were asked to learn a new route through the maze, including four four-way intersections, with the route either turning right or left at each intersection. In every block, participants watched the same route video twice at study, followed by seeing the same 12 test trials - four same- and eight different-direction trials - in random order at test. Participants were told that the test trials represented the intersections they had seen in the route video, but that some of them were now presented as if approached from another direction, although never from the direction that would be opposite the direction of travel (i.e., participants knew that they would never have to make a U-turn). Participants were then asked to indicate the direction they would need to

travel to follow the original route they had studied. Answer possibilities were left, right, or straight on. The test images remained on the screen until participants gave a verbal response after which the next trial started. No feedback was provided at test.

After the last test block, participants' memory of the landmark animals marking the intersections and the route was tested. In a free recall test, participants were asked to name all the animals they remembered and the experimenter noted down their answers. Participants were then presented with an empty map (see Figure 4.1 top right) displaying the four four-way intersections along with two empty boxes at each intersection to indicate the positions of the animal landmarks. The starting point of the route was indicated by an arrow pointing in the direction of travel, and participants were instructed to draw in the route they had studied, and to label the boxes with the names of the animals as far as they remembered them.

To measure the extent to which possible inflexible responses on the navigation task may be related to difficulties with EFs, cognitive flexibility was tested using the Intradimensional/Extradimensional shift task (*IED*) from the CANTAB. This task presented participants with pairs of pink shapes and white lines on top and measured rule learning based on reward and rule changes. Participants' response perseveration at Stage 8, presenting the extradimensional shift, i.e., a shift in reward from the pink shapes to the white lines, was of particular interest. The number of times participants continued to choose the pink shapes over the white lines because they had previously been correct and rewarded (perseverative mistakes) was measured. The IED has been shown to be sensitive to frontal lobe damage (Owen et al., 1993), and ASD individuals were reported to show more perseverative errors on the extradimensional shift of the task (Hughes, Russell & Robbins, 1994; Ozonoff et al., 2004), making the IED a good control task.

4.1.3.4 Scoring

4.1.3.4.1 Behavioural data

First, participant's responses were scored as a percentage of correct trials for each block to obtain an *accuracy score*. Using the same data, *switch costs* were calculated as a percentage of correct trials following a switch between egocentric and allocentric trials. The data were averaged across the six test blocks, because not every switch type occurred in every block, because of the randomised trial presentation. An *allocentric switch*, where a same direction trial (egocentric) was followed by a different direction trial (allocentric), was distinguished from an *egocentric switch*, where a different direction trial (allocentric) was followed by a same direction trial (egocentric). Finally, *strategy scores* were derived from the two different direction trials, where the three different directions represented the three strategies. Scores were calculated as the percentage of times participants gave an answer according to each of the three strategies, as explained in reference to Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2. Schematic drawing to display the three different strategies for a different direction (allocentric) trial that distinguished between all three strategies and the directions that followed these strategies in Experiment 4.

In the figure, the first intersection is marked by Landmark A in the bottom right-hand corner and Landmark B in the top-left hand corner, when approached from the original travel direction (grey arrow) in same direction trials coming from the bottom. The route turned left at this intersection at study, and to turn left would be the correct response at test for same direction trials. In the different direction trial presented at test, the same intersection is now approached from the right (black arrow) and is marked with Landmark A in the bottom lefthand corner and Landmark B in the top right-hand corner (see Figure 4.1 bottom middle for the actual image). Using a *Configuration strategy*, the participant would have encoded the original relationship between the two landmarks and the travel direction, and would give the correct answer to go straight at this intersection, following the original travel direction. If a participant used only one of the landmarks as a cue, for example, they remembered to turn left at Landmark A or B, the answer would be to turn left (dotted arrow), leading to an incorrect answer and a score for the *Associative Cue strategy*. A third possibility is that the participant used one of the landmarks as a beacon, making them turn away from Landmark A or turn towards Landmark B, resulting in a right turn (dashed arrow), an incorrect answer, and a score for the *Beacon strategy*.

4.1.3.4.2 Eye-movement data

Total duration and number of fixations on the front animal (ROI1) and the landmark animal presented at the back of the intersection (ROI2) were extracted using Tobii studio Version 3.3.0. Fixations were defined as lasting a minimum of 100 ms. Eye movements were recorded at study, i.e., while participants watched the route video, and at test, i.e., while participants viewed same (egocentric) and different (allocentric) direction test images. Eye movements at study (encoding) were averaged across the two video presentations of each trial, and were analysed separately for the six blocks of the task to investigate changes in eye movements across the duration of the task. Similarly, eye movements at test (retrieval) were calculated separately for the six blocks of the task, and for egocentric and allocentric test trials, to investigate changes in eye movements across the duration of the task as well as potential differences in eye movements between conditions.

4.1.4 Results

The data were analysed with Chi-Squared tests for nominal data, bivariate correlations, linear regression analyses, independent samples t-tests, and repeated measures ANOVAs. GGC was used, when the Sphericity assumption was violated, and Bonferroni corrected post hoc tests

were applied in case of significant differences. The level of significance was set to .05 and Cohen's *d* and partial Eta-Squared are reported as effect size measures.

4.1.4.1 Behavioural data

4.1.4.1.1 Accuracy

The data, presented in Figure 4.3, were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Trial type [egocentric, allocentric]) x 6 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]) repeated measures ANOVA. A significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,66) = 5.35, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.56, 95 % CI(0.07, 1.04), indicated higher accuracy for the TD (M = 0.71, SD = 0.16) compared to the ASD group (M = 0.62, SD = 0.16). Significant main effects of *Trial type*, F(1,66) = 136.55, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.49, 95 % CI(1.11, 1.86), and *Block*, F(3.53,232.66) = 10.06, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .13$, GGC, showed higher accuracy for egocentric compared to allocentric trials, and a gradual increase in performance from Block 1 to Block 6. No interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 1.76$, $p_{min} > .14$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .03$.



Figure 4.3. Accuracy in same (egocentric) and different direction (allocentric) trials across the six blocks of Experiment 4 for ASD and TD groups. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

4.1.4.1.2 Allocentric vs. egocentric switch

A switch from an egocentric to an allocentric trial is called allocentric switch (EA), whereas a switch from an allocentric to an egocentric trial is named egocentric switch (AE). A 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Switch [EA, AE]) repeated measures ANOVA analysing switch data showed a marginal main effect of *Group*, F(1,66) = 3.91, p = .05, Cohen's d = 0.48, 95 % CI(-0.01, 0.96), with higher accuracy for the TD (M = 0.70, SD = 0.22) compared to the ASD group (M = 0.62, SD = 0.26), as well as a significant main effect of *Switch*, F(1,66) = 79.11, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 1.26, 95 % CI(0.88, 1.62), with higher accuracy for an allocentric to egocentric (AE; M = 0.79, SD = 0.21) compared to an egocentric to allocentric (EA; M = 0.53, SD = 0.21) switch. The interaction was not significant, F(1,66) = 0.00, p = .98, $\eta_p^2 = .00$.¹⁴

¹⁴ When analysing these data only including the 25 TD and 36 ASD individuals that also took part in the IED from the CANTAB, the direction of the effects stayed the same.

4.1.4.1.3 Strategy

Strategy scores are presented in Figure 4.4, and they were analysed with three separate 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 6 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]) repeated measures ANOVAs. A non-significant trend for a *Group x Block* interaction, F(5,330) = 1.91, p = .09, $\eta_p^2 = .03$, was found for the *Associative Cue strategy*. No main effects were significant regarding the Associative Cue strategy, $F_{max} < 1.38$, $p_{min} > .24$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .03$. Significant main effects of *Block_{Beacon}*, F(4.24,279.61) = 6.68, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, GGC, and *Block_{Configuration}*, F(3.78,249.69) = 9.19, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .12$, GGC, however, showed a decrease in the use of the *Beacon strategy*, and an increase in the use of the *Configuration strategy* from Blocks 1 to 6. No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 1.46$, $p_{min} > .23$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .03$.



Figure 4.4. Strategy use in different direction (allocentric) trials that distinguished between associative cue, beacon, and configuration strategies for TD (left) and ASD (right) groups across the six blocks of Experiment 4. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

4.1.4.2 Executive Functions

The data for the IED from the CANTAB were available for 36 ASD (29 men, $M_{age} = 43.00$ years, age range: 26-64 years) and 25 TD (21 men, $M_{age} = 42.68$ years, age range: 21-64 years) participants that were still matched in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.12$, p = .73, CA, VIQ, PIQ, and FIQ, $t_{max} < 0.33$, $p_{min} > .74$, Cohen's $d_{max} < 0.09$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.43, 0.59)¹⁵. ASD individuals ($M_{ASD} = 11.67$; $SD_{ASD} = 11.1$) showed significantly more perseverative errors at Stage 8 of the IED compared to the TD group ($M_{TD} = 5.76$; $SD_{TD} = 7.1$), t = 2.52, p = .01, Cohen's d = 0.61, 95 % CI(0.08, 1.12). Inspecting bivariate correlations to investigate the role of EFs on spatial navigation, significant negative correlations were found between perseverative errors on the IED and egocentric and allocentric navigation for the groups in total and for the TD group, indicating the more perseverative errors participants made, the worse their navigation performance (see Table 4.4).

Table 4.4

Bivariate correlations between navigation performance on egocentric and allocentric trials and perseverative errors on the IED of the CANTAB as a measure of executive functions, as well as memory for the landmark animals placed along the route for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 4.

	ASD Ego ^a	ASD Allo ^b	TD Ego ^a	TD Allo ^b	Total Ego ^a	Total Allo ^b
IED ^c	22	33	60**	42*	34**	38**
Free recall	.28	.32	09	.07	.23	.28*
Cued recall	.23	.28	00	.53**	.21	.41**

Note. ^aAccuracy for egocentric trials. ^bAccuracy for allocentric trials. ^cPerseverative errors at the extradimensional shift Stage 8 of the IED of the CANTAB. *significant at p < .05. **significant at p < .01.

¹⁵ When analysing the behavioural navigation data presented above for this reduced sample, the direction of the effects stayed the same.

When entering Perseverative errors and a Group x Perseverative errors interaction term into a multiple linear regression using the forward method to predict *allocentric navigation*, Perseverative errors remained as the only significant predictor, $\beta = -.38$, 95 % CI(-0.01, -0.00), p < .05, explaining 14.2 % of overall variance, $R^2 = .14$, F(1,59) = 9.74, p < .01, in allocentric navigation. Similarly, Perseverative errors significantly predicted *egocentric navigation*, $\beta = -.34$, 95 % CI(-0.01, -0.00), p < .05, explaining 11.8 % of overall variance, $R^2 = .12$, F(1,59) = 7.89, p < .01.

4.1.4.3 Free recall and cued recall

As is displayed in Table 4.5, the TD group recalled significantly more landmark animals than the ASD group in free, t(66) = 2.70, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.66, 95 % CI(0.16, 1.14), and cued recall tests, t(66) = 2.33, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.57, 95 % CI(0.07, 1.05). TD participants also recalled slightly better the animals' positions along the route, t(65.99) = 1.97, p = .05, Cohen's d = 0.47, 95 % CI(-0.02, 0.95), compared to the ASD group. There were, however, no significant between-group differences in the recall of turns along the route, when participants were cued with the map, t(66) = 0.98, p = .33, Cohen's d = 0.24, 95 % CI(-0.24, 0.72).

Bivariate correlations to investigate the role of item memory on navigation performance showed significant positive correlations between memory for animals and allocentric navigation (see Table 4.4), indicating the better participants remembered the animal landmarks, the better they performed on allocentric navigation trials. No significant correlations were found between item memory and egocentric navigation. When entering Free and Cued recall for animals as well as interaction terms of these variables and the Group factor into a multiple linear regression analysis using the forward method to predict *allocentric navigation* performance, Cued recall for animals remained as the only significant predictor, $\beta = .41$, 95 % CI(0.22, 0.76), p < .0001, explaining 16.9 % of total variance in allocentric navigation performance, $R^2 = .17$, F(1,66) = 13.43, p < .0001. Item memory did not explain any variance in *egocentric navigation* performance.

Table 4.5

Means and Standard Deviations for free and cued recall item tests for the ASD and TD groups in Experiment 4.

	ASD (30m, 7f)	TD (25m, 6f)
	M (SD)	M (SD)
Free recall		
Animals (out of 8)	0.72 (0.18)	0.82 (0.14)
Cued recall		
Turns along the route (out of 4)	0.90 (0.25)	0.95 (0.19)
Animals (out of 8)	0.71 (0.18)	0.80 (0.13)
Animal positions (out of number of animals)	0.57 (0.39)	0.74 (0.32)

Finally, to consider EFs and item memory within the same model, Perseverative errors on the IED and Cued recall for animal landmarks were entered into a multiple linear regression using the forward method to predict allocentric navigation. The best model significantly explained 21.3 % of total variance in *allocentric navigation* performance, $R^2 = .21$, F(2,58) = 7.84, p < .01, and included Perseverative errors, $\beta = -.30$, 95 % CI(-0.01, -0.00), p < .05, as well as Cued recall for animals, $\beta = .28$, 95 % CI(0.04, 0.58), p < .05, as significant predictors for allocentric navigation (Figure 4.5). However, Perseverative errors remained as the only significant predictor for *egocentric navigation* (see Section 4.1.4.2).



Figure 4.5. The relationship between perseverative errors on the IED of the CANTAB (EFs) and different direction (allocentric) navigation (left), and between cued recall for animal landmarks (item memory) and different direction (allocentric) navigation performance (right) in Experiment 4, with EFs and item memory significantly predicting allocentric navigation performance. Black triangles = TD. White circles = ASD. Solid line = linear regression line TD. Dashed line = linear regression line ASD.

4.1.4.4 Exploratory regression analyses regarding the effects of age

Similarly to Experiments 1 to 3, it was of interest to explore the effects of age on navigation performance because of the similarity between memory in TD OA and in ASD(ageing analogy; Bowler, 2007), and because of the known effects of age on allocentric navigation performance in healthy older TD individuals (e.g., Wiener et al., 2013). First, bivariate correlations were investigated, which showed no significant relations between navigation performance and age (see Table 4.6).
Table 4.6

Bivariate correlations between performance on egocentric (same direction) and allocentric (different direction) trials and age for the participants in Experiment 4.

	Egocentric	Allocentric
age	04	20^{+}

Note. p < .1. *significant at p < .05. **significant at $p \leq .01$.

Since it was still possible that age may have had a different effect on navigation performance in the two groups (Bewick et al., 2003), multiple linear regression analyses were run including Age and a Group x Age interaction term to predict navigation performance. The Group x Age interaction term explained 6.9 % of the variance, $R^2 = .07$, F(1,66) = 4.89, p =.03, and it significantly predicted *allocentric navigation* performance, $\beta = -.26$, 95 % CI(-0.00, 0.00), p < .05. Visual inspection of the right-hand panel of Figure 4.6, along with the inspection of the regression coefficients, showed that age was a better predictor of allocentric navigation performance in the TD as opposed to the ASD group. Similarly, the Group x Age interaction term explained 6.8 % of the variance, $R^2 = .07$, F(1,66) = 4.79, p = .03, and it significantly predicted *egocentric navigation* performance, $\beta = -.26$, 95 % CI(-0.00, 0.00), p <.05. Visual inspection of the left-hand panel of Figure 4.6 showed that age was a better predictor of egocentric navigation performance in the ASD as opposed to the TD group.



Figure 4.6. The relationship between age and egocentric navigation (same direction trials, left), and between age and allocentric navigation performance (different direction trials, right) in Experiment 4, with a stronger age-related difference in egocentric navigation in the ASD group and in allocentric navigation in the TD group. Black triangles = TD. White circles = ASD. Solid line = linear regression line TD. Dashed line = linear regression line ASD.

4.1.4.5 Eye-movement data

4.1.4.5.1 Encoding

Eye-movement data gathered while participants watched the route video at study are presented in Table 4.7, and they were analysed with 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (ROI [ROI1, ROI2]) x 6 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]) repeated measures ANOVAs.

Table 4.7

Total fixation durations and number of fixations during encoding on the front animal (ROI1) and the animal presented at the back of the intersection (ROI2) across the six experimental blocks of Experiment 4 for ASD and TD groups.

ASD (2	ASD (27m, 5f)		3m, 5f)	
ROI1	ROI2	ROI1	ROI2	
M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	
ration in s				
8.72 (3.80)	10.27 (4.91)	10.33 (2.67)	11.57 (3.59)	
8.42 (3.64)	9.79 (4.03)	10.17 (2.66)	10.55 (3.29)	
8.21 (3.37)	9.18 (4.05)	9.92 (2.93)	10.16 (3.06)	
7.91 (3.54)	8.70 (4.06)	10.60 (2.83)	10.78 (3.10)	
8.03 (4.04)	8.92 (4.25)	10.24 (3.38)	11.11 (3.76)	
8.66 (4.38)	8.58 (4.32)	9.77 (3.45)	10.69 (3.20)	
ons				
29.13 (12.24)	33.78 (15.14)	33.68 (7.48)	37.79 (11.11)	
29.56 (9.92)	34.03 (13.08)	34.46 (7.04)	36.54 (15.56)	
29.41 (9.66)	32.75 (13.25)	35.00 (10.46)	36.71 (11.61)	
27.69 (9.82)	30.47 (13.01)	36.32 (9.17)	37.75 (12.99)	
27.91 (14.01)	31.13 (14.58)	33.89 (13.76)	39.54 (12.52)	
30.06 (14.92)	29.38 (14.53)	31.75 (9.42)	36.43 (11.05)	
	ASD (2 ROI1 <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>) Tration in s 8.72 (3.80) 8.42 (3.64) 8.21 (3.37) 7.91 (3.54) 8.03 (4.04) 8.66 (4.38) ons 29.13 (12.24) 29.56 (9.92) 29.41 (9.66) 27.69 (9.82) 27.91 (14.01) 30.06 (14.92)	ASD (27m, 5f) ROI1 ROI2 M (SD) M (SD) Irration in s 8.72 (3.80) 10.27 (4.91) 8.42 (3.64) 9.79 (4.03) 8.42 (3.64) 8.42 (3.64) 9.79 (4.03) 8.21 (3.37) 9.18 (4.05) 7.91 (3.54) 8.70 (4.06) 8.03 (4.04) 8.92 (4.25) 8.66 (4.38) 8.58 (4.32) ons 29.13 (12.24) 33.78 (15.14) 29.56 (9.92) 34.03 (13.08) 29.41 (9.66) 32.75 (13.25) 27.69 (9.82) 30.47 (13.01) 27.91 (14.01) 31.13 (14.58) 30.06 (14.92) 29.38 (14.53)	ASD (27m, 5f) TD (23 ROI1 ROI2 ROI1 M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) aration in s 8.72 (3.80) 10.27 (4.91) 10.33 (2.67) 8.42 (3.64) 9.79 (4.03) 10.17 (2.66) 8.21 (3.37) 9.18 (4.05) 9.92 (2.93) 7.91 (3.54) 8.70 (4.06) 10.60 (2.83) 8.03 (4.04) 8.92 (4.25) 10.24 (3.38) 8.66 (4.38) 8.58 (4.32) 9.77 (3.45) poins 29.13 (12.24) 33.78 (15.14) 33.68 (7.48) 29.56 (9.92) 34.03 (13.08) 34.46 (7.04) 29.56 (9.92) 30.47 (13.01) 36.32 (9.17) 27.69 (9.82) 30.47 (13.01) 36.32 (9.17) 27.91 (14.01) 31.13 (14.58) 33.89 (13.76) 30.06 (14.92) 29.38 (14.53) 31.75 (9.42)	

4.1.4.5.1.1 Fixations on objects

4.1.4.5.1.1.1 Total Fixation Duration

Significant main effects of *Group*, F(1,58) = 5.90, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.63, 95 % CI(0.10, 1.14), and *ROI*, F(1,58) = 4.92, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.25, 95 % CI(-0.11, 0.61), showed longer total fixations on the landmark animals for the TD compared to the ASD group, and shorter total fixations on the front (ROI1) compared to the back animal (ROI2). No interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.87$, $p_{\text{min}} > .10$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .04$.

When running follow up tests to inspect if ASD compared to TD participants looked longer at the three different directions, no significant between-group differences were found, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.2$, $p_{\text{min}} > .33$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .02$.

4.1.4.5.1.1.2 Number of Fixations

Similarly to the data on fixation durations, significant main effects of *Group*, F(1,58) = 5.48, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.61, 95 % CI (0.08, 1.12), and *ROI*, F(1,58) = 9.38, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.32, 95 % CI(-0.04, 0.68), showed more fixations on the landmark animals for the TD compared to the ASD group, and fewer fixations on the front (ROI1) compared to the back animal (ROI2). No main effect of Block or interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.35$, $p_{\text{min}} > .24$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .03$.

4.1.4.5.2 Retrieval

The data are presented in Table 4.8, and they were analysed with 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Trial type [egocentric, allocentric]) x 2 (ROI [ROI1, ROI2]) x 6 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]) repeated measures ANOVAs. ROI1 was specified as the animal presented in the front of the intersection at encoding, and ROI2 was the animal that had been presented at the back of the intersection at encoding.

Table 4.8

Total fixation duration and number of fixations during retrieval on the two landmarks presented at each intersection along the route - ROI1 (front animal at encoding) and ROI2 (back animal at encoding), across the six blocks of egocentric and allocentric trials of Experiment 4 for ASD and TD groups.

		ASD (2	ASD (27m, 5f)		3m, 5f)
		ROI1	ROI2	ROI1	ROI2
Measure		M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Total Fixa	ation Duration in s				
Egocentri	c trials				
Block	1	2.40 (3.14)	1.98 (1.89)	1.71 (1.38)	1.78 (1.18)
	2	1.78 (2.38)	1.63 (1.38)	2.33 (1.91)	2.05 (1.15)
	3	1.57 (1.20)	1.45 (1.31)	2.37 (2.08)	2.21 (2.58)
	4	1.75 (2.11)	1.73 (2.08)	2.04 (1.77)	1.85 (1.04)
	5	1.43 (1.66)	1.54 (1.43)	2.04 (1.84)	1.74 (1.27)
	6	1.24 (1.13)	1.37 (1.16)	1.91 (1.57)	1.56 (0.91)
Allocentri	ic trials				
Block	1	2.21 (1.87)	1.98 (1.61)	2.28 (1.34)	2.09 (1.09)
	2	1.92 (1.91)	1.67 (1.63)	2.64 (1.78)	2.49 (1.99)
	3	1.89 (1.75)	1.64 (1.56)	2.50 (1.97)	2.27 (2.00)
	4	1.62 (1.46)	1.46 (1.47)	2.51 (1.79)	2.08 (1.56)
	5	1.67 (1.08)	1.46 (0.97)	2.74 (2.42)	2.09 (1.46)
	6	1.82 (1.76)	1.47 (1.23)	2.33 (1.58)	1.99 (1.49)

	ASD (27)	m, 5f)	TD (23m, 5f)		
	ROI1	ROI2	ROI1	ROI2	
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	
ixations					
rials					
1	8.28 (7.99)	6.74 (5.38)	6.24 (4.77)	6.16 (4.11)	
2	6.46 (6.95)	6.03 (5.73)	8.44 (5.97)	7.16 (4.06)	
3	6.24 (5.22)	5.50 (5.82)	9.04 (7.51)	7.21 (6.12)	
4	7.02 (9.87)	6.47 (9.80)	7.40 (5.83)	6.20 (4.32)	
5	6.02 (9.37)	5.83 (6.63)	7.18 (6.00)	5.67 (4.25)	
6	4.78 (3.77)	4.88 (4.23)	7.15 (6.08)	5.18 (3.12)	
rials					
1	7.81 (6.33)	7.52 (5.72)	8.05 (4.79)	7.42 (3.76)	
2	7.25 (8.98)	6.60 (6.49)	8.94 (5.93)	8.74 (6.08)	
3	6.40 (5.61)	6.05 (5.39)	8.23 (6.32)	8.07 (6.33)	
4	5.77 (6.68)	5.53 (5.21)	8.30 (6.60)	7.57 (5.34)	
5	6.04 (4.86)	5.67 (3.91)	8.81 (7.33)	7.09 (4.82)	
6	6.02 (5.76)	5.39 (4.23)	7.77 (5.52)	6.67 (4.22)	
	ixations ials 1 2 3 4 5 6 rials 1 2 3 4 5 6 rials 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 8 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 8 1 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	ASD (27) ROI1 <i>M</i> (SD) ixations ials 1 8.28 (7.99) 2 6.46 (6.95) 3 6.24 (5.22) 4 7.02 (9.87) 5 6.02 (9.37) 6 4.78 (3.77) rials 1 7.81 (6.33) 2 7.25 (8.98) 3 6.40 (5.61) 4 5.77 (6.68) 5 6.04 (4.86) 6 6.02 (5.76)	ASD (27m, 5f) ROI1 ROI2 M (SD) M (SD) ixations M (SD) isations Solution ials Solution 1 8.28 (7.99) 6.74 (5.38) 2 6.46 (6.95) 6.03 (5.73) 3 6.24 (5.22) 5.50 (5.82) 4 7.02 (9.87) 6.47 (9.80) 5 6.02 (9.37) 5.83 (6.63) 6 4.78 (3.77) 4.88 (4.23) rials I 7.81 (6.33) 7.52 (5.72) 2 7.25 (8.98) 6.60 (6.49) 3 6.40 (5.61) 6.05 (5.39) 4 5.77 (6.68) 5.53 (5.21) 5 6.04 (4.86) 5.67 (3.91) 6 6.02 (5.76) 5.39 (4.23)	ASD (27m, 5f) TD (23r ROI1 ROI2 ROI1 M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) ixations M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) ixations 5 6.24 (4.77) 2 6.46 (6.95) 6.03 (5.73) 8.44 (5.97) 3 6.24 (5.22) 5.50 (5.82) 9.04 (7.51) 4 7.02 (9.87) 6.47 (9.80) 7.40 (5.83) 5 6.02 (9.37) 5.83 (6.63) 7.18 (6.00) 6 4 7.02 (9.87) 6.47 (9.80) 7.40 (5.83) 5 5 6.02 (9.37) 5.83 (6.63) 7.18 (6.00) 6 6 4.78 (3.77) 4.88 (4.23) 7.15 (6.08) 7.15 (6.08) rials 1 7.81 (6.33) 7.52 (5.72) 8.05 (4.79) 2 2 7.25 (8.98) 6.60 (6.49) 8.94 (5.93) 3 6.40 (5.61) 6.05 (5.39) 8.23 (6.32) 4 5.77 (6.68) 5.53 (5.21) 8.30 (6.60) 5 6.04 (4.86) 5.67 (3.91) 8.81 (7.33)	

4.1.4.5.2.1 Egocentric vs. allocentric trials - Fixations on objects

4.1.4.5.2.1.1 Total Fixation Duration

A significant main effect of *Trial type*, F(1,58) = 11.92, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.17, 95 % CI(-0.19, 0.53), with longer total fixations in allocentric compared to egocentric trials was further qualified by a significant *Group x Trial type* interaction, F(1,58) = 5.04, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .08$, which showed that only TD participants fixated longer in allocentric as opposed to egocentric trials, p < .0001, Cohen's d = 0.28, 95 % CI(-0.25, 0.81), whereas no difference between

conditions was found for the ASD group, p = .38, Cohen's d = 0.06, 95 % CI(-0.43, 0.55). By contrast with the encoding trials, a marginal main effect of *ROI*, F(1,58) = 3.92, p = .05, Cohen's d = 0.16, 95 % CI(-0.20, 0.52), showed longer total fixations on the front (ROI1) compared to the back animal (ROI2). A marginal *Group x Block* interaction, F(2.99,173.50)= 2.52, p = .06, $\eta_p^2 = .04$, GGC, was characterised by an increase in total fixation duration from Blocks 1 to 6 for the TD group, but a decrease for the ASD group. No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 1.89$, $p_{min} > .14$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .04$.

4.1.4.5.2.1.2 Number of Fixations

A significant *Trial type* main effect, F(1,58) = 9.28, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.12, 95 % CI(-0.24, 0.48), with more fixations for allocentric compared to egocentric trials, was again qualified by a significant *Group x Trial type* interaction, F(1,58) = 5.23, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .08$, showing that this was only the case for the TD group, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.21, 95 % CI(-0.31, 0.74). The ASD group, however, showed similar numbers of fixations in egocentric and allocentric trials, p = .58, Cohen's d = 0.03, 95 % CI(-0.46, 0.52). Significant main effects of ROI, F(1,58) = 5.65, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.15, 95 % CI(-0.21, 0.51), and *Block*, F(3.21,185.93) = 2.69, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .04$, GGC, showed more fixations on the front (ROI1) compared to the back animal (ROI2), as well as a decrease in the number of fixations from Blocks 1 to 6. No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 2.05$, $p_{min} > .10$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .04$.

4.1.4.6 Correlations among behavioural and eye-movement data

4.1.4.6.1 Eye movements at encoding

To establish the extent to which fixations on the landmark animals at encoding may have contributed to later navigation performance¹⁶, bivariate correlations were run between behavioural performance on egocentric and allocentric trials and difference scores of fixations on ROI2 and ROI1, since the analyses of encoding eye-movement data (see Section 4.1.4.5.1) had yielded that ROI2 had been fixated longer and more often at encoding as opposed to ROI1. Table 4.9 shows that there were no correlations between fixations on the landmark animals at encoding and subsequent navigation performance for the groups in total and the ASD group. Contrary to that, subsequent egocentric navigation in the TD group was significantly related to longer and more fixations on the back as opposed to the front object of the intersection at encoding.

Table 4.9

Bivariate correlations between fixation duration and number of fixations at encoding and subsequent navigation performance in Experiment 4.

	Ego ASD	Ego TD	Ego Total	Allo ASD	Allo TD	Allo Total
Fix dur ROI2 -	27	.45*	03	25	02	15
ROI1 ^a						
N fix ROI2 -	06	.43*	.15	19	03	09
ROI1 ^a						

Note. ^aDifference score of fixations on ROI2 (back animal of the intersection) and ROI1 (front animal of the intersection). *significant at p < .05. **significant at p < .01.

¹⁶ When analysing the behavioural data for the reduced sample of individuals for whom eye-movement data were available, the results were the same.

4.1.4.6.2 Eye movements at retrieval

To examine whether fixations on landmark animals at retrieval were related to navigation performance, bivariate correlations were run. Table 4.10 shows that allocentric navigation for the groups in total, as well as the ASD group, was significantly related to longer and more fixations on the animal that had been presented in the front as opposed to the animal that had been presented at the back of the intersection at encoding.

Table 4.10

Bivariate correlations between fixation duration and number of fixations at retrieval and navigation performance in Experiment 4.

	Ego ASD	Ego TD	Ego Total	Allo ASD	Allo TD	Allo Total
Fix dur ROI1 -	.12	32	07	.38*	.25	.30*
ROI2 ^a						
N fix ROI1 -	.07	29	08	.35*	.22	.28*
ROI2 ^a						

Note. ^aDifference score of fixations on ROI1 (front animal of the intersection at encoding) and ROI2 (back animal of the intersection at encoding). *significant at p < .05. **significant at p < .01.

4.1.5 Discussion

The aim of this study was to compare, systematically, allocentric and egocentric spatial navigation using a task that had the same relational processing requirements for both conditions. Item memory, EFs, and attention were measured to assess potential between-group differences and their influence on spatial navigation. Eye movements were also measured at retrieval to examine whether relational memory difficulties may be evident in

ASD in measures that operate outside awareness. Preliminary analyses were run to investigate the effect of age on navigation performance in both groups.

In the navigation task, participants studied a route through a maze crossing four fourway intersections, each marked with two unique landmarks presenting images of animals. At test, participants were presented with images of the intersections coming from the same (egocentric trials) or a different direction (allocentric trials) as at study. They were asked to indicate the original travel direction in every trial, which provided measures of accuracy, switch costs, and strategy. Item memory was tested by asking participants to recall the animals as well as the direction of the route using a map, and perseverative errors in the IED from the CANTAB served as a measure of EFs. Attention was assessed by measuring participants' eye movements.

Contrary to the prediction that ASD individuals would show particular difficulties with allocentric navigation, difficulties were observed in both same (egocentric) and different direction (allocentric) trials, supporting the finding of Lind et al. (2013) of a general navigation deficit in ASD independent of condition. In addition, unlike predictions of specific difficulties to switch to an allocentric strategy, ASD individuals showed general difficulties in switching between allocentric and egocentric trials. The lack of between-group differences in the use of the three strategies was against the third prediction of a reduced use of Configuration and an increased use of Beacon and/or Associative Cue strategies in ASD. This result is unlike Wiener et al. (2013), who had found a reduced use of the Configuration strategy in TD OA, possibly because of the dependence of this strategy on hippocampal functioning, which has been reported to decrease with age in TD individuals. It is possible that the fronto-hippocampal system is differently affected in ASD compared to TD OA. This suggestion is supported by looking at the effect of age on allocentric navigation performance in the current study, which was stronger for the TD compared to the ASD group. Similar

findings of the reduced effect of age on relational memory in ASD as opposed to TD individuals were also found in Experiments 1 and 3, supporting the safe-guard hypothesis (Geurts & Vissers, 2012; Lever & Geurts, 2016). Since allocentric navigation is dependent on hippocampal functioning (Bohbot et al., 2004), the reduced effect of age on allocentric navigation in ASD in the present experiment suggested that the hippocampus may be less affected in ASD, or that ASD individuals may have better compensatory mechanisms, which are not available for TD OA because of their age-related decline in other cognitive functions, such as frontal lobe functions. Maister et al. (2013) made a similar suggestion, when they found that only the ASD group with impairments in EFs also showed difficulties in memory in their sample. A stronger effect of age on egocentric navigation in ASD as opposed to TD individuals in the current study was, however, surprising. It may have been related to the fact that the current task relied heavily on cognitive flexibility in switching between different navigation strategies and, therefore, task performance was dependent on EFs. It may be that in tasks that place high demands on EFs, possible compensatory mechanisms relying on frontal lobe functioning, may not work well in ASD, because of a reliance on the same functions. Another possibility that may explain age-related effects on egocentric navigation is that in the current study a specific subgroup of persons with ASD may have participated that had particular difficulties with EFs, as indicated by the higher number of perseverative errors on the IED. Because of the demands on EFs in the task, difficulties may have already been apparent in egocentric navigation. In a more general context, it is important to note that the current study as well as Experiments 1 - 3 used a cross-sectional design. Longitudinal investigations of age-related memory effects may show different results altogether. This may be the case, especially, because the samples recruited for this thesis are fairly selective in that intellectually highly able adults with an interest in research participated. When following up the same ASD individuals over time, Howlin et al. (2014) found a steep decline in cognitive functions in 25 % of older ASD individuals, preventing inclusion in further research studies. The lack of participation of individuals such as these may hide age-related memory differences in studied ASD populations.

Looking again at strategy use, it is also possible that the between-group difference in the use of the configuration strategy found in Wiener et al. (2013) may be explained by the fact that the authors had only screened their TD OA for mild cognitive impairments resulting from ageing, but younger and older TD adults had not been matched on cognitive ability. Therefore, it is possible that the older TD adults in the sample may have also had lower cognitive abilities confounding the data. In the current study, however, ASD and TD participants were well matched in terms of age and IQ. Finally, it is possible that the actual effect size of the between-group difference in configuration strategy use is small and would, therefore, require larger samples to be detected.

In general, the finding of an overall navigation deficit in ASD in this study may seem surprising, but there are two likely explanations, which will be discussed next. First, from a memory point of view, general difficulties in the spatial navigation performance in ASD may have occurred because of relational binding processes that are inherent in the task. According to Halford (1992; see Section 1.4.1.4), binary relations are necessary to process pairs of items, whereas in a ternary relation three pieces of information are set into relation. A same direction (egocentric) trial may be seen as a task that necessitates a participant to form a binary relation between one object and the direction of travel. Whereas to perform well in different direction (allocentric) trials, participants need to take account of both objects and their positions (right, left and front, back and vice versa) in relation to the travel direction and, therefore, several binary and ternary relations need to be formed. Both binary and ternary relations have been found to pose difficulties for ASD participants previously, for example, in Experiments 2 and 3 of this thesis. In addition, memory difficulties may have

also contributed to ASD participants' reduced navigation performance in terms of reduced memory for animal landmarks, which was also found to be an important predictor for navigation performance in the current study. The argument is further supported by the retrieval eye-movement data showing similar fixation durations and numbers of fixations on landmark animals in egocentric and allocentric trials in the ASD group, which may indicate reduced processing of relations between landmarks. This argument is also supported by correlations between navigation and eye-movement data showing that particularly allocentric navigation benefitted from a larger difference in fixation durations and number of fixations between landmark animals. Similar fixations on egocentric and allocentric trials may also indicate that ASD individuals did not identify allocentric trials as presenting the intersection coming from a different direction than at study and, therefore, presenting a new image. ASD participants may have confused newly presented allocentric with familiar egocentric images, reflecting reduced EM in ASD.

A second possible explanation for the overall navigation deficit in ASD found in this study is that the general difficulty in switching between navigation strategies in ASD along with the randomised presentation of allocentric and egocentric trials may have had a knock-on effect on same direction performance, decreasing performance overall in the ASD group. As already mentioned above, since switching requires a flexible adjustment both to and between different trial types, it is likely that cognitive flexibility and, therefore, EFs were important for this task. More perseverative errors for ASD participants in the current study (in line with Hughes et al., 1994; Ozonoff et al., 2004), as well as their importance for predicting navigation performance have highlighted the relevance of EFs for spatial navigation, in addition to memory, in the current study. Another factor that may have had an influence on reduced navigation performance in ASD is perspective-taking ability. Previous research highlighted the importance of prespective-taking ability in spatial navigation

(Kozhevnikov, Motes, Rasch & Blajenkova, 2006; Langdon, Coltheart, Ward & Catts, 2001), and De Condappa and Wiener (2016), using the same paradigm as the current study, suggested that allocentric trials can also be solved by using a perspective-taking approach rather than a configuration strategy. Given the difficulties ASD individuals present with ToM (see Sections 1.2.1, 1.4.2.5.1), and perspective-taking (e.g., Hamilton, Brindley & Frith, 2009; Rehfeldt, Dillen, Ziomek & Kowalchuk, 2007), difficulties in these areas may have played a role for the navigation deficit in the current study.

In addition to memory and EFs, differences in attention may have played a role in the spatial navigation difficulties in ASD, as indicated by encoding eye movements. In line with predictions, ASD individuals attended less to the animal landmarks. Although not apparent in the correlations between encoding eye movements and later navigation performance, it may still be possible that reduced attention to landmarks may have contributed to ASD individuals' reduced memory for the landmarks in the item test, as well as to difficulties with spatial navigation, as the use of environmental cues was found necessary for successful (allocentric) navigation (Bohbot et al., 2004). It is possible that the measures of fixation duration and number of fixations at encoding may not have been sensitive enough to pick up on the particular attention differences related to navigation difficulties in ASD. Specifically, it seems possible that not pure fixation time, but rather differences in a more complex fixation pattern, such as looking back and forth between landmarks and travel directions to form the basis for a cognitive map, would be a better predictor for navigation performance. However, reduced attention to landmarks at encoding in the ASD group in the current study replicated and extended the finding from Experiment 2, showing that different attentional preferences at encoding may contribute to memory as well as spatial navigation difficulties in ASD. Reduced fixations on landmarks also indicated less spontaneous use of cues inherent in the task, which raised the question if it is possible to improve task performance by the provision of task support (Bowler et al., 1997). It seems likely, when using the same paradigm as in the current study, that instructing ASD individuals, explicitly, to encode the landmarks and their relations, and to use them as cues for their navigation, would enhance ASD participants' task performance. Similarly, explicitly informing participants about the different pieces of information that need to be taken into account and related to one another may increase task performance. Using the paradigm of the current study, this would mean that participants would be informed about the landmark animals and how their positions (left vs. right, front vs. back) and their relation to one another relate to the travel direction and the correct response for same and different direction trials. These possibilities should be investigated in future research.

By finding general navigation deficits independent of condition in ASD and the surprising effect of age on egocentric navigation, only partial support was found for the ageing analogy (Bowler, 2007), and the idea that the PFC and the hippocampus, affected by typical ageing (Hedden & Gabrieli, 2004), may also underlie memory difficulties observed in ASD. The parietal lobes would be another brain structure worth considering (Boucher & Mayes, 2012; Maister et al., 2013), since eye-movement data showed attention differences in ASD in the current study, and the parietal lobes have been reported to support attention (Behrmann, Geng & Shomstein, 2004; Han et al., 2004; Malhotra, Coulthard & Husain, 2009). They have also been shown to be involved in spatial navigation in addition to the hippocampus and the PFC (Moffat, 2009), and all three brain regions are considered to be part of the *default network* underlying functions, such as Remembering, ToM, EFT, and ABM (Spreng, Mar & Kim, 2009), with self-projection (Buckner & Carroll, 2007) and scene-construction (Hassabis & Maguire, 2007) as the processes supporting these functions. Evidence consistent with the idea of a disturbance to the default network in ASD has been reported by Lind et al. (2013), who found difficulties in spatial navigation that were related to

problems in ToM and EM. This interpretation fits with the idea of an involvement of perspective-taking ability in the spatial navigation difficulties in ASD.

To conclude, the present study shows general spatial navigation difficulties that were related to the ability to flexibly switch between different navigation strategies, as well as item memory and EFs. The role of EFs was particularly highlighted by findings of a stronger effect of age on egocentric navigation in ASD, suggesting that the demands on EFs in the task may have disabled the use of frontal lobe functions as a compensatory mechanism for navigation in ASD in the current study. Findings of reduced effects of age on allocentric navigation in ASD in the current study, replicated results of smaller age-related effects on order memory and R responses in ASD in Experiments 1 and 3. Replicating Experiment 2, eye movements at retrieval reflected reduced EM in ASD, and eye movements at encoding suggested attention differences as well as less spontaneous use of cues, which may have contributed further to the spatial navigation difficulties in ASD.

Taken together, although the studies of this thesis so far showed that other processes such as difficulties in EFs, relying on frontal lobe functioning, and attention differences, related to the functionality of the parietal cortex, contribute to memory and spatial navigation difficulties, all studies strongly pointed to difficulties in relational processing in ASD, which is related to hippocampal functioning (Opitz, 2010). EM, relational memory, and spatial navigation are all capacities of the hippocampus (Bohbot et al., 2004; Burgess, Maguire & O'Keefe, 2002; Davachi, 2006; Eichenbaum, 2007; Howard et al., 2001; Opitz, 2010). Difficulties in EM were found in Experiment 1 by showing reduced R responses. Experiments 2 and 3 reported reduced relational memory in ASD for location, order, and set information, and Experiment 4 found difficulties in spatial navigation in ASD. However, none of the studies so far has been completely conclusive in demonstrating abnormal hippocampal functioning in ASD. For example, in the case of Experiment 4, difficulties were

266

also found in egocentric memory related to caudate nucleus function (Bohbot et al., 2004), and EFs difficulties and attention abnormalities were also reported. Therefore, Experiment 5 used a new method to more directly assess atypical hippocampal functioning in ASD by adapting a paradigm from the animal learning literature (Aggleton et al., 2007, 2009; Sanderson et al., 2006). This paradigm tested structural learning, which is seen as the fundamental hippocampal mechanism underlying learning, memory, and spatial navigation (Sutherland & Rudy, 1989; Rudy & Sutherland, 1995). Difficulties in structural learning have been related, directly, to abnormal hippocampal functioning, in that rats with hippocampal lesions showed difficulties in performing the structural learning test compared to rats with sham lesions. Therefore, testing structural learning in ASD in Experiment 5 forms a direct test of hippocampal functioning in ASD.

5 Chapter 5: Structural learning

5.1 Experiment 5: Structural learning

5.1.1 Theoretical background

Structural learning¹⁷ - a type of configural learning, where the spatial arrangement of the stimuli is important for task success (Aggleton et al., 2007, 2009; Sanderson et al., 2006), is crucial to an organism's adaptation to complex environments, and it has been proposed as the fundamental hippocampal mechanism underlying learning, memory, and spatial navigation (Sutherland & Rudy, 1989; Rudy & Sutherland, 1995). Like in all configural learning tasks, a combination of items rather than single items needs to be learned (Aggleton et al., 2007), and, in addition, the spatial or temporal relation between the items is important for structural learning (Aggleton et al., 2007). Regarding the function of spatial navigation (see Chapter 4), the hippocampus has been shown to be necessary for the creation of a cognitive/spatial map, representing the relation between a goal location and environmental cues (O'Keefe & Nadel, 1978). According to Schiller et al. (2015), echoing Tolman (1948), the same mechanism underlies a range of hippocampal functions that enable the organism to use information flexibly to guide behaviour. Damage to the hippocampus would, in this context, lead to inflexible behaviour (Rubin et al., 2014). Schiller et al. (2015) reported the coding of the temporal context of memories, visual, mental, and locomotive exploration of space, the organisation of knowledge to obtain expertise in a certain area of skill, "navigating" the social world (by defining relationships via dimensions), and the organisation of memories from different experiences as hippocampal functions.

¹⁷ While structural learning was tested with a Structural Discrimination task, Biconditional Discrimination and Transverse Patterning tasks were used to measure other forms of configural learning. Whereas the phrases structural and configural learning will be used to refer to the learning processes, Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning will refer to the tasks used to measure them.

Theories have for long suspected a role of the hippocampus in the (cognitive) differences observed in ASD (see Section 1.4.2.1; *amnesia parallel* - Boucher & Warrington, 1976; DeLong, 1992; Waterhouse, Fein & Modahl, 1996; *relational binding account* - Bowler et al., 2011). The theories have been supported by difficulties in various areas of functioning that are hippocampus-dependent in ASD, and that map onto Schiller et al.'s (2015) overview of processes that rely on the formation of a cognitive map. For example, difficulties in ASD resulting from differences in configural processing have been reported in the areas of face processing (Behrmann et al., 2006; Dawson, Webb & McPartland, 2005; Deruelle, Rondan, Salle-Collemiche, Bastard-Rosset & Da Fonséca, 2006), memory (see Sections 1.4.1, 2.1, 3.1, 3.2), and spatial navigation (Chapter 4). Finally, regarding memory organisation, reduced transfer of information in ASD has been found in various domains, such as perception (Plaisted et al., 1998a; Swettenham, 1996), language (D. L. Williams, Mazefsky, Walker, Minshew & Goldstein, 2014; D. L. Williams et al., 2015), and (meta-) memory (Gaigg et al. 2012; Wojcik et al. 2013).

Lesion studies in non-human animals have demonstrated an important role for the hippocampus (Aggleton et al., 2007), as well as for cortico-hippocampal interactions in structural learning (Aggleton et al., 2009), with lesions to the perirhinal cortex (Aggleton, Albasser, Aggleton, Poirier & Pearce, 2010), the fornix, or the thalamus (Aggleton et al., 2009) leaving structural learning intact. Lesions to the frontal cortex in rats (Butt & Bowman, 2002) and monkeys (Browning & Gaffan, 2008) also affected configural learning, most probably because of the connections between frontal and temporal cortices. Studies typically compared rats' performance on structural learning (measured with Structural Discrimination) with performance on other configural learning tasks (i.e., Biconditional Discrimination and Transverse Patterning; Sanderson et al., 2006). Biconditional Discrimination served as a control task to test whether rats were able to bind two elements to one another, and

Transverse Patterning measured their ability to alternate rules depending on the context. Structural Discrimination represented a combination of these two processes, and, in addition, the spatial arrangement of the stimuli was important for successful task performance. Simple Discrimination was included to test whether rats were able to discriminate two simple images. Rats with hippocampal lesions were found to perform similarly to sham lesioned rats on Simple Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning, but they showed lower learning across all blocks of Structural Discrimination, as well as lower accuracy on the final structural test block (Sanderson et al., 2006). The rats' performance was above chance on all discriminations in all tasks, suggesting that they used structural and configural learning rather than some other strategy. Probe trials, presenting mirror images of originally studied images in the last test block of Biconditional Discrimination, assessed the degree of transfer to the mirror probe images, and ratio scores (correct answers probe trials/(correct answers original images + correct answers probe trials)) indicated better performance on probe images for rats with hippocampal lesions because of reduced learning of the structural arrangement of the images at study and, therefore, reduced transfer at test.

Following the literature reviewed above, the aims of this study were the following. First, it was aimed to investigate structural learning in ASD as the fundamental hippocampal mechanism underlying other cognitive processes such as memory and spatial navigation by adapting a task from the non-human animal learning literature using minimal verbal instructions. Second, it was aimed to include a number of control tasks, such as, Simple Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning, and control measures, such as, measurements of response time and EFs, to exclude alternative reasons for potential difficulties in a Structural Discrimination task in ASD. The tasks were adapted from the animal learning literature. In Simple Discrimination, participants were asked to learn to discriminate between two simple shapes. In Biconditional Discrimination, participants were presented with pairs of compound images and had to bind the two parts of a compound image in order to learn to discriminate it from the other item of the pair. In Transverse Patterning, participants were presented with simple patches, such as black or white, and had to learn to discriminate between them depending on the context, i.e., which shapes were presented together. As in the hand game rock-paper-scissors, correctness of a shape depended on which other shape it was presented with. The EF task also assessed the ability to alternate in that participants were asked to alternate between different coloured circles. Structural Discrimination, the task used to assess structural learning, formed a combination of Biconditional Discrimination and Transverse Patterning, in that participants were presented with mirror images of compound stimuli. Participants needed to bind the two parts of a compound stimulus and, in addition, they needed to consider the context, i.e., which part of the image was presented on which side in order to learn which of the two mirror images was correct.

To examine the first aim, accuracy scores for structural learning derived from the Structural Discrimination task were inspected for the four learning blocks and the test block. Ratio scores (correct answers probe trials/(correct answers original images + correct answers probe trials)) were computed, and performance on the three discriminations was compared against chance. If ASD participants show difficulties in structural learning, their accuracy will be lower on the Structural Discrimination learning and test blocks compared to TD individuals. If ASD individuals show difficulties in transfer of information from study to test, their ratio scores will indicate better performance on probe compared to originally studied trials. If persons with ASD use structural learning to solve the Structural Discrimination task, their performance will be above chance on all three discriminations. Regarding the second

aim, accuracy scores were inspected for Simple Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning (learning and test blocks), response times for Structural Discrimination were analysed, and performance on the EF task was examined. If ASD participants show specific difficulties in structural learning, they will show no difficulties compared to TD individuals in discriminating between two simple shapes, in binding two elements for discrimination, or in alternating rules in discrimination depending on the context. In addition, structural learning difficulties will not be caused by a speed-accuracy trade-off in the Structural Discrimination task and they will also not be related to potential difficulties in EFs.

5.1.2 Predictions

Based on theories suspecting the hippocampus as a neural substrate for the cognitive differences in ASD (Section 1.4.2.1), and the evidence just outlined, no between-group differences were expected for Simple and Biconditional Discrimination as well as Transverse Patterning. However, ASD participants were predicted to show specific difficulties in Structural Discrimination with lower learning on all blocks and lower accuracy on the final test block. Probe trials were included for Biconditional and Structural Discrimination to measure the extent of transfer from studied to new test images in the two groups. It was predicted that ASD individuals would show better performance on the probe images because of reduced encoding of structural relations inherent in the study images and, therefore, reduced transfer of information from study to test. It was predicted that ASD individuals would use structural learning in the Structural Discrimination task. Finally the role of EFs in the context of structural learning was assessed. Potential difficulties in EFs were predicted to be unrelated to difficulties in structural learning in ASD.

5.1.3 Methods

5.1.3.1 Participants

Sanderson et al. (2006) tested six participants on average in each group for each of the three tasks. To increase statistical power to detect a possible between-group difference between ASD and TD individuals, overall 114 adults took part in either of three tasks, resulting in 19 TD and 19 ASD participants for each task. Individuals were closely matched on gender, X^2_{max} < 2.18, $p_{\min} > .14$, and CA, t < 0.40, p > .69, Cohen's d < 0.08, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.29, 0.44), and they were individually matched on VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, $t_{\text{max}} < 0.61$, $p_{\text{min}} > .54$, Cohen's $d_{\text{max}} < 0.12, 95 \% \text{ CI}_{\text{max}}(-0.25, 0.48)$, as measured by the WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK} (The Psychological Corporation, 2000, 2008). The participant characteristics are displayed in detail in Tables 5.1 - 5.3. All participants (except one ASD individual in Biconditional Discrimination) filled in the AQ (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001), confirming significantly higher scores for the ASD compared to the TD group. Overall, 37 out of the 57 ASD individuals had time to take part in an assessment with the ADOS (Lord et al., 1989). Out of these, eight individuals scored just below the total cut-off score on this instrument, but they were nevertheless included in the sample, since they had all received a clinical diagnosis of an ASD. As explained in Section 2.1.2.1, the 39 % of ASD participants that reported comorbidities and/or use of psychotropic medication remained in the sample for the current study. Depression (55 %), anxiety disorder (18 %), dyslexia (14 %), and ADHD (9 %) were most common. In addition, OCD (5 %) and schizophrenia (5 %) were alos reported as comorbid disorders. Further, 50 % of ASD individuals took antidepressants, and 18 % used antipsychotic medication. ASD individuals with and without comorbidities and medication use did not differ significantly in terms of gender, $X^2 = 0.67$, p = .42, CA, VIQ/VCI, PIQ/PRI, and FIQ, $t_{\text{max}} < 0.61$, $p_{\text{min}} > .54$, Cohen's $d_{\text{max}} < 0.17$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.37, 0.70) and analysing the data without these individuals did not change the direction of the results reported below.

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in the Structural Discrimination task of Experiment 5.

	ASD (16	ASD (16m, 3f) TD (12m, 7f)			Cohen's			
	M	SD	M	SD	<i>t</i> (df)	p	d	CI
Age (years)	42.02	13.3	41.06	13.7	0.22 (36)	.83	0.07	-0.57, 0.71
VIQ/VCI ^a	111	16.8	110	14.0	0.14 (36)	.89	0.04	-0.59, 0.68
PIQ/PRI ^b	104	16.8	105	15.5	0.06 (36)	.95	0.02	-0.62, 0.66
FIQ ^c	108	17.0	108	14.0	0.15 (34)	.88	0.05	-0.61, 0.70
CTT2 ^d	0.37	0.7	0.26	0.6	0.52 (36)	.61	0.17	-0.47, 0.80
AQ ^e	32.68	7.4	15.79	5.2	8.14 (36)	.00	2.64	1.72, 3.45
ADOS-C ^f	3.00 (1-6)	1.4						
ADOS-RSI ^g	4.85 (1-8)	1.7						
ADOS-Total ^h	7.85 (5-14)	2.4						
ADOS-Im ⁱ	1.17 (0-2)	0.7						
ADOS-SB ^j	1.00 (0-5)	1.5						

Note. ^aVIQ - Verbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or VCI - Verbal Comprehension Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^bPIQ - Performance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or PRI - Perceptual Reasoning Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK}) was available for 19 ASD and 17 TD individuals. ^dColor Trails Test Trial 2 - errors. ^eAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^fADOS - Communication subscale. ^gADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^hADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ⁱADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ^jADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. The ADOS was available for 13 individuals. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in the Biconditional Discrimination task of Experiment 5.

	ASD (15m, 4f)		TD (16)	D (16m, 3f)		Cohen's		
	M	SD	M	SD	<i>t</i> (df)	р	d	CI
Age (years)	43.85	13.0	43.57	11.9	0.07 (36)	.94	0.02	-0.61, 0.66
VIQ/VCI ^a	110	18.0	109	14.2	0.23 (36)	.82	0.07	-0.56, 0.71
PIQ/PRI ^b	105	17.1	105	16.1	0.00 (36)	1	0	-0.64, 0.64
FIQ ^c	108	17.1	107	15.3	0.28 (33)	.79	0.09	-0.57, 0.75
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	36.56	7.4	13.74	6.5	9.91 (35)	.00	3.26	2.22, 4.16
ADOS-C ^e	2.10 (0-5)	1.5						
ADOS-RSI ^f	6.80 (3-12)	3.5						
ADOS-Total ^g	8.90 (3-17)	4.1						
ADOS-Im ^h	1.30 (0-2)	0.8						
ADOS-SB ⁱ	1.90 (0-3)	1.1						

Note. ^aVIQ - Verbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or VCI - Verbal Comprehension Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^bPIQ - Performance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or PRI - Perceptual Reasoning Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK}) was available for 18 ASD and 17 TD individuals. ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient was available for 18 ASD and 19 TD individuals. ^eADOS -Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. The ADOS was available for 10 individuals. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

Descriptive statistics for ASD and TD individuals, who participated in the Transverse Patterning task of Experiment 5.

	ASD (16m, 3f) 7		TD (15	D (15m, 4f)		Cohen's		
	M	SD	M	SD	<i>t</i> (df)	p	d	CI
Age (years)	43.37	12.9	41.77	12.8	0.38 (36)	.70	0.12	-0.51, 0.76
VIQ/VCI ^a	115	16.1	112	12.7	0.71 (36)	.49	0.23	-0.41, 0.86
PIQ/PRI ^b	108	15.0	107	13.4	0.17 (36)	.87	0.06	-0.58, 0.69
FIQ ^c	111	16.0	109	14.4	0.33 (29)	.74	0.12	-0.60, 0.83
$\mathbf{AQ}^{\mathbf{d}}$	36.32	7.7	13.58	6.8	9.65 (36)	.00	3.13	2.13, 4.00
ADOS-C ^e	2.50 (0-5)	1.5						
ADOS-RSI ^f	6.29 (3-13)	2.8						
ADOS-Total ^g	8.79 (5-17)	3.5						
ADOS-Im ^h	1.21 (0-2)	0.7						
ADOS-SB ⁱ	1.29 (0-3)	0.8						

Note. ^aVIQ - Verbal IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or VCI - Verbal Comprehension Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^bPIQ - Performance IQ (WAIS-III^{UK}) or PRI - Perceptual Reasoning Index (WAIS-IV^{UK}). ^cFull-scale IQ (WAIS-III^{UK} or WAIS-IV^{UK}) was available for 18 ASD and 13 TD individuals. ^dAQ - Autism-Spectrum Quotient. ^eADOS - Communication subscale. ^fADOS - Reciprocal Social Interaction subscale. ^gADOS Total score - Communication + Reciprocal Social Interaction. ^hADOS - Imagination/Creativity subscale. ⁱADOS - Stereotyped Behaviours and Restricted Interests subscale. The ADOS was available for 14 individuals. ADOS scores are presented with range in brackets.

5.1.3.2 Materials

Materials and procedures were adapted from the rodent literature (Aggleton et al., 2007; Sanderson et al., 2006). All tasks involved minimal verbal instructions. Black and white images (see Figure 5.1) were presented on a touch-sensitive 12-inch laptop screen.



Figure 5.1. Examples of the stimuli for the tasks used in Experiment 5. Simple Discrimination (bottom right) was part of all three tasks. As opposed to Transverse Patterning (top right), Structural (middle) and Biconditional Discrimination (left) included probe trials presenting repaired stimuli for Structural Discrimination (bottom middle) and mirror images for Biconditional Discrimination (bottom left) in Block 5. The stimuli presented below the plus sign were reinforced in the example.

A detailed overview of the stimuli and reinforcement contingencies is presented in Tables A3.1 - A3.3 in Appendix 3.

5.1.3.3 Procedure

After a practice in Simple Discrimination, participants took part in one of three tasks (Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, or Transverse Patterning), with two matched participants (one TD and one ASD individual with similar IQs) receiving the same version of the task. Trials of *Simple Discrimination* (using different stimuli compared to the practice) were then included in every task to test if participants in both groups learned which of two simple shapes was the correct (reinforced) one, independent of the presentation side on the screen, and to discourage perseveration (Sanderson et al., 2006). The experimenter stayed in the room with the participant to be available for questions.

Each task consisted of five blocks with a pause after each block, which participants chose to terminate to continue the task by pressing a pause button on the laptop screen. In every trial, two images were presented simultaneously, and participants were asked to pick the correct image by touching it. Feedback (a smiling cartoon face for correct or a frowning cartoon face for incorrect responses) was presented on-screen, and participants were told to aim for correctness. Which images were reinforced, and in which block they appeared was fully counterbalanced between participants. The presentation side of the reinforced stimuli was counterbalanced within participants. Accuracy and reaction times were measured for every block.

Every trial started with the presentation of a blank screen for 1 s, followed by the two images on the left and right side of the screen, which were displayed until participants touched one of the images. Feedback stayed on-screen for 1.5 s, after which the next trial started (e.g., in Block 1, there were 10 experimental trials and two trials of Simple Discrimination). In every block, participants had to learn to criterion (e.g., in Block 1, the criterion was 80 % correct on experimental trials and 50 % correct on Simple Discrimination; see Tables A3.1 - A3.3 in Appendix 3 for details). If the criterion was reached, the task continued with the next block, otherwise the block was repeated a maximum of two times, after which the programme continued automatically to the next block. Every task started with the presentation of one pair of experimental images. One new pair of images was added in every block (except for Block 3 of Biconditional Discrimination, which introduced two new pairs), until all shapes were repeated in Block 4. Whereas Block 5 was the same as Block 4 for Transverse Patterning, in Block 5 in Biconditional and Structural Discrimination studied images were presented intermixed with new probe trials.

Structural Discrimination (Figure 5.1 middle), as a combination of Biconditional Discrimination and Transverse Patterning, included three simultaneous discriminations presenting three pairs of mirror images of compound stimuli consecutively. The use of less discriminations would have made other strategies than structural learning possible for accurate task performance, for example, a single pair of Structural Discrimination was also solvable by processing single elements rather than compound images (a process necessary for Transverse Patterning). Structural Discrimination required participants to bind two elements together and, in addition, to bind them to their spatial arrangement, for example, out of *black/white* vs. *white/black*, the image with *black* on the left side was reinforced, whereas out of *black/striped* vs. *striped/black*, *black* had to be on the right side of *striped* for the image to be correct. Probe trials in Block 5 were re-pairings of studied images that had never been presented together previously (Figure 5.1 bottom middle), for example, the familiar forms of *black/white* vs. *black/striped* formed a new pair. Probe trials were included to measure the extent to which the structural arrangement of the stimuli had been processed, and whether transfer had taken place, as these trials were not solvable as Transverse Patterning.

In *Biconditional Discrimination* (Figure 5.1 left), participants studied four simultaneous discriminations, which were presented consecutively in the form of four pairs of compound images. The task included the binding of two elements, where correct answers were possible with or without taking the spatial arrangement of the stimuli into account. For example, in the pair *black/white* vs. *black/striped*, it was possible that *black* was presented on the left or the right side of *white* or *striped*. The pair consisting of *black* and *white* was always the correct image. Probe trials in Block 5 measured the extent to which participants processed the spatial arrangement of the stimuli by presenting mirror images of previously studied images, while keeping the pairs intact (Figure 5.1 bottom left).

In *Transverse Patterning* (see Figure 5.1 right), a second control task, participants had to learn the contingencies between the three simple shapes of *black*, *white*, and *striped*, when they were presented in pairs. Analogous to the rules of the hand game rock-paper-scissors, where rock beats scissors, scissors beat paper, and paper beats rock, participants needed to learn that *black* was correct, when presented with *white*, but when it was presented with *striped*, *striped* was correct. *White* was only correct when presented with *striped* (Figure 5.1 right).

Configural learning tests are complex and participants sometimes present inflexible response patterns in these tasks (Sanderson et al., 2006). Therefore, attentional shifting was assessed by measuring the number of errors made on Trial 2 of the paper-pencil Colour Trails Test (CTT, D'Elia, Satz, Uchiyana & White, 1996), as this has been shown to be sensitive to frontal lobe damage (Kopp et al., 2015). In Trial 1 of this test, measuring sustained attention, participants are asked to draw a line connecting yellow and pink circles with the numbers 1 - 25 in increasing order, by ignoring the different colours of the circles. In Trial 2, a participant is asked to connect circles by, additionally, alternating colours, measuring attentional shifting.

5.1.4 Results

The data were analysed with Chi-Squared Tests for nominal data, bivariate correlations, ttests, and repeated measures ANOVAs and ANCOVAs. In case of significant differences, Bonferroni corrected post hoc tests were calculated, and GGC was used, where the Sphericity assumption was violated. The significance level of .05 was chosen for all tests and Cohen's *d* and partial Eta-Squared are reported as measures of effect size.

5.1.4.1 Accuracy

5.1.4.1.1 Simple Discrimination

Accuracy (percentage correct, Figure 5.2) was significantly above chance in all five blocks for both groups, all t > 6.35, all p < .001.



Figure 5.2. Accuracy as percentage correct for Simple Discrimination for the five blocks of the task, averaged across Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning, for ASD and TD individuals of Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

A 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 3 (Task [Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, Transverse Patterning]) x 5 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]) repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of *Block*, F(1.91,206.60) = 41.06, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .28$, GGC. No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 1.80$, $p_{min} > .17$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .02$, indicating similar Simple Discrimination learning over blocks in all three tasks in both groups.

5.1.4.1.2 Experimental tasks

Performance of both groups was significantly above chance on all blocks in all three tasks, all

t > 2.90, all *p* < .01, (see Figures 5.3, 5.5, 5.7).

5.1.4.1.2.1 Structural Discrimination

5.1.4.1.2.1.1 Learning

Accuracy scores (Figure 5.3) were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 5 (Block [1, 2, 3,

4, 5]) repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.3. Accuracy as percentage correct for the five blocks of Structural Discrimination for ASD and TD participants of Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

The test showed a significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,36) = 6.74, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.84, 95 % CI(0.16, 1.49), with lower performance in the ASD (M = 0.73, SD = 0.15) compared to the TD group (M = 0.86, SD = 0.15), with some individuals in both groups needing three attempts or not reaching criterion at a certain block (see Table 5.4). A significant main effect of *Block*, F(2.73, 98.25) = 3.64, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, GGC, as well as a significant quadratic effect of *Block*, F(1,36) = 6.22, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .15$, indicated a decrease in performance from Blocks 1 to 3, which was followed by a later performance increase in Blocks 4 and 5. No Group x Block interaction was found, F(2.73,98.25) = 2.10, p = .11, $\eta_p^2 = .06$, GGC.

Table 5.4

Numbers of ASD and TD individuals, who needed three attempts or did not reach criterion at a certain block in each of the three tasks of Experiment 5.

	Structu	ral task	Biconditional task		Transverse	Patterning
Block	ASD	TD	ASD	TD	ASD	TD
1	4	2	2	0	2	1
2	5	4	3	3	3	0
3	11	8	7	4	4	8
4	9	5	3	4	5	7

Note. In Block 5, the final test stage of each task, there was no learning criterion.

The data were analysed further by testing whether participants from both groups had used structural learning, or whether they had learned just one or two out of the three pairs. Block 4 constituted the strictest test of structural learning, as it presented all three pairs in randomised order. Performance on each of the pairs was ranked according to best, middle, and worst for every participant to test if their worst discrimination was greater than chance. Whereas TD

individuals performed significantly better than chance on all three discriminations ($M_{min} = 0.72$, $SD_{min} = 0.25$), all p < .01, ASD individuals' performance was greater than chance only for their two best discriminations ($M_{min} = 0.73$, $SD_{min} = 0.23$), both p < .001, with their worst discrimination not different from chance (M = 0.58, SD = 0.28), p = .24, suggesting that they did not acquire structural learning, but that they rather used some other strategy to perform the task.

5.1.4.1.2.1.2 Test

The analysis of differences between probe trials and originally studied pairs (Figure 5.4) with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Trial type [studied, probe]) repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of *Group*, F(1,36) = 4.71, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.70, 95 % CI(0.03, 1.34), with higher performance for the TD (M = 0.87, SD = 0.19) compared to the ASD group (M = 0.73, SD = 0.19). A significant *Group* x *Trial type* interaction, F(1,36) = 10.49, p < .01, $\eta_p^2 = .23$, showed that TD participants only performed better on studied pairs ($M_{TD} = 0.89$, $SD_{TD} = 0.15$; $M_{ASD} = 0.69$, $SD_{ASD} = 0.28$), p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.92, 95 % CI(0.23, 1.57), but not probe pairs ($M_{TD} = 0.85$, $SD_{TD} = 0.19$; $M_{ASD} = 0.78$, $SD_{ASD} = 0.18$), p = .26, Cohen's d = 0.36, 95 % CI(-0.28, 1.00), because the ASD group performed significantly better in probe compared to studied pairs, p < .01, Cohen's d = 0.45, 95 % CI(-0.20, 1.09). The main effect of Trial type was not significant, F(1,36) = 1.24, p = .27, Cohen's d = 0.12, 95 % CI(-0.34, 0.56).

A significantly higher ratio score (probe/(probe + studied); see Sanderson et al., 2006) for ASD (M = 0.55, SD = 0.07) compared to TD (M = 0.48, SD = 0.03) participants, t(36) =3.42, p < .01, Cohen's d = 1.11, 95 % CI(0.40, 1.77), indicated a bigger difference between performance on studied and probe trials in the ASD group.



Figure 5.4. Accuracy as percentage correct for studied and probe trials in Block 5 for Structural Discrimination for ASD and TD participants in Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

5.1.4.1.2.1.3 Relation to executive functions

Having established that there were no significant between-group differences in the CTT2 (Table 5.1), bivariate correlation analysis showed significant negative correlations between CTT2 errors and performance on studied and probe trials of Block 5 of the Structural Discrimination test (Table 5.5), indicating the more errors participants made on the CTT2, the worse was their structural learning.

Because of a lack of group differences in CTT2, and because of the significant correlations with the performance measure of the structural task, CTT2 was used legitimately as a covariate (Miller & Chapman, 2000). ANCOVAs analysing Structural Discrimination learning and test performance, statistically controlling for the influence of EFs on the task by entering CTT2 as a covariate, left the pattern of results reported above unchanged.

Bivariate correlations between performance on studied and probe trials for Structural Discrimination and executive functions, as measured by CTT2 errors, for ASD and TD groups in Experiment 5.

	ASD		TL		Total		
	Studied	Probe	Studied	Probe	Studied	Probe	
CTT2	51*	39	46*	51*	43**	44**	

Note. ^aColor Trails Test Trial 2 - errors. *significant at p < .05. **significant at p < .01.

5.1.4.1.2.2 Biconditional Discrimination

5.1.4.1.2.2.1 Learning

Percentage correct learning data in Figure 5.5 were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 5

(Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]) repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.5. Accuracy as percentage correct for the five blocks of Biconditional Discrimination for ASD and TD participants of Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.
The test showed a marginal main effect of *Block*, F(2.74,98.64) = 2.71, p = .05, $\eta_p^2 = .07$, GGC, with a decrease in performance from Blocks 1 to 3, followed by a slight increase in performance in Block 4. This result pattern was confirmed by a significant quadratic effect of *Block*, F(1,36) = 7.19, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .17$. There was no main effect of Group or Group x Block interaction, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.20$, $p_{\text{min}} > .29$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .04$. Table 5.4 presents the number of individuals that needed three attempts or did not reach criterion at a certain block.

5.1.4.1.2.2.2 Test

Performance on probe and studied trials (Figure 5.6) were compared using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Trial type [studied, probe]) repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.6. Accuracy as percentage correct for studied and probe trials in Block 5 for Biconditional Discrimination for ASD and TD individuals in Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

The analysis showed a marginal *Group x Trial type* interaction, F(1,36) = 3.17, p = .08, $\eta_p^2 = .08$, with the ASD group performing better in probe (M = 0.89, SD = 0.17) compared to initially studied trials (M = 0.85, SD = 0.25), p < .05, Cohens d = 0.26, 95 % CI(-0.38, 0.90).

No main effects were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 1.65$, $p_{\text{min}} > .20$, Cohen's $d_{\text{max}} < 0.12$, 95 % CI_{max}(-0.34, 0.56), nor was there a significant difference between ASD (M = 0.52, SD = 0.06) and TD (M = 0.50, SD = 0.02) participants' ratio scores, t(36) = 1.69, p = .11, Cohen's d = 0.55, 95 % CI(-0.11, 1.18).

5.1.4.1.2.3 Transverse Patterning

5.1.4.1.2.3.1 Learning

Accuracy data, presented in Figure 5.7, were analysed using a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 5 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]) repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.7. Accuracy as percentage correct for five blocks of Transverse Patterning for ASD and TD participants of Experiment 5, with the horizontal line indicating chance performance. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

The test revealed a significant main effect of *Block*, F(2.73,98.31) = 7.21, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .17$, GGC, with a performance decrease in Blocks 1 to 3, and a slight increase in performance in Blocks 4 and 5, which was supported by a significant quadratic effect of *Block*, F(1,36) = 19.23, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 = .35$. There was no main effect of Group or Group x Block interaction,

 $F_{\text{max}} < 0.88$, $p_{\text{min}} > .44$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .03$. An overview of the number of individuals that needed three attempts or did not reach criterion at a certain block in this task is presented in Table 5.4.

5.1.4.2 **Response time**

Response times were investigated to test whether ASD participants showed quicker response times, next to lower accuracy on the structural task, which would indicate that group differences may have been caused by a speed-accuracy trade-off in the ASD group.

5.1.4.2.1 Simple Discrimination

The response times, displayed in Figure 5.8, were analysed with a 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 3 (Task [Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, Transverse Patterning]) x 5 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]) repeated measures ANOVA.



Figure 5.8. Response times in ms for the five blocks of Simple Discrimination, averaged across Structural Discrimination, Biconditional Discrimination, and Transverse Patterning, for ASD and TD participants of Experiment 5. The data are presented as mean + SEM.

The analysis revealed a significant main effect of *Block*, F(2.15,232.66) = 77.46, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .42$, GGC, with decreasing response times across blocks. No other main effects or interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 2.28$, $p_{\text{min}} > .10$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .05$, indicating similar response times for Simple Discrimination for both groups in all three tasks.

5.1.4.2.2 Experimental tasks

5.1.4.2.2.1 Learning

Response times, presented in Figure 5.9, were analysed with 2 (Group [ASD, TD]) x 5 (Block [1, 2, 3, 4, 5]) repeated measures ANOVAs. The tests showed significant main effects of *Block* for all three experimental tasks, indicating a decrease (Blocks 1 to 2), followed by an increase (Blocks 2 to 5) in response times across blocks for Structural Discrimination, F(2.03,73.11) = 3.51, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, GGC, a decrease in response times in Biconditional Discrimination, F(2.61,94.01) = 3.43, p < .05, $\eta_p^2 = .09$, GGC, and an increase in response times across blocks in Transverse Patterning, F(2.58,92.76) = 8.26, p < .0001, $\eta_p^2 = .19$, GGC. No main effects of Group or Group x Block interactions were significant, $F_{max} < 1.48$, $p_{min} > .23$, $\eta_p^2_{max} < .04$.





Figure 5.9. Response times in ms for the five blocks of Structural Discrimination (top), Biconditional Discrimination (middle), and Transverse Patterning (bottom) for ASD and TD participants in Experiment 5. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

5.1.4.2.2.2 Test

Two (Group [ASD, TD]) x 2 (Trial type [studied, probe]) repeated measures ANOVAs comparing response times for studied and probe trials (Figure 5.10) showed significant main effects of *Trial type* for Structural Discrimination, F(1,36) = 4.91, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.11,

95 % CI(-0.34, 0.56), and Biconditional Discrimination, F(1,36) = 4.48, p < .05, Cohen's d = 0.19, 95 % CI(-0.26, 0.64), with longer response times for probe compared to studied trials. No main effects of Group or Group x Trial type interactions were significant, $F_{\text{max}} < 2.19$, $p_{\text{min}} > .14$, $\eta_p^2_{\text{max}} < .06$.



Figure 5.10. Response times in ms for studied and probe trials in Block 5 for Structural (top) and Biconditional Discrimination (bottom) for ASD and TD individuals in Experiment 5. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

5.1.5 Discussion

The aim of this study was to investigate structural learning as a fundamental mechanism suspected to play a role in the aetiology of ASD. A direct adaptation from the non-human animal learning literature was used to compare structural learning to other forms of configural learning that were well-matched in terms of their processing requirements, and that needed minimal verbal instructions. Although all tasks involved simultaneous discriminations with simple geometric shapes, participants needed to take spatial arrangements into account only in Structural Discrimination. A form of simple learning and a task measuring EFs were included to test response perseveration in the sample recruited.

It was predicted that the ASD group would show lower learning and lower test performance in Block 5 only in Structural Discrimination, with intact performance on Simple and Biconditional Discrimination and Transverse Patterning. Difficulties in Structural Discrimination were expected not to be associated with functional frontal lobe impairments in the ASD group (Sanderson et al., 2006).

Confirming the prediction, ASD compared to matched TD participants showed significantly lower structural learning accuracy, which was not caused by a speed-accuracy trade-off, an impaired ability to discriminate between two simple shapes, or inflexible response patterns, as similar response times, intact performance on Simple Discrimination and the CTT2 suggested. Intact performance for ASD individuals in Biconditional Discrimination and Transverse Patterning suggested that structural learning difficulties were not the result of difficulties with simply binding two elements (Biconditional Discrimination) or alternating rules depending on the context (Transverse patterning), but that they were rather related to the combination of these two processes by additionally taking into account the spatial arrangement of the stimuli and, therefore, suggesting a specific structural learning rather than a more general configural learning deficit in ASD. Paralleling specific Structural Discrimination impairments in rats with hippocampus lesions (Sanderson et al., 2006), the

current result lends further support to accounts of atypical hippocampal functioning in ASD (Section 1.4.2.1; Bowler et al., 2011; Gaigg et al., 2015).

Confirming the second prediction, TD individuals showed complete transfer from studied to probe trials in Block 5 of Structural Discrimination, resulting in similar performance in both conditions. By contrast, ASD individuals showed reduced consideration of the spatial arrangement of the stimuli, resulting in better performance in probe trials compared to studied trials. Similarly, although not apparent in the ratio scores, ASD individuals showed slightly better performance on probe compared to studied trials in Block 5 of the Biconditional task, again suggesting that they did not take into account the spatial arrangement of the stimuli as much as TD individuals did, when performing the task. The somewhat paradoxical superior performance of ASD participants in re-paired as opposed to previously studied images is in line with studies showing reduced transfer of information from one context to another and, therefore, suggested reduced generalisation in ASD (Sections 1.2.5; 1.4.2.5.4). In particular, in a perceptual discrimination task Plaisted et al. (1998a) showed lower performance of ASD individuals on previously trained images and higher discrimination of novel images compared to TD individuals. In the current study, ASD individuals took less into account the structural configuration of the stimuli at study, therefore, showing reduced transfer of this information to test and being less hindered by it, demonstrating superior performance in re-paired images. A bias for local rather than global scene-like processing of the materials (Deruelle et al., 2008; Happé and Frith, 2006; Plaisted, Saksida, Alcántara & Weisblatt, 2003) may have also played a role in these findings. According to this processing style, when trying to remember which images of the current study were correct, TD individuals would have looked at the global form of the image, for example, when remembering that *black/white* was correct as opposed to *white/black*, they would have processed the images as a single image with two parts, with *black* on the left or the right side of *white*, and they would have remembered that *black* needed to be on the left side of *white* in order for the image to be correct. By contrast, ASD individuals would have focussed on the individual parts of the images, and would have processed the *black* and *white* sides of the images as two separate images, not taking into account the global structure of the image. Therefore, *black/white* and *white/black* would have looked alike to them, making it very difficult for them to discriminate these shapes. This example illustrates how a local rather than global processing style can also explain reduced learning performance in the ASD group on Structural Discrimination. Local processing would have been a disadvantage for the discrimination of mirror images, which was confirmed by the above chance performance of ASD individuals on only two of the three presented discriminations. For these two discriminations ASD participants may have used strategies other than structural learning, such as intact Transverse Patterning, not depending on the hippocampus, and enabling correct answers for about 2/3 of the trials. For example, using Transverse Patterning when presented with *black/white* vs. *white/black*, ASD participants would have ignored one part of the image, by solely looking at the *black* part of one image and the *white* part of the other image, and they would have remembered that, when *black* and *white* were presented, that *black* needed to be left. Via such a strategy, performance on probe trials would have increased to above 2/3 of trials, since they presented previously unpaired images, and seeing a remembered previously non-reinforced image together with a forgotten image, participants would have been able to infer that the correct image should have been the forgotten one. For example, if participants had previously learned that *black/white* rather than *white/black* was correct, and that striped/black rather than black/striped was correct, participants would have potentially been able to infer that, when they saw white/striped vs. white/black, that white/striped should have been correct because the pair white/black was never correct (see Appendix 3 for the stimuli). In addition, following the logic of the WCC theory, probe trials should have been easier for

ASD individuals, since they presented different patterns, such as *black/white* and *striped/white*, and, therefore, the two shapes presented together would have not looked alike to persons with ASD.

The current findings raise a number of questions regarding the role of task support, the number of learning opportunities, and whether ASD individuals would at all be able to acquire structural learning. It is important to note that in the animal literature, which the present paradigm was borrowed from, rodents are normally trained and tested on structural learning over multiple sessions over several days (Sanderson et al., 2006), instead of within a single session over a number of training blocks. Therefore, it would be of interest to examine learning over multiple training sessions in future studies to establish how much more training individuals with ASD may require to achieve levels of performance similar to TD participants, and to establish whether they may or may not acquire structural learning at all, even with repeated training opportunities. It remains also possible that ASD performance may be improved through task support (Bowler et al., 1997; Bowler et al., 2004; Gaigg et al., 2008) in future studies. For example, it should be tested whether instructing and training ASD individuals to use a global rather than a local processing style, may help them acquire structural learning. In this context, findings that show that despite a local preference, ASD participants were still sensitive to the global configuration of images (Plaisted, Dobler, Bell & Davis, 2006; Plaisted et al., 2003; L. Wang et al., 2007), and that training in the use of global processing in ASD has been successful for facial processing (Chabani & Hommel, 2014), seem promising. Also important would be to test whether the current finding of difficulties in spatial structural learning in ASD would extend to the temporal domain (Aggleton et al., 2007), as studies of reduced memory for temporal context in ASD would suggest (see Section 1.4.1.4 and Experiment 3 in Section 3.2). If it were not possible to improve structural learning through environmental support, the current finding would lead to

the conclusion that ASD individuals' difficulties in learning, memory, and more generally in the area of social functioning, may be caused by a specific impairment in a fundamental learning process that necessitates the binding of two pieces of information together with their context (see Bowler et al, 2011; Section 1.4.2.1).

Regarding brain regions underlying structural learning, non-human animal studies emphasize the role of the parietal lobes, in addition to the hippocampus, since rats with hippocampal and parietal lesions showed close to chance Structural Discrimination performance (Aggleton et al., 2007; Sanderson, 2005). Behavioural similarities between ASD individuals and parietal patients (Section 1.4.2.4), the parietal lobes' role in memory (Sections 1.4.1.4, 1.4.2.4) and attention (Section 1.2.7), as well as the finding that Structural Discrimination performance benefitted from good attention shifting skills in both groups in the current study, supported the idea that the parietal lobes may have also played a role in the behavioural differences observed in ASD in the current study.

In conclusion, the current paradigm has the great advantage of being a direct human adaptation of a non-human animal learning paradigm, which not only enables to hypothesise about brain regions underlying difficulties observed in ASD, but which also shows potential utility for testing less verbal individuals. As such, it has the potential to inform us about severely disabled, as well as very young individuals with ASD, who are under-researched populations for which it has proved very difficult to find suitable tests. Overall, the data presented here suggested specific difficulties in structural learning in ASD that likely form the basis of more complex processes like learning, memory, spatial navigation, and the competencies necessary for successful social interactions. They further undermined the idea that ASD is not characterised solely by difficulties in social cognition, but that more domaingeneral cognitive difficulties are apparent. A discussion of all five experiments, as well as overall conclusions, will be presented in the next chapter.

6 Chapter 6: Discussion

6.1 Summary of empirical findings

The work presented in this thesis comprised a series of five experiments that were aimed at expanding existing behavioural research on memory in ASD by using novel behavioural paradigms designed to shed further light on the integrity of relational and item memory processes. The current thesis also aimed to extend the existing literature on memory for verbal material to the domains of visual perceptual materials and spatial navigation. In addition, by drawing on eye-tracking technology and experimental paradigms informed by the animal literature, this thesis aimed to develop methods that would be useful in future studies to examine memory in younger and/or less able individuals with ASD, who remained under-researched so far. The results were used to refine models of cognitive functioning in ASD, to shed light on the possible neural underpinnings of memory difficulties in this disorder, and to explore the role that age may play in the memory profile of adults with ASD. Overall, 169 ASD participants (138 men) with a mean age of 43 years ($SD_{age} = 12.5$) and VIQ, PIQ, and FIQs within the average range ($M_{\rm VIQ} = 111$, $SD_{\rm VIQ} = 16.0$; $M_{\rm PIQ} = 106$, $SD_{\rm PIQ}$ = 16.2; $M_{\rm FIQ}$ = 109, $SD_{\rm FIQ}$ = 15.9) were tested. Their performance was compared to that of 161 TD adults (123 men) with a mean age of 42 years ($SD_{age} = 12.9$) and average VIQ, PIQ, and FIQs ($M_{\text{VIQ}} = 112$, $SD_{\text{VIQ}} = 13.8$; $M_{\text{PIQ}} = 107$, $SD_{\text{PIQ}} = 14.1$; $M_{\text{FIQ}} = 110$, $SD_{\text{FIQ}} = 14.1$). To serve as an *aide mémoire* to the reader, an overview of all studies and their main results is presented in Table 6.1.

Table 6.1

Summary of the main findings from Experiments 1 - 5.

Participants and		Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research	
characteristics		procedures			directions raised by studies	
Recog	gnition	memory	y in adults with Au	itism Spectrum Disorder – the	pupil Old/New effect	
	ASD	TD	Words, pictures,	Behavioural accuracy	Behaviour	
Ν	32	32	non-words,	Visual > verbal	Picture superiority in ASD.	Would memory for objective
men	27	25	abstract shapes			context also be reduced in
age	44	44		Meaningful > meaningless	Advantage for use of meaning	ASD individuals?
(yr)			Behaviour		inherent in stimuli.	
VIQ	111	112	Yes/No and			Systematic investigations
PIQ	105	105	R/K recognition	R > K	Better memory for context of item.	needed testing relational
FIQ	110	109	tests			memory (memory for objective
			R justifications	TD > ASD in corrected recognition, TD > ASD in R responses	Reduced recognition in ASD related to reduced EM for subjective context (R responses, retrieval of relational material) in ASD.	context) using visual materials.
				TD > ASD in R justifications, TD > ASD in information from outside study episode FA: ASD > TD Sensitivity: TD > ASD A' recognition > A' R	Reduced generalisation in ASD. Difficulties to distinguish old and new material in ASD. Support for dual process model.	

Participants and		Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research	
cha	aracter	istics	procedures			directions raised by studies
				Age better predictor for R	Stronger age-related difference in R	What would be the influence of
				responses in TD.	responses in TD vs. ASD.	age on relational memory in
						ASD?
			Pupil size	Pupil size	Pupil size	
			Pupil Old/New	Verbal > visual	Pupil size sensitive measure -	
			effect	Meaningful > meaningless	replication of behavioural results.	
				TD: old > new	Different physiology in recognition	
				ASD: $old = new$	memory in ASD.	
					Potential biomarker for ASD.	
				Correlation between	Pupil Old/New effect reflected real	
				behavioural accuracy and	memory phenomenon.	
				pupil Old/New effect.		
Expli	cit and	implicit	relational memor	y for object-locations in adults	with Autism Spectrum Disorder	
	ASD	TD	Pictures of	Behavioural accuracy	Behaviour	
Ν	25	23	objects and	TD > ASD for old location	Difficulties with memory for	Would other relations such as
men	20	17	scenes	(Include)	locations in ASD.	temporal order or set also be
age	42	41		TD = ASD for new location		difficult for ASD individuals?
(yr)			Locations for	(Exclude)		
VIQ	108	114	objects in scenes			What was the influence of
PIQ	106	109		TD > ASD in explicit	Intact implicit but impaired explicit	language on memory when
FIQ	108	113	Behaviour	memory	relational memory in ASD.	using pictures of daily objects?
			Include/exclude	TD = ASD in implicit		Would it be reduced by using
			recognition test	memory		abstract shape images?

Participant	ts and	Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research
characteri	istics	procedures			directions raised by studies
		Explicit and	Behavioural accuracy	Stronger age-related explicit	What would be the influence of
		implicit memory	Age better predictor for	memory difference in ASD vs. TD,	age on other memory types in
			explicit memory in ASD.	contrary to Exp. 1.	ASD?
		Yes/No	No between-group	With task support, intentional	Would item memory still be
		Recognition and	differences in item and source	encoding, and one type of context	intact when using tasks of
		source memory	memory.	item and source memory intact in	similar complexity as relational
		tests		ASD.	memory tasks?
		Eye movements	Eye movements Encoding	Eye movements Encoding	Systematic comparisons of
		Encoding	Fixation duration		item memory and memory for
		Areas on the	Scene > Location > Object	Scene context most attended to.	different kinds of relations
		screen attended			needed.
		to (Scene,	Behaviourally incorrect trials:	Differences between groups in	
		object, object-	TD > ASD on Scene and	attentional focus at encoding.	
		location in	Location		
		scene)			
			Correlations between implicit	Reduced attention to context at	Would reduced attention to
		Retrieval	memory and fixation duration	encoding and, therefore, reduced	context also be found in other
		Average fixation	on Scene.	relational binding as a contributor	situations such as spatial
		duration on		to memory difficulties in ASD.	navigation?
		Target (original	Retrieval		
		object location)	Include > Exclude	Retrieval	
		and Distracter	Target > Distracter	Main effects and interactions in	
		locations (new		eye-movement retrieval data	
		object locations)		indicated it as a sensitive measure.	

Par	ticipants	and	Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research
cha	characteristics		procedures			directions raised by studies
				Retrieval		
				Target Include > Distracter		
				Include		
				Distracter Exclude > Target		
				Exclude		
				TD > ASD Target Include	Retrieval eye-movement data	
				and Distracter Exclude	reflected difficulties in explicit and	
					implicit relational memory.	
				No differences in fixation	Differences unlikely to have been	
				duration for unstudied	related to instruction or intention to	
				objects.	select a certain location.	
				Fixations on target >	Eye-movement effects at retrieval	
				distracter related to	reflected real memory	
				behavioural target choices.	phenomenon.	
Relat	ional me	mory f	or order, location,	, and set information across the	e mid-adult lifespan in persons with	Autism Spectrum Disorder
	ASD	TD	Abstract shapes	Behavioural accuracy		
Ν	18	18		TD > ASD in corrected	Item memory difficult in ASD,	What would be the role of item
men	14	13	Behaviour	recognition for item and	when tasks had similar complexity	memory in spatial navigation?
age	43	43	Old/New	relational tasks	as relational tasks. Item memory	
(yr)			recognition test		difficult, when tasks probed	
VIQ	109	111		ASD at chance in order and	relational processing, replicated	
PIQ	104	105		associative tasks.	findings from Exp. 1.	
FIQ	108	109				

Participants and	Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research
characteristics	procedures			directions raised by studies
		Behavioural accuracy Large effect sizes for between-group differences in all tasks.	Different kinds of relations seemed similarly difficult in ASD. Difficulty in location memory in ASD replicated findings from Exp. 2.	How well would ASD participants perform when relational memory for location was needed in a more applied context such as spatial navigation?
		FA: ASD > TD Sensitivity: TD > ASD	Replication of Exp. 1 showing difficulties to distinguish old and new materials in ASD.	Systematic investigations of different kinds of spatial navigation needed, examining the role of complexity by
		TD: correlations between item and relational tasks and among all relational tasks	Correlations may have indicated flexibility in using relational processing in all tasks among TDs.	manipulating demands on EFs.
		ASD: only few significant correlations among relational tasks	Lack of correlations among tasks may have indicated inflexibility in using relational processing in ASD or difficulties with EFs. ASD individuals may have approached each task differently.	
		Younger and older ASDs performed similarly to older TDs in order task.	Order memory more affected by age in TD individuals – replicated Exp. 1, contrary to Exp. 2.	What would be the effect of age on spatial navigation in ASD?

Participants and		and	Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research
cha	aracterist	tics	procedures			directions raised by studies
Spatial navigation from same and different directions: The roles of executive functions, memory						ntion in adults with Autism
Spect	rum Disc					
	ASD	TD	Video of a route	Behavioural accuracy		
Ν	37	31	through a maze,	Same > different direction	Better performance in egocentric vs	Would more fundamental
men	30	25	static images of	trials	allocentric navigation.	learning processes be affected
age	43	41	intersections			in ASD?
(yr)				Increase in performance	Learning across blocks.	
VIQ	111	115	Behaviour	across blocks.		
PIQ	107	110	Learning over			
FIQ	110	114	six blocks	TD > ASD	General navigation deficit in ASD	
					independent of condition, when	
			Three possibility		conditions were matched on	
			forced choice		complexity.	
			test			
			Free and cued	Different-same > same-	Switch to an allocentric strategy	
			recall tasks	different direction switch	was more difficult.	
			Test of EFs	TD > ASD in switch	Difficulties in switching between	
				performance	conditions in ASD may have	
					contributed to navigation deficit.	
				No group differences in	Both groups used similar strategies	
				strategy use.	for the task.	

Participants and	Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research
characteristics	procedures			directions raised by studies
		Behavioural accuracy ASD > TD in perseverative errors	Difficulties in EFs in ASD.	A systematic investigation of different learning processes in
		TD > ASD in free and cued recall for items and item positions	Item memory difficulties in ASD for incidentally encoded materials.	ASD would be needed, as well as a test of how they would be affected by EFs.
		Perseverative errors predicted egocentric navigation. Age better predictor for egocentric navigation performance in ASD.	Difficulties in egocentric navigation and stronger age-related egocentric navigation difference in ASD may have been related to task demands on EFs.	
		Perseverative errors and item task performance predicted allocentric navigation.	contributed to navigation difficulties in ASD.	
		Age better predictor for allocentric navigation in TD.	Stronger age-related allocentric navigation difference in TD vs. ASD - replicated Exp. 1 and 3, contrary to Exp. 2.	

Participants and	Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research
characteristics	procedures			directions raised by studies
	Eye movements	Eye movements		
	Average fixation	Encoding		
	duration and	Back > front item	ASD individuals attended less to	
	number of		the landmarks at encoding -	
	fixations	TD > ASD	replicated findings of Exp. 2 of	
			reduced attention to context in	
	Measuring		ASD.	
	attention to			
	items marking	Back > front animal related to	Attention at encoding related to	
	the intersections	egocentric navigation in TDs.	later egocentric navigation.	
	Encoding and	Retrieval		
	Retrieval	Front > back item		
		Same = different for ASD	Possible indication of difficulties to	
			distinguish old and new images in	
		Different > same direction for	ASD - replication of Exp. 1 and 3.	
		1Ds only		
		Front > healt onimal related to	Attention at ratriaval indicated	
		allocentric pavigation in	reduced EM in ASD	
			Teduced EWI III ASD.	
		ASD.		
		ASD.		

Participants and		Materials and	Results	Conclusions	Questions and research	
cha	aracterist	tics	procedures			directions raised by studies
Struc	tural and					
	ASD	TD	Pictures of	Behavioural accuracy		
Ν	57	57	geometrical	Structural task		
men	47	43	patterns	Decrease followed by	Increasing task difficulty and	Would more learning
age	43	42		increase in performance	learning across blocks.	opportunities or task support be
(yr)			Behaviour			helpful to improve structural
VIQ	112	110	two alternative	TD > ASD in learning and	Indication of difficulties in binding	learning performance in ASD,
PIQ	106	105	forced choice	test phase	information to context in ASD.	and would they help with the
FIQ	109	108	tests			acquisition of structural
				ASD > chance on two	ASD group did not acquire	learning?
			Test of EFs	discriminations	structural learning, use of simpler	
					forms of learning.	Would there also be a
						structural learning deficit in
				ASD: probe > studied	ASD less hindered by previous	ASD in a temporal context or
				(structural and biconditional)	learning of structural relations of	would persons with ASD show
					images. Hints at local processing	specific difficulties related to
				Ratio scores: ASD > TD,	and reduced transfer in ASD.	spatial material?
				larger difference between	TDs showed transfer from studied	
				probe and studied trials in	to probe trials.	What would the results look
				ASD		like in less verbal and/or less
					Structural learning difficulties in	intellectually able ASD
				No between-group	ASD not caused by speed-accuracy	individuals?
				differences in response times,	trade-off, EFs, difficulties	
				Simple Discrimination, EFs,	discriminating between two simple	
				Biconditional Discrimination,	shapes, or simpler forms of binding	
				and Transverse Patterning.	or rule alternation.	

Experiment 1 aimed to replicate and extend studies on recognition memory in ASD by using the R/K procedure with verbal, visual, meaningful, and meaningless materials, and pupil size measurements were taken to learn about the underlying physiology of recognition memory in ASD. In addition, the study aimed to examine the usefulness of pupil size measurements for testing memory in ASD with a view to evaluating their potential for the use in younger and less verbal and/or intellectually able ASD individuals. Finally, it was of interest to investigate the effect of age on R responses in ASD and TD participants. Behaviourally, previous results were replicated and extended in showing reduced EM but intact SM in ASD for all tested materials. Both participant groups showed superior memory for pictures and meaningful materials and higher R compared to K responses. In addition, ASD memory was characterised by higher FA rates and lower sensitivity that indicated difficulties to distinguish old and new materials. ASD individuals showed lower recognition memory that was, primarily, related to lower levels of R but not K responses, supporting theories suggesting difficulties in relational processing in ASD. In particular, when looking at R justifications, whereas TD individuals related material from the current study episode to previous experiences, ASD individuals relied mostly on the information provided in the study materials and, therefore, showed reduced use of meaning and transfer of information across study episodes. More generally, the behavioural data found support for a two-process model of recognition memory rather than one represented by one process with different levels of strength. Pupil size measurements replicated the behavioural memory data in that differences were found between meaningful and meaningless materials for both groups. The absence of a pupil Old/New effect in ASD suggested a recognition memory impairment, showing that on a physiological level, ASD individuals did not distinguish between studied and unstudied items to the same extent as TD participants did. Reduced pupil sizes for old items in ASD may have been an indicator of cognitive overload during the task leading to reduced task engagement and a "levelling" of the pupil size (Granholm et al., 1997; Van Gerven et al. 2004), or of reduced memory strength in ASD (Papesh et al., 2012), leading to difficulties in distinguishing studied from unstudied materials at retrieval. The lack of the pupil Old/New effect in ASD taken together with reduced emotional responsiveness found with pupil size measurements in ASD (Nuske et al., 2014b & c), suggested a general cognitive deficit rather than a pure social impairment in ASD. Typical pupil responses in ASD at baseline made a general abnormality of pupil physiology in ASD an unlikely cause of the results. Significant positive correlations between behavioural recognition accuracy and the pupil size Old/New difference suggested that the pupil Old/New effect reflected a real memory phenomenon, and that pupil size measurements would be of potential use for the measurement of recognition memory in less verbal and/or intellectually able individuals with ASD. Further, because of the differences between pupil size abnormalities in ASD and those found in other disorders (Laeng et al., 2007), and because of the known underlying neurochemical pathways for pupil size effects (Goldinger & Papesh, 2012; Hoffing & Seitz, 2015), the absence of a pupil size Old/New effect was suggested as a candidate for a unique biomarker for ASD. Finally, a larger age-related difference in R responses in the TD as opposed to the ASD group supported the safeguard hypothesis (Geurts & Vissers, 2012), suggesting that older ASD individuals may be less affected by cognitive decline. To conclude, next to the establishment of the pupil Old/New effect as an innovative way to measure recognition memory in ASD, and the finding that recognition memory difficulties in ASD were related to reduced relational processing, one of the current studies' novel contributions was the finding that ASD individuals showed particular difficulties in relating details from the current episode to knowledge and experiences from outside the immediate study context. Given these findings, it was important to look more closely at within-experiment relational information, and in this context spatial-contextual information was of interest.

After having established an EM deficit in ASD that seemed to be related to the processing of relational information, and having found that picture memory was superior to memory for words in both groups, Experiment 2 aimed to examine memory for relational material more directly in ASD by using an everyday relational memory task with pictures as materials. The task was designed to investigate explicit and implicit memory asking whether implicit memory would still be intact for relational material in ASD. A second aim was to validate the behavioural results, and to investigate attention, through the use of eye-movement measures. Finally, item memory was also measured, and the effect of age on explicit memory was examined in both groups. An include/exclude recognition memory procedure was used to calculate estimates of implicit and explicit memory for object-location combinations. Behaviourally, ASD individuals showed lower explicit relational memory as opposed to TD participants. No between-group differences were found in implicit relational memory. Eyemovement measures at retrieval, however, showed reduced fixation durations in ASD to locations that participants were asked to choose, indicating differences in the allocation of attention during retrieval of spatial relational information in ASD. Positive correlations between fixations on previously studied, as opposed to new locations, and behavioural choices of these locations indicated that these attention differences at retrieval reflected a real memory phenomenon. Therefore, reduced fixation durations on previously studied locations in ASD in the current study pointed to difficulties in implicit relational memory. In addition, the eye-movement encoding data for later incorrectly remembered material indicated less attention to context information and information that needed to be studied, i.e., location information, in ASD, and correlations showed that, in particular, attention to context information at encoding was related to later implicit relational memory, highlighting the role of attention allocation and relational processing at encoding for subsequent memory. An analysis of the influence of age on explicit relational memory in both groups showed that ASD was related to a larger age-related memory difference in explicit relational memory, which was contrary to the finding of Experiment 1 of a reduced age-related memory difference in R responses in the ASD group, and which highlighted the need for further investigations on this topic, as larger memory differences in ASD with age would have important implications for care provisions. Finally, item memory was found to be intact in ASD in this study. Contrary to Experiment 1, where recognition memory strongly relied on Remembering, item memory tasks in the current study may have benefitted more from intact Knowing in ASD and, in addition, a supported test was used for material that had been studied intentionally, therefore, creating a potentially easier test for ASD individuals. To conclude, through the use of eye-movement measures a deficit in implicit relational memory in ASD was discovered, and it was found that attention patterns at encoding may have contributed to memory difficulties in ASD found at retrieval. In addition to pupil size, fixation duration was indicated to be a fruitful measure to use in memory test adaptations for less verbal and/or intellectually able ASD individuals.

Having established that relational memory for location information was difficult for ASD individuals in Experiment 2, the aim of Experiment 3 was to systematically investigate relational memory for location information in comparison to other kinds of relational as well as item information. By using abstract shape images, the influence of language and previous experience with materials on memory was reduced, which was important as these factors may have differed between groups. Experiment 3 also aimed to test the idea that some item memory tests are particularly difficult for ASD individuals because they probe relational processing, by matching item and relational memory tasks on complexity. Finally, the effect of age on relational memory was examined in both groups. Memory was tested by means of a recognition test procedure presenting three items at a time, manipulating item, location, order,

or set information. Overall, ASD compared to TD participants performed worse on all tasks and, replicating findings from Experiment 1, lower task performance was related to difficulties in distinguishing old and new materials, as indicated by higher FAs and lower sensitivity in the ASD group. Also replicating Experiment 1, the data supported a twoprocess model of recognition memory best. Large effect sizes for the between-group differences on all tasks indicated similar difficulties in all kinds of tested relations in ASD and, thereby, replicating and extending findings from Experiment 2 with a different paradigm and different materials. Difficulties in item memory replicated findings from Experiment 1, and overall both experiments showed that difficulties in remembering single items may emerge, when such memory relies on relational information, i.e., the relations between items or relations among items and their context). In line with Experiment 1, but contrary to Experiment 2, age had a more pronounced effect on order memory in the TD, but not the ASD group, in the current study. This may be the case because younger ASD individuals already performed at the level of TD OA in this study, but the inconsistencies in the findings between the studies of this thesis also reflected the need for more research in this important area. Correlations among item and relational memory tasks in the TD group indicated that TD participants may have used relational processing flexibly to support their task performance, whereas the absence of such correlations in persons with ASD may have indicated inflexibility in the use of relational processing or difficulties in EFs that may have influenced their memory performance. To conclude, item memory has been found difficult for ASD individuals, when it was measured with tasks of similar complexity to relational memory tasks, which made stronger demands on relational processes. Different kinds of relational memory have been of comparable difficulty for ASD individuals, and reduced relational processing, i.e., reduced binding of item and context information, may have been responsible for this deficit.

Following on from the difficulties in relational memory in ASD found in the previous three experiments, the aim of Experiment 4 was to investigate relational processing and memory for location information in the more applied area of spatial navigation, measuring the roles of complexity, EFs, attention, and item memory in this context. In addition, the influence of age on spatial navigation was examined in both groups. Experiment 3 highlighted the importance of complexity, by revealing difficulties in item memory in ASD, when procedures for item and relational memory were matched on complexity, and it hinted at the importance of EFs for memory in ASD, by showing inflexibility in the use of relational processing. Experiment 2 demonstrated that reduced attention to context details in ASD may have contributed to later difficulties in memory retrieval. Finally, memory for items was considered important, because spatial navigation and memory were found to be related processes depending on similar brain regions (Burgess et al., 2002), and because successful spatial navigation depended on item cues (Bohbot et al., 2004). Different types of spatial navigation were compared within the same task asking participants to learn a route over six blocks, by presenting a video of a maze, including intersections with navigation cues. ASD, as opposed to TD participants, performed worse in both conditions, confirming difficulties with location material found in Experiments 2 and 3. In addition, the importance of complexity found for memory in Experiment 3 was also highlighted for spatial navigation. Lower navigation performance in ASD may have been related to difficulties in distinguishing old from new materials, as indicated by similar fixation durations on studied and new images of the intersections presented at test in ASD, as opposed to TD participants, replicating findings from Experiment 1 and 3. Navigation difficulties in ASD in the current study were also related to the demands of the navigation task on EFs, as indicated by poorer EFs in ASD in the current study, the role of EFs in predicting navigation performance, and their possible relation to a greater age-related egocentric navigation difference in ASD, as opposed to TD

participants, in the current study. In addition to EFs, navigation difficulties were also related to lower memory for the items marking the intersections and to reduced fixations on these items at encoding. These observations replicated findings from Experiment 2, indicating the role of a different attention allocation for memory in ASD. Eye-movement differences at retrieval pointed to reduced relational binding of items to context in ASD and, together with findings from Experiments 1 and 2, indicated the usefulness of eye-movement measurements for uncovering the memory difficulties in ASD with measures outside conscious awareness. Finally, contrary to findings from Experiment 2, but in line with Experiments 1 and 3, larger age-related differences in allocentric navigation were found for TD compared to ASD individuals. Therefore, most studies of this thesis supported the safeguard hypothesis, suggesting that ASD adults with average and above average intellectual functions may be less affected by age-related cognitive decline. However, it is important to keep in mind that the current thesis used cross-sectional designs, expressing the need for more systematic longitudinal investigations of the effects of age on memory and related processes in ASD in broader populations with varying intellectual abilities to resolve inconsistencies in the findings. To conclude, Experiment 4 found a general navigation deficit in ASD by using procedures matched for complexity. The deficit was related to reduced item memory and difficulties in EFs.

Following on from Experiment 4, which used a learning procedure and found reduced spatial navigation accuracy in ASD at test, the aim of Experiment 5 was to investigate configural and, more specifically, structural learning as a fundamental learning process that may be responsible for the difficulties observed in relational binding in memory and spatial navigation in ASD. Experiments 2, 3, and 4 showed difficulties with relational memory for location information in ASD, which may have been indicative of particular difficulties with

structural learning, i.e., difficulties that would occur when the structural arrangement of the stimulus array needed to be taken into account in addition to the binding of the two elements. To test this idea, three configural learning tests were used, each simultaneously presenting two images on the screen. Drawing on a paradigm from the non-human animal learning literature, the test of structural learning used a non-verbal method to measure pure hippocampal functioning, which was of interest in the context of the aim to devise a paradigm of potential use for testing a wide range of ASD individuals with varying verbal and intellectual abilities, and when considering memory theories in ASD suspecting atypical hippocampal functioning at the core of cognitive differences in ASD. Experiment 5 found a specific structural learning deficit in ASD, which was not caused by a speed-accuracy trade-off, inflexible response patterns, executive dysfunction, difficulties in simply discriminating or binding two items, or problems related to contextual rule alternation. To conclude, the findings of this study suggested a fundamental learning process - such as structural learning – to be impaired in ASD, which may form the basis for the cognitive difficulties observed in areas such as (relational) memory and spatial navigation in this population.

Following the overview of the findings of this thesis, the results will now be discussed in relation to the topics presented in the introduction at increasingly broader levels.

6.2 Conclusions

Despite the limitations on the studies that have been discussed at length during the presentation of each of the individual experiments, the present chapter will discuss wider issues and implications of the findings. The results will first be considered in relation to previous findings on memory in ASD, then they will be set in relation to theories about memory and cognitive functions in ASD, and the chapter will finish with conclusions about ASD as a disorder.

6.2.1 Conclusions for memory findings in ASD

With reference to the empirical findings on memory in ASD presented in Section 1.4.1, previous findings were replicated. Experiment 1 found support for reduced EM and intact SM in ASD (Section 1.4.1.2) by using a R/K recognition paradigm, which showed fewer R responses for ASD as opposed to TD individuals. This result was found for verbal and visual and meaningful and meaningless materials, which generalised findings on memory in ASD across different materials. Reduced EM in ASD was also found in Experiments 2 and 3. Experiments 1, 3, and 4 suggested that these EM difficulties were related to particular difficulties in distinguishing between previously studied/old and new materials. Regarding the factors affecting EM in ASD (Section 1.4.1.3), Experiment 2 found fewer memory difficulties in ASD, when using a supported item memory test procedure, and Experiment 4 found that ASD individuals used supporting information inherent in the study materials less than TD participants, in that they attended less to navigational cues at study. Difficulties in establishing meaning in ASD were found through R justifications in Experiment 1 that were focussed on the current study episode, and that did not generalise across different episodes of experience. Experiments 2 and 3 both confirmed previous findings of difficulties with relational materials in ASD (Section 1.4.1.4) by using behavioural and physiological measures, and by finding that different types of relations, i.e., location, temporal order, and set, were similarly difficult for ASD participants. These findings replicated those of earlier studies.

In addition to replicating existing findings, the experiments reported in this thesis extended previous research. Experiment 1 illustrated that under conditions, where recognition memory relied heavily on Remembering, and, therefore, the retrieval of context information, overall recognition memory for single items was impaired in ASD, resolving some inconsistencies in the previous literature. Experiment 3 confirmed these findings by revealing difficulties in item memory in ASD in test procedures that relied strongly on relational processing. One possible reason for the R deficit found in Experiment 1 was that, in particular, ASD individuals related the current study episode less to prior knowledge and experiences, supporting ideas about reduced transfer of information in ASD across study episodes (Section 1.2.5). In a more general context, reduced transfer may help to explain why people with ASD have difficulties adapting flexibly to novel situations and react anxiously in similar, re-occurring situations that ought to be familiar to them. Experiment 4 also helped to resolve some inconsistencies in the previous literature by showing that, even when conditions were matched on complexity, spatial navigation remained an area of difficulty in ASD. The use of pupillometry and eye-movement measures to investigate memory processes in the current thesis has been very fruitful. Regarding pupil size measurements, it was possible to extend previous literature by showing that pupil size at baseline in ASD adults did not differ from that found in TD adults (in Experiment 1), which was unlike previous findings showing larger baseline pupil sizes in ASD children. These data together with the children data from previous studies (C. J. Anderson & Colombo, 2009; Blaser et al., 2014) suggested developmental trends in changes of pupil size over time, which should be investigated in future research. Experiment 1 showed a different underlying physiology for recognition memory in ASD with pupil size measures replicating previous findings gathered through the use of ERPs. In addition, eye-movement measurements in Experiment 2 have helped to draw connections between the distinctions of item and relational, and implicit and explicit memory by showing that implicit memory for relational material was impaired in ASD, when tested with physiological measures, suggesting specific difficulties in relational processing rather than difficulties with explicit memory in ASD. The correlations between behavioural memory data and the pupil Old/New difference in Experiment 1, as well as the relations found between behavioural memory data and eye-movements in Experiment 2, demonstrated the utility of pupil size and eye-movement recordings as unconscious measures of memory that would, in principle, be suitable for the use in wider ASD populations. Similarly, a paradigm was created for Experiment 5 that would be suitable to test structural learning in broader ASD samples with varying cognitive and language abilities. The data from Experiment 5 suggested that atypicalities in a fundamental learning process may underlie the cognitive difficulties observed in ASD. The experiments of this thesis also added insight on how age may affect memory in ASD individuals by capitalising on the wide age-range of the samples studied to enable cross-sectional comparisons. Experiment 2 showed that explicit relational memory for location information was more affected by age in ASD as opposed to TD individuals. Specifically, the older individuals in the ASD sample showed particular difficulties with the task. In Experiments 1, 3, and 4, larger age-related memory differences were found for TD as opposed to ASD individuals. It is worth noting that in these three studies, younger ASD individuals already performed at a much lower level as opposed to younger TD individuals, whereas in Experiment 2 younger individuals in both groups performed almost similarly. Processes related to age-related memory changes in TD individuals may operate at an earlier age in some ASD individuals, in others they may operate more strongly leading to a greater decrease in cognitive function in ASD as opposed to TD with age. It should be borne in mind, however, that the findings reported in this thesis may have been compromised by a sampling bias in that self-selected samples of intellectually able (older) ASD individuals were tested and the results may, therefore, not be representative for all older ASD individuals. Finally, the studies of this thesis have highlighted the influence of other processes such as attention and EFs on memory in ASD, and they have shown how these processes are intertwined, which should be considered more in future research.

6.2.2 Conclusions for memory theories in ASD

The findings will now be considered in relation to previously presented memory (Section 1.4.2) and cognitive (Sections 1.2, 1.4.2.5) theories in ASD. Some of the memory theories draw parallels to certain patient groups. It is, however, worth noting that this thesis did not include direct comparisons between ASD individuals and patients with other disorders. In addition, whereas ASD exists from birth onwards and influences the development of the whole individual, in most patient groups, disorders were acquired in later life. Analogies will, therefore, only be simplifications and not sufficient to explain the complexities of the complete profile of strengths and difficulties observed in ASD.

6.2.2.1 Amnesia parallel, hippocampal patients and relational binding account

Supporting and contradictory findings relating to the three accounts presented in Section 1.4.2.1 will be discussed, starting with the amnesia parallel, followed by findings from hippocampal patients, and concluding with the relational binding account. Regarding the amnesia parallel, higher FA rates for ASD compared to TD individuals in the recognition memory tasks used in Experiments 1 and 3 indicated confabulation, which is known from the amnesia literature (e.g., Schnider, Gutbrod, Hess & Schroth, 1996). Another similarity between ASD and amnesia was the eye-movement finding for the retrieval data from Experiment 2. Relational memory in amnesia has been characterised by the absence of a relational manipulation effect in eye movements (Hannula et al., 2007; Ryan et al., 2000), indicating that amnesics were not aware of changes in relational information in the presented material. Similarly, in Experiment 2 ASD individuals showed fewer fixations to the object-location relations tested for a correct behavioural answer. Like in amnesia, eye-movement data indicated specific difficulties with relational information that also affected implicit memory. However, when using paradigms in ASD that have been used in amnesia

previously, results were mostly qualitatively different for ASD individuals. Using a paradigm similar to the one used in Experiment 3, amnesics have been found to perform at chance on the item as well as all relational memory tasks (Konkel et al., 2008). By contrast, in Experiment 3, ASD individuals performed at chance only on two of the three relational tasks, namely the tasks for temporal order and set of item presentation, indicating that the difficulties observed in ASD were much less severe than those known from amnesia. Finally, when measuring pupil size in response to old and new items, individuals with amnesia were found to show a novelty preference. As opposed to TD individuals, whose pupils were larger in response to previously studied compared to unstudied items, amnesics showed larger pupils for new compared to old items (Laeng et al., 2007). Contrary to this, in Experiment 1, ASD individuals showed an absence of the pupil Old/New effect with similar pupil sizes for old and new items. Considering what is known about the underlying neurochemistry of pupil size changes from TD populations (Goldinger & Papesh, 2012; Hoffing & Seitz, 2015), the difference between pupil size effects in ASD and amnesia, indicated the potential of the absence of the pupil Old/New effect was a candidate biomarker that may be specific for ASD.

More similarities were found between findings on memory in ASD and memory in patients with hippocampal lesions. In addition, results from studies investigating memory in non-human animals with a lesion in the hippocampus were considered. Again looking at the paradigm used in Experiment 3, individuals with hippocampal lesions have been found to perform worse on item and relational tasks compared to the control group. However, relational tasks seemed to be somewhat harder for them in that all patients performed at chance on these tasks. Similarly, in Experiment 3, ASD individuals showed difficulty with item and relational tasks. However, they only performed at chance on two of the three relational tasks, with performance on the location and the item task being well above chance. Next to a different neurological origin of memory difficulties in ASD and hippocampal patients, it is also possible that some alternations in the paradigm may have led to differences in the results. For example, as opposed to Konkel et al. (2008), Experiment 3 of this thesis used fewer study trials per block and one instead of two study opportunities for each item set. Either of those may have had a differential effect on item and relational memory. Whereas longer study blocks may have had detrimental effects on relational memory, in that hippocampal patients got increasingly confused about the relations of the study materials, repetition of study materials may have benefitted item memory more than relational memory (A. Konkel, personal communication, August 31, 2016). Only a direct comparison between ASD individuals' and hippocampal patients' memory within the same study would test these possibilities. When using a direct adaptation of a paradigm from the animal learning literature on which rats with hippocampal lesions had shown particular difficulties in structural learning but not in other configural learning tasks, findings from ASD adults were consistent with hippocampal dysfunction in that task difficulties were restricted to structural learning. However, whereas rats had acquired structural learning, ASD participants appeared to have used some other strategy rather than structural learning to solve the Structural Discrimination task. Also in this study, the methodologies of testing may have been of relevance. In Experiment 5, all participants took part in a single session. Rats, however, had been trained and tested over multiple testing sessions on separate days. A comparison of ASD and TD adults' structural learning performance via multiple testing sessions would be of interest in this context.

Finally, the relational binding account was supported by difficulties in different types of relational memory in ASD, i.e., location, temporal order, and set information, in Experiments 2 and 3. On first look, the data from Experiments 1, 3, and 4 seemed to contradict the account by showing difficulties in item memory. Closer inspection of the data, however, supported the idea of particular relational binding difficulties in ASD. In Experiment 1, a deficit in overall recognition memory for single items was restricted to episodic Remembering, whereas semantic Knowing was intact. Since R responses required the retrieval of item, as well as context information, reduced R responses also indicated difficulties to process relational information. Similarly, in Experiment 3, because of the relational nature of the task, presenting three items together with several context details, performance potentially benefitted from relational processing. Reduced item memory in Experiment 4 may have been caused by the fact that participants had not been asked to study item information intentionally. Therefore, the current thesis identified conditions under which item memory was impaired in ASD:

- When tasks were used that were matched in complexity to relational memory tasks. Complexity was, thereby, defined by the number of concrete units and their relations that needed to be processed at the same time.
- 2) When the tasks probed relational processing.
- 3) When information was tested that had not been studied intentionally.
- 4) When tasks were used that provided less support at test.
- 5) When tasks included the presentation of more than one type of context information that needed to be processed for successful performance.

Each of these factors should be manipulated, specifically, in suitable paradigms to resolve the open question of item memory difficulties in ASD. Overall, the findings presented in the thesis provided some support for theories suggesting an involvement of the hippocampus in the memory abnormalities reported in ASD. However, the findings also suggested that the hippocampus is not the only neural substrate for memory abnormalities in ASD, and that additional brain bases needed to be examined.
6.2.2.2 Complexity account and executive functions

Support for this account (see Sections 1.2.2, 1.2.3, 1.4.2.2) was found in Experiments 3 and 4. In Experiment 3, it was established that ASD individuals showed difficulties in item memory tests, when procedures were used that were similarly complex for item and relational memory. In addition, the findings from Experiment 4 suggested that different forms of spatial navigation were affected in ASD, when procedures were matched on complexity. As suggested in Section 1.4.2.2, one way around the circularity of this account was to define complexity in terms of the number of concrete units and the number of their relations that needed to be processed or bound at the same time.

Regarding EFs, the aim of the account, namely to find a difficulty that is common to all ASD individuals (Ozonoff et al., 1991), was not supported by the results found in the studies of this thesis. Whereas difficulties in EFs were related to impaired spatial navigation performance in ASD in Experiment 4, and which may have been responsible for the surprisingly lower performance of the older ASD individuals in the sample on egocentric navigation, tests of EFs used in Experiment 5 did not reveal any difficulties in another ASD sample.

Overall, the findings of this thesis suggested that complexity, as well as EFs are important factors to consider in research on memory in ASD. Maister et al. (2013) used an interesting approach to do this by dividing up their groups by performance on EF tasks. The authors showed that difficulties in memory in ASD only persisted in individuals that also had significant difficulties with EFs. It is, however, unclear if Maister et al.'s ASD and TD groups were still matched on IQ and age, after dividing the groups by their EF performance, or if ASD individuals with lower EFs also had significantly lower IQs. Therefore, the suggestion for future research would be to consider EFs as another matching variable in studies on memory in ASD by testing larger samples with ASD and TD subgroups that should be matched on their levels of EFs, as well as IQ, age, and gender.

6.2.2.3 Ageing analogy

The ageing analogy (see Section 1.4.2.3) was supported, partly, by the findings reported in this thesis. Support was found, when looking at a direct comparison of relational order memory in ASD and TD adults in Experiment 3. Younger as well as older ASD individuals performed like older TD participants, supporting the suggestion that the ASD memory profile would be similar to that found in TD OA. In Experiment 3, individuals until the age of 65 years were considered. The question arises what happens to ASD memory beyond the age of 65 years. There are three possibilities here (also see Geurts & Vissers, 2012). ASD and TD memory may be affected by age similarly, or ASD memory may be less or more affected by age than memory in TD OA. The current thesis found support for two of these possibilities. Whereas Experiments 1, 3, and 4 reported smaller age-related differences in memory and spatial navigation in ASD as opposed to TD participants, Experiment 2 found a larger agerelated difference in explicit relational memory for ASD compared to TD adults. The question arises, why the four studies found different results. It is possible that age-related memory effects in TD individuals in Experiment 2 were obscured by a ceiling effect. It is, however, also possible that slightly different groups of ASD individuals were tested in the four studies, or that difficulties were probed differently by the various tasks. Whereas in Experiment 2, the younger individuals in both groups performed similarly, in Experiments 1, 3, and 4, younger ASD individuals showed much lower performance compared to younger TD adults, suggesting that memory and spatial navigation tested in these studies may have been particularly difficult for ASD individuals, for example, because of their stronger reliance on relational processing (Experiments 1 and 3) or EFs (Experiment 4). This idea was supported by the somewhat surprising finding of larger age-related differences in egocentric navigation in ASD in Experiment 4 of this thesis, which was not predicted by the findings on TD OA. It is possible that ASD individuals may have used processes depending on frontal lobe functions as compensatory mechanisms for memory processes affected by hippocampal dysfunction, and when tasks specifically probed frontal lobe functions, these compensatory mechanisms no longer worked, thus revealing difficulties in areas that would not be predicted to be difficult by the ageing analogy. In general, when considering that ASD spans a spectrum of individuals with varying levels of abilities, it is possible that all three possibilities (weaker, stronger, or similar effects of age in ASD compared to TD OA) may happen in different subgroups of older ASD individuals. ASD persons tested in this thesis were a self-selected population with average intellectual abilities and an interest in research, but also less verbal and intellectually able ASD individuals grow older. Howlin et al. (2014) found that, whereas cognitive functions remained stable in most older ASD individuals, a steep decline in cognitive functions, that in some cases prevented further inclusion in research studies, occurred in 25 % of older ASD individuals. It would be very important, to find out more about these individuals using measures suitable to assess individuals with various intellectual functions, such as pupil size (see Experiment 1) and eye-movement measurements (Experiment 2), or tasks including minimal verbal instructions, such as adaptations from the animal learning and memory literature (Experiment 5).

Similarities between ASD and TD OA's memory were also found in the pupil size measurements of Experiment 1. The lack of the pupil Old/New effect in ASD individuals may have indicated cognitive overload and task disengagement leading to a "levelling", i.e., a decrease in pupil size for old items. Similarly, in a working memory task, pupil size has been found not to distinguish between lower and higher cognitive loads in TD OA (Van Gerven et al. 2004), possibly indicating cognitive overload. Experiment 2 found support for the ageing analogy, partly, when using a direct adaptation of a paradigm previously tested in TD OA (Kessels et al., 2005b). Similarly to TD OA, ASD individuals showed difficulties with explicit relational memory but intact implicit relational memory. These findings were, however, qualitatively different in ASD and TD OA. Whereas ASD individuals struggled to

place an object into its previously studied location, but performed well in placing an object into a new location, TD OA struggled with both tasks. They replaced fewer old objects into their previously studied locations, when instructed to do so, and they placed more old objects into their old locations, when instructed to find a new location (Kessels et al., 2005b). It is possible that in Experiment 2 of this thesis, a difference between ASD and TD adults in the exclude condition may have been masked by a ceiling effect. This explanation is, however, unlikely when looking at the small effect size for the between-group difference. Experiment 4 also adapted a paradigm from the TD ageing literature. Unlike TD OA, who showed a specific spatial navigation deficit in performance on different direction (allocentric) trials (Wiener et al., 2012; 2013), a preference for extra-hippocampal strategies (Wiener et al., 2013), and specific difficulties with a switch to an allocentric navigation condition (Harris et al., 2012), ASD individuals showed an overall navigation deficit in Experiment 4 characterised by difficulties in same (egocentric) and different direction (allocentric) trials, and by difficulties in flexibly switching between allocentric and egocentric navigation conditions. It is possible that the differences between studies may have been related to methodological issues. Wiener et al. (2013) excluded a considerable number of TD OA (N =6; 26 %) from their sample, because they did not perform well enough in the egocentric condition. The exclusion of these participants may have masked co-existing egocentric navigation difficulties in TD OA in this study. It is, however, also possible that the general navigation deficit in ASD, found in Experiment 4, may have been related to EF impairments that may be more severe in ASD compared to TD OA, and the tasks' demands on frontal lobe functions. Only a direct longitudinal comparison between younger and older ASD and TD individuals will confirm or disprove these ideas.

Overall, the findings presented here suggested that, in addition, to the hippocampus and the PFC, which are affected by typical ageing (Hedden & Gabrieli, 2004), other brain bases for memory difficulties in ASD should be considered.

6.2.2.4 Parietal account alone or in conjunction with other brain regions Other candidate brain regions to consider as the basis for memory difficulties in ASD, supported by the studies of this thesis, were the parietal lobes (see Sections 1.2.7, 1.4.2.4, 1.4.2.5.2). Similarly to patients with parietal lobe lesions (Cabeza et al., 2008), ASD individuals tested in this thesis showed specific difficulties with EM in Experiments 1, 2, and 3. For example, Experiment 1 showed reduced R responses for ASD individuals, and the parietal lobes have previously been reported to be involved in R responses (Wagner et al., 2005).

Because the parietal lobes have also been found to be involved in the process of attention (e.g., Townsend et al., 1996; Section 1.2.7), atypical attention in ASD may have pointed to their role in the cognitive processes in ASD. The studies of this thesis suggested that atypical attention may have contributed to the memory difficulties observed in ASD. This was especially the case for Experiment 2, where less attention to context information at encoding was related to implicit object-location memory at test. Similarly, less attention to cues, while encoding the route through the maze, may have contributed to the memory and navigation deficits in ASD observed in Experiment 4. Attention differences were also found in the retrieval eye-movement data in Experiment 4, indicating that ASD individuals may have not been able to distinguish well between previously studied presentations of an intersection and new unseen presentations coming from a different direction.

Overall, the theories presented here have been fruitful for the characterisation of the memory profile in ASD, but none explains all the difficulties completely. All of them seem too simplifying and a combination of the different theories may be best by examining EFs and complexity, memory and attention, and how these processes influence one another. In addition, there are other factors that may play a role in the memory difficulties in ASD such as ToM and perception, which will be considered next.

6.2.3 Conclusions for cognitive theories in ASD

6.2.3.1 ToM deficit account

ToM was not directly tested in the studies of this thesis. However, since ToM has been suggested to be related to EM (Perner et al., 2007), EM impairments in ASD reported in Experiments 1, 2, and 3 suggested that the tested ASD samples may have also been affected by difficulties in ToM, or by differences in the process/processes that are common to ToM and EM. In particular, the difficulties in distinguishing between old and new items in ASD found in Experiments 1, 3, and 4 indicated a lack of a representation of the previous study episode and, therefore, a ToM impairment.

6.2.3.2 Weak Central Coherence and Atypical Perceptual Processing

Perception was also not directly tested in this thesis. Behavioural, as well as eye-movement data, however, suggested that atypical perception may have contributed to the reported findings on memory. The data from Experiment 5 indicated a local bias in ASD in the processing of the compound stimuli that were used as material. In particular, ASD individuals seemed to have processed both sides of the images separately and, therefore, did not take into account the structure of the whole image, leading to a deficit in structural learning and reduced transfer to unstudied probe trials at the final test stage. Eye-movement data from Experiments 2 and 4, however, did not suggest a local bias, as they showed reduced attention

to details such as location information and navigation cues in ASD compared to TD individuals. There has been growing awareness that low-level perceptual processes have a significant impact on memory in terms of encoding and later memory retrieval in disorders such as schizophrenia (e.g., Haenschel et al., 2007). Given possible parallels between ASD and schizophrenia (e.g., Brüne, 2005; Granholm et al., 1997; Orellana & Slachevsky, 2013; Williams et al., 2010), the influence of perceptual processes on memory is an important area for future research in ASD in terms of cross-disorder research to find out what is really unique to ASD.

6.2.3.3 Increased Perceptual Discrimination account

Support for this account was found in two studies of this thesis. The R justifications, given by participants in Experiment 1, showed that ASD individuals connected the studied materials less with information that was not part of the immediate study context, such as previously experienced events, therefore, indicating reduced transfer of information across different (study) episodes. Reduced transfer of information from the study to the test phase was found in Experiment 5, in that ASD individuals performed better on the re-paired probe trials, compared to previously studied trials, in Block 5 of Structural Discrimination, suggesting that they did not take into account the structure of the stimuli, therefore, being less hindered by it, when presented with the mirror images at test.

In conclusion, there is not one single cognitive theory that satisfactorily explains all the findings of the present thesis on memory in ASD. Some support but also contradictory findings were reported for all theories.

6.2.4 Conclusions for ASD

Two findings of this thesis advanced our knowledge of ASD more broadly. The first was that a fundamental learning mechanism, i.e., structural learning (tested in Experiment 5), was found to be disturbed in ASD, and abnormalities in structural learning may potentially be able to explain difficulties seen in ASD more generally, such as in the areas of learning, memory, spatial navigation, and social cognition. Future research should consider the examination of the relation between structural learning and the core symptoms in a more representative sample of ASD individuals that spans more or less the entire spectrum, which would be possible with the paradigm used in Experiment 5, since it involved minimal verbal instructions.

The second important finding was the absence of the pupil Old/New effect found in Experiment 1 and, therefore, the possibility of a biomarker for ASD, which could, potentially, be used in the diagnostic process. More research is needed to clarify the specificity of this effect for ASD. The lack of an overlap of findings between ASD and amnesia seemed encouraging. The potential of a biomarker as well as other future research directions will now be discussed.

6.3 Future research

At least six future research directions that directly follow from the results reported in this thesis are imaginable and some information related to each of them will now be provided.

One question that arose in several experiments was, whether relational processing is impaired in ASD, or whether ASD individuals just show an item processing preference and would, in principle, be able to use relational processing, for example, when they are provided with task support, such as specific task instructions. Possible experiments to tackle this question would be: First, a replication of Experiment 3 with item and relational processing instructions to see if TD individuals' performance decreased in the item and relational tasks, following an item specific instruction, and if ASD individuals' performance increased in item and relational tasks, following relational processing instructions. Second, in a replication of Experiment 4, it should be tested whether ASD individuals' navigation performance would increase, when they were specifically instructed to attend to the landmark cues and relate them to one another and the travel direction through the maze. Third, a replication of Experiment 5 would be possible with an instruction to attend to the global structure of the compound stimuli to test whether ASD individuals would, in principle, be able to acquire structural learning, and to examine whether their learning and test performance would improve.

A second question is related to the suggestions made in Section 6.2.2.1 about the conditions under which item memory would be intact or impaired in ASD. These suggestions should be tackled in separate experiments with large enough samples to provide sufficient statistical power, each manipulating one factor, such as task complexity, study intention, task support at study and/or test, and number/ types of context information included in the task.

A third important area to follow up on is how ageing affects individuals with ASD and their cognitive profiles beyond the age of 65 years, and whether individuals with higher and lower verbal and/or intellectual abilities are affected differently by the ageing process. For this, suitable measures would need to be found. One possibility would be to use eyemovement and pupil size measurements to test a wide range of individuals with differing abilities with the same or similar tasks.

A fourth strand of research is related to the idea of subgroups with different cognitive profiles in ASD and the suggestion made in Section 6.2.2.2 to test the influence of other cognitive functions such as EFs on the memory profile reported in ASD, by testing large enough subgroups of ASD and TD individuals that are matched on their EF abilities.

331

The further development and application of memory paradigms suitable for young and less verbal and/or intellectually able ASD individuals would form a fifth area of research. Experiment 5 was a direct adaptation of an animal learning paradigm presented to participants with little in the way of verbal instructions and by using a touch-screen laptop. It was a collaborative investigation with Claire Thomas Derwent, who is currently testing minimally verbal children with ASD using the same paradigm as the one presented in this thesis. In a similar vein, eye-tracking and pupillometry also seemed promising technologies with the measures used in Experiments 1, 2, and 4, constituting measures of real memory phenomena that showed sensitive results, which, at least in part, were not established by means of more conventional behavioural measurements. The paradigms used in this thesis would need to be simplified in order to make them suitable for individuals with lower verbal and/or intellectual abilities. One possibility would be, to reduce the R/K procedure used in Experiment 1 to an Old/New recognition procedure, by presenting participants with a number of items to study, and by measuring their pupil responses to the studied and new items at test.

A final, potentially important, area of follow-up research is the finding of a lack of the pupil Old/New effect and its potential use as a biomarker. Three areas of research would be important: First, the different interpretational possibilities suggested in Section 2.1.4 should be tested with suitable behavioural paradigms to obtain clarity on whether the absence of such an effect in ASD indicated cognitive overload and task disengagement, a lack of interest, reduced memory strength, or whether it is related to lower emotional responsiveness. Second, groups of individuals with different disorders should be compared to ASD individuals to investigate the uniqueness and specificity of this effect in ASD. Third, more information should be gathered about the underlying mechanisms of the pupil Old/New effect by combining methods, such as tests of behaviour, physiology, and neurochemistry.

6.4 Concluding remarks

The overall aim of this thesis was to refine the cognitive profile observed in ASD by testing distinctions from the memory literature, and by investigating memory-related cognitive processes, such as attention, EFs, spatial navigation, and learning, to avoid seeing memory as detached from the context, in which it appears. In addition, it was aimed to find and test suitable physiological measures for memory in ASD, and to draw conclusions as well as generate hypotheses in relation to cognitive theories and underlying brain bases and mechanisms.

The biggest achievements of the research presented in this thesis were:

- Advances in the fields of item and relational memory in ASD were made in the discovery of conditions under which item memory was impaired in ASD (i.e., particularly, when performance benefitted from relational processing), and in the finding that different types of relational memory were similarly affected in ASD, supporting the idea of reduced relational processing in ASD.
- 2) The areas of explicit and implicit memory in ASD were significantly advanced by the finding that the relational memory impairment in ASD went beyond explicit memory, in that implicit relational memory was also affected, and by the connections that were drawn between the memory distinctions of implicit and explicit, direct and indirect, and item and relational memory.
- 3) Another significant contribution was the finding that the memory processes encoding, consolidation, and retrieval should not be considered in isolation. Experiments 2 and 4 have shown encoding differences that, potentially, affected later memory retrieval in ASD.

- 4) The discovery of suitable eye-movement and pupil size measures to test memory in ASD was important in that behavioural findings were replicated with a second measure, questions were answered that would have remained unanswered by the sole use of behavioural measures, and because it led to the suggestion of a pupil size biomarker in ASD.
- 5) A final important advancement related to the finding that cognitive processes should not be considered in isolation from one other, but that the ways in which they influence each other should be tested. In examining the roles of EFs, attention, memory, and related processes, such as learning and spatial navigation, it should be remembered that an abnormality in one, single process is unlikely to explain all difficulties observed in ASD.

List of References

- Ackerman, C. M., & Courtney, S. M. (2012). Spatial relations and spatial locations are dissociated within prefrontal and parietal cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 108(9), 2419-2429. doi: 10.1152/jn.01024.2011
- Adlam, A.-L. R., Malloy, M., Mishkin, M., & Vargha-Khadem, F. (2009). Dissociation between recognition and recall in developmental amnesia. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(11), 2207-2210. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.01.038
- Adler, N., Nadler, B., Eviatar, Z., & Shamay-Tsoory, S. G. (2010). The relationship between theory of mind and autobiographical memory in high-functioning autism and Asperger syndrome. *Psychiatry Research*, 178(1), 214-216. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2009.11.015
- Aggleton, J. P., Albasser, M. M., Aggleton, D. J., Poirier, G. L., & Pearce, J. M. (2010). Lesions of the rat perirhinal cortex spare the acquisition of a complex configural visual discrimination yet impair object recognition. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 124(1), 55-68. doi: 10.1037/a0018320
- Aggleton, J. P., Poirier, G. L., Aggleton, H. S., Vann, S. D., & Pearce, J. M. (2009). Lesions of the fornix and anterior thalamic nuclei dissociate different aspects of hippocampal-dependent spatial learning: Implications for the neural basis of scene learning. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *123*(3), 504-519. doi: 10.1037/a0015404
- Aggleton, J. P., Sanderson, D. J., & Pearce, J. M. (2007). Structural learning and the hippocampus. *Hippocampus*. *17*(9), 723-734. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20323
- Alexander, J. R. M., & Smales, S. (1997). Intelligence, learning and long-term memory. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 23(5), 815-825. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(97)00054-8
- Allen, G., & Courchesne, E. (2001). Attention function and dysfunction in autism. *Frontiers in Bioscience-Landmark, 6*, D105-D119. doi: 10.2741/allen

- Ally, B. A., Simons, J. S., McKeever, J. D., Peers, P. V., & Budson, A. E. (2008). Parietal contributions to recollection: Electrophysiological evidence from aging and patients with parietal lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(7), 1800-1812. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.02.026
- Althoff, R. R., & Cohen, N. J. (1999). Eye-movement-based memory effect: A reprocessing effect in face perception. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 25(4), 997-1010. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.25.4.997
- Alvarez, J. A., & Emory, E. (2006). Executive function and the frontal lobes: A meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychology Review*, *16*(1), 17-42. doi: 0.1007/s11065-006-9002-x
- Amaral, D. G., & Sinnamon, H. M. (1977). The locus coeruleus: Neurobiology of a central noradrenergic nucleus. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 9(3), 147-196. doi: 10.1016/0301 0082(77)90016-8
- Ambery, F. Z., Russell, A. J., Perry, K., Morris, R., & Murphy, D. G. M. (2006). Neuropsychological functioning in adults with Asperger syndrome. *Autism*, 10(6), 551-564. doi: 10.1177/1362361306068507
- Ameli, R., Courchesne, E., Lincoln, A., Kaufman, A. S., & Grillon, C. (1988). Visual memory processes in high-functioning individuals with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 18(4), 601-615. doi: 10.1007/BF02211878
- American Psychiatric Association (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders – DSM-IV-TR* (4th ed., text revision). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders – DSM-5* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.

- Anderson, M. C., Bjork, R. A., & Bjork, E. L. (1994). Remembering can cause forgetting: Retrieval dynamics in long-term memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory and Cognition, 20*(5), 1063-1087. doi: 10.1037/02787393.20.5.1063
- Anderson, C. J., & Colombo, J. (2009). Larger tonic pupil size in young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 51(2), 207-211. doi: 10.1002/dev.20352
- Andreano, J. M., & Cahill, L. (2009). Sex influences on the neurobiology of learning and memory. *Learning and Memory*, *16*(4), 248-266. doi: 10.1101/lm.918309
- Astur, R. S., Tropp, J., Sava, S., Constable, R. T., & Markus, E. J. (2004). Sex differences and correlations in a virtual Morris water task, a virtual radial arm maze, and mental rotation. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 151(1-2), 103-115. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2003.08.024
- Atkinson, R. C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). Human memory: A proposed system and its control processes. In K. W. Spence & J. T. Spence (Eds.), *The psychology of learning and motivation* (Vol. 2, pp. 89–195). New York: Academic Press.
- Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network Surveillance Year 2008 principal investigators, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2012).
 Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries*, 61(3), 1-19.
- Aylward, E. H., Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., Honeycutt, N. A., Augustine, A. M., Yates, K.
 O., ... Pearlson, G. D. (1999). MRI volumes of amygdala and hippocampus in nonmentally retarded autistic adolescents and adults. *Neurology*, *53*(9), 2145-2150.

- Baddeley, A. D. (1978). The trouble with levels: A re-examination of Craik and Lockhart's framework for memory research. *Psychological Review*, 85(3), 139-152. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.85.3.139
- Baddeley, A. D. (2000). The episodic buffer: A new component of working memory? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4(11), 417-423. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01538-2
- Baddeley, A. D. (2012). Working memory: Theories, models, and controversies. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63(1), 1-29. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100422
- Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. J. (1974). Working memory. In G. A. Bower (Ed.), The psychology of learning and motivation (Vol. 8, pp. 47-89). New York: Academic Press.
- Baddeley, A. D., & Warrington, E. K. (1970). Amnesia and the distinction between long- and short-term memory. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 9(2), 176-189. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(70)80048-2
- Baird, G., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Chandler, S., Loucas, T., Meldrum, D., & Charman, T. (2006). Prevalence of disorders of the autism spectrum in a population cohort of children in South Thames: The special needs and autism project (SNAP). *The Lancet, 368*(9531), 210-215. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69041-7
- Baldo, J. V., & Shimamura, A. P. (2002). Frontal lobes and memory. In A. D. Baddeley, M.D. Kopelman, & B. A. Wilson (Eds.), *Handbook of memory disorders* (pp. 363–379).Chichester: Wiley.
- Banks, W. P. (1970). Signal detection theory and human memory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 74(2), 81-99. doi: 10.1037/h0029531
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Frith, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? *Cognition*, 21(1), 37-46. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8

- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Skinner, R., Martin, J., & Clubley, E. (2001). The Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ): Evidence from Asperger syndrome/high-functioning autism, males and females, scientists and mathematicians. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 31(1), 5-17. doi: 10.1023/A:1005653411471
- Bastin, C., & van der Linden, M. (2003). The contribution of recollection and familiarity to recognition memory: A study of the effects of test format and aging. *Neuropsychology*, 17(1), 14-24. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.17.1.14
- Bauman, M. L., & Kemper, T. L. (2005). Neuroanatomic observations of the brain in autism:
 A review and future directions. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 23(2-3), 183-187. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.09.006
- Behrmann, M., Avidan, G., Leonard, G. L., Kimchi, R., Luna, B., Humphreys, K., & Minshew, N. (2006). Configural processing in autism and its relationship to face processing. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(1), 110-129. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.04.002
- Behrmann, M., Geng, J. J., & Shomstein, S. (2004). Parietal cortex and attention. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *14*(2), 212-217. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2004.03.012
- Beighley, J. S., & Matson, J. L. (2014). Comparing social skills in children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder according to the DSM-IV-TR and the DSM-5. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, 26(6), 689-701. doi: 10.1007/s10882-014-9382-4
- Beighley, J. S., Matson, J. L., Rieske, R. D., Cervantes, P. E., Goldin, R., & Jang, J. (2014).
 Differences in stereotypic behavior in adults diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders using the DSM-IV-TR and the DSM-5. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*, 26(2), 193-202. doi: 10.1007/s10882-013-9356-y

- Belmonte, M. K., & Bourgeron, T. (2006). Fragile X syndrome and autism at the intersection of genetic and neural networks. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(10), 1221-1225. doi: 10.1038/nn1765
- Bennett, T., Szatmari, P., Bryson, S., Volden, J., Zwaigenbaum, L., Vaccarella, L., ... Boyle,
 M. (2008). Differentiating autism and Asperger syndrome on the basis of language
 delay or impairment. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 38*(4), 616625. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0428-7
- Bennetto, L., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (1996). Intact and impaired memory functions in autism. *Child Development*, 67(4), 1816-1835. doi: 10.1111/j.14678624.1996.tb01830.x
- Ben-Zvi, S., Soroker, N., & Levy, D. A. (2015). Parietal lesion effects on cued recall following pair associate learning. *Neuropsychologia*, 73, 176-194. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.05.009
- Berry, C. J., Kessels, R. P. C., Wester, A. J., & Shanks, D. R. (2014). A single-system model predicts recognition memory and repetition priming in amnesia. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(33), 10963-10974. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0764-14.2014
- Berryhill, M. E., Drowos, D. B., & Olson, I. R. (2009). Bilateral parietal cortex damage does not impair associative memory for paired stimuli. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, 26(7), 606-619. doi: 10.1080/02643290903534150
- Berryhill, M. E., Picasso, L., Arnold, R., Drowos, D., & Olson, I. R. (2010). Similarities and differences between parietal and frontal patients in autobiographical and constructed experience tasks. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(5), 1385-1393. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.01.004
- Bewick, V., Cheek, L., & Ball, J. (2003). Statistics review 7: Correlation and regression. *Critical Care*, 7(6), 451-459. doi: 10.1186/cc2401

- Bigham, S., Boucher, J., Mayes, A., & Anns, S. (2010). Assessing recollection and familiarity in autistic spectrum disorder: Methods and findings. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(7), 878-889. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0937-7
- Binder, J. R., & Desai, R. H. (2011). The neurobiology of semantic memory. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 15(11), 527-536. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.10.001
- Blaser, E., Eglington, L., Carter, A. S., & Kaldy, Z. (2014). Pupillometry reveals a mechanism for autism spectrum disorder (ASD) advantage in visual tasks. *Scientific Reports*, 4:4301. doi: 10.1038/srep04301
- Bölte, S., Herbrecht, E., & Poustka, F. (2007). What is the true prevalence of autism spectrum disorders? [Letter to the Editor]. *German Journal of Psychiatry*, *10*(2), 53-54.
- Bölte, S., & Poustka, F. (2004). Comparing the intelligence profiles of savant and nonsavant individuals with autistic disorder. *Intelligence*, 32(2), 121-131. doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2003.11.002
- Bohbot, V. D., Iaria, G., & Petrides, M. (2004). Hippocampal function and spatial memory:
 Evidence from functional neuroimaging in healthy participants and performance of patients with medial temporal lobe resections. *Neuropsychology*, *18*(3), 418-425. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.18.3.418
- Bon, L., Baleyte, J.-M., Piolino, P., Desgranges, B., Eustache, F., & Guillery-Girard, B. (2013). Growing up with Asperger's syndrome: Developmental trajectory of autobiographical memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3:605. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00605
- Bott, L., Brock, J., Brockdorff, N., Boucher, J., & Lamberts, K. (2006). Perceptual similarity in autism. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 59(7), 1237-1254. doi: 10.1080/02724980543000196

- Boucher, J. (2007). Memory and generativity in very high functioning autism a firsthand account, and an interpretation. *Autism*, 11(3), 255-264. doi: 10.1177/1362361307076863
- Boucher, J. (2012). Putting theory of mind in its place: Psychological explanations of the socio-emotional-communicative impairments in autistic spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 16(3), 226-246. doi: 10.1177/1362361311430403
- Boucher, J., & Mayes, A. (2012). Memory in ASD: Have we been barking up the wrong tree? *Autism*, *16*(6), 603-611. doi: 10.1177/1362361311417738
- Boucher, J., Mayes, A. & Bigham, S. (2012). Memory in autistic spectrum disorder. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(3), 458-496. doi: 10.1037/a0026869
- Boucher, J., & Warrington, E. K. (1976). Memory deficits in early infantile autism: Some similarities to the amnesic syndrome. *British Journal of Psychology*, 67(1), 73-87. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1976.tb01499.x
- Bowden, S. C., Weiss, L. G., Holdnack, J. A., & Lloyd, D. (2006). Age-related invariance of abilities measured with the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III. *Psychological Assessment*, 18(3), 334-339. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.18.3.334
- Bowler, D. M. (1992). "Theory of mind" in Asperger's syndrome. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 33(5), 877-893. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1992.tb01962.x
- Bowler, D. M. (2007). Autism Spectrum Disorder. Psychological theory and research. Chichester: Wiley.
- Bowler, D. M., Briskman, J., Gurvidi, N., & Fornells-Ambrojo, M. (2005). Understanding the mind or predicting a signal-dependent action? Performance of children with and without autism on analogues of the false-belief task. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 6(2), 259-283. doi: 10.1207/s15327647jcd0602_5

- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Gardiner, J. M. (2008a). Subjective organisation in the free recall learning of adults with Asperger's syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(1), 104-113. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0366-4
- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Gardiner, J. M. (2008b). Effects of related and unrelated context on recall and recognition by adults with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(4), 993-999. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.12.004
- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Gardiner, J. M. (2009). Free recall learning of hierarchically organised lists by adults with Asperger's syndrome: Additional evidence for diminished relational processing. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(4), 589-595. doi: 10.1007/s10803-008-0659-2
- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Gardiner, J. M. (2010). Multiple list learning in adults with autism spectrum disorder: Parallels with frontal lobe damage or further evidence of diminished relational processing? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(2), 179-187. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0845-x
- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Gardiner, J. M. (2014). Binding of multiple features in memory by high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 44(9), 2355-2362. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2105-y
- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Gardiner, J. M. (2015). Brief report: The role of task support in the spatial and temporal source memory of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(8), 2613-2617. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2378-9
- Bowler, D. M., Gaigg, S. B., & Lind, S. (2011). Memory in autism: Binding, self and brain.
 In I. Roth & P. Rezaie (Eds.), *Researching the autism spectrum: Contemporary* perspectives (p. 316-346). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Bowler, D. M., Gardiner, J. M., & Berthollier, N. (2004). Source memory in adolescents and adults with Asperger's syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34(5), 533-542. doi: 10.1007/s10803-004-2548-7
- Bowler, D.M., Gardiner, J. M., & Gaigg, S. B. (2007). Factors affecting conscious awareness in the recollective experience of adults with Asperger's syndrome. *Consciousness and Cognition, 16*(1), 124-143. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2005.12.001
- Bowler, D. M., Gardiner, J. M., & Grice, S. J. (2000a). Episodic memory and remembering in adults with Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 30(4), 295-304. doi: 10.1023/A:1005575216176
- Bowler, D. M., Gardiner, J. M., Grice, S. J., & Saavalainen, P. (2000b). Memory illusions:
 False recall and recognition in adults with Asperger's syndrome. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *109*(4), 663-672. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.110.2.215
- Bowler, D. M., Limoges, E., & Mottron, L. (2009). Different verbal learning strategies in autism spectrum disorder: Evidence from the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39*(6), 910-915. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0697-4
- Bowler, D. M., Matthews, N. J., & Gardiner, J. M. (1997). Asperger's syndrome and memory: Similarity to autism but not amnesia. *Neuropsychologia*, 35(1), 65-70. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(96)00054-1
- Bowler, D. M., Poirier, M., Martin, J., & Gaigg, S. B. (2016). Non-verbal, short-term serial memory in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *125*(7), 886-893. doi: 10.1037/abn0000203
- Bowler, D. M., & Ring, M. (in preparation). The relationship between episodic memory and Theory of Mind in adults with autism spectrum disorder.

- Brainerd, C. J., Gomes, C. F. A., & Moran, R. (2014). The two recollections. *Psychological Review*, *121*(4), 563-599. doi: 10.1037/a0037668
- Bransford, J. D., Franks, J. J., Morris, C. D., & Stein, B. S. (1979). Some general constraints on learning and memory research. In L. S. Cermak & F. I. M. Craik (Eds.), *Levels of processing in human memory*. (pp. 331–54). Hillsdale, NJ, Erlbaum.
- Brisson, J., Mainville, M., Mailloux, D., Beaulieu, C., Serres, J., & Sirois, S. (2013). Pupil diameter measurement errors as a function of gaze direction in corneal reflection eyetrackers. *Behavior Research Methods*, 45(4), 1322-1331. doi: 10.3758/s13428-013-0327-0
- Brown, J., Aczel, B., Jiménez, L., Kaufman, S. B., & Plaisted Grant, K. (2010). Intact implicit learning in autism spectrum conditions. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 63(9), 1789-1812. doi: 10.1080/17470210903536910
- Browning, P. G., & Gaffan, D. (2008). Prefrontal cortex function in the representation of temporally complex events. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(15), 3934-3940. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0633-08.2008
- Bruck, M., London, K., Landa, R., & Goodman, J. (2007). Autobiographical memory and suggestibility in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Development and Psychopathology*, 19(1), 73-95. doi: 10.10170S0954579407070058
- Brüne, M. (2005). "Theory of mind" in schizophrenia: A review of the literature. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *31*(1), 21-42. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbi002
- Buchner, A., Erdfelder, E., & Vaterrodt-Plunnecke, B. (1995). Toward unbiased measurement of conscious and unconscious memory processes within the process dissociation framework. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 124(2), 137-160. doi: 10.1037/0096-3445.124.2.137

- Buchner, A., & Wippich, W. (2000). On the reliability of implicit and explicit memory measures. *Cognitive Psychology*, 40(3), 227-259. doi: 10.1006/cogp.1999.0731
- Buckner, R. L., Andrews-Hanna, J. R., & Schacter, D. L. (2008). The brain's default network: Anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1124(1), 1-38. doi: 10.1196/annals.1440.011
- Buckner, R. L., & Carroll, D. C. (2007). Self-projection and the brain. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(2), 49-57. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2006.11.004
- Buckner, R. L., Kelley, W. M., & Petersen, S. E. (1999). Frontal cortex contributes to human memory formation. *Nature Neuroscience*, *2*(4), 311-314. doi: 10.1038/7221
- Buitelaar, J. K., van der Gaag, R., Klin, A., & Volkmar, F. (1999). Exploring the boundaries of pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified: Analyses of data from the DSM-IV autistic disorder field trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 29(1), 33-43. doi: 10.1023/A:1025966532041
- Burack, J. A., Iarocci, G., Flanagan, T. D., & Bowler, D. M. (2004). On mosaics and melting pots: Conceptual considerations of comparison and matching strategies. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34(1), 65-73. doi: 10.1023/B:JADD.0000018076.90715.00
- Burgess, N. (2006). Spatial memory: How egocentric and allocentric combine. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *10*(12), 551-557. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2006.10.005
- Burgess, N., Maguire, E. A., & O`Keefe, J. (2002). The human hippocampus and spatial and episodic memory. *Neuron*, *35*(4), 625-641. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00830-9
- Butt, A. E., & Bowman, T. D. (2002). Transverse patterning reveals a dissociation of simple and configural association learning abilities in rats with 192 IgG-saporin lesions of the nucleus basalis magnocellularis. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 77(2), 211-233. doi: 10.1006/nlme.2001.4013

- Cabeza, R., Ciaramelli, E., Olson, I. R., & Moscovitch, M. (2008). Parietal cortex and episodic memory: An attentional account. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 9(8), 613-625. doi: 10.1038/nrn2459
- Caldwell, J. I., & Masson, E. J. (2001). Conscious and unconscious influences of memory for object location. *Memory and Cognition*, 29(2), 285-295. doi: 10.3758/BF03194922
- Cansino, S., Maquet, P., Dolan, R. J., & Rugg, M. D. (2002). Brain activity underlying encoding and retrieval of source memory. *Cerebral Cortex*, 12(10), 1048-1056. doi: 10.1093/cercor/12.10.1048
- Caron, M.-J., Mottron, L., Rainville, C., & Chouinard, S. (2004). Do high-functioning persons with autism present superior spatial abilities? *Neuropsychologia*, 42(4), 467-481. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2003.08.015
- Carpendale, J. I. M., & Lewis, C. (2004). Constructing an understanding of mind: The development of children's social understanding within social interaction. *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 27(1), 79-151. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X04000032
- Carper, R. A., & Courchesne, E. (2005). Localized enlargement of the frontal cortex in early autism. *Biological Psychiatry*, *57*(2), 126-133. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.11.005
- Chabani, E., & Hommel, B. (2014). Visuospatial processing in children with autism: No evidence for (training-resistant) abnormalities. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(9), 2230-2243. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2107-9
- Chalfonte, B. L., & Johnson, M. K. (1996). Feature memory and binding in young and older adults. *Memory and Cognition*, 24(4), 403-416. doi: 10.3758/BF03200930
- Chaput, V., Amsellem, F., Urdapilleta, I., Chaste, P., Leboyer, M., Delorme, R., & Goussé,
 V. (2013). Episodic memory and self-awareness in Asperger syndrome: Analysis of
 memory narratives. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(9), 1062-1067. doi:
 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.05.005

- Chaste, P., & Leboyer, M. (2012). Autism risk factors: Genes, environment, and geneenvironment interactions. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *14*(3), 281-292.
- Chawarska, K., & Shic, F. (2009). Looking but not seeing: Atypical visual scanning and recognition of faces in 2 and 4-year-old children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39*(12), 1663-1672. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0803-7
- Christensen, J., Grønborg, T. K., Sørensen, M. J., Schendel, D. Parner, E. T., Pedersen, L. H., Vestergaard, M. (2013). Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 309(16), 1696-1703. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.2270
- Cohen, N. J., Poldrack, R. A., & Eichenbaum, H. (1997). Memory for items and memory for relations in the procedural/ declarative memory framework [Special issue]. *Memory*, 5(1-2), 131-178. doi: 10.1080/741941149
- Cole, S. N., Morrison, C. M., Barak, O., Pauly-Takacs, K., & Conway, M. A. (2015). Amnesia and future thinking: Exploring the role of memory in the quantity and quality of episodic future thoughts [Special issue]. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 55(2), 206-224. doi: 10.1111/bjc.12094
- Cole, S. N., Morrison, C. M., & Conway, M. A. (2013). Episodic future thinking: Linking neuropsychological performance with episodic detail in young and old adults. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 66*(9), 1687-1706. doi: 10.1080/17470218.2012.758157
- Constable, P., Ring, M., Gaigg, S. B., & Bowler, D. M. (under revised review). The Vygotsky blocks test and autism: A preliminary study.

- Constanzo, V., Chericoni, N., Amendola, F. A., Casula, L., Muratori, F., Scattoni, M. L., & Apicella, F. (2015). Early detection of autism spectrum disorders: From retrospective home video studies to prospective 'high risk' sibling studies. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 55, 627-635. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.06.006
- Cooper, R. A., Plaisted-Grant, K. C., Hannula, D. E., Ranganath, C., Baron-Cohen, S., & Simons, J. S. (2015). Impaired recollection of visual scene details in adults with autism spectrum conditions. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *124*(3), 565-575. doi: 10.1037/abn0000070
- Courchesne, E., & Pierce, K. (2005). Why the frontal cortex in autism might be talking only to itself: Local over-connectivity but long-distance disconnection. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *15*(2), 225-230. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2005.03.001
- Courchesne, E., Press, G. A., & Yeung-Courchesne, R. (1993). Parietal lobe abnormalities detected with MR in patients with infantile autism. *American Journal of Roentgenology*, *160*(2), 387-393. doi: 10.2214/ajr.160.2.8424359
- Craig, J., & Baron-Cohen, S. (1999). Creativity and imagination in autism and Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 29(4), 319-326. doi: 10.1023/A:1022163403479
- Craik, F. I. M., & Anderson, N. D. (1999). Applying cognitive research to problems of aging.
 In D. Gopher & A. Koriat (Eds.), *Attention and performance XVII: Cognitive regulation of performance: Interaction of theory and application. Attention and performance* (p. 583-615). Cambridge: The MIT Press.
- Craik, F. I. M., & Lockhart, R. S. (1972). Levels of processing: A framework for memory research. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 11(6), 671–84. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(72)80001-X

- Craik, F. I. M., Morris, L.W., Morris, R.G. & Loewen, E.R. (1990) Relations between source amnesia and frontal lobe functioning in older adults. *Psychology and Ageing*, 5(1), 148-151. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.5.1.148
- Craik, F. I. M., Routh, D. a., & Broadbent, D. E. (1983). On the transfer of information from temporary to permanent memory. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 302*(1110), 341-359. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1983.0059
- Crane, L., & Goddard, L. (2008). Episodic and semantic autobiographical memory in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(3). 498-506. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0420-2
- Crane, L., Goddard, L., & Pring, L. (2010). Brief report: Self-defining and everyday autobiographical memories in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(3), 383-391. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0875-4
- Crane, L., Goddard, L., & Pring, L. (2011). Autobiographical memory in adults with autism spectrum disorder: The role of depressed mood, rumination, working memory and theory of mind. *Autism*, 17(2), 205-219. doi: 10.1177/1362361311418690
- Crane, L., Lind, S. E., & Bowler, D. M. (2013). Remembering the past and imagining the future in autism spectrum disorder. *Memory*, 21(2), 157-166. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2012.712976
- Crane, L., Pring, L., Jukes, K., & Goddard, L. (2012). Patterns of autobiographical memory in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(10), 2100-2112. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1459-2

- Croen, L. A., Zerbo, O., Quian, Y., Massolo, M. L., Rich, S., Sidney, S., & Kripke, C. (2015). The health status of adults on the autism spectrum [Special Issue]. *Autism*, 19(7), 814-823. doi: 10.1177/1362361315577517
- Curran, T., & Hintzman, D. L. (1995). Violations of the independence assumption in process dissociation. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 21(3), 531-547. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.21.3.531
- Cuthbert, B. N., & Insel, T. R. (2013). Toward the future of psychiatric diagnosis: The seven pillars of RDoC. *BMC Medicine*, *11*(1), 126-133. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-126
- Dall'Ora, P., Sala, S. D., & Spinnler, H. (1989). Autobiographical memory. Its impairment in amnesic syndromes. *Cortex*, 25(2), 197-217. doi: 10.1016/S0010-9452(89)80037-1
- Dalton, K. M., Nacewicz, B. M., Johnstone, T., Schaefer, H. S., Gernsbacher, M. A., Goldsmith, H. H., ... Davidson, R. J. (2005). Gaze fixation and the neural circuitry of face processing in autism. *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(4), 519-526. doi: 10.1038/nn1421
- D'Angelo, M. C., Kacollja, A., Rabin, J. S., Rosenbaum, R. S., & Ryan, J. D. (2015).
 Unitization supports lasting performance and generalization on a relational memory task: Evidence from a previously undocumented developmental amnesic case.
 Neuropsychologia, 77, 185-200. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.07.025
- Davachi, L. (2006). Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *16*(6), 693-700. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2006.10.012
- David, D., & Brown, R. J. (2003). The impact of different directed forgetting instructions on implicit and explicit memory: New evidence from a modified process dissociation procedure. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A - Human Experimental Psychology*, 56(2), 211-231. doi: 10.1080/02724980244000431

- Dawson, G., Webb, S. J., & McPartland, J. (2005). Understanding the nature of face processing impairment in autism: Insights from behavioral and electrophysiological studies. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 27(3), 403-424. doi: 10.1207/s15326942dn2703_6
- De Condappa, O., & Wiener, J. M. (2016). Human place and response learning: Navigation strategy selection, pupil size and gaze behavior. *Psychological Research*, 80(1), 82-93. doi: 10.1007/s00426-014-0642-9
- De la Marche, W., Noens, I., Boets, B., Kuppens, S., & Steyaert, J. (2015). The underlying symptom structure of autism spectrum disorders: A factor analytic approach using the developmental, dimensional and diagnostic interview. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 12*, 40-51. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2014.11.002
- D'Elia, L. F., Satz, P., Uchiyana, C. L., & White, T. (1996). *Color trails test. Professional manual*. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources.
- DeLong, G. R. (1992). Autism, amnesia, hippocampus, and learning. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *16*(1), 63-70. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(05)80052-1
- Deruelle, C., Rondan, C., Salle-Collemiche, X., Bastard-Rosset, D., & Da Fonséca, D. (2008). Attention to low- and high-spatial frequencies in categorizing facial identities, emotions and gender in children with autism. *Brain and Cognition*, 66(2), 115-123. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2007.06.001
- Destrebecqz, A., Peigneux, P., Laureys, S., Degueldre, C., Del Fiore, G., Aerts, J., ...
 Maquet, P. (2005). The neural correlates of implicit and explicit sequence learning:
 Interacting networks revealed by the process dissociation procedure. *Learning and Memory*, 12(5), 480-490. doi: 10.1101/lm.95605

- Dewhurst, S. A., & Conway, M. A. (1994). Pictures, images, and recollective experience. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 20(5), 1088-1098. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.20.5.1088
- Dirnberger, G., & Jahanshahi, M. (2013). Executive dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: A review. *Journal of Neuropsychology*, 7(2), 193-224. doi: 10.1111/jnp.12028
- Drowos, D. B., Berryhill, M., André, J. M., & Olson, I. R. (2010). True memory, false memory, and subjective recollection deficits after focal parietal lobe lesions. *Neuropsychology*, 24(4), 465-475. doi: 10.1037/a0018902
- Dudukovic, N. M., & Knowlton, B. J. (2006). Remember-Know judgements and retrieval of contextual details. *Acta Psychologica*, 122(2), 160-173, doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2005.11.002
- Duff, M. C., & Brown-Schmidt, S. (2012). The hippocampus and the flexible use and processing of language. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6:69. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00069
- Dumas, J. A., & Hartman, M. (2003). Adult age differences in temporal and item memory. *Psychology and Aging*, 18(3), 573-586. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.18.3.573
- Dunn, J. C. (2004). Remember-know: A matter of confidence. *Psychological Review*, *111*(2), 524-542. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.111.2.524
- Durkin, M. S., Maenner, M. J., Newschaffer, C. J., Lee, L.-C., Cunniff, C. M., Daniels, J. L.,
 ... Schieve, L. A. (2008). Advanced parental age and the risk of autism spectrum disorder. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *168*(11), 1268-1276. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwn250
- Duss, S. B., Reber, T. P., Hänggi, J., Schwab, S., Wiest, R., Müri, R. M., ..., Henke, K. (2014). Unconscious relational encoding depends on hippocampus. *Brain*, 137(Pt. 12), 3355-3370. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu270

- Eales, M. J. (1993). Pragmatic impairments in adults with childhood diagnoses of autism or developmental receptive language disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 23(4), 593-617. doi: 10.1007/BF01046104
- Edgin, J. O., & Pennington, B. F. (2005). Spatial cognition in autism spectrum disorders:
 Superior, impaired, or just intact? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 35(6), 729-745. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0020-y
- Eichenbaum, H. (2004). Hippocampus: Cognitive processes and neural representations that underlie declarative memory. *Neuron*, 44(1), 109-120. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.08.028
- Eichenbaum, H., Yonelinas, A. R., & Ranganath, C. (2007). The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 30(1), 123-152. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.30.051606.094328
- Eldridge, L. L., Sarfatti, S., & Knowlton, B. J. (2002). The effect of testing procedure on remember-know judgements. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, 9(1), 139-145. doi: 10.3758/BF03196270
- Esbensen, A. J., Greenberg, J. S., Seltzer, M. M., & Aman, M. G. (2009). A longitudinal investigation of psychotropic and non-psychotropic medication use among adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *39*(9), 1339-1349. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0750-3
- Estes, R. E., & Huizinga, R. J. (1974). Comparison of visual and auditory presentations of a paired-associate learning task with learning disabled children. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 7(1), 35-42. doi: 10.1177/002221947400700107
- Falkmer, T., Anderson, K., Falkmer, M., & Horlin, C. (2013). Diagnostic procedures in autism spectrum disorders: A systematic literature review. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 22(6), 329-340. doi: 10.1007/s00787-013-0375-0

- Farrant, A., Blades, M., & Boucher, J. (1998). Source monitoring by children with autism. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 28(1), 43-50. doi: 10.1023/A:1026010919219
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191. doi: 10.3758/BF03193146
- Feigenbaum, J. D., & Morris, R. G. (2004). Allocentric versus egocentric spatial memory after unilateral temporal lobectomy in humans. *Neuropsychology*, 18(3), 462-472. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.18.3.462
- Fogassi, L., & Luppino, G. (2005). Motor functions of the parietal lobe. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *15*(6), 626-631. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2005.10.015
- Fombonne, E. (1999). The epidemiology of autism: A review. *Psychological Medicine*, 29(4), 769-786. doi: 10.1017/S0033291799008508
- Fombonne, E. (2003). Epidemiological surveys of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders: An update. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 33(4), 365-382. doi: 10.1023/A:1025054610557
- Foster, J. K., & Jelicic, M. (1999). Memory structures, procedures, and processes. In J. K.
 Foster & M. Jelicic (Eds.), *Memory: Systems, process, or function*? doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198524069.003.0001
 Retrieved from http://0 www.oxfordscholarship.com.wam.city.ac.uk/view/10.1093/acprof:oso/97801985240
 9.001.0001/acprof-9780198524069-chapter-1
- Frith, U. (1970a). Studies in pattern detection in normal and autistic children: I. Immediate recall of auditory sequences. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 76(3), 413-420. doi: 10.1037/h0020133

Frith, U. (1970b). Studies in pattern detection in normal and autistic children: II. Reproduction and production of color sequences. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 10(1), 120-135. doi: 10.1016/0022-0965(70)90049-4

Frith, U. (1989). Autism: Explaining the Enigma. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.

- Frith, U., & Frith, C., D. (2003). Development and neurophysiology of mentalizing. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London - Series B: Biological Sciences, 258(1431), 459-473. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2002.1218
- Frith, U., & Happé, F. (1994). Autism: Beyond "theory of mind". *Cognition*, 50(1-3), 115-132. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(94)90024-8
- Frith, U., & Snowling, M. (1983). Reading for meaning and reading for sound in autistic and dyslexic children. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 1(4), 329-342. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-835X.1983.tb00906.x
- Fyffe, C., & Prior, M. (1978). Evidence for language recoding in autistic, retarded and normal children: A re-examination. *British Journal of Psychology*, 69(3), 393-402. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1978.tb01672.x
- Gaetano, J. M., Lancaster, S., & Tindle, R. (2015). Signal detection theory calculator 1.0. [Excel workbook downloaded from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Justin_Gaetano2/].
- Gaigg, S. B., & Bowler, D. M. (2009). Illusory memories of emotionally charged words in autism spectrum disorder: Further evidence for atypical emotion processing outside the social domain. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(7), 1031-1038. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0710-y
- Gaigg, S. B., Bowler, D. M., Ecker, C., Calvo-Merino, B., & Murphy, D.G. (2015). Episodic recollection difficulties in ASD result from atypical relational encoding: Behavioural and neural evidence. *Autism Research*, 8(3), 317-327. doi: 10.1002/aur.1448

- Gaigg, S. B., Bowler, D. M., & Gardiner, J. M. (2014). Episodic but not semantic order memory difficulties in autism spectrum disorder: Evidence from the Historical Figures Task. *Memory*, 22(6), 669-678. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2013.811256
- Gaigg, S. B., Gardiner, J. M. & Bowler, D. M. (2008). Free recall in autism spectrum disorder: The role of relational and item-specific encoding. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(4), 983-992. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.11.011
- Gaigg, S. B., Rogers, C., & Bowler, D. M. (2012, May). How flexible is the episodic memory system in ASD? Paper presented at the International Conference on Innovative Research in Autism, Tours, France.
- Gallese, V., & Goldman, A. (1998). Mirror neurons and the simulation theory of mindreading. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 2(12), 493-501. doi: 10.1016/S13646613(98)01262-5
- Gardiner, J. M., Bowler, D. M., & Grice, S. J. (2003). Further evidence of preserved priming and impaired recall in adults with Asperger's syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 33(3), 259-269. doi: 10.1023/A:1024450416355
- Gardiner, J. M., & Gregg, V. H. (1997). Recognition memory with little or no remembering: Implications for a detection model. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, 4(4), 474-479. doi: 10.3758/BF03214336
- Gardiner, J. M., Ramponi, C., & Richardson-Klavehn, A. (1998). Experiences of remembering, knowing, and guessing. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 7(1), 1-26. doi: 10.1006/ccog.1997.0321
- Garretson, H. B., Fein, D., & Waterhouse, L. (1990). Sustained attention in children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 20(1), 101-114. doi: 10.1007/BF02206860

- Gastgeb, H. Z., Rump, K. M., Best, C. A., Minshew, N. J., & Strauss, M. S. (2009). Prototype formation in autism: Can individuals with autism abstract facial protoypes? *Autism Research*, 2(5), 279-284. doi: 10.1002/aur.93
- Gastgeb, H. Z., & Strauss, M. S. (2012). Categorization in ASD: The role of typicality and development. *Perspectives on Language Learning and Education*, 19(1), 66-74. doi: 10.1044/lle19.2.66
- Gathercole, S. E., Willis, C., Emslie, H., & Baddeley, A. D. (1991). The influences of number of syllables and wordlikeness on children's repetition of nonwords. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 12(3), 349-367. doi: 10.1017/S0142716400009267
- Gershberg, F. B., & Shimamura, A. P. (1995). Impaired use of organizational strategies in free recall following frontal lobe damage. *Neuropsychologia*, 33(10), 1305-1333. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(95)00103-A
- Geurts, H. M. & Vissers. M. E. (2012). Elderly with autism: Executive functions and memory. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(5), 665-675. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1291-0
- Gibson, J., Adams, C., Lockton, E., & Green, J. (2013). Social communication disorder outside autism? A diagnostic classification approach to delineating pragmatic language impairment, high functioning autism and specific language impairment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(11), 1186-1197. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12079
- Giuliani, F., & Schenk, F. (2015). Vision, spatial cognition and intellectual disability. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *37*, 202-208. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.11.015
- Goddard, L., Dritschel, B., & Howlin, P. (2014a). A preliminary study of gender differences in autobiographical memory in children with an autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(9), 2087-2095. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2109-7
- Goddard, L., Dritschel, B., Robinson, S., & Howlin, P. (2014b). Development of autobiographical memory in children with autism spectrum disorders: Deficits, gains, and predictors of performance. *Development and Psychopathology*, 26(1), 215-228. doi: 10.1017/S0954579413000904
- Goddard, L., Howlin, P., Dritschel, B., & Patel, T. (2007). Autobiographical memory and social problem-solving in Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(2), 291-300. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0168-0
- Goldberg, M. C., Lasker, A. G., Zee, D. S., Garth, E., Tien, A., & Landa, R. J. (2002).
 Deficits in the initiation of eye movements in the absence of a visual target in adolescents with high functioning autism. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(12), 2039-2049. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(02)00059-3
- Goldinger, S. D., & Papesh, M. H. (2012). Pupil dilation reflects the creation and retrieval of memories. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21(2), 90-95. doi: 10.1177/0963721412436811
- Gomes, C. A., Montaldi, D., & Mayes, A. (2015). The pupil as an indicator of unconscious memory: Introducing the pupil priming effect. *Psychophysiology*, 52(6), 754-769. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12412
- Goodrich-Hunsaker, N. J., Livingstone, S. A., Skelton, R. W., & Hopkins, R. O. (2010). Spatial deficits in a virtual water maze in amnesic participants with hippocampal damage. *Hippocampus*, 20(4), 481-491. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20651

- Gopnik, A., & Wellman, H. M. (1992). Why the child's Theory of Mind really is a theory. *Mind and Language*, 7(1-2), 145-171. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0017.1992.tb00202.x
- Gowen, E., & Hamilton, A. (2013). Motor abilities in autism: A review using a computational context. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(2), 323-344. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1574-0
- Graf, P. & Komatsu, S.-I. (1994). Process dissociation procedure: Handle with care! *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 6(2), 113-129. doi: 10.1080/09541449408520139
- Grainger, C., Williams, D. M, & Lind, S. E. (2014). Online action monitoring and memory for self-performed actions in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(5), 1193-1206. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1987-4
- Granholm, E., Morris, S. K., Sarkin, A. J., Asarnow, R. F., & Jeste, D. V. (1997). Pupillary responses index overload of working memory resources in schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *106*(3), 458-467. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.106.3.458
- Gras-Vincendon, A., Mottron, L., Salamé, P., Bursztejn, C., & Danion, J.-M. (2007). Temporal context memory in high-functioning autism. *Autism*, 11(6), 523-534. doi: 10.1177/1362361307083257
- Gregory, B. L., & Plaisted-Grant, K. C. (2016). The Autism-Spectrum Quotient and visual search: Shallow and deep autistic endophenotypes. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(5), 1503-1512. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1951-3
- Grier, J. B. (1971). Nonparametric indexes for sensitivity and bias: Computing formulas. *Psychological Bulletin*, 75(6), 424-429. doi: 10.1037/h0031246

- Grinter, E. J., Maybery, M. T., Van Beek, P. L., Pellicano, E., Badcock, J. C., & Badcock, D.
 R. (2009). Global visual processing and self-rated autistic-like traits. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39*(9), 1278-1290. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0740-5
- Guynn, M. J., Einstein, G. O., & Hunt, R. R. (1992). Detecting the organization of materials:
 Perceiving the forest despite the trees. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, 30(2), 145-148. doi: 10.3758/BF03330423
- Hadad, B.-S., & Ziv, Y. (2015). Strong bias towards analytic perception in ASD does not necessarily come at the price of impaired integration skills. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(6), 1499-1512. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2293-5
- Haenschel, C., Bittner, R. A., Haertling, F., Rotarsk-Jagiela, A., Maurer, K., Singer, W., & Linden, D. E. J. (2007). Contribution of impaired early-stage visual processing to working memory dysfunction in adolescents with schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64(11), 1229-1240. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.64.11.1229
- Hala, S., Rasmussen, C., & Henderson, A. M. E. (2005). Three types of source monitoring by children with and without autism: The role of executive function. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 35(1), 75-89. doi: 10.1007/s10803-004-1036-4
- Halford, G. S. (1992). *Children's understanding: The development of mental models*. Hillsdale, N. J.: L. Erlbaum.
- Hallmayer, J., Cleveland, S., Torres, A., Phillips, J., Cohen, B., Torigoe, T., ... Risch, N. (2011). Genetic heritability and shared environmental factors among twin pairs with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(11), 1095-1102. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.76

- Hamilton, A. F. de C., Brindley, R., & Frith, U. (2009). Visual perspective taking impairment in children with autistic spectrum disorder. *Cognition*, 113(1), 37-44. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2009.07.007
- Hampstead, B. M., Stringer, A. Y., Stilla, R. F., Amaraneni, A., & Sathian, K. (2011). Where did I put that? Patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairments demonstrate widespread reductions in activity during the encoding of ecologically relevant object-location associations. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(9), 2349-2361. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.04.008
- Han, S. H., Jiang, Y., Gu, H., Rao, H. Y., Mao, L. H., Cui, Y., & Zhai, R. Y. (2004). The role of human parietal cortex in attention networks. *Brain*, 127(Pt 3), 650-659. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh071
- Hannula, D. E., Althoff, R. R., Warren, D. E., Riggs, L., Cohen, N. J., & Ryan, J. D. (2010).Worth a glance: Using eye movements to investigate the cognitive neuroscience of memory. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *4*:166. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00166
- Hannula, D. E., & Ranganath, C. (2009). The eyes have it: Hippocampal activity predicts expression of memory in eye movements. *Neuron*, 63(5), 592-599. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.025
- Hannula, D. E., Ryan, J. D., Tranel, D., & Cohen, N. J. (2007). Rapid onset relational memory effects are evident in eye movement behaviour, but not in hippocampal amnesia. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(10), 1690-1705. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.10.1690
- Hanson, L. K., & Atance, C. M. (2014). Brief report: Episodic foresight in autism spectrum disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 44(3), 674-684. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1896-6

- Happé, F. G. E. (1994). Wechsler IQ profile and theory of mind in autism: A research note. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Applied Disciplines, 35(8), 1461-1471. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01287.x
- Happé, F. (1999). Autism: Cognitive deficit or cognitive style? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *3*(6), 216-222. doi: 10.1016/S1364-6613(99)01318-2
- Happé, F., & Frith, U. (2006). The weak coherence account: detail-focused cognitive style in
 Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(1),
 5-25. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0039-0
- Happé, F., Ronald, A., & Plomin, R. (2006). Time to give up on a single explanation for autism. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(10), 1218-1220. doi: 10.1038/nn1770
- Harris, M. A., Wiener, J. M., & Wolbers, T. (2012). Aging specifically impairs switching to an allocentric navigational strategy. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 4:29. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2012.00029
- Harstad, E. B., Fogler, J., Sideridis, G., Weas, S., Mauras, C., & Barbaresi, W. J. (2015).
 Comparing diagnostic outcomes of autism spectrum disorder using DSM-IV-TR and DSM-5 criteria. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(5), 1437-1450.
 doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2306-4
- Hartley, T., Trinkler, I., & Burgess, N. (2004). Geometric determinants of human spatial memory. *Cognition*, 94(1), 39-75. doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2003.12.001
- Hartmann, M., & Fischer, M. H. (2014). Pupillometry: The eyes shed fresh light on the mind. *Current Biology*, 24(7), R281-282. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.02.028
- Hasher, L., & Zacks, R. T. (1979). Automatic and effortful processes in memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 108(3), 356-388. doi: 10.1037/0096-3445.108.3.356

- Hassabis, D., & Maguire, E. A. (2007). Deconstructing episodic memory with construction. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(7). 299-306 doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2007.05.001
- Heaver, B., & Hutton, S. B. (2011). Keeping an eye on the truth? Pupil size changes associated with recognition memory. *Memory*, *19*(4), 398-405. doi: 10.1080/09658211.2011.575788
- Hedden, T., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2004). Insights into the ageing mind: A view from cognitive neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5(2), 87-96. doi: 10.1038/nrn1323
- Hedley, D., Young, R., & Brewer, N. (2012). Using eye movements as an index of implicit face recognition in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, 5(5), 363-379. doi: 10.1002/aur.1246
- Hermelin, B., & O'Connor, N. (1967). Remembering of words by psychotic and subnormal children. *British Journal of Psychology*, 58(3), 213-218. doi: 10.1111/j.20448295.1967.tb01075.x
- Hill, E. L. (2004a). Executive dysfunction in autism. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(1), 26-32. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2003.11.003
- Hill, E. L. (2004b). Evaluating the theory of executive dysfunction in autism. *Developmental Review*, 24(2), 189-233. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2004.01.001
- Hill, E. L., & Russell, J. (2002). Action memory and self-monitoring in children with autism:
 Self versus other. *Infant and Child Development*, 11(2), 159-170. doi: 10.1002/icd.303
- Hiller, R. M., Young, R. L., & Weber, N. (2014). Sex differences in autism spectrum disorder based on DSM-5 criteria: Evidence from clinician and teacher reporting. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 42(8), 1381-1393. doi: 10.1007/s10802-014-9881-x

- Hillier, A., Campbell, H., Keillor, J., Phillips, N., & Beversdorf, D. Q. (2007). Decreased false memory for visually presented shapes and symbols among adults on the autism spectrum. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *19*(6), 610-616. doi: 10.1080/13803390600878760
- Hobson, R. P. (1991). Against the theory of Theory of Mind. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 9(1), 33-51. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-835X.1991.tb00860.x

Hobson, R. P. (1993). Autism and the development of mind. Hove: Erlbaum.

- Hoffing, R. C., & Seitz, A. R. (2015). Pupillometry as a glimpse into the neurochemical basis of human memory encoding. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 27(4), 765-774. doi: 10.1162/jocn_a_00749
- Hollingworth, A. (2009). Two forms of scene memory guide visual search: Memory for scene context and memory for binding of target object to scene location. *Visual Cognition*, *17*(1-2), 273-291. doi: 10.1080/13506280802193367
- Howard, J. H., Dennis, N. A., Howard, D. V., Yankovich, H., & Vaidya, C. J. (2004). Implicit spatial contextual learning in healthy aging. *Neuropsychology*, 18(1), 124-134. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.18.1.124
- Howard, L. R., Kumaran, D., Ólafsdóttir, H. F., & Spiers, H. J. (2011). Double dissociation between hippocampal and parahippocampal responses to object-background context and scene novelty. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(14), 5253-5261. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6055-10.2011
- Howlin, P., & Asgharian, A. (1999). The diagnosis of autism and Asperger syndrome:
 Findings from a survey of 770 families. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 41(12), 834-839. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.1999.tb00550.x

- Howlin, P., Goode, S., Hutton, J., & Rutter, M. (2004). Adult outcome for children with autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(2), 212-229. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00215.x
- Howlin, P., Goode, S., Hutton, J., & Rutter, M. (2009). Savant skills in autism: Psychometric approaches and parental reports. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 364*(1522), 1359-1367. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2008.0328
- Howlin, P., Savage, S., Moss, P., Tempier, A. & Rutter, M. (2004). Cognitive and language skills in adults with autism: A 40-year follow-up. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 55(1), 49-58. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12115
- Hughes, C., Russell, J., & Robbins, T. W. (1994). Evidence for executive dysfunction in autism. *Neuropsychologia*, 32(4), 477-492. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(94)90092-2
- Hultman, C. M., Sandin, S., Levine, S. Z., Lichtenstein, P., & Reichenberg, A. (2011).
 Advancing paternal age and risk of autism: New evidence from a population-based study and a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 16(12), 1203-1212. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.121
- Hunt, R. R., & Einstein, G. O. (1981). Relational and item-specific information in memory. Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior, 20(5), 497-514. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(81)90138-9
- Hurley, N. C., Maguire, E. A., & Vargha-Khadem, F. (2011). Patient HC with developmental amnesia can construct future scenarios. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(13), 3620-3628. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.09.015
- Iacoboni, M., Woods, R. P., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Mazziotta, J. C., & Rizzolatti, G. (1999). Cortical mechanisms of human imitation. *Science*, 286(5449), 2526-2528. doi: 10.1126/science.286.5449.2526

- Idring, S., Lundberg, M., Sturm, H., Dalman, C., Gumpert, C., Rai, D., ... Magnusson, C. (2015). Changes in prevalence of autism spectrum disorders in 2001-2011: Findings from the Stockholm youth cohort. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(6), 1766-1773. doi:10.1007/s10803-014-2336-y
- Ingram, K. M., Mickes, L., & Wixted, J. T. (2012). Recollection can be weak and familiarity can be strong. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. Learning, Memory and Cognition*, 38(2), 325-339. doi: 10.1037/a0025483
- Jacoby, L. L. (1991). A process dissociation framework: Separating automatic from intentional uses of memory. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 30(5), 513-541. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0749-596X(91)90025-F
- Jacoby, L. L. (1998). Invariance in automatic influences of memory: Toward a user's guide for the process-dissociation procedure. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory and Cognition, 24*(1), 3-26. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.24.1.3
- Jacoby, L. L., Toth, J. P., & Yonelinas, A. P. (1993). Separating conscious and unconscious influences of memory: Measuring recollection. *Journal of Experimental Psychology – General*, 122(2), 139-154. doi: 10.1037//0096-3445.122.2.139
- Jang, J., Matson, J. L., Adams, H. L., Konst, M. J., Cervantes, P. E., & Goldin, R. L. (2014). What are the ages of persons studied in autism research: A 20-year review. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(12), 1756-1760. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2014.08.008
- Janowsky, J. S., Shimamura, A. P., & Squire, L. R. (1989). Source memory impairment in patients with frontal lobe lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, 27(8), 1043-1056. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(89)90184-X

- Johnson, S. A., Filliter, J. H., & Murphy, R. R. (2009). Discrepancies between self- and parent-perceptions of autistic traits and empathy in high functioning children and adolescents on the autism spectrum. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(12), 1706-1714. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0809-1
- Johnson, M. H., & Munakata, Y. (2005). Processes of change in brain and cognitive development. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(3), 152-158. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.01.009
- Joseph, R. M., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2004). The relationship of theory of mind and executive functions to symptom type and severity in children with autism. *Development and Psychopathology*, 16(1), 137-155. doi: 10.1017/S095457940404444X
- Kamio, Y., & Toichi, M. (2007). Memory illusion in high-functioning autism and Asperger's disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 37(5), 867-876. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0214-y
- Karatekin, C. (2007). Eye tracking studies of normative and atypical development. Developmental Review, 27(3), 283-348. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2007.06.006
- Kemner, C., van Ewijk, L., van Engeland, H., & Hooge, I. (2008). Brief report: Eye movements during visual search tasks indicate enhanced stimulus discriminability in subjects with PDD. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(8), 553-557. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0406-0
- Kent, R. G., Carrington, S. J., Le Couteur, A. L., Gould, J., Wing, L., Maljaars, J., ... Leekam, S. R. (2013). Diagnosing autism spectrum disorder: Who will get a DSM-5 diagnosis? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 54(11), 1242-1250. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12085

- Kessels, R. P. C., Feijen, J. & Postma, A. (2005a). Implicit and explicit memory for spatial information in Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 20(2-3), 184-191. doi: 10.1159/000087233
- Kessels, R. P. C., te Boekhorst, S., & Postma, A. (2005b). The contribution of implicit and explicit memory to the effects of errorless learning: A comparison between young and older adults. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *11*(2), 144-151. doi: 10.1017/S1355617705050174
- Ketelaars, C., Horwitz, E., Sytema, S., Bos, J., Wiersma, D., Minderaa, R., & Hartan, C. A. (2008). Brief report: Adults with mild autism spectrum disorders (ASD): Scores on the Autism Spectrum Quotient (AQ) and comorbid psychopathology. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 38*(1), 176-180. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0358-4
- Kim, Y. S., Leventhal, B. L., Koh, Y.-J., Fombonne, E., Laska, E., Lim, E.-C., ... Grinker, R.
 R. (2011). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders in a total population sample. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 168(9), 904-912. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10101532
- Klein, S. B., Chan, R. L., & Loftus, J. (1999). Independence of episodic and semantic selfknowledge: The case from autism. *Social Cognition*, 17(4), 413–436. doi: 10.1521/soco.1999.17.4.413
- Klein, K., & Saltz, E. (1976). Specifying the mechanisms in a levels-of-processing approach to memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Learning and Memory*, 2(6), 671-679. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.2.6.671

- Klin, A., Jones, W., Schultz, R., Volkmar, F., & Cohen, D. (2002). Visual fixation patterns during viewing of naturalistic social situations as predictors of social competence in individuals with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(9), 809-816. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.9.809
- Kloosterman, P. H., Keefer, K. V., Kelley, E. A., Summerfeldt, L. J., & Parker, J. D. A. (2011). Evaluation of the factor structure of the Autism-Spectrum Quotient. *Personality and Individual Differences, 50*(2), 310-314. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.10.015
- Koechlin, E., & Summerfield, C. (2007). An information theoretical approach to prefrontal executive function. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(6), 229-235. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2007.04.005
- Koldewyn, K., Jiang, Y. V., Weigelt, S., & Kanwisher, N. (2013). Global/ local processing in autism: Not a disability, but a disinclination. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(10), 2329-2340. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1777-z
- Konkel, A., & Cohen, N. J. (2009). Relational memory and the hippocampus: Representations and methods. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *3*(2), 166-174. doi: 10.3389/neuro.01.023.2009
- Konkel, A., Warren, D. E., Duff, M. C., Tranel, D. N., & Cohen, N. J. (2008). Hippocampal amnesia impairs all manner of relational memory. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 2:15, 1-15, doi: 10.3389/neuro.09.015.2008
- Konst, M. J., Matson, J. L., Goldin, R., & Rieske, R. (2014). How does ASD symptomatology correlate with ADHD presentations? *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 35(9), 2252-2259. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.05.017

- Kopelman, M. D., & Stanhope, N. (1998). Recall and recognition memory in patients with focal frontal, temporal lobe and diencephalic lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, *36*(8), 785-796. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(97)00167-X
- Kopp, B., Rosser, N., Tabeling, S., Sturenburg, H. J., de Haan, B., Karnath, H. O., & Wessel,
 K. (2015). Errors on the trail making test are associated with right hemispheric frontal
 lobe damage in stroke patients. *Behavioural Neurology*, 2015:309235. doi: 10.1155/2015/309235
- Korkmaz, B. (2011). Theory of mind and neurodevelopmental disorders of childhood. *Pediatric Research*, 69(5 Pt 2), 101R-108R. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e318212c177
- Kozhevnikov, M., Motes, M. A., Rasch, B., & Blajenkova, O. (2006). Perspective-taking vs.
 mental rotation transformations and how they predict spatial navigation performance.
 Applied Cognitive Psychology, 20(3), 397-417. doi: 10.1002/acp.1192
- Kristen, S., Rossmann, F., & Sodian, B. (2014). Theory of own mind and autobiographical memory in adults with ASD. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(7), 827-837. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2014.03.009
- Kupfer, D. J., & Regier, D. A. (2011). Neuroscience, clinical evidence, and the future of psychiatric classification in DSM-5. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 168(7), 672-674. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020219
- Laeng, B., Sirois, S., & Gredebäck, G. (2012). Pupillometry: A window to the preconscious? *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(1), 18-27. doi: 10.1177/1745691611427305
- Laeng, B., Waterloo, K., Johnsen, S. H., Bakke, S. J., Lag, T., Simonsen, S. S., & Hogsaet, J. (2007). The eyes remember it: Oculography and pupillometry during recollection in three amnesic patients. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 19(11), 1888-1904. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2007.19.11.1888

- Landry, R., & Bryson, S. E. (2004). Impaired disengagement of attention in young children with autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(6), 1115-1122. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00304.x
- Langdon, R., Coltheart, M., Ward, P. B., & Catts, S. V. (2001). Visual and cognitive perspective-taking impairments in schizophrenia: A failure of allocentric simulation?. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*, 6(4), 241-269. doi: 10.1080/13546800143000005
- Leudar, I., & Costall, A. (Eds.). (2009). *Against Theory of Mind*. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lever, A. G., & Geurts, H. M. (2016). Age-related differences in cognition across the adult lifespan in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Research*, 9(6), 666-676. doi: 10.1002/aur.1545
- Levine, B., Svoboda, E., Hay, J. F., Winocur, G., & Moscovitch, M. (2002). Aging and autobiographical memory: Dissociating episodic from semantic retrieval. *Psychology* and Aging, 17(4), 677-689. doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.17.4.677
- Levy, S. E., Mandell, D. S., & Schultz, R. T. (2009). Autism. *Lancet*, *374*(9701), 1627-1638. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61376-3
- Lidstone, J. S. M., Fernyhough, C., Meins, E., & Whitehouse, A. J. O. (2009). Brief report: Inner speech impairment in children with autism is associated with greater nonverbal than verbal skills. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 39*(8), 1222-1225. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0731-6
- Lind, S. E., & Bowler, D. M. (2009). Recognition memory, self-other source memory, and theory-of-mind in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(9), 1231-1239. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0735-2

- Lind, S. E., Bowler, D. M., & Raber, J. (2014a). Spatial navigation, episodic memory, episodic future thinking, and theory of mind in children with autism spectrum disorder: Evidence for impairments in mental simulation? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5:1411. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01411
- Lind, S. E., Williams, D. M., Bowler, D. M., & Peel, A. (2014b). Episodic memory and episodic future thinking impairments in high-functioning autism spectrum disorder:
 An underlying difficulty with scene construction or self-projection? *Neuropsychology*, 28(1), 55-67. doi: 10.1037/neu0000005
- Lind, S. E., Williams, D. M., Raber, J., Peel, A., & Bowler, D. M. (2013). Spatial navigation impairments among intellectually high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder: Exploring relations with theory of mind, episodic memory and episodic future thinking. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *122*(4), 1189-1199, doi: 10.1037/a0034819
- Lockhart, R. S., & Craik, F. I. M. (1990). Levels of processing a retrospective commentary on a framework for memory research. *Canadian Journal of Psychology – Revue Canadienne de Psychologie, 44*(1), 87-112. doi: 10.1037/h0084237
- Lombardi, M. G., Fadda, L., Serra, L., Di Paola, M., Caltagirone, C., & Carlesimo, G. A. (2016). Recollection and familiarity components of recognition: Effect of side of mesio-temporal damage. *Neurocase: The Neural Basis of Cognition*, 22(1), 1-11. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2015.1014819
- Lopez, B., & Leekam, S. R. (2003). Do children with autism fail to process information in context? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 44(2), 285-300. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00121

- Lord, C., Petkova, E., Hus, V., Gan, W., Lu, F., Martin, D. M., ... Risi, S. (2011). A multisite study of the clinical diagnosis of different autism spectrum disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 69(3), 306-313. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.148
- Lord, C., Rutter, M., Goode, S., Heemsbergen, J., Jordan, H., Mawhood, L., & Schopler, E. (1989). Autism diagnostic observation schedule: A standardized observation of communicative and social behaviour. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 19(2), 185-212. doi: 10.1007/BF02211841
- Loth, E., Gómez, J. C., & Happé, F. (2011). Do high-functioning people with autism spectrum disorder spontaneously use event knowledge to selectively attend to and remember context-relevant aspects in scenes? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 41*(7), 945-961. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1124-6
- Loucas, T., Charman, T., Pickles, A., Simonoff, E., Chandler, S., Meldrum, D., & Baird, G. (2008). Autistic symptomatology and language ability in autism spectrum disorder and specific language impairment. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(11), 1184-1192. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01951.x
- Luna, B., Garver, K. E., Urban, T. A., Lazar, N. A., & Sweeney, J. A. (2004). Maturation of cognitive processes from late childhood to adulthood. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1357-1372. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00745.x
- Mäntylä, T. (1993). Knowing but not remembering: Adult age differences in recollective experience. *Memory and Cognition*, 21(3), 379-388. doi: 10.3758/BF03208271
- Mahjouri, S., & Lord, C. E. (2012). What the DSM-5 portends for research, diagnosis, and treatment of autism spectrum disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 14(6), 739-747. doi: 10.1007/s11920-012-0327-2

- Maier, S., van Elst, L. T., Beier, D., Ebert, D., Fangmeier, T., Radtke, M., ... Riedel, A. (2015). Increased hippocampal volumes in adults with high functioning autism spectrum disorder and an IQ > 100: A manual morphometric study. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 234(1), 152-155. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.08.002
- Maister, L., & Plaisted-Grant, K. C. (2011). Time perception and its relationship to memory in autism spectrum conditions. *Developmental Science*, *14*(6), 1311-1322. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01077.x
- Maister, L., Simons, J. S., & Plaisted-Grant, K. (2013). Executive functions are employed to process episodic and relational memories in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Neuropsychology*, 27(6), 615-627. doi: 10.1037/a0034492
- Malhotra, P., Coulthard, E. J., & Husain, M. (2009). Role of right posterior parietal cortex in maintaining attention to spatial locations over time. *Brain*, 132(Pt 3), 645-660 doi: 10.1093/brain/awn350
- Mandler, G. (2008). Familiarity breeds attempts: A critical review of dual-process theories of recognition. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 3(5), 390-399. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00087.x
- Mandy, W. P. L., Charman, T., & Skuse, D. H. (2012). Testing the construct validity of proposed criteria for DSM-5 autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(1), 41-50. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2011.10.013
- Mandy, W., & Lai, M.-C. (2016). Annual Research Review: The role of the environment in the developmental psychopathology of autism spectrum condition. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 57(3), 271-292. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12501

- Mangels, J. A. (1997). Strategic processing and memory for temporal order in patients with frontal lobe lesions. *Neuropsychology*, 11(2), 207-221. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.11.2.207
- Maras, K. L., Memon, A., Lambrechts, A., & Bowler, D. M. (2013). Recall of a live and personally experienced eyewitness event by adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(8), 1798-1810. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1729-z
- Maras, K. L., Wimmer, M. C., Robinson, E. J., & Bowler, D. M. (2014). Mental imagery scanning in autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(10), 1416-1423. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2014.07.003
- Martinez-Conde, S., Macknik, S. L., & Hubel, D. H. (2004). The role of fixational eye movements in visual perception. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5(3), 229-240. doi: 10.1038/nrn1348
- Massand, E. (2011). Event-related potential brain correlates of episodic and semantic memory in adults with autism spectrum disorder (Unpublished doctoral dissertation).
 City University London, UK.
- Massand, E., & Bowler, D. M. (2015). Atypical neurophysiology underlying episodic and semantic memory in adults with autism spectrum disorder [Special issue]. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(2), 298-315. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1869-9
- Massand, E., Bowler, D. M., Mottron, L., Hosein, A., & Jemel, B. (2013). ERP correlates of recognition memory in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(9), 2038-2047. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1755-x

- Matson, J. L., & Kozlowski, A. M. (2011). The increasing prevalence of autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(1), 418-425. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2010.06.004
- Mayes, S. D., Black, A., & Tierney, C. D. (2013). DSM-5 under-identifies PDDNOS: Diagnostic agreement between the DSM-5, DSM-IV, and Checklist for Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(2), 298-306. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2012.08.011
- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., Murray, M. J., Pearl, A., Black, A., & Tierney, C. D. (2014).
 Final DSM-5 under-identifies mild autism spectrum disorder: Agreement between the DSM-5, CARS, CASD, and clinical diagnoses. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(2), 68-73. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.11.002
- Mayes, A., Montaldi, D., & Migo, E. (2007). Associative memory and the medial temporal lobes. *Trends in Cognitive Neuroscience*, 11(3), 126-135. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2006.12.003
- Mazefsky, C. A., McPartland, J. C., Gastgeb, H. Z., & Minshew, N. J. (2013). Brief report: Comparability of DSM-IV and DSM-5 ASD research samples. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(5), 1236-1242. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1665-y
- McCabe, D. P., & Geraci, L. D. (2009). The influence of instructions and terminology on the accuracy of remember-know judgements. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 18(2), 401-413. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2009.02.010
- McCabe, D. P., Roediger, H. L., McDaniel, M. A., & Balota, D. A. (2009). Aging reduces veridical remembering but increases false remembering: Neuropsychological test correlates of remember-know judgements. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(11), 2164-2173 doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.11.025

- McDonough, I. M., & Gallo, D. A. (2013). Impaired retrieval monitoring for past and future autobiographical events in older adults. *Psychology and Aging*, 28(2), 457-466. doi: 10.1037/a0032732
- McPartland, J. C., Reichow, B., & Volkmar, F. R. (2012). Sensitivity and specificity of proposed DSM-5 diagnostic criteria for autism spectrum disorder running head: DSM-5 ASD. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(4), 368-383. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2012.01.007
- Meyer, B. J., Gardiner, J. M., & Bowler, D. M. (2014). Directed forgetting in highfunctioning adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(10), 2514-2524. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2121-y
- Migo, E. M., Mayes, A. R., & Montaldi, D. (2012). Measuring recollection and familiarity: Improving the remember/know procedure. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 21(3), 1435-1455. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2012.04.014
- Miller, G. A., & Chapman, J. P. (2001). Misunderstanding analysis of covariance. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *110*(1), 40-48. doi: 10.1037//0021-843X.110.1.40
- Minshew, N. J., & Goldstein, G. (1993). Is autism an amnesic disorder? Evidence from the California Verbal Learning Test. *Neuropsychology*, 7(2), 209-216. doi: 10.1037/08944105.7.2.209
- Minshew, N. J., & Goldstein, G. (1998). Autism as a disorder of complex information processing. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 4(2), 129-136. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)10982779(1998)4:2<129::AIDMRDD10>3.0.CO;2-X
- Minshew, N. J. & Goldstein, G. (2001). The pattern of intact and impaired memory functions in autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 42(8), 1095–1101. doi: 10.1017/S0021963001007867

- Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., Muenz, L. R., & Payton, J. B. (1992). Neuropsychological functioning in nonmentally retarded autistic individuals. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 14(5), 749-761. doi: 10.1080/01688639208402860
- Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., & Siegel, D. J. (1995). Speech and language in highfunctioning autistic individuals. *Neuropsychology*, 9(2), 255-261. doi: 10.1037/08944105.9.2.255
- Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., & Siegel, D. J. (1997). Neuropsychologic functioning in autism: Profile of a complex information processing disorder. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 3(4), 303-316.
- Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., Taylor, H. G., & Siegel, D. J. (1994). Academic achievement in high-functioning autistic individuals. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 16(2), 261-270. doi: 10.1080/01688639408402637
- Minshew, N. J., Luna, B., & Sweeney, J. A. (1999). Oculomotor evidence for neocortical systems but not cerebellar dysfunction in autism. *Neurology*, *52*(5), 917-922.
- Mochizuki-Kawai, H. (2008). [Neural basis of procedural memory]. *Brain and Nerve*, 60(7), 825-832.
- Moffat, S. D. (2009). Aging and spatial navigation: What do we know and where do we go? *Neuropsychology Review*, *19*(4), 478-489. doi: 10.1007/s11065-009-9120-3
- Moffat, S. D., Kennedy, K. M., Rodrigue, K. M., & Raz, N. (2007). Extrahippocampal contributions to age differences in human spatial navigation. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(6), 1274-1282. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhl036
- Montefinese, M., Ambrosini, E., Fairfield, B., & Mammarella, N. (2013). The "subjective" pupil old/new effect: Is the truth plain to see? *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 89(1), 48-56. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05.001

- Moore, V., & Goodson, S. (2003). How well does early diagnosis of autism stand the test of time? Follow-up study of children assessed for autism at age 2 and development of an early diagnostic service. *Autism*, 7(1), 47-63. doi: 10.1177/1362361303007001005
- Morris, C. D., Bransford, J. D., & Franks, J. J. (1977). Levels of processing versus transfer appropriate processing. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 16(5), 519-533. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(77)80016-9
- Morton-Evans, A., & Hensley, R. (1978). Paired associate learning in early infantile autism and receptive developmental aphasia. *Journal of Autism and Childhood Schizophrenia*, 8(1), 61-69. doi: 10.1007/BF01550278
- Moscovitch, M. (1992). Memory and working-with-memory: A component process model based on modules and central systems. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 4(3), 257-267. doi:10.1162/jocn.1992.4.3.257
- Moscovitch, M. (1994). Memory and working with memory: Evaluation of a component process model and comparisons with other models. In D. L. Schacter & E. Tulving (Eds.), *Memory systems 1994* (pp. 269-310). Cambridge: MIT Press
- Mottron, L., & Burack, J. A. (2001). Enhanced perceptual functioning in the development of autism. In J. A. Burack, T. Charman, N. Yirmiya & P. R. Zelazo (Eds.), *The development of autism: Perspectives from theory and research* (pp. 131-148). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Mottron, L., Burack, J. A., Iarocci, G., Belleville, S., & Enns, J. T. (2003). Locally oriented perception with intact global processing among adolescents with high-functioning autism: Evidence from multiple paradigms. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 44(6), 904-913. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00174

- Mottron, L., Burack, J. A., Stauder, J. E. A., & Robaey, P. (1999). Perceptual processing among high-functioning persons with autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40(2), 203-211. doi: 10.1017/S0021963098003333
- Mottron, L., Dawson, M., Soulières, I., Hubert, B., & Burack, J. (2006). Enhanced perceptual functioning in autism: An update, and eight principles of autistic perception. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 36*(1), 27-43. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0040-7
- Mottron, L., Peretz, I., & Ménard, E. (2000). Local and global processing of music in highfunctioning persons with autism: Beyond central coherence? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 41(8), 1057-1065. doi: 10.1017/S0021963099006253
- Muth, A., Hönekopp, J., & Falter, C. M. (2014). Visuo-spatial performance in autism: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(12), 3245-3263. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2188-5
- Naveh-Benjamin, M. (2000). Adult age differences in memory performance: Test of an associative deficit hypothesis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory and Cognition*, 26(5), 1170-1187. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.26.5.1170
- Ni Chuileann, S., & Quigley, J. (2013). Assessing recollection and familiarity in low functioning autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(6), 1406-1422. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1697-3
- Nicolson, R., DeVito, T. J., Vidal, C. N., Sui, Y., Hayashi, K. M., Drost, D. J., ... Thompson,
 P. M. (2006). Detection and mapping of hippocampal abnormalities in autism. *Psychiatry Research*, 148(1), 11-21. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2006.02.005
- NIH Biomarker Definitions Working Group. (2001). Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: Preferred definitions and conceptual framework. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 69(3), 89-95. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2001.113989

- Norbury, C. F., & Bishop, D. V. M. (2002). Inferential processing and story recall in children with communication problems: A comparison of specific language impairment, pragmatic language impairment and high-functioning autism. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, 37(3), 227-251. doi: 10.1080/13682820210136269
- Nuske, H. J., Vivanti, G., & Dissanayake, C. (2014a). Brief report: Evidence for normative resting-state physiology in autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(8), 2057-2063. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2068-z
- Nuske, H. J., Vivanti, G., & Dissanayake, C. (2014b). Reactivity to fearful expressions of familiar and unfamiliar people in children with autism: An eye-tracking pupillometry study. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*, 6(1):14. doi: 10.1186/1866-1955-6-14
- Nuske, H. J., Vivanti, G., Hudry, K., & Dissanayake, C. (2014c). Pupillometry reveals reduced unconscious emotional reactivity in autism. *Biological Psychology*, 101, 24-35. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.07.003
- O'Keefe, J., & Nadel, L. (1978). *The hippocampus as a cognitive map*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Opitz, B. (2010). Neural binding mechanisms in learning and memory. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 34(7), 1036-1046. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.11.001
- Orellana, G., & Slachevsky, A. (2013). Executive functioning in Schizophrenia. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 4:35. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2013.00035
- O'Riordan, M., & Passetti, F. (2006). Discrimination in autism within different sensory modalities. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 36*(5), 665-675. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0106-1

- O'Riordan, M., & Plaisted, K. (2001). Enhanced discrimination in autism. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 54A(4), 961-979. doi: 10.1080/02724980042000543
- O'Shea, A. G., Fein, D. A., Cillessen, A. H. N., Klin, A., & Schultz, R. T. (2005). Source memory in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 27(3), 337-360. doi: 10.1207/s15326942dn2703_3
- Ostergaard, A. L. (1999). Priming deficits in amnesia: Now you see them, now you don't. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 5(3), 175-190. doi: 10.1017/S1355617799533018
- Otero, S. C., Weekes, B. S., & Hutton, S. B. (2011). Pupil size changes during recognition memory. *Psychophysiology*, 48(10), 1346-1353. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2011.01217.x
- Owen, A. M., Roberts, A. C., Hodges, J. R., Summers, B. A., Polkey, C. E., & Robbins, T. W. (1993). Contrasting mechanisms of impaired attentional set-shifting in patients with frontal lobe damage or Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, *116*(5), 1159-1175. doi: 10.1093/brain/116.5.1159
- Ozonoff, S., Cook, I, Coon, H., Dawson, H., Joseph, R. M., Klin, A., ... Wrathall, D. (2004).
 Performance on Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery subtests sensitive to frontal lobe function in people with autistic disorder: Evidence from the collaborative programs of excellence in autism network. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 34*(2), 139-150. doi: 10.1023/B:JADD.0000022605.81989.cc

- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (1991). Executive function deficits in high-functioning autistic individuals: Relationship to Theory of Mind. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 32(7), 1081-1105. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1991.tb00351.x
- Ozonoff, S., Strayer, D. L., McMahon, W. M., & Filloux, F. (1994). Executive function abilities in autism and Tourette syndrome: An information processing approach. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 55(6), 1015-1032. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01807.x
- Papesh, M. H., Goldinger, S. D., & Hout, M. C. (2012). Memory strength and specificity revealed by pupillometry. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 83(1), 56-64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.10.002
- Park, D. C., Smith, A. D., Lautenschlager, G., Earles, J. L., Frieske, D., Zwahr, M., & Gaines,
 C. L. (1996). Mediators of long-term memory performance across the life span. *Psychology and Aging*, 11(4), 621-637. doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.11.4.621
- Parker, R. E. (1978). Picture processing during recognition. Journal of Experimental Psychology - Human Perception and Performance, 4(2), 284-293. doi: 10.1037//0096-1523.4.2.284
- Parker, K. C. H., Hanson, R. K., & Hunsley, J. (1988). MMPI, Rorschach and WAIS a meta-analytic comparison of reliability, stability and validity. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(3), 367-373. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.367
- Parkin, A. J., & Walter, B. M. (1992). Recollective experience, normal aging, and frontal dysfunction. *Psychology and Aging*, 7(2), 290-298. doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.7.2.290
- Pellicano, E. (2010). Individual differences in executive function and central coherence predict developmental changes in Theory of Mind in autism. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(2), 530-544. doi: 10.1037/a0018287

- Pellicano, E., Smith, A. D., Cristino, F., Hood, B. M., Briscoe, J., & Gilchrist, I. D. (2011).
 Children with autism are neither systematic nor optimal foragers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108*(1), 421-426. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014076108
- Pennington, B. F., & Ozonoff, S. (1996). Executive functions and developmental psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 37(1), 51-87. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1996.tb01380.x
- Perfect, T. J., Mayes, A. R., Downes, J. J., & van Eijk, R. (1996). Does context discriminate recollection from familiarity in recognition memory? *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section A Human Experimental Psychology*, 49(3), 797-813. doi: 10.1080/027249896392603
- Perner, J. (1991). Understanding the representational mind. Learning, development, and conceptual change. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Perner, J., Kloo, D., & Gornik, E. (2007). Episodic memory development: Theory of mind is part of re-experiencing experienced events. *Infant and Child Development*, 16(5), 471-490. doi: 10.1002/icd.517
- Phelan, H. L., Filliter, J. H., & Johnson, S. A. (2011). Brief report: Memory performance on the California Verbal Learning Test children's version in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 41*(4), 518-523. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1069-9
- Piquado, T., Isaacowitz, D., & Wingfield, A. (2010). Pupillometry as a measure of cognitive effort in younger and older adults. *Psychophysiology*, *47*(3), 560-569. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2009.00947.x

- Piven, J., Bailey, J., Ranson, B. J., & Arndt, S. (1998). No difference in hippocampus volume detected on magnetic resonance imaging in autistic individuals. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 28(2), 105-110. doi: 10.1023/A:1026084430649
- Plaisted, K. C. (2001). Reduced generalization in autism: An alternative to weak central coherence. In J. A. Burack, T. Charman, N. Yirmiya, & P. R. Zelazo (Eds.), *The development of autism: Perspectives from theory and research* (pp. 149-169). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Plaisted, K., Dobler, V., Bell, S., & Davis, G. (2006). The microgenesis of global perception in autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(1), 107-116. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0047-0
- Plaisted, K, O'Riordan, M., & Baron-Cohen, S. (1998a). Enhanced discrimination of novel, highly similar stimuli by adults with autism during a perceptual learning task. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 39(5), 765-775. doi: 10.1017/S0021963098002601
- Plaisted, K., O'Riordan, M., & Baron-Cohen, S. (1998b). Enhanced visual search for a conjunctive target in autism: A research note. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 39(5), 777-783. doi: 10.1017/S0021963098002613
- Plaisted, K., Saksida, L., Alcántara, J., & Weisblatt, E. (2003). Towards an understanding of the mechanisms of weak central coherence effects: Experiments in visual configural learning and auditory perception. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 358*(1430), 375-386. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2002.1211

- Plaisted, K., Swettenham, J., & Rees, L. (1999). Children with autism show local precedence in a divided attention task and global precedence in a selective attention task. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40(5), 733-742. doi: 10.1017/S0021963099004102
- Plaisted Grant, K., & Davis, G. (2009). Perception and apperception in autism: Rejecting the inverse assumption. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1522), 1393-1398. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2009.0001
- Ploog, B. O. (2010). Stimulus overselectivity four decades later: A review of the literature and its implications for current research in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 40*(11), 1332-1349. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0990-2
- Poirier, M., Martin, J., Gaigg, S. B., & Bowler, D. M. (2011). Short-term memory in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 120(1), 247-252. doi: 10.1037/a0022298
- Pollack, I., & Norman, D. A. (1964). A non-parametric analysis of recognition experiments. *Psychonomic Science*, 1(1), 125-126. doi: 10.3758/BF03342823
- Porter, M. A., & Coltheart, M. (2010). Global and local processing in Williams syndrome, autism and Down syndrome: Perception, attention, and construction. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 30(3), 771-789. doi: 10.1207/s15326942dn3003_1
- Porter, G., Troscianko, T., & Gilchrist, I. D. (2007). Effort during visual search and counting: Insights from pupillometry. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 60(2), 211-229. doi: 10.1080/17470210600673818

- Posserud, M.-B., Lundervold, A. J., & Gillberg, C. (2006). Autistic features in a total population of 7-9-year-old children assessed by the ASSQ (Autism Spectrum Screening Questionnaire). *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 47(2), 167-175. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2005.01462.x
- Postma, A., Antonides, R., Wester, A. J., & Kessels, R. P. C. (2008a). Spared unconscious influences of spatial memory in diencephalic amnesia. *Experimental Brain Research*, 190(2), 125-133. doi: 10.1007/s00221-008-1456-z
- Postma, A., Kessels, R. P. C., & van Asselen, M. (2008b). How the brain remembers and forgets where things are: The neurocognition of object-location memory. *Neuroscience and Behavioral Reviews*, 32(8), 1339-1345. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.05.001
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? Behavioural and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 515-526. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X00076512
- Prior, M., & Hoffmann, W. (1990). Brief report: neuropsychological testing of autistic children through an exploration with frontal lobe tests. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 20(4), 581-590. doi: 10.1007/BF02216063
- Rajaram, S. (1996). Perceptual effects on remembering: Recollective processes in picture recognition memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 22(2), 367-377. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.22.2.365
- Rajaram, S. (1998). The effects of conceptual salience and perceptual distinctiveness on conscious recollection. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, 5(1), 71-78. doi: 10.3758/BF03209458
- Ramondo, N., & Milech, D. (1984). The nature and specificity of the language coding deficit in autistic children. *British Journal of Psychology*, 75(1), 95-103. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1984.tb02793.x

- Rapin, I., & Dunn, M. (2003). Update on the language disorders of individuals on the autistic spectrum. *Brain and Development*, 25(3), 166-172. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(02)00191-2
- Rehfeldt, R. A., Dillen, J. E., Ziomek, M. M., & Kowalchuk, R. K. (2007). Assessing relational learning deficits in perspective-taking in children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder. *Psychological Record*, *57*(1), 23-47.
- Renner, P., Klinger, L. G., & Klinger, M. R. (2000). Implicit and explicit memory in autism:
 Is autism an amnesic disorder? *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 30(1), 3-14. doi: 10.1023/A:1005487009889
- Rimland, B. (1978). Savant capabilities of autistic children and their cognitive implications.
 In G. Serban (Ed.), *Cognitive defects in the development of mental illness* (pp. 44–63).
 New York: Bruner & Mazel.
- Ring, M., Gaigg, S. B., Altgassen, M., Barr, P. & Bowler, D. M. (in revision). Allocentric versus egocentric spatial memory in autism spectrum disorder.
- Ritvo, R. A., Ritvo, E. R., Gutherie, D., & Ritvo, M. J. (2008). Clinical evidence that Asperger's disorder is a mild form of autism. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 49(1), 1-5. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2007.06.010
- Rivet, T. T., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Review of gender differences in core symptomatology in autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(3), 957-976. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2010.12.003
- Roediger, H. L., Buckner, R. L., & McDermott, K. B. (1999). Components of processing. In
 J. K. Foster & M. Jelicic (Eds.), *Memory: Systems, process, or function*? doi: 10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198524069.003.0003 Retrieved from http://0-www.oxfordscholarship.com.wam.city.ac.uk/view/10.1093/acprof:oso/978019852406
 9.001.0001/acprof-9780198524069-chapter-3

- Roediger, H. L., & Butler, A. C. (2011). The critical role of retrieval practice in long-term retention. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *15*(1), 20-27. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2010.09.003
- Roediger, H. L., & McDermott, K. B. (1994). The problem of differing false-alarm rates for the process dissociation procedure: Comment on Verfaellie and Treadwell (1993). *Neuropsychology*, 8(2), 284-288. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.8.2.284
- Roediger, H. L., Weldon, M. S, & Challis, B. H. (1989). Explaining dissociations between implicit and explicit measures of retention: A processing account. In H. L. Roediger & F. I. M. Craik (Eds.), *Varieties of memory and consciousness: Essays in honour of Endel Tulving* (pp. 3–14). Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ.
- Ronald, A., & Hoekstra, R. A. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders and autistic traits: A decade of new twin studies. *The American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part B Neuropsychiatric Genetics*, 156B(3), 255-274. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.31159
- Rondan, C., & Deruelle, C. (2007). Global and configural visual processing in adults with autism and Asperger syndrome. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 28(2), 197-206. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2006.02.007
- Rosenbaum, R. S., Carson, N., Abraham, N., Bowles, B., Kwan, D., Köhler, S., ... Richards,
 B. (2011). Impaired event memory and recollection in a case of developmental amnesia. *Neurocase*, *17*(5), 394-409. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2010.532138
- Rotblatt, L. J., Sumida, C. A., van Etten, E. J., Turk, E. P., Tolentino, J. C., & Gilbert, P. E. (2015). Differences in temporal order memory among young, middle-aged, and older adults may depend on the level of interference. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7:28. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00028
- Rubin, R. D., Watson, P. D., Duff, M. C., & Cohen, N. J. (2014). The role of the hippocampus in flexible cognition and social behavior. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 8:742. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00742

- Rudy, J. W., & Sutherland, R. J. (1995). Configural association theory and the hippocampal formation: An appraisal and reconfiguration. *Hippocampus*, 5(5), 375-389. doi: 10.1002/hipo.450050502
- Rumsey, J. M. (1985). Conceptual problem-solving in highly verbal, nonretarded autistic men. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 15(1), 23-36. doi: 10.1007/BF01837896
- Rumsey, J. M., & Hamburger, S. D. (1988). Neuropsychological findings in high-functioning men with infantile autism, residual state. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 10(2), 201-221. doi: 10.1080/01688638808408236
- Rumsey, J. M., & Hamburger, S. D. (1990). Neuropsychological divergence of high-level autism and severe dyslexia. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 20(2), 155-168. doi: 10.1007/BF02284715
- Russell, J., & Jarrold, C. (1999). Memory for actions in children with autism: Self versus other. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*, 4(4), 303-331. doi: 10.1080/135468099395855
- Russell, J., Jarrold, C., & Hood, B. (1999). Two intact executive capacities in children with autism: Implications for the core executive dysfunctions in the disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 29(2), 103-112. doi: 10.1023/A:1023084425406
- Rutter, M., Le Couteur, A., & Lord, C. (2002). *Autism diagnostic interview-revised* (ADI-R). Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Ryan, J. D., Althoff, R. R., Whitlow, S., & Cohen, N. J. (2000). Amnesia is a deficit in relational memory. *Psychological Science*, 11(6), 454-461. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00288
- Ryan, J. D., Hannula, D. E., & Cohen, N. J. (2007). The obligatory effects of memory on eye movements. *Memory*, 15(5), 508-525. doi: 10.1080/09658210701391022

- Ryan, J. D., & Villate, C. (2009). Building visual representations: The binding of relative spatial relations across time. *Visual Cognition*, 17(1-2), 254-272. doi: 10.1080/13506280802336362
- Saeedi, M. T., Noorazar, G., Bafandeh, H., Taheri, M., & Farhang, S. (2014). Theory of mind in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder compared to controls. *Journal* of Analytical Research in Clinical Medicine, 2(3), 99-104. doi: 10.5681/jarcm.2014.017
- Sala, S. D., Laiacona, M., Spinnler, H., & Trivelli, C. (1993). Autobiographical recollection and frontal damage. *Neuropsychologia*, 31(8), 823-839. doi: 10.1016/00283932(93)90131-I
- Salmanian, M., Tehrani-Doost, M., Ghanbari-Motlagh, M., & Shahrivar, Z. (2012). Visual memory of meaningless shapes in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Iranian Journal of Psychiatry*, 7(3), 104-108.
- Salmond, C. H., Ashburner, J., Connelly, A., Friston, K. J., Gadian, D. G., & Vargha-Khadem, F. (2005). The role of the medial temporal lobe in autistic spectrum disorders. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(3), 764-772. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04217.x
- Sanderson, D. J. (2005). *The hippocampus and structural learning* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Cardiff University, UK.
- Sanderson, D. J., Pearce, J. M., Kyd, R. J., & Aggleton, J. P. (2006). The importance of the rat hippocampus for learning the structure of visual arrays. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*(6), 1781-1788. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.05035.x
- Sara, S. J. (2009). The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, *10*(3), 211-223. doi: 10.1038/nrn2573

- Schacter, D. L. (1994). Priming and multiple memory systems: Perceptual mechanisms of implicit memory. In D. L. Schacter & E. Tulving (Eds.), *Memory systems 1994* (pp. 233-268). Cambridge: MIT Press
- Schacter, D. L., & Tulving, E. (1994). What are the memory systems of 1994? In D. L. Schacter & E. Tulving (Eds.), *Memory systems 1994* (pp. 1-38). Cambridge: MIT Press
- Schick, B., de Villiers, J., de Villiers, P., & Hoffmeister, R. (2007). Language and theory of mind: A study of deaf children. *Child Development*, 78(2), 376-396. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01004.x
- Schiller, D., Eichenbaum, H., Buffalo, E. A., Davachi, L., Foster, D. J., Leutgeb, S., & Ranganath, C. (2015). Memory and space: Towards an understanding of the cognitive map. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(41), 13904-13911. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2618-15.2015
- Schnider, A., Gutbrod, K., Hess, C. W., & Schroth, G. (1996). Memory without context: Amnesia with confabulations after infarction of the right capsular genu. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 61(2), 186-193. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.61.2.186
- Schroeder, J. H., Desrocher, M., Bebko, J. M., & Cappadocia, C. (2010). The neurobiology of autism: Theoretical applications. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 4(4), 555-564. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2010.01.004
- Schumann, C. M., Hamstra, J., Goodlin-Jones, B. L., Lotspeich, L. J., Kwon, H., Buonocore,
 M. H.,... Amaral, D. G. (2004). The amygdala is enlarged in children but not adolescents with autism; the hippocampus is enlarged at all ages. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(28), 6392-6401. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1297-04.2004
- Semino, S., Ring, M., Bowler, D. M., & Gaigg, S. B. (in preparation). Source memory difficulties under varying task demands in autism spectrum disorder.

- Shah, A., & Frith, U. (1983). An islet of ability in autistic children: A research note. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 24(4), 613-620. doi: 10.1111/j.14697610.1983.tb00137.x
- Shah, A., & Frith, U. (1993). Why do autistic individuals show superior performance on the block design task? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 34(8), 1351-1364. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1993.tb02095.x
- Shelton, J. F., Tancredi, D. J., & Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2010). Independent and dependent contributions of advanced maternal and paternal ages to autism risk. *Autism Research*, 3(1), 30-39. doi: 10.1002/aur.116
- Shepard, R. N. (1967). Recognition memory for words, sentences, and pictures. Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior, 6(1), 156-163. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5371(67)80067-7
- Shimamura, A. P. (2014). Remembering the past: Neural substrates underlying episodic encoding and retrieval. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 23(4), 257-263. doi: 10.1177/0963721414536181
- Shimamura, A. P., Janowsky, J. S., & Squire, L. R. (1990). Memory for the temporal order of events in patients with frontal lobe lesions and amnesic patients. *Neuropsychologia*, 28(8), 803-813. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(90)90004-8
- Shimamura, A. P., Jurica, P. J., Mangels, J. A., Gershberg, F. B., & Knight, R. T. (1995). Susceptibility to memory interference effects following frontal lobe damage: Findings from tests of paired-associative learning. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 7(2), 144-152. doi: 10.1162/jocn.1995.7.2.144
- Siegel, D. J., Minshew, N. J., & Goldstein, G. (1996). Wechsler IQ profiles in diagnosis of high-functioning autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 26(4), 389-406. doi: 10.1007/BF02172825
- Simmons, D. R., Robertson, A, E., McKay, L. S., Toal, E., McAleer, P., & Pollick, F. E. (2009). Vision in autism spectrum disorder. *Vision Research*, 49(22), 2705-2739. doi: 10.1016/j.visres.2009.08.005
- Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Charman, T., Chandler, S., Loucas, T., & Baird, G. (2008). Psychiatric disorders in children with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence, comorbidity, and associated factors in a population-derived sample. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(8), 921-929. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e318179964f
- Simons, J. S., Peers, P. V., Hwang, D. Y., Ally, B. A., Fletcher, P. C., & Budson, A. E. (2008). Is the parietal lobe necessary for recollection in humans? *Neuropsychologia*, 46(4), 1185-1191. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.07.024
- Simons, J. S., Peers, P. V., Mazuz, Y. S., Berryhill, M. E., & Olson, I. R. (2010). Dissociations between memory accuracy and memory confidence following bilateral parietal lesions. *Cerebral Cortex*, 20(2), 479-485. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp116
- Simons, J. S., & Spiers, H. J. (2003). Prefrontal and medial temporal lobe interactions in long-term memory. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 4(8), 637-648. doi: 10.1038/nrn1178
- Sirois, S., & Brisson, J. (2014). Pupillometry. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science, 5(6), 679-692. doi: 10.1002/wcs.1323
- Smith, B. J., Gardiner, J. M., & Bowler, D. M. (2007). Deficits in free recall persist in Asperger's syndrome despite training in the use of list-appropriate learning strategies. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(3), 445-454. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0180-4

- Smith, I. C., Reichow, B., & Volkmar, F. R. (2015). The effects of DSM-5 criteria on number of individuals diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *Journal* of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 45(8), 2541-2552. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2423-8.
- Snodgrass, J. G., & Vanderwart, M. (1980). A standardised set of 260 pictures: Norms for name agreement, image agreement, familiarity and visual complexity. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Learning and Memory*, 6(2), 174-215. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.6.2.174
- Snow, J., Ingeholm, J. E., Levy, I. F., Caravella, R. A., Case, L. K., Wallace, G. L., & Martin,
 A. (2011). Impaired visual scanning and memory for faces in high-functioning autism
 spectrum disorders: It's not just the eyes. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *17*(6), 1021-1029. doi: 10.1017/S1355617711000981
- Souchay, C., Wojcik, D. Z., Williams, H. L., Crathern, S., & Clarke, P. (2013). Recollection in adolescents with autism spectrum disorder [Special issue]. *Cortex*, 49(6), 1598-1609. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2012.07.011
- Southwick, J. S., Bigler, E. D., Froehlich, A., DuBray, M. B., Alexander, A. L., Lange, N., & Lainhart, J. E. (2011). Memory functioning in children and adolescents with autism. *Neuropsychology*, 25(6), 702-710. doi: 10.1037/a0024935
- Spreng, R. N., Mar, R. A., & Kim, A. S. N. (2009). The common neural basis of autobiographical memory, prospection, navigation, theory of mind, and the default mode: A quantitative meta-analysis. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 21(3), 489-510. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2008.21029
- Squire, L. R. (1994). Declarative and nondeclarative memory: Multiple brain systems supporting learning and memory. In D. L. Schacter & E. Tulving (Eds.), *Memory* systems 1994 (pp. 203-231). Cambridge: MIT Press

- Squire, L. R., & Dede, A. J. O. (2015). Conscious and unconscious memory systems. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 7(3): a021667. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a021667.
- Stanislaw, H., & Todorov, N. (1999). Calculation of signal detection theory measures. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers, 31(1), 137-149. doi: 10.3758/BF03207704
- Steinhauer, S. R., & Hakerem, G. (1992). The pupillary response in cognitive psychophysiology and schizophrenia. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 658, 182-204. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1992.tb22845.x
- Stewart, M. E., & Austin, E. J. (2009). The structure of the Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ): Evidence from a student sample in Scotland. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(3), 224-228. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2009.03.004
- Stuss, D. T., & Alexander, M. P. (2005). Does damage to the frontal lobes produce impairment in memory? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14(2), 84-88. doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00340.x
- Sumiyoshi, C., Kawakubo, Y., Suga, M., Sumiyoshi, T., & Kasai, K. (2011). Impaired ability to organize information in individuals with autism spectrum disorders and their siblings. *Neuroscience Research*, *69*(3), 252-257. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2010.11.007
- Sutherland, R. J., & Rudy, J. W. (1989). Configural association theory: The role of the hippocampal formation in learning, memory and amnesia. *Psychobiology*, 17(2), 129-144. doi: 10.3758/BF03337828
- Swettenham, J. (1996). Can children with autism be taught to understand false belief using computers? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 37(2), 157-165. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1996.tb01387.x

- Taconnat, L., Raz, N., Tocze, C., Bouazzaoui, B., Sauzeon, H., Fay, S., & Isingrini, M. (2009). Ageing and organisation strategies in free recall: The role of cognitive flexibility. *European Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 21(2-3), 347-365. doi: 10.1080/09541440802296413
- Tager-Flusberg, H. (1991). Semantic processing in the free recall of autistic children: Further evidence for a cognitive deficit. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 9(3), 417-430. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-835X.1991.tb00886.x
- Tager-Flusberg, H. (2003). Exploring the relationships between theory of mind and socialcommunicative functioning in children with autism. In B. Repacholi & V. Slaughter (Eds.). *Individual differences in theory of mind: Implications for typical and atypical development* (pp. 197–212). London: Psychology Press.
- Tager-Flusberg, H. (2007). Evaluating the theory-of-mind hypothesis of autism. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 16(6). 311-315. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00527.x
- Tager-Flusberg, H., & Joseph, R. M. (2003). Identifying neurocognitive phenotypes in autism. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 358(1430), 303-314. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2002.1198
- Tanweer, T., Rathbone, C. J., & Souchay, C. (2010). Autobiographical memory, autonoetic consciousness, and identity in Asperger syndrome. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(4), 900-908. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.11.007
- Terrett, G., Rendell, P-G., Raponi-Saunders, S., Henry, J. D., Bailey, P. E., & Altgassen, M. (2013). Episodic future thinking in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 43*(11), 2558-2568. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1806-y

- The Psychological Corporation (2000). *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third UK Edition* (WAIS-III UK). London, UK: Author.
- The Psychological Corporation (2008). Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Fourth UK Edition (WAIS-IV UK). London, UK: Author.
- Tolman, E. C. (1948). Cognitive maps in rats and men. *Psychological Review*, 55(4), 189-208. doi: 10.1037/h0061626
- Townsend, J., & Courchesne, E. (1994). Parietal damage and narrow spotlight spatial attention. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 6(3), 220-232. doi: 10.1162/jocn.1994.6.3.220
- Townsend, J., Courchesne, E., & Egaas, B. (1996). Slower orienting of covert visual-spatial attention in autism: Specific deficits associated with cerebellar and parietal abnormality. *Development and Psychopathology*, 8(3), 563-584. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400007276
- Treffert, D. A. (2014). Savant syndrome: Realities, myths and misconceptions. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(3), 564-571. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1906-8
- Troyer, A. K., Graves, R. E., & Cullum, C. M. (1994). Executive functioning as a mediator of the relationship between age and episodic memory in healthy aging. Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition: A Journal on Normal and Dysfunctional Development, 1(1), 45-53. doi: 10.1080/09289919408251449
- Tuchman, R., & Rapin, I. (2002). Epilepsy in autism. *The Lancet Neurology*, *1*(6), 352-358. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(02)00160-6
- Tulving, E. (1972). Episodic and semantic memory. In E. Tulving & W. Donaldson (Eds.), Organization of memory (pp. 381-403). London: Academic Press.

- Tulving, E. (1984). Multiple learning and memory systems. In K. M. J. Lagerspetz & P.Niemi (Eds.), *Psychology in the 1990's* (pp. 163-184). Holland: Elsevier.
- Tulving, E. (1985). How many memory systems are there? *American Psychologist*, 40(4), 385-398. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.40.4.385
- Tulving, E. (1989). Remembering and knowing the past. American Scientist, 77(4), 361-367.
- Tulving, E. (2002). Episodic memory: From mind to brain. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53, 1-25. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135114
- Underwood, G., Foulsham, T., & Humphrey, K. (2009). Saliency and scan patterns in the inspection of real-world scenes: Eye movements during encoding and recognition. *Visual Cognition*, 17(6-7), 812-834. doi: 10.1080/13506280902771278
- Uttl, B., Graf, P., & Richter, L. K. (2002). Verbal paired associates tests limits on validity and reliability. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 17(6), 567-581. doi: 10.1016/S0887-6177(01)00135-4
- Van der Geest, J. N., Kemner, C., Camfferman, G., Verbaten, M. N., & van Engeland, H. (2001). Eye movements, visual attention, and autism: A saccadic reaction time study using the gap and overlap paradigm. *Biological Psychiatry*, 50(8), 614-619. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01070-8
- Van der Hallen, R., Evers, K., Brewaeys, K., van den Noortgate, W., & Wagemans, J. (2015). Global processing takes time: A meta-analysis on local-global visual processing in ASD. *Psychological Bulletin*, 141(3), 549-573. doi: 10.1037/bul0000004
- Van Gerven, P. W. M., Paas, F., van Merriënboer, J. J. G., & Schmidt, H. G. (2004). Memory load and the cognitive pupillary response in aging. *Psychophysiology*, 41(2), 167-174. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2003.00148.x

Van Niekerk, M. E. H., Groen, W., Vissers, C. T. W. M., van Driel-de Jong, D., Kan, C. C., & Voshaar, R. C. O. (2011). Diagnosing autism spectrum disorders in elderly people. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(5), 700-710. doi: 10.1017/S1041610210002152

- Vargha-Khadem, F., Salmond, C. H., Watkins, K. E., Friston, K. J., Gadian, D. G., & Mishkin, M. (2003). Developmental amnesia: Effect of age at injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100*(17), 10055-10060. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1233756100
- Võ, M. L.-H., Jacobs, A. M., Kuchinke, L., Hofmann, M., Conrad, M., Schacht, A., & Hutzler, F. (2008). The coupling of emotion and cognition in the eye: Introducing the pupil old/new effect. *Psychophysiology*, 45(1), 130-140. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00606.x
- Volkmar, F., Cook, E. H., Pomeroy, J., Realmuto, G., & Tanguay, P. (1999). Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children, adolescents, and adults with autism and other pervasive developmental disorders [Supplement]. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 38(12), 34S-54S. doi: 10.1016/S0890-8567(99)80003-3
- Von dem Hagen, E. A., Nummenmaa, L., Yu, R., Engell, A. D., Ewbank, M. P., & Calder, A.
 J. (2011). Autism spectrum traits in the typical population predict structure and function in the posterior superior temporal sulcus. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(3), 493-500. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq062
- Wagner, A. D., Gabrieli, J. D. E., & Verfaellie, M. (1997). Dissociations between familiarity processes in explicit recognition and implicit perceptual memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology - Learning, Memory and Cognition, 23*(2), 305-323. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.23.2.305

- Wagner, A. D., Shannon, B. J., Kahn, I., & Buckner, R. L. (2005). Parietal lobe contributions to episodic memory retrieval. *Trend in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(9), 445-453. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005.07.001
- Wainwright, J. A., & Bryson, S. E. (1996). Visual-spatial orienting in autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 26(4), 423-438. doi: 10.1007/BF02172827
- Wais, P. E., Mickes, L., & Wixted, J. T. (2008). Remember/Know judgements probe degrees of recollection. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(3), 400-405. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2008.20041
- Wallace, G. L., Silvers, J. A., Martin, A., & Kenworthy, L. E. (2009). Brief report: Further evidence for inner speech deficits in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 39(12), 1735-1739. doi: 10.1007/s10803-009-0802-8
- Wang, L., Mottron, L., Peng, D., Berthiaume, C., & Dawson, M. (2007). Local bias and local-to-global interference without global deficit: A robust finding in autism under various conditions of attention, exposure time, and visual angle. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, 24(5), 550-574. doi: 10.1080/13546800701417096
- Wang, W. C., Ranganath, C., & Yonelinas, A. P. (2014). Activity reductions in perirhinal cortex predict conceptual priming and familiarity-based recognition. *Neuropsychologia*, 52, 19-26. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.10.006
- Wang, W. C., & Yonelinas, A. P. (2012). Familiarity is related to conceptual implicit memory: An examination of individual differences. *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, 19(6), 1154-1164. doi: 10.3758/s13423-012-0298-7
- Warrington, E. K., & Weiskrantz, L. (1970). Amnesic syndrome: Consolidation or retrieval? *Nature*, 228(5272), 628-630. doi: 10.1038/228628a0

- Warrington, E. K., & Weiskrantz, L. (1974). The effect of prior learning on subsequent retention in amnesic patients. *Neuropsychologia*, 12(4), 419-428. doi: 10.1016/00283932(74)90072-4
- Waterhouse, L. H. (2013). Heterogeneity. In L. H. Waterhouse (Ed.), *Rethinking autism: Variation and Complexity* (pp. 1-49). London: Academic
- Waterhouse, L., Fein, D., & Modahl, C. (1996). Neurofunctional mechanisms in autism. *Psychological Review*, 103(3), 457-489. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.103.3.457
- Wechsler, D. (2008). WAIS-IV Technical and Interpretative Manual. San Antonio, TX: Pearson.
- Weinberger, D. R. (1993). A connectionist approach to the prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 5(3), 241-253. doi: 10.1176/jnp.5.3.241
- Weiss, E. M., Kemmler, G., Deisenhammer, E. A., Fleischhacker, W. W., & Delazer, M. (2003). Sex differences in cognitive functions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 35(4), 863-875. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00288-X
- Wheeler, M. A., Stuss, D. T., & Tulving, E. (1995). Frontal lobe damage produces episodic memory impairment. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 1(6), 525-536. doi: 10.1017/S1355617700000655
- Whitehouse, A. J. O., Watt, H. J., Line, E. A., & Bishop, D. V. M. (2009). Adult psychosocial outcomes of children with specific language impairment, pragmatic language impairment and autism. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, 44(4), 511-528. doi: 10.1080/13682820802708098
- Wiener, J. M., de Condappa, O., Harris, M. A., & Wolbers, T. (2013). Maladaptive bias for extrahippocampal navigation strategies in aging humans. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(14), 6012-6017. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0717-12.2013

- Wiener, J., Kmecova, H., & de Condappa, O. (2012). Route repetition and route retracing: Effects of cognitive aging. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 4:7, doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2012.00007
- Wilkinson, D. A., Best, C. A., Minshew, N. J., & Strauss, M. S. (2010). Memory awareness in individuals with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(11), 1371-1377. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0995-x
- Willcutt, E. G., Doyle, A. E., Nigg, J. T., Faraone, S. V., & Pennington, B. F. (2005).
 Validity of the executive function theory of attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: A meta-analytic review. *Biological Psychiatry*, 57(11), 1336-1346. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.006
- Williams, D. M., Bowler, D. M., & Jarrold, C. (2012). Inner speech is used to mediate shortterm memory, but not planning, among intellectually high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Development and Psychopathology*, 24(1), 225-239. doi: 10.1017/S0954579411000794
- Williams, D. L., Goldstein, G., & Minshew, N. J. (2005). Impaired memory for faces and social scenes in autism: Clinical implications of memory dysfunction. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 20(1), 1-15. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2002.08.001
- Williams, D. L., Goldstein, G., & Minshew, N. J. (2006). The profile of memory function in children with autism. *Neuropsychology*, 20(1), 21-29. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.20.1.21
- Williams, D. M., & Happé, F. (2009). Pre-conceptual aspects of self-awareness in autism spectrum disorder: The case of action-monitoring. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(2), 251-259. doi: 10.1007/s10803-008-0619-x

- Williams, D. M., Happé, F., & Jarrold, C. (2008). Intact inner speech use in autism spectrum disorder: Evidence from a short-term memory task. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(1), 51-58. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01836.x
- Williams, D. M., & Jarrold, C. (2010). Brief report: Predicting inner speech use amongst children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): The roles of verbal ability and cognitive profile. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(7), 907-913. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0936-8
- Williams, D. M., Jarrold, C., Grainger, C., & Lind, S. E. (2014). Diminished time-based, but undiminished event-based, prospective memory among intellectually high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder: Relation to working memory ability. *Neuropsychology*, 28(1), 30-42. doi: 10.1037/neu0000008
- Williams, L. W., Matson, J. L., Beighley, J. S., Rieske, R. D., & Adams, H. L. (2014). Comorbid symptoms in toddlers diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder with the DSM-IV-TR and the DSM-5 criteria. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(3), 186-192. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.11.007
- Williams, D. L., Mazefsky, C. A., Walker, J. D., Minshew, N. J., & Goldstein, G. (2014). Associations between conceptual reasoning, problem solving, and adaptive ability in high-functioning autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(11), 2908-2920. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2190-y
- Williams, D. L., Minshew, N. J., & Goldstein, G. (2015). Further understanding of complex information processing in verbal adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 19(7), 859-867. doi: 10.1177/1362361315586171

- Williams, L. E., Must, A., Avery, S., Woolard, A., Woodward, N. D., Cohen, N. J., & Heckers, S. (2010). Eye-movement behaviour reveals relational memory impairment in schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68(7), 617-624. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.035
- Williams, J. H. G., Whiten, A., & Singh, T. (2004). A systematic review of action imitation in autistic spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34(3), 285-299. doi: 10.1023/B:JADD.0000029551.56735.3a
- Wilson, C. E., Gillan, N., Spain, D., Robertson, D., Roberts, G., Murphy, C. M., ... Murphy,
 D. G. M. (2013). Comparison of ICD-10R, DSM-IV-TR and DSM-5 in an adult autism spectrum disorder clinic. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(11), 2515-2525. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1799-6
- Wimmer, H., & Perner, J. (1983). Beliefs about beliefs: Representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. *Cognition*, 13(1), 103-128. doi: 10.1016/0010-0277(83)90004-5
- Wing, L., & Gould, J. (1979). Severe Impairments of social interaction and associated abnormalities in children: Epidemiology and Classification. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 9(1), 11-29. doi: 10.1007/BF01531288
- Wing, L., Gould, J., & Gillberg, C. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders in the DSM-V: Better or worse than the DSM-IV? *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *32*(3), 768-773. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010.11.003
- Wing, L., & Potter, D. (2002). The epidemiology of autistic spectrum disorders: Is the prevalence rising? *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 8(3), 151-161. doi: 10.1002/mrdd.10029
- Wixted, J. T. (2007). Dual-process theory and signal-detection theory of recognition memory. *Psychological Review*, *114*(1), 152-176. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.114.1.152

- Wixted, J. T., & Mickes, L. (2010). A continuous dual-process model of remember/know judgements. *Psychological Review*, *117*(4), 1025-1054. doi: 10.1037/a0020874
- Wojcik, D. Z., Moulin, C. J. A., & Souchay, C. (2013). Metamemory in children with autism:
 Exploring the "feeling-of-knowing" in episodic and semantic memory. *Neuropsychology*, 27(1), 19-27. doi: 10.1037/a0030526
- Woodbury-Smith, M. R., Robinson, J., Wheelwright, S., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2005). Screening adults for Asperger syndrome using the AQ: A preliminary study of its diagnostic validity in clinical practice. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 35(3), 331-335. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-3300-7
- Wyer, N., A., Martin, D., Pickup, T., & Macrae, C. N. (2012). Individual differences in (non-visual) processing style predict the face inversion effect. *Cognitive Science*, *36*(2), 373-384. doi: 10.1111/j.1551-6709.2011.01224.x
- Yeargin-Allsopp, M., Rice, C., Karapurkar, T., Doernberg, N., Boyle, C., & Murphy, C. (2003). Prevalence of autism in a US metropolitan area. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 289(1), 49-55. doi: 10.1001/jama.289.1.49
- Yi, L., Feng, C., Quinn, P. C., Ding, H., Li, J., Liu, Y., & Lee, K. (2014). Do individuals with and without autism spectrum disorder scan faces differently? A new multi-method look at an existing controversy. *Autism Research*, 7(1), 72-83. doi: 10.1002/aur.1340
- Yonelinas, A. P. (1999). The contribution of recollection and familiarity to recognition and source-memory judgements: A formal dual-process model and an analysis of receiver operating characteristics. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 25*(6), 1415-1434. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.25.6.1415
- Yonelinas, A. P. (2002). The nature of recollection and familiarity: A review of 30 years of research. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 46(3), 441-517. doi: 10.1006/jmla.2002.2864

- Young, R. L., & Rodi, M. L. (2014). Redefining autism spectrum disorder using DSM-5: The implications of the proposed DSM-5 criteria for autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 44*(4), 758-765. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1927-3
- Youngstrom, I. A., & Strowbridge, B. W. (2012). Visual landmarks facilitate rodent spatial navigation in virtual reality environments. *Learning and Memory*, 19(3), 84-90. doi: 10.1101/lm.023523.111
- Zalla, T., Daprati, E., Sav, A.-M., Chaste, P., Nico, D., & Leboyer, M. (2010). Memory for self-performed actions in individuals with Asperger syndrome. *Plos One*, 5(10):e13370. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013370
- Zhu, J. J., Tulsky, D. S., Price, L., & Chen, H. Y. (2001). WAIS-III reliability data for clinical groups. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 7(1), 862-866.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Table of materials used in Experiment 1, criteria for materials, instructions for Type A and Type B for the R/K test

Table A1.1

Complete overview of the materials used. Lists were counterbalanced across participants.

Material				
type	List 1	List 2	List 3	List 4
Words	apple	candle	anchor	lemon
	ashtray	doll	cake	bicycle
	balloon	flag	crown	cannon
	button	grapes	eagle	clock
	drum	lamp	ladder	elephant
	fork	peanut	onion	guitar
	hammer	rabbit	shoe	sandwich
	monkey	scissors	toaster	skirt
	shirt	sock	trumpet	stool
	tomato	violin	umbrella	whistle
Pictures				





Material				
type	List 1	List 2	List 3	List 4
		L.		
		•		
	-			
	P			
	مار			
	Y	.		
	-	_		
		₹		
		•		
		_		
		₹		
	-	_		
	+			

Material				
type	List 1	List 2	List 3	List 4
Shapes		*		
Non-	pennel	rubid		
words	ballop	diller		
	honder	natem		
	frescovent	hampent		
	trumpetine	glistow		
	doppelate	barrazon		
	bannifer	commerine		
	sladding	thickery		
	tafflest	brasterer		
	prindle	skiticult		

Table A1.2

	List 1	List 2	List 3	List 4			
Criterion	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	F(3,40)	р	${\eta_p}^2$
Letter nr ^a	5.70 (1.16)	5.50 (1.43)	5.70 (1.34)	6.20 (1.23)	0.53	.66	.04
Name agre ^b	0.98 (0.04)	0.93 (0.09)	0.92 (0.09)	0.97 (0.04)	1.80	.17	.13
Image agre ^c	3.91 (0.45)	3.77 (0.68)	3.55 (0.50)	3.70 (0.68)	0.63	.60	.05
Familiarity	3.58 (0.79)	3.39 (0.65)	3.15 (1.07)	3.25 (0.93)	0.45	.72	.04
Complexity	2.47 (0.70)	2.73 (0.90)	3.18 (0.65)	3.01 (0.98)	1.46	.24	.11
Frequency ^d	10.30 (7.02)	10.20 (5.85)	11.50 (6.26)	11.90 (6.77)	0.17	.91	.01

Criteria for lists of pictures and words according to Snodgrass and Vanderwart (1980).

Note. ^aLetter number. ^bName agreement. ^cImage agreement. ^dWord frequency - Kucera & Francis.

A1.3: Instructions for Type A and Type B for the R/K test

In this test you will see a series of items on the screen one at a time. Some of these items are ones that you saw earlier in this experiment when you were asked to try and memorize the items that appeared on the screen, and some of the items are not items that you have seen in this experiment.

If you are sure that you recognize the item as being one that you saw earlier in this experiment, then please click on the "YES" box on the screen. If you DO NOT recognize the item as being one that you saw earlier in this experiment, then please click on "NO". If you are not sure if the item was one that you saw earlier or not, then please click on "NO." Only say YES if you are SURE that the item is one that you saw on the screen earlier.

After you say YES, you will be asked to make another choice about HOW you remember the item. The choice is between TYPE A and TYPE B. TYPE A and TYPE B are two different ways that people remember things.

A TYPE A memory is when you remember seeing the item in this experiment, and you also remember something about when you actually saw the item. You might remember where the item was in the list of items, what it looked like on the screen, something about what you thought about at the time when you saw the item, or you might remember a picture that you had in your head when you saw the item. A TYPE A kind of remembering is when you remember that the item was on the list of items to remember, and you also remember something about the time when you actually saw the item.

TYPE B is the other way that people can remember things. A TYPE B kind of memory is when you are sure that the item was on the list of items to be remembered but you can't remember any details about the time that you saw it. For example a TYPE B memory is when you can't remember where the item was in the list, or anything that you thought about at the time, or any picture that you might have had in your head at the time. A TYPE B kind of remembering is when you know that the item was on the list of items that you were asked to remember but you can't remember anything about the actual time when you saw the item on the screen. You have this feeling of familiarity. An example from daily life would be that sometimes you meet a person in the street and you are sure you have seen this person before but you can't remember anything else about them, e.g., their name or where you know the person from.

Please ask for help if you have any problems, or you don't understand what you are to do during the test.

Appendix 2: Table of materials used in Experiment 2

Table A2

List of rooms and objects for practice, and test and which sets they were studied in. Set A was used as study set for one half of the participants. They received Set B as new items at test. The other half of the participants studied Set B and received Set A as the new items at test.

Room	Object	Set
practice		
Garden	Mower	studied in Set A
Garden	Milk can	studied in Set A
Garden	Birdhouse	studied in Set A
Garden	Watering can	studied in Set B
Garden	Spade	studied in Set B
test		
Bathroom	Bath brush	studied in Set A
Bathroom	Bathing slippers	studied in Set A
Bathroom	Scales	studied in Set A
Bathroom	Shaver	studied in Set A
Bathroom	Soap	studied in Set B
Bathroom	Toilet paper	studied in Set B
Bathroom	Toothbrush	studied in Set B
Bathroom	Shampoo	studied in Set B

Object	Set
Videocassette	studied in Set A
Candle	studied in Set A
CD collection	studied in Set A
clock	studied in Set A
Radio	studied in Set B
Remote	studied in Set B
Wine bottle	studied in Set B
Books	studied in Set B
Washing-up liquid	studied in Set A
Cheese	studied in Set A
Potatoes	studied in Set A
Eggs	studied in Set A
Knife block	studied in Set B
Cloths	studied in Set B
Spatula	studied in Set B
Saltshaker	studied in Set B
Book	studied in Set A
House shoes	studied in Set A
Night cream	studied in Set A
Pillow	studied in Set A
Socks	studied in Set B
Tie	studied in Set B
	ObjectVideocassetteCandleCD collectionclockRadioRemoteWine bottleBooksWashing-up liquidCheesePotatoesEggsKnife blockClothsSpatulaSaltshakerBookHouse shoesNight creamPillowSocksTie

Room	Object	Set
Bedroom	Underpants	studied in Set B
Bedroom	Teddy	studied in Set B
Office	Agenda	studied in Set A
Office	Stapler	studied in Set A
Office	Letter tray	studied in Set A
Office	Desk tidy	studied in Set A
Office	Briefcase	studied in Set B
Office	Hole puncher	studied in Set B
Office	File	studied in Set B
Office	Biro	studied in Set B
Storeroom	Bag	studied Set A
Storeroom	Carton	studied Set A
Storeroom	Cooler	studied Set A
Storeroom	Dartboard	studied Set A
Storeroom	Cable spool	studied in Set B
Storeroom	Keys	studied in Set B
Storeroom	Painting	studied in Set B
Storeroom	Polish	studied in Set B

Appendix 3: Tables of materials and reinforcement contingencies used in Experiment 5

Table A3.1

Stimulus examples for Structural Discrimination with reinforced and incorrect shapes, number of presentations for each pair within one block and criterion to continue to the next block. If the criterion was not reached within three attempts of a certain block, the programme continued automatically to the next block.

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	Criterion
1			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
1			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2 new			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentation	Criterion
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
3 new			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	Criterion
5			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5 probe			2 right	-
prove			2 left	
5 nroho			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5 probe			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5 probe			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5 probe			2 right	-
hrone			2 left	

Table A3.2

Stimulus examples for Biconditional Discrimination with reinforced and incorrect shapes, number of presentations for each pair within one block and criterion to continue to the next block. If the criterion was not reached within three attempts of a certain block, the programme continued automatically to the next block.

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	Criterion
1			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
1			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2 new			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	Criterion
3 new			5 right	80 % correct
		U	5 left	
3 new			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	Criterion
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
5			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5			2 right	-
probe			2 left	
5 probe			2 right	-
prope			2 left	

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	

Table A3.3

Stimulus examples for Transverse Patterning with reinforced and incorrect shapes, number of presentations for each pair within one block and criterion to continue to the next block. If the criterion was not reached within three attempts of a certain block, the programme continued automatically to the next block.

Block	Correct stimulus	Incorrect stimulus	Number of presentations	Criterion
1			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
1			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
2 new			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
3			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	

3 new			5 right	80 % correct
			5 left	
			2 ri aht	75.0/ acres at
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4			1 right	50 % correct
			1 left	
4			2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
4		-	2 right	75 % correct
			2 left	
_		—		
5			4 right	-
			4 left	
5			2 right	-
			2 left	
			2 1011	
5			4 right	-
			4 left	
5			4 right	-
			4 left	

Block Correct stimulus Incorrect stimulus Number of presentation Criterion

Object-Location Memory in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder

Melanie Ring, Sebastian B. Gaigg, and Dermot M. Bowler

This study tested implicit and explicit spatial relational memory in Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD). Participants were asked to study pictures of rooms and pictures of daily objects for which locations were highlighted in the rooms. Participants were later tested for their memory of the object locations either by being asked to place objects back into their original locations or into new locations. Proportions of times when participants choose the previously studied locations for the objects irrespective of the instruction were used to derive indices of explicit and implicit memory [process-dissociation procedure, Jacoby, 1991, 1998]. In addition, participants performed object and location recognition and source memory tasks where they were asked about which locations belonged to the objects and which objects to the locations. The data revealed difficulty for ASD individuals in actively retrieving object locations (explicit memory) but not in subconsciously remembering them (implicit memory). These difficulties cannot be explained by difficulties in memory for objects or locations per se (i.e., the difficulty pertains to object-location relations). Together these observations lend further support to the idea that ASD is characterised by relatively circumscribed difficulties in relational rather than itemspecific memory processes and show that these difficulties extend to the domain of spatial information. They also lend further support to the idea that memory difficulties in ASD can be reduced when support is provided at test. *Autism Res* 2015, 8: 609–619. © 2015 International Society for Autism Research, Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

Keywords: explicit relational memory; implicit relational memory; Autism Spectrum Disorder; recognition memory; source memory; task support hypothesis; process-dissociation procedure

Introduction

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is associated with a heterogeneous cognitive profile with a consistent pattern of strengths and weaknesses in the domain of memory (see Boucher & Bowler, 2008; Boucher, Mayes, & Bigham, 2012 for reviews). ASD individuals experience difficulties with free recall where information needs to be remembered without retrieval support. This is especially marked when categorical information is available in the studied material that typically facilitates memory [Bowler, Matthews, & Gardiner, 1997; Gaigg, Gardiner, & Bowler, 2008; Tager-Flusberg, 1991]. By contrast, when test procedures provide support for retrieving studied information, memory tends to be spared in ASD. Supported procedures include immediate cued recall [e.g., Mottron, Morasse, & Belleville, 2001] and recognition memory tasks [e.g., Boucher et al., 2005; Bowler, Gardiner, & Grice, 2000a; Bowler, Gardiner, Grice, & Saavalainen, 2000b; Kuusikko-Gauffin et al., 2011]. The pattern of performance on supported and unsupported memory tests led Bowler et al. [1997] to propose the "task support hypothesis" suggesting that ASD participants perform as well as typically developing (TD) individuals when procedures are used that scaffold retrieval. Since then various studies have confirmed this idea [Bowler, Gardiner, & Berthollier, 2004; Gaigg et al., 2008; Ring, Gaigg, Altgassen, Barr, & Bowler, under review).

Further characteristics of memory function in ASD are relatively pervasive difficulties in remembering the temporal order of events [Poirier, Martin, Gaigg, & Bowler, 2011; Gaigg, Bowler, & Gardiner, 2014] and in remembering the autobiographical past and imagining the autobiographical future [e.g., Crane, Goddard, & Pring, 2009; Lind & Bowler, 2010]. These suggest difficulties particularly with episodic memory, which requires the binding of the spatial-temporal context that defines specific events. Interestingly, when participants with ASD are tested on where, when or how they studied certain stimuli (source memory tasks), findings are inconsistent. Some studies suggest impaired source memory in ASD [e.g., Bowler et al., 2004; Lind & Bowler, 2009], whereas others do not [e.g., Bowler et al., 2004; Souchay, Wojcik, Williams, Crathern, & Clarke, 2013]. Importantly, here as well, difficulties

Published online 28 March 2015 in Wiley Online Library (wileyonlinelibrary.com)

A previous version of the results reported in this manuscript was presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research (May, 2013) in Donostia/San Sebastian, Spain.

From the Autism Research Group, Department of Psychology, City University London. Autismuszentrum Chemnitz e.V., Chemnitz, Germany Received August 13, 2014; accepted for publication February 24, 2015

Address for correspondence and reprints: Melanie Ring, Autism Research Group, Department of Psychology, City University London, Northampton Square, London, EC1V 0HB, United Kingdom. E-mail: Melanie.ring.1@city.ac.uk

DOI: 10.1002/aur.1478

^{© 2015} International Society for Autism Research, Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

Relational Memory Processes in Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder

Melanie Ring, Sebastian B. Gaigg, and Dermot M. Bowler

Research into memory in Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) suggests intact item memory but difficulties in forming relations between items (Bowler, Gaigg, & Lind, 2011). In this study, we tested memory for items as well as for sequential, spatial, and associative relations between items with the same paradigm using abstract shapes in ASD and typically developing (TD) individuals. Participants studied shape triplets on a computer screen and memory was subsequently tested either for the individual items making up the triplets, the screen-locations, the order or the combinations of items presented at study. Contrary to our predictions, performance was significantly lower in the ASD group on all four tasks. The result raises questions about how intact item memory is in ASD, which role task complexity plays, and how item-specific versus relational processing affect task performance. One possibility is that TD individuals relied more on relational processing in the current study and might have therefore had an advantage over ASD individuals. This idea is supported by the result of a preliminary analysis of age-related differences in memory across the midadult lifespan in both groups. Age seems to affect order memory less in ASD compared with TD individuals where it leads to a significant decrease in performance. This might indicate a decrease in relational processing in TD but not ASD individuals with increasing age. More research is needed to answer questions about the change in cognition in ASD individuals across the lifespan. *Autism Res 2016, 9: 97–106.* © 2015 International Society for Autism Research, Wiley Periodicals, Inc.

Keywords: item memory; relational memory; autism spectrum disorder; ageing

Introduction

Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is characterized by difficulties in social interaction, social communication, and by the presence of restricted and repetitive behaviours [American Psychiatric Association, 2013]. In addition, it is associated with a complex cognitive profile which includes a particular pattern of strengths and weaknesses in the domain of memory [Boucher & Bowler, 2008; Boucher, Mayes, & Bigham, 2012]. Previous research suggests intact performance on tasks that probe memory for individual items of information such as individual words or pictures of objects that make up a study list [Bowler, Gardiner, & Grice, 2000; Hauck, Fein, Maltby, Waterhouse, & Feinstein, 1998]. In addition, performance is typically also preserved on supported test procedures such as recognition tests where participants only need to identify rather than generate the studied items [task support hypothesis-Bowler, Gardiner, & Berthollier, 2004]. By contrast, difficulties are often observed on tasks that probe memory for associations between items [Bowler, Gaigg, & Gardiner, 2008; Gaigg, Gardiner, & Bowler, 2008] or between items and their context. Examples of the latter are difficulties in remembering the locations for or colors of objects [Bowler, Gaigg, & Gardiner, 2014; Ring, Gaigg, & Bowler, 2015; Semino, Gaigg, Bowler, & Ring, 2013], remembering the temporal order of items [Gaigg, Bowler, & Gardiner, 2014; Poirier, Martin, Gaigg, & Bowler, 2011], or recalling in what modality words were presented or by whom [Bowler et al., 2004]. Memory difficulties tend to be particularly pronounced in ASD when test procedures provide little support, such as in the case of free-recall test procedures [e.g., Bowler et al., 2008].

The aim of this study was to test the hypothesis that ASD is characterized by relatively specific difficulties in relational but not item memory. For the current study, we drew on a paradigm from the amnesia literature in which neurologically healthy participants and amnesic patients with either focal hippocampal or diffuse medial-temporal lobe (MTL) lesions were asked to study abstract shape triplets [Konkel, Warren, Duff, Tranel, & Cohen, 2008]. Different experimental conditions

The results reported in this manuscript were presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research (May, 2014) in Atlanta, Georgia, USA. From the Autism Research Group, Department of Psychology, City University London, UK (M.R., S.B.G., D.M.B) and Autismuszentrum Chemnitz e.V., Chemnitz, Germany (M.R.)

Received February 08, 2015; accepted for publication April 04, 2015

Address for correspondence and reprints: Melanie Ring, Autism Research Group, Department of Psychology, School of Social Sciences, City University London, Northampton Square, London, EC1V 0HB, United Kingdom. E-mail: Melanie.ring.1@city.ac.uk

Published online 7 May 2015 in Wiley Online Library (wileyonlinelibrary.com)

DOI: 10.1002/aur.1493

^{© 2015} International Society for Autism Research, Wiley Periodicals, Inc.